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The Company intensifies its development in \
Shenzhen and focuses on the Guangdong- ‘
Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area /

n

Ay
Shum Yip Luxury Mansion

L BB

Shenzhen Investment Limited has been listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 1997. Shum Yip Group, being its
controlling shareholder, is an integrated conglomerate directly managed by
State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of Shenzhen
Municipal. Positioned as an “Innovative Constructor of Industrial Cities,
Wealthy Livelihood Operator”, the Company’s core businesses include property
development, property investment and comprehensive urban operation services,
and it also engages in innovative businesses such as high-tech agriculture
and high-end manufacturing, endeavoring to transform and upgrade into a
technology-based industry group focusing on the development of urban complex
and investment in technology industry.

By intensifying its development in Shenzhen, focusing on the Guangdong-Hong
Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area and planning for its development in the Yangtze
River Delta and high-tier cities such as key provincial capital cities, the Group
currently has a land reserve with gross floor area of approximately 6.22 million
square meters in various cities of China, of which the quality land reserve with
gross floor area of approximately 4.13 million square meters is located in the
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area. The Company is committed to
optimizing its land reserves structure, and concentrates its assets and business
in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area as well as high-tier cities
in key regions.

It has all along been the Company’s core strategic goal to promote the long term
sustainable development of its business, with an aim to bring a stable return and
create value appreciation for its shareholders.
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This diagram shows the geographical locations of the development projects of the Group
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Results

Revenue

Cost of sales and services

Gross profits

Share of results of joint ventures
and associates

Impairment losses on investment in
an associate and a joint venture

(Loss)/profit before income tax

Loss for the year attributable to
owners of the Company

Basic loss per share (HK cents)

Interim and proposed final
dividend per share (HK cents)
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15,567.46
(11,128.36)
4,439.10

(1,135.42)

1,171.00
(822.19)

(1,822.58)
(20.48)
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15,832.13
(10,721.44)
5,110.69

(682.70)

1,775.91

(261.40)
(2.94)

9.00

Highlights of 2024 Results
20244 JE T &

(1.67)%
3.80%
(13.14)%
66.31%

N/A FEF
(146.30)%

597.24%
596.60%

(100.00)%

Financial Position

MBSk

Net assets excluding
non-controlling interests

Cash and bank deposits
(including restricted cash and
bank deposits)

Net debt

Net assets per share excluding
non-controlling interests (HK$)

EEFE (TR FERED)

RERRTER (BEXRE
RERRTEN

BHFE
BREEFE (FOEFERED
(&7t

38,549.96

11,799.54
25,565.51

4.33

42,337.61

14,443.23
24,595.87

4.76

(8.95)%

(18.30)%
3.94%

(9.03)%
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Key Ratios
TR

Gross profit margin EFE 28.52 32.28
Net debt to net assets excluding non-controlling  B# FEEEEFE (FTAEFERER)
interests ZHX 66.32 58.09

Results (by operating segment)

F (BN H)

Revenue [ly§
Property development MR 9,133.30 9,585.49
Property investment MERE 1,377.34 1,420.18
Property management MEEE 3,289.49 2,793.58
Manufacturing B 403.59 470.97
Others Hith 1,363.75 1,561.91
Total LR 15,567.47 15,832.13
Segment Results — Profits/(Loss) DERE-HF (FH)
Property development MEEE 1,389.34 2,089.95
Property investment (Note 1) MERE (MEH1) 291.85 1,205.33
Property management L EA=$i 293.82 211.81
Manufacturing e 32.89 23.77
Others Hith 116.34 (196.60)
Total FEbE] 2,124.24 3,334.26
Note: Bf5E ©
1 Segment results included the losses result from changes in fair value of and transfer 1 NEEXEOREREVELAEEIRERERL
to investment properties approximately HK$227.88 million (2023: gains approximately B EEEREIE49227.88 8 B B T (20234 © I8
HK$554.65 million). FHA554.65E @B TT) ©

N

Details of segment results of the Group is set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial 2 AEBMDBEEH BN GO BRRM S
statements.
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Five-Year Financial Summary
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2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20245 20236 20224 20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT TET FET FET FEx
Results E 4]
Revenue Uy 35 15,567,468 15,832,132 31,540,226 32,050,306 18,803,011
(Loss)/profit before income tax FRER1SIRET (B518) /& F (822,191) 1,775,912 7,367,039 3,647,978 8,133,603
Income tax expense Frisfp = (715,166) (1,582,516) (4,911,695) (5,748,231) (4,170,113)
(Loss)/profit for the year FR (58) /&7 (1,537,357 193,396 2,455,344 (2,100,253) 3,963,490
Attributable to: TFHIREL
Owners of the Company EATERERE (1,822,579) (261,397) 2,085,418 (2,721,886) 3,722,856
Non-controlling interests TR R 285,222 454793 369,926 621,633 240,634
(1,537,357) 193,396 2,455,344 (2,100,253) 3,963,490
Assets, liabilities and BEE-BER
non-controlling interests FEER S
Current assets RBEE 116,217,325 116,688,110 103,146,094 99,570,373 85,765,676
Non-current assets FRBEE 54,952,289 57,725,248 60,321,495 63,195,498 66,510,150
Total assets BEE 171,169,614 174413358 163,467,589  162,765871 152,275,826
Total liabilities meR (125,849,655)  (126,933,147)  (113,910,616)  (108,395,991)  (96,869,978)
Net assets BEZE 45,319,959 47,480,211 49,556,973 54,369,880 55,405,848
Non-controlling interests FEER (6,769,996) (5,142,605) (4,925,132) (5,194,954) (4,781,563)
Total equity attributable to KNEER R ERES

owners of the Company TR 38,549,963 42,337,606 44,631,841 49,174,926 50,624,285
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In 2024, amid complex and severe circumstances of increasing external pressure
and internal challenges, China’s economy maintained overall stability with steady
progress. In the face of incessant market challenges, the Group rose to the
occasion courageously and took proactive measures, achieving solid progress
in various sectors: our sales of real estate accelerated notably, operational
expansion results was outstanding, innovation business gained momentum for
greater breakthrough, and the transformation of the Company was advanced
steadily in depth. Against the background of continuous adjustment of the rea
estate market, the Group achieved an annual revenue of HK$15.57 billion, with
a gross profit of HK$4.44 billion. However, due to the contraction of gross profit
margin, the Group recorded core earnings of approximately HK$950 million.
Coupled with the factors including provision for impairment of inventories,
decrease in fair value of investment properties, losses from associates and joint
ventures and investment provision, loss attributable to the equity shareholders
of the Company was HK$1.82 billion. After prudent consideration of short-term
performance fluctuations and our cash flow conditions, the Board is of the view
that it is essential to retain funds to address industry risks and opportunities and
thus does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for 2024

N2

Shum Yip Cloud Center

HERR

“Promoting stability through
progress and fostering
transformation through innovation
with integrity”

TV GERZ R R 0 ST AR (R

20245 BN EEMEINTENMA  ABEEL S
NERBRETS CEETBETR BRPEE B
HHHEEROSERS SFRVEM L THFEL>
LERRBETFREMY HEHERBEE B
SHERMOB AMEBERFE BUERILR
HE-ERHETSRBERBNARET £EEE
FEREXWMAIBL.EBT EFMMEBT -RE
METERTE AEEZOBNORISEET B
FEFRBE - RENELABERLD BEERT
LEERRRERBNRR KRR REREEL
BR182EET KEREREEEPRINEER
B EZEXRRREEHESRHTERARNE
B ARBRE024ERPEE
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Operational Review for 2024

Focusing on operations while striving to promote the stable
development of the Company

Our real estate business progressed steadily

The Group actively advanced its real estate business while strengthening control
of the key nodes of its projects, with 11 projects completed during the year, and
income recognized from the property development business of approximately
HK$9.13 billion. In terms of sales of properties, the Group seized policy
windows to accelerate the destocking process, achieving contracted property
sales of nearly RMB16.97 billion (approximately HK$18.61 billion) for the year,
representing a decrease of 36.2% as compared to last year. Numerous projects
reported brilliant results during the year, for instance, Shangcheng Xuefu (k£
E ) was sold out within three hours after launch, becoming the first “Day-
one Sellout” project after the promulgation of the “September 29 New Policy”
by Shenzhen government; apartments of Time Mansion (E#38) were 70%
sold on the launch day, making it another “phenomenal” project in Shenzhen'’s
apartment market. Other than Shenzhen, our projects in Shanghai and Chengdu
also achieved considerable sales results. In respect of the construction segment,
the Group accelerated the establishment of its engineering quality control system
while persisting in developing “Dual Excellence” business to help foster new
real estate development models. As for business development, the Phase Il of
the First Portion of Chegongmiao Renewal Project achieved important progress,
with the demolition work successfully completed and the stage of substantive
development commencing officially. Preliminary work for multiple interest
coordination projects was also progressing in an orderly manner.

20244 T1E (A

WEEZRLHE

EERBHEEMERE BCREMEDHEE &
ANERE ML FEEBEERALIIMEE
o HERE ERRMBEREOAMEEL 2F
BERMEROFEERI69.7TRTAR (49186117878
70 BEFTR36.2% LEEENEGERME £
WENRE=/FHER AR 29MBUERE
BrEXE  IMELABERREDHEBLN BE
RINRERR R ABRE ; BRRIS TR L
RENBEEHREAENBEERE - BRAE &R
MrERIRE8EERR BERITE 4R £5;
PHEREHELZRNRA -HENE BAF—F
“EERGEZER FEBEWKE EAEEMHE
MR ENGMBEEMBIEAFRE:



Our operation business expanded rapidly

The spin-off and listing of urban integrated operation business achieved results,
and a historic breakthrough was made in business expansion, with contracted
GFA exceeding 100 million sq.m. and a net expanded contracted area of
approximately 15.39 million sq.m. for the year. In 2024, the Group’s property
management revenue amounted to approximately HK$3.29 billion, representing
an increase of 17.8% over last year. In respect of city services, Shum Yip
Operations entered Hong Kong's core area for the first time as it was contracted
to undertake the management and maintenance services for the mainland port
area of West Kowloon Station of the Guangzhou-Shenzhen-Hong Kong Express
Rail Link. The coverage of our property management services was further
expanded as we secured projects in Shenzhen’s Cuizhu and Gongming Sub-
districts as well as Jinping District of Shantou City. Our park operations were also
consolidated as we were contracted to provide integrated operation-renovation-
maintenance services for Bijiashan Park and property management services for
Central Park and Huanggang Park. As for commercial operations, our Upperhills
project’s annual sales exceeded RMBG6 billion with a visitor flow of 46 million and
more, both reporting double-digit growth compared to 2023. We made efforts to
expedite the locating and landing of Shenzhen’s first in-town duty-free store in
Upperhills. During the year, Shenzhen Women and Children Tower was selected
into the country’s first batch of projects with replicable experience for child-
friendly urban space construction, being Shenzhen’s only selected project. We
also successfully expanded externally into the commercial areas of Huangmugang
Metro Transport Hub and Shenzhen Capital Group Building (E&I#% X[E) . As for
hotel operations, Mandarin Oriental Shenzhen received a five-star rating from
Forbes Travel Guide, and our Shenzhen North Station project introduced two star-
rated hotel brands under Marriott International.

Our park business progressed steadily

The Group vigorously advanced the transformation and upgrading of its park
business by promoting “Small But Beautiful” benchmark park operations with
Chuangzhi Building and Tairan Place (Z#A3%) as pilot projects to shape its own
brand. Digital Shatou, as a demonstration project of virtual park operation, has
attracted nearly 3,000 tenants by providing them with 143 types of necessary
services covering policy, finance, and legal affairs. We also innovatively
introduced the new “Park + Fund” operating model which, leveraging our
controlling shareholder Shum Yip Group’s capital empowerment advantages,
aimed to attract high-quality sci-tech enterprises to the Group’s Shum Yip
Huadong Jiangyin Park through establishing industrial investment funds and
making equity investments, helping the park enhance its investment service
capabilities for the technology sector.
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Investment property operations grew Steadlly

Despite the prolonged market downturn, the Group continued its marketing
efforts by taking innovative approaches, resulting in further upgrading of the
office buildings and commercial circles. Integrated Commerce ((H1 &%) signed
200 new branded tenants and renewed over 80 during the year while Shum Yip
Upperhills further developed its “first-launch economy” by adding 30 national
and regional first-in stores to its portfolio with a brand adjustment rate of 41%;
a total of 13 Fortune 500 companies are now operating in our office buildings,
securing us the second place in Shenzhen. Meanwhile, the Group continued to
upgrade and renovate its properties, with the aim of enhancing asset value while
eliminating major risk hazards in old properties. During the year, the Group’s
property investment income amounted to approximately HK$1.38 billion, with an
overall occupancy rate of 90.8%, far outperforming the market.

Our innovative business rose to new heights

As for modern agriculture, the Group has been vigorously building high-standard
modern agricultural industrial parks, among which the Xinfeng Agricultural
Industrial Park has had its planting area added up to nearly 3,500 mu, and
succeeded in trial-planting high-value crops like artichokes with an annual
output of agricultural products of over 1.5 million kilograms. The “four-season”
agritourism projects in Dapeng, Nan’ao and Xinfeng were also being carried
out at an accelerated pace. For advanced manufacturing, the construction of
innovation carriers was accelerating with enhanced efficiency, with Jinghua
Company officially recognized as a national-level specialised, refined,
differentiated and innovated “Little Giants” enterprise, and one invention patent
and nine utility model patents granted thereto. In addition, Jinghua Company has
started the construction of Vietnam production base, signifying a big leap forward
in its globalization drive.
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Focusing on empowerment, with internal management quality
and efficiency significantly enhanced

Qur internal control improved remarkably

The Group’s focus on lean management to reduce costs and increase efficiency
has resulted in a 20.6% decrease in selling and administrative expenses as
compared to 2023, leading to cost savings of approximately HK$420 million.
With brilliant performance achieved in ESG works, the Group once again received
a rating of A from MSCI-ESG, securing its leading position in the real estate
industry. Our institutional foundation has been continuously consolidated, with
emphasis placed on enhancing institutional support for the critical segments,
standardizing decision-making procedures, and improving decision-making
efficiency. Management of our invested companies was reinforced with a
campaign for management excellence launched for our invested companies. We
have developed a dynamic monitoring system for our invested companies, aiming
to conduct special in-depth research thereon. Our talent pipeline became more
reasonable, with which we will be able to cultivate our talent pipeline efficiently
and bring in talents in short supply accurately.

Our financial management remained pragmatic

The Group applied greater efforts to coordinate capital allocation, and completed
overseas maturing loan replacement amounting to approximately HK$6.9 billion,
resulting in a reduced scale of high-interest liabilities and lower liquidity risk
exposure. The gearing ratio excluding advance receipts stood at 68.3% and the
net debt ratio (excluding interest-bearing loans from related parties) was 66.3%
with a healthy asset-liability structure. We achieved an average borrowing cost of
about 4.0% for the year, remaining at a low level for the industry.

Brand building met with positive results

The Group strove for the goal of “brand enhancement through co-construction
(RIFIREHE)” while carrying out the key tasks steadily, winning multiple
major awards and honors including Top 100 Brands & Enterprises of Shenzhen,
and Innovation Achievements by Chinese Enterprises and Brands. Our core
brands also received several major honors. In particular, Shum Yip Operations
was ranked 15th among the Top 100 Property Service Enterprises in China and
was recognized as a leading enterprise in China’s smart city services for four
consecutive years. Shum Yip Commercial Management (Shenzhen) was ranked
among the 2024 Top 5 in Commercial Property Service Power and recongnized
as the 2024 Property Service Power Benchmark for Commercial Complex in the
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area. Shum Yip Hotel Management
was awarded “Outstanding Hotel Group of the Year” by the Asia Hotel and
Tourism Property Forum, while Jingju Hotel was awarded “Famous Hotel Brand of
Shenzhen” by the Shenzhen Hotel Association.
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2025 Business Plan

Looking ahead to 2025, the Chinese Government will implement more proactive
macro policies to promote the integration of scientific and technological
innovation and industrial innovation, continue to make efforts to stabilize the real
estate market, and prevent and resolve risks and external shocks in key areas,
S0 as to promote a sustained economic recovery. This year marks the conclusion
of the “14th Five-Year Plan” and the strategic planning year for the “15th Five-
Year Plan.” The Group will adhere to the work principle of “stahilizing operations,
preventing risks, promoting transformation”, striving to elevate its high-quality
transformation and development to a new level.

Reshape Core Strengths through “Real Estate+"

Firstly, we will focus on our “principal business” and promote the steady
development of our real estate business. In terms of sales, the Group’s available-
for-sale value this year is expected to exceed RMB30 billion, with over 60%
concentrated in the Guangdong, Hong Kong and Macao Greater Bay Area,
and approximately 50% of the new projects planned to enter the market are
located in first and second-tier cities. The Group will accelerate sales for capital
recovery. For marketable projects in core cities, we will adopt flexible pricing
strategies, striking a balance between liquidity and profitability, with a focus on
“strategic revenue growth” to strengthen key performance support. For inventory
projects, we will prioritize liquidity, accelerate inventory turnover, closely monitor
local government policies on existing home acquisitions, and adjust pricing
in line with market conditions. For non-residential properties, we will actively
expand disposition channels, such as bulk transactions and portfolio transfer,
to drive breakthroughs in sales. In terms of delivery, as at the end of 2024, the
Group’s sold unsettled contracted sales amount to HK$28.2 billion, of which
approximately 60% is scheduled to be recognized as revenue in 2025. The
Group will strengthen the management and oversight of key milestones in major
projects to ensure their smooth delivery.

In terms of investment, the Group will actively and prudently promote investment
expansion in line with its land acquisition strategy of “investment based on sales
and expenditure based on revenue.” The Group will closely monitor investment
opportunities in the open market, capitalize on market dynamics to optimize its
holdings, and expand investments in first-tier cities and other regions with strong
industrial growth and positive net population inflows. By targeting upgrading
demand, the Group aims to enhance the realization of investment returns.
Additionally, the Group will continue to advance coordinated benefit projects,
ensuring their orderly transformation and implementation.

20254488 5t
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In terms of product strategy, the Group has actively responded to the national
call to build “safe, comfortable, green and intelligent houses” and established
an “Urban Infrastructure Foundation + Product Line System” strategy, anchoring
the future core competitiveness of its real estate business in the dimension of
urban co-development. It views and builds projects from the perspective of a
comprehensive urban construction operator, striving for building “good houses”
with Shum Yip characteristics. Based on the “Green Core” technology strategy,
focusing on the integration and innovation of green building and intelligent
technology, the Group also carries out the research and development and
application of the fourth-generation three-dimensional eco-housing, deeply adapt
to the industrial change driven by artificial intelligence, laying out a number of Al
technology application scenarios in real estate project management and product
creation.

Secondly, with a focus on “operation”, the Group is accelerating the growth and
expansion of its urban asset management and integrated operation services. In
mature overseas markets, it is an inevitable trend for real estate businesses to
shift their focus from front-end development to back-end operations and services.
We will actively expand operation-driven real estate derivative businesses, further
scaling up, strengthening revenue streams, and enhancing brand value.

First, the Group will enhance property operation and management levels,
leveraging opportunities to connect with the capital market to actively promote
the integration of various property resources into Shum Yip Operations.
Meanwhile, by focusing on deepening core business development, establishing
benchmark projects, accelerating the transition from scale expansion to quality
enhancement, we aim to gradually convert scale advantages into operational
efficiency.
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Second, the Group will strengthen the core capabilities of commercial operations
and solidify UpperHills’ position as a benchmark by operating the first in-town
duty-free store in Shenzhen to high standards, creating a one-stop shopping
experience that integrates “cross-border tourism + duty-free” retail. The Group
will accelerate the launch of key projects such as “Bay Front e UpperHills
Water Street G2 o F17K%) " in Zhongshan and the Huangmugang Metro
Commercial Project in Shenzhen, while further driving the outward expansion of
commercial operations.

Third, the Group will enhance hotel management capabilities by conducting in-
depth research on development pathways for establishing a domestic high-end
international hotel group, accelerating the opening of the Wuyishan Jingju Resort
Hotel (BB LLIEEEREIE), further expanding the “Jingju” brand’s product
portfolio, and continuously improving hotel occupancy rates.

Fourth, the Group will accelerate the development of an industrial ecosystem
for park services, enhance the investment attraction and operational capabilities
of existing parks, and create “boutique and premium (N3E) " benchmark
parks. The Group will expedite the establishment of a replicable and scalable
themed park investment and operation model; continue to build the “Shum Yip
Industrial Ecosystem” and refine the full-chain management mechanism covering
“investment-construction-operations” in the park business.

Fifth, the Group will vigorously promote the revitalization of existing assets under
the guidance of asset value enhancement, facilitate the centralized management
of dispersed assets through various approaches, including upgrades and
renovations, innovation-driven transformation, and asset securitization, to ensure
their continuous revitalization.

“RERBEEEROEN ZERELERTH
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Opening up new growth pathways through “Innovation+”
The Group will firmly focus on developing and expanding its innovative business
segments to create a second growth curve for the Group’s performance.

First, the Group will continue to strengthen its investment in technological
innovation and actively promote the development of various innovation platforms.
It will encourage technology enterprises, including Jinghua and Nongke, to
engage in industry-academia-research collaboration and proactively apply
for innovation accreditations and research projects. Furthermore, the Group
will accelerate the establishment of overseas production bases for Jinghua
Electronics and support its outward expansion and mergers and acquisitions.
Additionally, by further promoting the integration and application of landing with
business scenarios, such as artificial intelligence and real estate development,
comprehensive urban operation, customer service, daily office, the Group will,
adhering to the principle of “pilot-driven leadership, key breakthroughs, and
gradual deepening” (& B45]%8 ~ EELZEH ~ W #R1E) , enhance internal
management efficiency, optimize customer experience, and drive continuous
business model innovation, enabling high-quality transformation and development
of the main industry with “Artificial Intelligence+".

Second, the Group will accelerate the layout of its modern agricultural industry,
centering on projects such as the Agricultural Industrial Park and the Flower
Wonderland, and excel in the operation of agri-tourism projects, thereby
promoting the development of its distinctive and advantageous industries along
the entire value chain. The Group will also rationalize its business development in
terms of both linear and non-linear progression, accurately identify niche markets
and advantageous product categories, conduct research on participating in the
supply chain of agricultural products, explore the feasibility of the “Pet Economy,”
and actively seek investment targets in the agricultural industry.
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Third, the Group will promote the transformation and development via capital
operations, utilize various approaches to deploy across the upstream and
downstream segments of the industrial chain, and pursue mergers and
acquisitions to achieve non-linear growth and promote the listing of mature
business segments. In collaboration with the capital platform of the controlling
shareholder and the resources of the Guangming Science City’s scientific
devices and other resources, the Group will focus on scientific and technological
innovation to enhance the overall quality of listed companies.

Achieving Multi-Dimensional Empowerment through
“Governance+"

The Group will continue to advance the modernization of its corporate
governance capabilities to further stimulate its intrinsic momentum for high-
quality development. It will strengthen corporate financial management, promote
the deep integration of business and finance, and establish a strategic financial
management system that effectively supports corporate strategy, decision-
making, service operations, and risk prevention. Additionally, the Group will
maintain strict control over the scale of interest-bearing liabilities to ensure the
security of its capital and debt structure, aiming to further optimize the financing
structure and alleviate the pressure of principal and interest repayments. To
deepen the management of equity participating enterprises and their alignment
with the strategy of the Company, the Group has closely monitored the
performance of major equity participating enterprises and dynamically assessed
their impact on the Company’s financial statements, and actively implemented
appropriate responses. To explore the optimization of organizational control, the
Group will focus on lean adaptation, deepening the organizational management of
its subsidiaries in accordance with the principles of “re-optimizing real estate, re-
integrating operations, and streamlining emerging businesses” while adhering to
the “flattening, lean management, and efficiency” guidance.

Stimulating Vibrant Growth with “Talent+"

Talent is the foremost resource. Focused on building a structured talent
pipeline, the Group will coordinate efforts in “selection, training, deployment,
and management”, striving to enhance the overall quality and effectiveness of
its talent pool. Based on talent inventory, we will continue to attract outstanding
fresh graduates, intensify the recruitment of “top-tier and scarce” talent, and
continuously build a talent hierarchy with “a higher apex, a more robust body,
and a firmer base”. Focusing on salary assessment, we actively explore the
“one enterprise, one policy (——28) " incentive and constraint mechanism
in response to the new dynamics of enterprise transformation, ensuring that
incentives for the principal business are more effective and those for emerging
businesses are more market-driven.
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RRETHFETHE BRULBEERFRUER
WEBRAZHRRLD , BRERRRNEELT
BRAPFNBHANBRESER  EITHEAIMNf
B RALTREEE

PANGTL  H B2 4 AE

EERFEEECERAERNEATRR E—FH
ZERSHELXRNNED N - BIECEMBERE,
EHRMRERS BUBBEMBEERER VE
B EEE XHAR REXEH HIZAR £
RERZHESRERE BREGERRE E—
SRIEMEEE REBANERN RIEBREXE
BENRARDBRNZGE BYMIEE2RE
ENEERT IREEHBRARERTE BB
ERH RREMERERC BEGRBE 2R
EBEL BEBRES MEXBBEREINRA U
R -BRE BRI AER E—FRIEME
TEREBEELF-

DDA + 8 35 1
AT RE—BER-EERBEATBHRER REH
BIESRE  2ERSATBRLEE -ERRAS
BEER LD FESIANBEEREERE MATSHER
BIATSIE BEITEBAER E3ER KL
BINAT & FE -REHFINEZ RERREXE
B#EE T —h—RBIHBARKS BETERH
HEEAR MEXBHBESS-



Driving Transformational Development through “Planning+”

The preparation of the “15th Five-Year Plan” will commence this year, and the
Group will accurately grasp macroeconomic, industry, and policy trends, fully
assess its endowment and capabilities, adapt to market demand and changes,
accurately calculate the arrangement of systematic resources required for
transformation and development, and take a holistic approach to long-term
planning. The Group will seize opportunities to acquire quality resources to
complement and strengthen the business and scale of its listed companies,
driving their high-quality transformation, development, and overall quality
enhancement.

The Group is committed to promoting stability through progress and fostering
transformation through innovation with integrity. With steadfast confidence, it will
forge ahead with unwavering determination and persistent effort to accelerate
improvements in quality, efficiency and speed across all initiatives, striving to
open a new chapter of high-quality development and contributing further to
socio-economic prosperity and urban advancement, and create sustainable
returns for our shareholders!

By Order of the Board

WANG Yuwen
Acting Chairman and President

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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Overall Results

In 2024, due to factors including contraction of gross profit margin, impairment
of inventories and losses from associates, operating results decreased. The Group
realized turnover of HK$15.57 billion, representing a year-on-year decrease of
1.7%. Gross profit was HK$4,440 million, with overall gross profit margin of
28.5%. Loss attributable to equity shareholders of the Company was HK$1,823
million. If excluding the net effect of changes in fair value of investment
properties attributable to the Group, changes in fair value of financial assets,
provision for impairment of inventories, the effect of results from and provision of
associates and joint ventures, the profit attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company was HK$953 million.

Property Development Business

Sales Revenue Booked

During the year, Group recorded property sales booked of approximately 404,000
square meters (excluding interests attributable to the major associates of the
Group), representing a decrease of approximately 2.6% over last year, and
achieved sales revenue booked of approximately RMB8,330 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$9,133 million) (net of value-added tax), representing
a decrease of approximately 4.7% over last year. Guangzhou and Shenzhen
projects contributed 35.2% of the sales revenue booked. Gross profit margin
of property development sales was 30.2%, representing a decrease of 6.3
percentage points over last year. As a result of the downturn in selling prices in
the real estate market, the Group made an impairment provision of approximately
HK$307 million on the inventories held.

2024F > HNEFE TR FEARRERHKEA
BAEBEERE KEEEHR T B AEFAEREE
BB155. 7B B TME1.7%; BIREFN44.4E8
T BEREFNEA285%  AAT KT RRELESR
A18.23F BT NABRAEEMBREMEN SR
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AP E IR A
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Breakdown of Property Sales Booked in 2024 2024 ALY £ 51 E BRAR

Property Name Type City Booked Area Net Sales
12RLiE £ W GHEER HEZE
(sq.m.) (RMB’000)
(EHK) (AE#F7)
Shum Yip Park Mansion Residential Shenzhen 27,467 815,859
REBIRT FE |
Shum Yip Cloud Center Residential Shenzhen 34,327 642,107
REZR FE I
Shum Yip Natural City Residential Shenzhen 9,556 295,351
wREWKERETEER FE ]l
Sky Park Apartment Shenzhen 8,192 221,453
RER nE |
UpperHills Residential/office/innovative Shenzhen
industrial building 3,499 188,207
RE L FE/BFE wI
BIMEZRRE
Kechuang Building Office Shenzhen 701 63,838
HEIKE EFI2 )
Taifu Square Apartment/office Shenzhen 230 8,978
REER NE/RTIE F
Scenery Bay Residential Guangzhou 21,080 728,452
BEER = M
Moon River Palace Residential Guangzhou 95 5,453
LIRE FE FE M
Bay Front Residential/apartment/office Zhongshan 113,063 2,434,703
I FE/NE/RFIE il
Bustling City Residential Foshan 13,376 178,737
TR = L
Shum Yip City Residential Foshan 11,058 136,531
REW FE L
Gaobangshan Residential/commercial Huizhou 9,613 77,092
BEl e /BE M
Garden Hills Residential/commercial Huizhou 7,213 53,812
Flisn FE /BE M
Wanlin Lake Commercial Huizhou 139 4,866
B [EE= M
Shum Yip Saina Bay Commercial Heyuan 101 1,535
REEWNE [EES AR
Nanwan Mansion Residential Nanjing 13,462 568,773
[E2p= Bl i = MR
Upper Life Residential/commercial Nanjing 490 11,611
BELRE FE /B MR
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Property Name Type City Booked Area Net Sales
BReia e W #EER HE R
(sq.m.) (RMB’000)
(A XK) (AE%TF)
Longwan Mansion Residential Nanjing 197 8,483
BEELR FE MR
Qinglong Mansion Residential Nanjing 213 5,677
BRELE (B3 MR
Heron Mansion Residential/ancillary office Changsha 933 19,953
BER FE/BRERA =
Ruicheng Residential/commercial/office Changsha 1,059 6,354
=37 T/ BERTE =0
Shum Yip Tairong Mansion Residential Chengdu 58,094 1,106,898
RERBMN (B3 DL
Yihu Rose Garden Residential/commercial Chengdu 20,804 149,194
8BRS FE/BE DL
Shum Yip Dongyue Mansion Residential/commercial Chengdu 6,053 89,775
R 2 BRI FE/BE Bk #B
Nanhu Rose Bay Residential/commercial Wuhan 23,590 346,127
IR E T /B HE
Shum Yip Huafu Garden Commercial Changzhou 171 1,781
REEREE [HES B
Splendid City Commercial Taizhou 97 1,147
wAEE S M
Jiangyin Shum Yip Technology Plant Wuxi
Industrial Park 11,958 55,635
IRRERTEXER &5 i
Ma’anshan Shum Yip Huafu Residential/commercial Ma’anshan 4,196 31,859
ERREER FE/BE HEW
Shenma Industrial Park Plant Ma’anshan 3,331 9,886
AEEXE S HELW
Parking space - 57,096
B
Total &% 404,358 8,327,223

Note: 854 parking spaces were sold

Myt . BEfIHES54E



Contracted Sales

In 2024, the Group realized contracted sales amount of approximately
RMB16,970 million (equivalent to approximately HK$18,610 million). Contracted
sales area was approximately 603,000 square meters, and the average price per
square meter was RMB28,120. Capitalizing on the market rebound opportunities,
the Group implemented targeted marketing strategies. Multiple projects in
Shenzhen saw strong sales, with Upper Scholar selling out immediately upon
launch, securing contracts worth RMB2.55 billion, Shum Yip Luxury Mansion
recording contracts worth RMB2.22 billion and Shum Yip Tairui Mansion fixing
contracts worth RMB1.44 billion. Additionally, projects in Shanghai and Chengdu
also delivered notable sales performance.

By geographical location, projects in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater
Bay Area accounted for 75.0% of the contracted sales amount, 24.0% came
from projects in the municipalities and provincial capitals, and 1.0% came from
other cities. By the types of products, residential products accounted for 82% of
contracted sales, and non-residential products (including office, apartment and
industrial park) accounted for 18%.

Breakdown of Contracted Sales in 2024 Ve’

Project City Type
HERERE Wb £
Upper Scholar Shenzhen Residential
RE LR 3l =
Shum Yip Luxury Mansion Shenzhen Residential
L FI F=E
Shum Yip Tairui Mansion Shenzhen Residential
RERIGN sl (e
Chegongmiao First Renewal Project Shenzhen Office
BRBE-EMET 23 /N
Shum Yip Cloud Center Shenzhen Residential
FREEH FI F=E

Sky Park Shenzhen Apartment
R I NS
Shum Yip Time Mansion Shenzhen Apartment
RE EHIE 3l YN
Tanglang City "o 3 Shenzhen Apartment
YE BRI w YN
Shum Yip Natural City Shenzhen Residential
REWKRBIER = (e
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20245 AEEBRARPEESEAN169.7ETA
R TEH186.1E8 ARHEEBELNG0.38
THK BEHKFHEBA28 120 ARE - KE
EMAETBLIBRNEE  BERTEHERE  F
ZEBEEERMY  FEIHEFHENER B4
25 5B T AR  FEBMAEN2 28 AR &
ERBIEMAMEARE ; IR L5 MHBHNER
HES R B A & AR

RERFEAM ERRAEEBEELARBEESSR
f975.0%° 24.0% R EEEREEWT > 1.0%KEH
fipm e RIEERBESE TTHERLEEHEE
TENB2% FETHER (BRMLE - AT E
*XEBRE) 1hth18%°

20245 SR $H £ BRAR Y
Sales Area Sales "2
HEER SHE Suga2
(sq.m.) (RMB’000)
(EHH) (AE%F7)
33,649 2,548,236
34,117 2,222,755
31,972 1,442,341
17,705 987,930
39,369 880,992
8,310 538,297
8,240 319,953
8,789 308,673
8,554 286,983
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Project City Type Sales Area Sales 2
HERELE mh £ HEER HESREI?
(sq.m.) (RMB’000)
(FHXK) (AEEBTFm)
Shum Yip Upper Coast Shenzhen Residential 3,233 233,905
REEEHE wI (e
UpperHills Shenzhen Industrial R&D, office 3,223 180,067
RE LW wI E A
Shum Yip Taifu Square Shenzhen Apartment 3,569 87,042
REREES w3 nE
Shum Yip Parkview Bay Shenzhen Residential 352 11,264
R 2 R Y wI F=E
Shum Yip Scenery Bay Guangzhou Residential 8,550 304,271
REEEN M (e
Moon River Palace Guangzhou Residential, parking space 924 11,493
TIRE B FE B
Shunde Shum Yip City Foshan Residential 14,337 157,375
B 37 L F=E
Shum Yip Bustling City Foshan Residential 7,178 101,251
RENE LD Gl (e
Gaobangshan No. 1 Huizhou Residential, parking space 33,686 260,153
BELE B FE B
Garden Hills Huizhou Residential 18,450 124,192
FL% EM F=E
Wanlin Huafu Huizhou Residential 1,819 19,291
BMER £l (e
Wanlin Lake Huizhou Residential 508 2,301
B B (e
Shum Yip Starry Lakeshore Dongguan Parking space - 24,446
EERUHEREE RE E=Rivj
Parkview Garden Zhongshan Residential 39,395 1,055,261
BEAETE A (e
Bay Front Zhongshan Residential, apartment 47,466 616,816
I Ll FERE
Saina Bay Heyuan Residential, parking space 101 1,000
EnE AR B
Shum Yip Upper Mansion Shanghai Residential 40,870 1,437,151
RERZLRE L& (e
Nanwan Mansion Nanjing Residential 8,106 348,233

2 LR BR (Es



Project

BHKESLE

Jiangyin Shum Yip Technology
Industrial Park

IRRERREEER

Shum Yip Upper Life

RESELRE

Qinglong Mansion

BRLRE

Shenma East China Industrial
Technology Industrial Park

REERTENREEXR

Longwan Mansion

B L

Shum Yip Heron Mansion

REBEN

Shum Yip Luxiyunjing

REBZEE

Changsha Ruicheng Xihui

EVENSE

Shum Yip Tairong Mansion

REREMN

Shum Yip Dongyue Mansion

R E R

Qingbaijiang Shum Yip Taifu Square

BRIFEREES

Shum Yip North Shore

B30

Shum Yip Yihu Rose Garden

RER MBI

Shum Yi Wah City

REEY,

Nanhu Rose Bay

ERbeih

Changzhou Shum Yip Huafu

BINREER

Shum Yip Yungi Garden

REZEN

City
W

Nanjing

I
Nanjing
BR
Nanjing
AR
Nanjing

[
Nanjing
[
Changsha
=0
Changsha
=00
Changsha
=90
Chengdu
R ED
Chengdu
ik #B
Chengdu
A% #B
Chengdu
D=
Chengdu
ik #B
Chengdu
% 2B
Wuhan
HE
Changzhou
M
Taizhou
M

Type
EiE

Industrial R&D

Ef
Residential
(e
Residential
(e
Industrial R&D

Ef

Commercial, parking space
HE B

Residential

F=

Residential

(e

Commercial

[EES

Residential

F=

Residential

(e

Residential

(e

Residential

F=

Commercial

EES

Residential

(e

Commercial, parking space
EERE

Commercial, parking space
HENB

Residential

(e
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Sales Area Sales "2
HEER HESTI
(sq.m.) (RMB’000)
(£FEK) (AE®BF7)
16,828 81,503
526 13,267
350 8,123
2,186 6,994
13
1,995 34,861
583 11,809
1,227 7,725
55,438 1,155,871
26,505 401,004
16,806 115,526
6,668 49,007
1,688 16,763
106 1,502
24,140 383,305
138 1,800
7,227 70,866
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Project City Type Sales Area Sales 2
HEKERTE W £ HEAR HEEHE
(sq.m.) (RMB’000)
(E5K) (AE#F )
Splendid City Taizhou Residential 97 1,250
i3] ZM (e
Royal Spring Garden Chaohu Residential 203 2,800
FRERHE £ e
Shenma Cihu High-tech Industrial Park  Ma’anshan Industrial R&D 13,372 46,673
RERHEMHNREEXR BEL Tt
Ma’anshan Shum Yip Huafu Ma’anshan Commercial, parking space 4,822 44,961
BBLUREER BELW % B
Total &3 603,389 16,967,377

Note 1:  As all the contracted sales took place in Mainland China, the contracted sales figures are a7 BHHEHEEERPRE A’ > S4THE EE L

expressed in Renminbi. ARH&STo

Note 2: Sales includes the sales of parking spaces. Mo HESEOSHEMHEES-

Note 3:  Tanglang City project was co-developed with Shenzhen Metro Group, as to 50% owned 23 EEAIEE G RYIME ER S /ERHE1TFH
by the Group, and it is accounted using equity method. 50% i » A AR E ©

Project Development and Construction YEH B % HE s 5T

During the year, the Group’s newly started construction area was approximately — E/R > AEEHE TEEL28.38F /5K o sT3/ k5
283,000 square meters. The planned completed projects were delivered on  BEHIZMR B TEBEN191.4BFH Ko
schedule with a completed area of approximately 1.914 million square meters.
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New Construction Projects in 2024 0245 FEIIEE

Luxiyunjing Phase 2 Changsha Commercial 43
BZEE_H = [EESEE
G29 (Vanke Shum Yip Parkview Garden Zhongshan Residential

(BRURZEBEETEE)) Phase 2 67
G29 (BRLVRE£EETEE) — Bl & F
Bay Front Phase 2 (F36, 38 Water Street Commercial) Zhongshan Complex

Commercial and Hall 173
B (F36-38/kimEE) mE g Ll RS R
Total &5 283

Newly Completed Projects in 2024 20245 i TIEH

Shum Yip Natural City (Block 7/8) Shenzhen Residential 209
FRELKBRBTE (7,/8%) 3l & F
Shum Yip Park Mansion Shenzhen Residential 130
REEIRN FI BERH
Guangzhou Shum Yip Scenery Bay Phase 1 Guangzhou Residential 189
BEMNEEEZN—H B BERH
Guangzhou Shum Yip Scenery Bay Phase 2 Guangzhou Residential 70
BN R EN 1 M & & F
Shunde Shum Yip City Primary School Foshan Public facility 22
B R ZE /2 L AEEdih:]
Zhongshan Bay Front Project Phase 1 Zhongshan Complex

(Joint-inspection Building) 159

RUERHREEEH EiRAR) Bl EERAM
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Zhongshan Bay Front Phase 2 Zhongshan Complex

(F36, 38 Water Street Commercial) Commercial 108
UE R A (F36~ 38K A %) B L RS R
Bay Front Project Phase 1 (Residential F27/4, 5, 6, 7#) Zhongshan Complex 92
EHHMEIBEEEDR (FEF27,74> 56~ 7#i8) Lol RE M
Bay Front Project Phase 1 Zhongshan Complex

(Tower F40/1, 2, 3#; Detached Office 4-8#) 82
EOHHEREE (FA0E1B1 2 3#EfH4-o#) i RS Rt
Bay Front Project Phase 1 (Residential F26/4, 5#) Zhongshan Complex 49
BRBIEEEN (EEF26,74 5#i%) il RERH
Bay Front Project Phase 1 (F34 Detached Office 4-94) Zhongshan Complex 9
ErRiHIEEEH (F34BEMA4-94) FL RE A
G111/Nanwan Mansion Phase 1 (Block 5, 7, 8#) Nanjing Residential 59
G111,/ EELR—H#R (57~ 8#1%) BR EERM
Shum Yip North Shore Chengdu Residential 236
REILER B Ep BERH
Shum Yip Tairong Mansion Chengdu Residential 225
RERBRN PR #p B R
Shum Yip Taiyue Mansion Chengdu Residential 106
RERTR Bl #B EBER
Chengdu Longquanyi Project South Land Plot Chengdu Complex 94
PR ER BE R BR 1R B it IR B RERH
Chengdu Longquanyi Project North Land Plot — Auto City Chengdu Complex 44
PR ER B R BR TR B A0t IR B I PR #p RE A
Ma’anshan Cihu Phase 1 Ma’anshan Industrial 32
BELZEN—8 HE T

Total &5t 1,914
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Land Expansion and Reserves

During the year, Phase Il of Chegongmiao First Renewal Project in Shenzhen
achieved major milestones. With the demolition phase successfully wrapped
up, the project moved into the substantive development stage. Meanwhile,
preparatory efforts for the coordinated development projects in Henggang South
of Longgang District were progressing in an orderly manner. As of 31 December
2024, the Group had land reserves with a capacity building area of approximately
6.221 million square meters, of which, the projects not yet started had a capacity
building area of approximately 743,000 square meters, the projects under
construction had a capacity building area of approximately 3.640 million square
meters and the completed but not yet booked projects had a capacity building
area of approximately 1.838 million square meters. The structure of the land
reserve remained reasonable and healthy, with land reserve in the Greater Bay
Area, the Yangtze River Delta region and the second-tier provincial capital cities
accounting for 66.3%, 14.5% and 18.8% of the total capacity buildings area
respectively.

By type — Capacity Building Area™® (sq.m.)
EnELS — SIRRERBE™ (FHK)

7%

14%
1% ’

68%

& PG R e o3 b

- I R

FRURRINELABEFE -—EMET_HEE
BEERER HBEMNE EABELRER
B REEEERSHNamSREmAIrER
- BE2024F12831H ) AEE L HEEH S
BEEEN62218F K ERRHAIEE AR
HEBNTAIBT LR AREBHEREEREN
364.0BF 5K ERIAEEREABERERRYN
183.8B Tk - REEBEREGERRE NEBL
s AR RERGLR66.3% R=ZABREMGLL
#14.5% “IREGHMIELER18.8%

By region — Capacity Building Area® (sq.m.)
BEANMH — stAREARY (LAHK)

19%

66%

® Commercial, commercial/ P Residential o Guangdong- P Yangtze River 2nd-tier provincial
residential and others B Hong Kong- Delta area capital cities and
2~ B REMAR Macao Greater R=ARE others
e
Complex @ Industria Eﬂf{% éﬁ;(;imli iU REM
p=yazhiul TR RS

Note: Capacity building area is the sum of the gross floor area which is used in the

calculation of the plot ratio within the land for construction.

Hit :

SARRERARRAMEENAGEARRNRE
HEZ B -
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Property Investment Business

In 2024, facing the severe challenges of market downturn and intensified
competition, the Group insisted on refined operation and took various measures
to enhance tenant sourcing for office buildings, industrial parks, commercial
complex and professional markets, upgraded and renovated old and inefficient
properties, innovated property leasing model, and the property investment
business maintained stable performance. The overall occupancy rate was 90.8%,
far outperforming the market average. UpperHills continued to consolidate its
fundamentals in office spaces and actively optimised its customer structure.
Among them, premium clients in high-tech, financial and professional services
industries account for nearly 70%, and a total of 13 Fortune 500 companies.

During the year, the Group recorded an income from property investment of
approximately HK$1,377 million, representing a year-on-year decrease of 3.0%.
The gross profit margin of property investment business was approximately 65%.
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had investment properties of approximately
1.731 million square meters, with a fair value of approximately HK$32.92
billion. Affected by the downturn of office building market, the Group recorded a
decrease in the fair value of its investment property portfolio of HK$228 million
during the year.

Urban Integrated Operation Business

Overview of the Business Segment

The Group’s urban integrated operations business, comprising urban and
industrial park property management, residential property management,
commercial operation and property management services, had a total contracted
GFA exceeding 100 million square meters and a total GFA under management
of approximately 96.69 million square meters, of which approximately 80.3%
was attributable to independent third-party projects and approximately 69.9%
was attributable to non-residential properties, both indicators are higher than
the industry average. During the year, revenue from the property management
business amounted to approximately HK$3.29 billion, representing an increase
of 17.8% over last year, with gross profit margin of approximately 15.7%. With
its industry-leading comprehensive strength and widely-recognized service, the
Group was listed among the “2024 Specialised Operational Leading Brand of
China Property Service Companies (No. 12)" (2024t EI¥ ¥ RFEHE(LES
BADIEMNESE124), “Top 1 Outstanding Urban Property Service Brand in
China 2024" (20249 B4 AR % B 75 da k& Top1), “Top 1 Outstanding Industrial
Property Service Brand in China 2024” (20240 Bl & £ Y2 R EF R i&ETop1)
and “Leading Enterprises in Smart City Services in China” (B 21t IR75 %8
%) by the China Index Academy, “Top State-Owned Property Management
Companies by Comprehensive Strength (No. 9)” (REMERBECEEEENSE
94) by the China Property Management Research Institution, etc.

ESYE-E

20245 > EHTH T BEMEANRIENES > ~E
EEFRBMLESE LEIEMABTIE - EEE
REBERSETENBENE  AGRKNEEER
MYE AHMMERERS WEREXEBRET
B BEBUAXA90.8%  HEERTIEKE FE
tHEFERERREABIRBELCEEEHE
B RN EERFETENEBERLMGIE
70% > tHF50058 P E R EIZR 0

FER AEBERYERERANISTIEET B
EETFE3.0% o MERE XK EFEL65% © 722024
F12B31B  AEEREYELEBNI7T3AEF
BK > AABENIIEET - ZBFEHB T
PE FRAEEMBREVEASALBERD
2. 2888 T 0

W R R R

DL AR D

AERHTREEEXHORNTREXRENEXE
B -ETHXEEE BEESRYEEERYE 50
ROBERRBIEFHK > EEERA9,669.08F 7
Ko B BUF=HREEERMGLA80.3% > JFE
EREEBMNLLA69.9%  MBIEREBRTEFHEK
ToER BRYFEERHRALN.IERT B
EFELRI7.8%  EFELN15.7% o BREBEENERN
MNEEENNERHERRIIANBRBE KT  x&
BREREEHMARE TR 2024 B X RS
BEXCEEARRBEEF12%) ~ T 2024 B S
RSES RMETopt J ~ [ 2024 B E X ERBES
Mmi#ETop1 ) ~ THEE SHHRBRELEEE  PYH
BERFNTEBNERBEXGRABNIFILIFSRA

REMIE



Operation Business Expansion

In 2024, Shum Yip Operations of the Group had net expanded area under
management of approximately 15.39 million square meters, of which the net
expansion of property management urban and public construction projects
accounted for 70%, and the market expansion strength remained strong.
Shum Yip Operations expanded its business to Hong Kong for the first time,
and commenced a new segment of port management and maintenance by
undertaking the port management and maintenance services at the West Kowloon
Station of the Guangzhou-Shenzhen-Hong Kong Express Rail Link. It further
expanded its territory in the field of property management urban by undertaking
property management urban services in Cuizhu Street and Gongming Street in
Shenzhen and property management urban services in Jinping District, Shantou.
It obtained the Zhengpu Port mixed-use property service project in Ma'anshan,
representing the first integrated services project containing the service content
of “Shenxiang Full-range Product Line”. It comprehensively improved the type
of park by undertaking integrated operation, renovation and maintenance
service project of Bijiashan, and property management services in Central Park,
Huanggang Park and Children’s Paradise. It established a joint venture with
Shenzhen Media Group, integrating high-quality resources in the influence of
mainstream media and professional operation service efficiency.

Commercial Operation

In 2024, the operations of all commercial projects were stable, and sales
performance grew steadily. The Group further developed its commercial product
line by signing 200 new branded merchants and renewing contracts with
more than 80 merchants during the year. UpperHills strengthened “first launch
economy” by adding 30 national and regional first store, further enhancing its
competitive edge. During the year, the customer traffic exceeded 46 million at
the shopping mall and the sales amounted to RMB6 billion, both representing
a year-on-year double-digit increase as compared with 2023. The “park +
business” consumption mode represented by Bijiashan Sports Park, being the
linked park of UpperHills, has taken initial shape with synergy between park
and business district, and seized the opportunity for low-altitude economic
development. It launched the drone delivery route starting from UpperHills, with
Lianhuashan Park, Bijiashan Park and Central Park as the drop-off points. The
commercial operation of Shenzhen Women and Children Tower project performed
well and was selected as one of the first national lists of replicable experiences
in construction of urban child-friendly spaces. The tenant sourcing efforts
were accelerated for Zhongshan Bay Front project by brand signing publicity.
In addition, the Group has increased the layout of its commercial operations
and expanded the commercial areas of Huangmugang Metro Transport Hub
and Shenzhen Capital Group Building CE&I#%& AE) with a commercial project
entrusted operation mode.
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Hotel Operation Business

The Group owns 6 hotels in operation, namely Suzhou Marriott Hotel (with 302
guest rooms), Chaohu Shum Yip Bantang Hot Spring Hotel (with 27 spring villas),
Holiday Inn Resort Chaohu Hot Spring (with 203 guest rooms), Muji Hotel (with
79 guest rooms) in UpperHills, Shenzhen, Mandarin Oriental Shenzhen (with
178 guest rooms) and Jingju Hotel (with 196 guest rooms) in Shenzhen Women
and Children Tower. During the year, the Group took measures according to the
actual situation of each hotel to stabilize their core operating indicators, and the
hotels recorded operating income (included under other operating segment) of
approximately HK$472 million, which remained flat as compared to last year.

During the year, both Mandarin Oriental Shenzhen and Spa (KT L)) were
awarded five-star rating by Forbes Travel Guide in 2024, together with 10 awards
including China’s Top 50 Hotels by Voyage. Shenzhen MUJI Hotel was awarded
“2023 Shenzhen Tourism Best Lifestyle Hotel” (2023 E Z#IIRERELE
HIUEE) by Shenzhen Tourism Association, and Shenzhen Jingju Hotel was
shortlisted in the “GBE Hotel Design Awards 2024” (GBE JE/E&R st A8 2024)
and was awarded the “Best Lifestyle Experience Hotel Award” (&4 & 152

BRI

The Group accelerated its hotel project initiatives, and signed contracts with
two star-rated hotel brands under Marriott International Group in September
2024. These projects are located near Shenzhen North Railway Station and
are expected to be completed and opened by 2027. With these developments,
the Company has now a total of 12 hotels under operation, management and
construction.

5 RS
AEERROREERE  DHEHEMERABE (R
BI2EEE)  RREY ZRRERES (RE27
fElR R Bl & )’ﬁxﬁﬂ FERRBREERESE (RF203
Fﬁ%%) FIFE EHEDRBAESE (R E79Fﬁ%
B) > i\lﬁé%ﬁ@}*( RE178fERE) ~ RIIFE
Eéjtrl B (RE106[EE) <R Z!K%IEE’@
R REETRAEROBERREE  BRAEL
@H&U\ (AthEENRIAT) W4.7288x > BEE
e

R RIINERABEERKERLELEE2024
(CEminikiiem ) 25 BHMRKTHELNER
[ETOP50%E + K228 ; RIIMUJIE & # R I iR 42 43
ERF M 2023FEEFIREREEEHNAE] ; F
igEBEEAE T GBEEE H st K182024 | B EI
ETREEEAABRASESR o

FEBMRBEEEBMHE > 2024F98 ( HEZFHE
SEETMRERBEREZEN > BEUN R
UEPRAE  FEET2027 AR o Bt o RINIEREE
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Advanced Manufacturing Business

The manufacturing business of the Group is mainly from its subsidiary Shenzhen
Jinghua Displays Electronics Co., Ltd. (“Jinghua Company”), which is engaged
in the research and development, production and sales of products such as loT
intelligent display controllers and LCD devices. With the qualification of national
high-tech enterprise and Shenzhen specialized and sophisticated SMEs, it is a
high-quality service provider in the field of human-machine interface display
and interactive control. In 2024, Jinghua Company was granted as a national-
level specialised, refined, differentiated and innovated (SRDI) “Little Giants”
enterprise, made breakthroughs in technological research and development
with one invention patent and nine utility model patents granted, and realized
mass production of high-difficulty dot matrix displays after obtaining customer
recognition; it started the construction of Vietnam production base, signifying a
big leap forward in its globalization drive; during the year, it achieved significant
cost reduction and efficiency enhancement with the gross profit margin of
products continuing to increase. Due to the impact of the real estate industry,
delivery of orders for home appliances products was delayed during the year, and
revenue from manufacturing business amounted to HK$404 million, representing
a year-on-year decrease of 14.3%, and gross profit margin was approximately
27.0%, representing a year-on-year increase of 2.8 percentage points.

High-tech Agriculture Business

The Group’s high-tech agriculture business includes sales of agricultural products
and flowers and agri-tourism. In 2024, the industrial scale of the agriculture
segment continued to increase. Xinfeng agricultural industrial park has a
planting area of nearly 3,500 acres, having successfully trial-cultivated high-
value crops including artichokes and high-oleic peanuts, with annual output of
agricultural products reaching over 3,000,000 catties, where the artichoke output
reached 100,000 catties, and it also promoted the construction of farm product
processing center and industrial park supporting facilities. Jinnong project
transferred land of 310 mu and was successfully awarded “Shenzhen Farm”. The
agri-tourism projects have been implemented in a steady manner, and a number
of parks have opened for trial operation. Dapeng Seasons Coastal Countryside
(KMEMZ=E/8ME) project was listed in “Millions of Project” (BTE&T
2) of Shenzhen. The construction scheme of Xinfeng e Four Seasons Riverside
Garden (Hr2 e IUZ%THE) was awarded the excellent work award of
“YindiXiangCun Creative Design Competition” (EDER4F#1AIE H 5t AE) by the
Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Affairs. During the year, revenue from agriculture
operation (included under other operating segment) was approximately HK$573
million.
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Financial Management

Capital and Financing

As at 31 December 2024, in terms of bank loans, the Group’s total bank and
other borrowings amounted to HK$37.37 billion (31 December 2023: HK$39.04
billion). Floating rate loans and fixed-rate loans accounted for 63.7% and 36.3%,
respectively; long-term loans and short-term loans accounted for 61.0% and
39.0%, respectively; borrowings denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi
borrowings accounted for 37.7% and 62.3%, respectively.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s cash balance was HK$11.80 billion
(including restricted cash) (31 December 2023: HK$14.44 billion). The Group had
net assets, excluding non-controlling interests, of HK$38.55 billion (31 December
2023: HK$42.34 billion). The asset-liability ratio, excluding advance receipts,
was 68.3%, and the net gearing ratio (net debt excluding interest-bearing loans
from related parties divided by equity attributable to owners of the Company) was
66.3%.

Due to the prolonged high interest rate environment overseas, the finance costs
increased during the year. The Group optimized its capital and debt structure
through various means, and the average comprehensive interest rate of the
Group’s bank and other borrowings was maintained at a low level of 3.98% per
annum during the year.

Key Financial Indicators

HK$100 million

BT

Bank and other borrowings
RITERREMES
— Long-term borrowings
—REGE
— Short-term borrowings
_%4HHFI4A€
Cash (including restricted cash)
R (BEZRHRS)
Net gearing ratio
FREE

S 5 5 P T

EE =
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Effect of Exchange Rate Fluctuation

The Group’s assets are mainly denominated in Renminbi, while Hong Kong
dollar is adopted as the reporting currency in the Group’s financial statements.
The effect of the decrease in RMB exchange rate on the Group’s finance was
mainly reflected in the depreciation of the asset and earnings denominated in
Renminbi against Hong Kong dollar, the reporting currency. During the year, such
fluctuations in the asset and earnings denominated in Renminbi against Hong
Kong dollar, the reporting currency, of HK$1,263.1 million were included in other
comprehensive income.

Internal Control

The Group's focus on leaning to reduce costs and increase efficiency has resulted
in a 20.6% decrease in selling and administrative expenses over last year,
resulting in cost savings of approximately HK$420 million.

Major Joint Ventures and Associates

During the year, the Group’s major joint ventures and associates performed had
varied performance, but the overall results of the Group’s major joint ventures
and associates underperformed due to the impact of the real estate industry
recession.

Taizhou Shum Yip Investment Development Limited (@ 51% owned company
of the Group) contributed profit of approximately HK$351 million to the Group.
Shenzhen Langtong Property Development Company Limited (@ 50% owned
company of the Group) contributed loss of approximately HK$7.45 million.
Shenzhen Tianan Cyber Park (Group) Co., Ltd. (a 37.5% owned company of the
Group) contributed profit of approximately HK$49.87 million to the Group. Shum
King Company Limited (a 50% owned company of the Group) contributed loss
of approximately HK$410 million to the Group. Road King Infrastructure Limited
(1098.HK) (a 27% owned company of the Group) contributed loss of HK$1,135
million to the Group.

It was assessed that a provision for impairment was made for the Group’s interest
in Shum King Company Limited and Road King Infrastructure Limited, which
amounted to approximately HK$1,171 million in aggregate.
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Pledge of Assets and Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had total loans of HK$8.34 billion (31
December 2023: HK$8.75 hillion) that were pledged with assets.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has given guarantees amounted to HK$1.45
billion in respect of bank and other borrowings.

Progress of the Litigation Involving Shum Yip Terra Company

On 29 November 2024, Chengdu Fengze Investment Co., Ltd (RiZ8 L 2HE
BIR/AT) (“Chengdu Fengze") and Shum Yip Terra (Holdings) Company Limited
(FERMR (EE) BHBMRAT) (“Shum Yip Terra Company’, together
with Chengdu Fengze, the “Subsidiaries”), both being non-wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company, received a statement of claim (RZERHHFM)
from the Intermediate People’s Court of Chengdu City (RY#EB™ 4R A R %)
regarding the claims by Sichuan Haofu Industrial Co., Ltd. (F9)IE@E%E
fR/AE]) against the Subsidiaries and four individuals (all of the individuals are
not directors or senior management of the Company) regarding the disputes
in earnings distribution over the investment of “198” Congshu Area (“198"%
fii R &) in Chenghua district, Chengdu, the People’s Republic of China (the
“Litigation”), with an amount of the claim of approximately RMB220 million.
The Subsidiaries have engaged legal advisers to handle the Litigation, and will
rigorously defend the Litigation to protect its legitimate interest. The first trial
of the case commenced on 24 December 2024 and is now in progress. As the
Litigation is still at an early stage, it is difficult to predict the final outcome of the
Litigation with certainty and the Company is still assessing the financial impact of
the Litigation on the Group.

Employees and Remuneration Policy

As at 31 December 2024, the Group employed 18,710 employees of whom 17
were stationed in Hong Kong (mainly managerial and finance related personnel),
and the rest were in Mainland China. The total remuneration for the year ended
31 December 2024 (excluding remuneration of the directors) amounted to
approximately HK$3.034 billion.

Employee benefits and bonuses are based on their individual performance, the
Group’s profit condition, benefit level of the industry and the current market
condition. The remuneration packages are reviewed on an annual basis to ensure
internal equity and its competitiveness in the market. In driving performance,
we also grant share options, under the share option scheme of the Group, to
employees based on individual performance and the results of the Group.
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Mr. WANG Yuwen, aged 57, an Executive Director and President since 22
December 2022 and Acting Chairman since 20 November 2024. Mr. WANG
holds a Bachelor of Science degree from Wuhan University, a master’s degree in
Public Administration from University Paris 1 Panthéon-Sorbonne and a master’s
degree in Economics from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law. Mr.
WANG is currently a director and the president of Shum Yip Group Limited and a
director of Shum Yip Holdings Company Limited. He is also a director of various
members of the Group. He was elected a member of the Sixth CPPCC Shenzhen
Municipal Committee and a representative of the Seventh Shenzhen Municipal
People’s Congress. He served as the deputy general manager of Shenzhen
Investment Holdings Company Limited, the chairman of Shenzhen Shenzhen
Hong Kong Science and Technology Innovation Cooperation Zone Development
Co., Ltd., a director of Hong Kong-Shenzhen Innovation and Technology Park
Limited, deputy inspector of Shenzhen Municipal People’s Government Foreign
Affairs Office (Hong Kong and Macao Affairs Office of the Municipal Government),
vice president of the Shenzhen People’s Association for Friendship with Foreign
Countries, and one of the leaders of the Executive Bureau of Shenzhen 26th
Summer Universiade Organizing Committee. Mr. WANG was a director of
Shenzhen Water Planning and Design Institute Co., Ltd., a company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 301038.5Z). Mr. WANG has considerable
experience in real estate development, industrial park operation, Hong Kong and
Macau affairs, and business management.
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Ms. CAI Xun
st
Executive Director

RITEE

Ms. CAI Xun, aged 50, an Executive Director since 27 August 2020. Ms. CAl 2% 4> 505% » B2020E8B27HEEEFHNITES -
graduated from Central South University of Technology (now known as Central ZHZ+EX¥PRhEIX¥KZ (RATEAZ) BEL
South University) in investment economics with a bachelor's degree in economics. EZ%  FEKEEEBL B By +HREFEER
Ms. CAl is currently a director of Shum Yip Group Limited and Shum Yip Holdings BRATIRZF% (EE) ARADEE KA LE
Company Limited. She is also a director of various members of the Group. Ms. BETHEAT ZEZ - RIMARERF > BL+E
CAl was the chief of the Cadre Division 1 of the Organization Department of EFRIITHEEL BB —EER BLLTN2002EE
Shenzhen Municipal Party Committee before joining the Group. Ms. CAl worked in 2019 HARSF B RIIT HRAHR L S HEBMEE
the Organization Department of Shenzhen Municipal Party Committee during the REEE BHZEREESHA ZZIRABRHE
period from 2002 to 2019 and served as the chief of the Research and Publicity AR AT (1098 HWFAI P E T 2R (EE) RIHBR
Division and the chief of the Cadre Supervision Division etc. Ms. CAl is currently ~ AT(2318.HKZ FEHITE R B L TR ANERER
a non-executive director of Road King Infrastructure Limited (1098.HK) and Ping RiTHEEFEAEZSKEH -

An Insurance (Group) Company of China, Ltd. (2318.HK). Ms. CAl has extensive

experience in human resources management and administrative management.



Mr. YAN Zhongyu, aged 50, an Executive Director since 10 December 2024.
Mr. YAN joined the Group in 2020 as a Vice President of the Company and Shum
Yip Holdings Company Limited, and deputy general manager of Shum Yip Group
Limited. He is also a director of certain members of the Group. Mr. YAN graduated
from Wuhan University with a master’s degree in Business Administration. Mr.
YAN was the deputy manager (investment department), head of administration
office, secretary of the board of directors, director and deputy executive general
manager of Shenzhen Great Ocean Shipping Co., Ltd., the senior supervisor
and deputy head of the investment development department(investment project
assessment center) of Shenzhen Investment Holdings Co. Ltd., the deputy head
and the head of strategic development department and the head of capital market
department of Shenzhen Investment Holdings Co., Ltd. Mr. YAN is currently a
director of Shahe Industrial Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (stock code: 000014.SZ). Mr. YAN has extensive experience in project
investment and financing, corporate management and capital operation.
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Ms. SHI Xiaomei, aged 54, an Executive Director since 27 August 2021. Ms.
SHI graduated from Shanghai University of Finance and Economics majoring in
accountancy (teacher-education). She holds a bachelor's degree in economics
and the title of senior accountant. Ms. SHI is currently a director and the chief
financial officer of Shum Yip Group Limited and a director of Shum Yip Holdings
Company Limited. Prior to joining the Group, she served as the department
head of finance department of Shenzhen Airport (Group) Company Limited,
the department head and deputy department head of finance department of
Shenzhen Airport Company Limited. Ms. SHI is currently a director of Shahe
Industrial Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock
code: 000014.S7). Ms. SHI has extensive experience in financial management
and financial auditing.

Ms. SHI Xiaomei
g L
Executive Director
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Mr. LI Wai Keung, aged 68, an Independent Non-executive Director since 27
September 2004. Mr. LI graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic and holds
a master’s degree in Business Administration from The University of East Asia.
He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. LI had worked for
Henderson Land Development Company Limited (12.HK). He was an independent
non-executive director of Sun Century Group Limited (1383.HK), a director of
Shenzhen City Airport (Group) Company Limited (000089.SZ), an executive
director and financial controller of GDH Limited, an executive director of
Guangdong Land Holdings Limited (formerly known as Kingway Brewery Holdings
Limited) (124.HK) and a non-executive director of Guangdong Investment Limited
(270.HK). Mr. LI is currently an executive director of Hans Energy Company
Limited (554.HK), an independent non-executive director of China South City
Holdings Limited (1668.HK), Centenary United Holdings Limited (1959.HK) and
Legend Upstar Holdings Limited (formerly known as Midland IC&l Limited) (459.
HK). In addition, he was appointed as a committee member of the 12th Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference of Guangdong Province on 17 January
2018 and appointed as a standing committee member of the 12th Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference of Guangdong Province on 27 January
2018. Mr. LI is also a management accounting advisor of the Ministry of Finance,
PRC and the honorary president of Hong Kong Business Accountants Association
Limited.
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Dr. WONG Yau Kar, David, GBS, JP, aged 67, an Independent Nonexecutive
Director since 13 June 2013. Dr. WONG received a doctorate degree in
Economics from the University of Chicago in 1987. Dr. WONG has extensive
experience in manufacturing, direct investment and international trade. Dr. WONG
is active in public service. He was a Hong Kong deputy of the 12th and 13th
National People’s Congress of the People’s Republic of China. Dr. WONG was
appointed as a Justice of Peace (JP) in 2010 and was awarded a Bronze Bauhinia
Star (BBS) and Gold Bauhinia Star (GBS) in 2012 and 2017 respectively for his
valuable contribution to the society. Dr. WONG was an independent non-executive
director of Huayi Tencent Entertainment Company Limited (419.HK). Dr. WONG
is currently an independent non-executive director of Sinopec Kantons Holdings
Limited (934.HK) and Guangnan (Holdings) Limited (1203.HK), which are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange

Dr. WONG Yau Kar,
David
WAL

Independent
Non-executive Director
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Professor GONG Peng, aged 60, an Independent Non-executive Director since
31 December 2022. Prof. GONG holds a bachelor’s degree and a master’s degree
in Geography from Nanjing University and a doctor’s degree from the Faculty of
Environment, University of Waterloo, Canada. He is a professor of Department
of Geography and Department of Earth Sciences, a Chair Professor of Global
Sustainability, and Vice President for Academic Development of The University of
Hong Kong. He was a full Professor at the University of California, Berkeley, and
the Chair of the Department of Earth System Science, the Dean of the Faculty
of Science and the Director of China Urban Research Institute at Tsinghua
University. Prof. GONG was a member of the Expert Group of Global Change and
Response, Ministry of Science and Technology of China. He currently serves as
a Deputy Director of Smart City Committee, Science and Technology Commission
of Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Development, and a Deputy Director of
Urban Development Examination Expert Steering Committee. Internationally, he
served as a member of the Future Earth Consultative Committee, is presently a
member of the Earth Commission and a member of the International Advisory
Group of the Lancet. He was elected as a foreign member of the European
Academy of Sciences in 2020, and was elected as a member of the International
Eurasian Academy of Sciences in 2021.
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Mr. YEO Kee Whye, aged 59, is currently the Vice President of the Company.
Mr. YEO graduated from the Department of Computer Science at Oxford
University with a master’s degree. Mr. YEO joined the Group in 2021. He served
as the managing director of CapitaMalls Asia, China, the general manager of
a commercial company of Financial Street Holdings, the general manager of
Hopson Commercial Properties Ltd., and the Co-president of Sinobo Land. Mr.
YEO has extensive work experience and expertise in the commercial real estate
sector.

Ms. MENG Yijing, aged 40, is currently the Vice President of the Company.
Ms. MENG graduated from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law with
a doctorate degree in economics. Ms. MENG joined the Group in 2023. She
served as the deputy director and director of the General Affairs Division of the
Development and Reform Commission of Shenzhen City, Guangdong Province
and the director of the General Affairs Division and the Economic Operation
Division. Ms. MENG has extensive work experience and expertise in the fields of
macroeconomics and industrial policy.

Mr. YUAN Yang, aged 44, is currently the Vice President of the Company. Mr.
YUAN graduated from Southeast University with a bachelor’s degree in finance.
Mr. YUAN joined the Group in 2024. He served as the deputy director and
director of Management Division of Enterprise Leaders of the State-owned Assets
Supervision and Administration Commission of the Shenzhen Municipal People’s
Government. Mr. YUAN has extensive work experience and expertise in the fields
of state-owned assets supervision, enterprise management, and personnel
management.
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) have pleasure in presenting to
shareholders their annual report together with the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Principal Activities

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of the
Group include property development for sale, property investments for rental
income and property management for property service income. Details of the
Company’s principal subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are set out in
note 42, note 18 and note 19 to the financial statements, respectively. There
were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during
the year.

Business Review

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 is set
out in the sections “Highlight of 2024 Results” on pages 5 to 6, “Letter from the
Board” on pages 10 to 21, “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 24
to 40, and “Corporate Governance Report” on pages 70 to 104 of this report and
the ESG report issued separately. All such discussions form part of this report.

Group Profit
The Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss is set out on page 116 of this report
which shows the Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Dividends
The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

Law and Regulations
The Group is principally engaged in property development, property management
and property investment in the PRC and is therefore subject to the relevant laws
and regulations of the PRC. In respect of the laws and regulations relating to the
environment, which include, but not limited to, Law of the People’s Republic of
China on Environmental Protection (% AR HEFMEIRIERE L), Law of the
People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control of Solid Waste Pollution
(PEARHEMBEEREEYSRIRIE AL and the relevant environmental
protection laws and regulations of Shenzhen Special Economic Zone as well
as other provinces where the Group operates in etc. The Group attaches great
importance to legal compliance, and carries out all the business activities in
compliance with the requirements of the applicable laws and regulations.

Key Risk Factors

Risks and uncertainties can affect the Group’s businesses, financial conditions,
operational results or growth prospects leading to a divergence from expected or
historical results. The following paragraphs list out the key risks and uncertainties
facing by the Group. It is a non-exhaustive list and there may be other risks and
uncertainties further to the key risk areas outlined below, and there may be other
risks which are not known to the Group or which may not be material now but
could become material in the future.
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Macroeconomic Risks

The Group’s development and operations may be affected by external
macroeconomic and capital market fluctuations. The geo-political instability in
the international arena will have uncontrollable long-term effects. Factors such
as the economic situation, policy changes, exchange rate fluctuations, changes in
interest rates, adjustments to the tax regime and imbalances between supply and
demand in the PRC may bring uncertainty to the Group’s operating environment.
The Group will keep track of the macroeconomic changes at all times and take
corresponding measures to cope with the risks as and when necessary.

Industry Risks

Affected by policy control, liquidity and other factors, the real estate industry in
China is experiencing continuous adjustment, and changes in property prices,
supply or demand are subject to greater uncertainty, which may have an impact
on the Group’s operations, development and financial position. The income
from property business represents mainstream income of the Group, and in the
Group’s income from real estate sales, the income from the real estate sales in
the Guangdong — Hong Kong — Macao Greater Bay Area market has a higher
proportion. If there is a downside risk in the real estate market in the Guangdong
— Hong Kong — Macao Greater Bay Area, this will have a more substantial impact
on the Group’s net assets, sales revenue and profitability. The Group closely
monitors the sales position at all times and adopts strategies with flexibilities to
cope with the risks.

Policy Risks

The Group’s business is subject to a wide range of PRC laws and regulations
and policy regulation, including but not limited to economic and fiscal
policies, industrial regulations, enterprise regulations, real estate and property
management regulations. In addition, the PRC government’s various reform
measures on real estate are expected to continue to be adjusted and improved.
The Group will carefully interpret the policies and pay close attention to the
market situation, and flexibly adjust its corporate strategies and sales plans to
cope with the risks arising from the policy changes.

Exchange Rate Risks

There is a fluctuation in Renminbi exchange rate. The Group’s main assets are
located in mainland China while the reporting currency of Group’s financial
reports is Hong Kong dollar. The fluctuation in Renminbi exchange rate will
cause changes in the value of the Group’s assets and earnings denominated in
Renminbi against Hong Kong dollar, the reporting currency. The Group did not
adopt any financial instrument to hedge against exchange rate risk in the year.
In future, the Group will monitor the exchange rate fluctuations, enhance its risk
management capabilities, and actively address exchange rate risks through a
variety of ways.

Operational Risks

The Group’s operations may be affected by multiple risk factors related to its
business. Inadequate internal processes, personal misconduct, external partner’s
breach behavior, delay in the schedule of construction projects caused by
climate change related factors, or other factors beyond control may have certain
negative impacts on the Group’s operation. The Group will continue to optimize
its management, improve its internal control system and enhance its operational
capabilities and customer satisfaction so as to avoid such risks.
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Investment Risks

The Group involves in real estate project investment, equity investment and
emerging industry investment. Changes in external environment, such as
macroeconomic fluctuations, changes in social environment, industry policy
adjustments or other uncontrollable factors, may cause the invested projects not
meeting expectations, which will have impact on the Group’s net assets, sales
revenue and profitability. The Group has established corresponding management
and decision-making mechanisms for investment business, and will continue to
optimize the internal control system in the future, while closely monitoring market
dynamics and actively responding to risks from the external environment.

Debt Risks

The debt risks to which the Group is subject represent those risks of capital
shortage, rising financing costs or default on debts potentially related to the
Group’s receding solvency caused by lower-than-expected incomes from
investment projects, changes in external environment and other factors. Main
countermeasures include: adjusting the structure of domestic debts and further
scaling down overseas financing, with close monitoring of liquidity risks;
improving the business operation efficiency of properties held on hand by
advancing asset-backed securitization, enhancing value realization of assets held
for disposal and accelerating exit procedures for equity participating enterprises
under the targeted withdrawal plan; performing stringent control measures on
new real estate projects by improving the management rules for new business
investments and establishing a sound post-investment assessment mechanism.

Highlight of ESG Report

In 2024, the Company continued to adhere to its development vision of being
“Innovative Constructor of Industrial Cities, Wealthy Livelihood Operator”. By
further implementing the philosophy of sustainable development and integrating
into the national “dual carbon” strategy, the Company has proactively responded
to global climate action. The Company also strengthened and improved the
environmental, social and governance (ESG) system, and made every effort to
enhance sustainable development and value creation capabilities, with an aim to
promote high quality development, ensuring steady and sustained progress.
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In the year, we have focused on ESG responsibilities, driven the high-quality
development of our compliance management system, and fully advanced the
corporate governance standards. After obtaining international and national
“dual standards” certifications for compliance management system, our parent
company has further been awarded as “Pioneer Enterprise in International
Compliance Development CGHINEGRERSIBEEE)" by Office of
Administering the City by Law of Shenzhen Municipal Party Committee and its
compliance case received the First Prize in the 5th Modern Industrial Enterprise
Social Responsibilities Innovation Achievements in China and the Outstanding
Rating by Legal One, an international research and rating institute, while its legal
and compliance team was awarded as “ALB China Top 15 In-house Teams 2024".
We have always attached great importance to the environment, safety and health.
We advanced the certification of three key management systems of quality,
environment and occupation health and safety. Through digital transformation,
we empowered safety and quality management to create high-quality, green and
healthy buildings. Adhering to the principles of “customer first” and responsible
marketing, our customer service has been optimized and customer satisfaction
has been enhanced. With a diverse, equitable, and inclusive workplace fostered,
our employees and the Company grew together. Our active engagement in social
welfare and rural revitalization initiatives played a key role in enhancing the
people’s livelihoods.

We highly valued communication with and management of stakeholders,
maintaining an efficient communication mechanism to respond to concerns and
expectation of the community. Through sustaining long-term cooperation with
our stakeholders including homeowners, tenants, investors, business partners,
employees and broad communities, we drove the realization of value co-creation.
During the year, the Company also maintained MSCI-ESG index A rating, and was
also awarded “Tianma Award for Investor Relations Management of Hong Kong
Listed Companies” in the 15th Tianma Award for Investor Relations Management
of Chinese Listed Companies, “Best Capital Market Communication Award” and
“Best ESG Award” at the 8th China Outstanding IR Awards, and was rated as the
“Enterprise with Excellent Environmental Performance” for Real Estate Companies
for 2024. Our performance in key areas such as green building, product
safety and quality, and corporate governance surpassed the industry average,
highlighting our leading position in the ESG field within the real estate sector,
which also demonstrated extensive recognition from the society for our consistent
effort on sustainable development. We will continue to explore sustainable
development models that balance economic, social, and environmental benefits,
using ESG as our guiding principle to pave the way for a sustainable future.

For details, please refer to the “2024 Environmental, Social and Governance
Report” issued by the Company.

Summary of Financial Information

A summary of the published results of the assets, liabilities and non-controlling
interest of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
audited financial statements as appropriate, is set out on page 7. This summary
is not part of the audited financial statements.
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Property, Plant and Equipment and Investment Properties
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment and investment
properties of the Group during the year are set out in note 14 and 15 to the
financial statements respectively.

Properties
Particulars of major properties held by the Group are set out on pages 256 to
264.

Reserves

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the
year are set out in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity on pages
120 to 121 and note 40 to the financial statements respectively.

Interest Capitalisation
Interest of approximately HK$1,498,503,000 was capitalised during the year in
respect of the Group’s property development projects.

Major Customers and Suppliers

In the year under review, both the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s
five largest customers and the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s
five largest suppliers were less than 30% of the Group’s sales and purchases
respectively.

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholders (which, to
the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital) had any beneficial interest of the Group’s five largest customers or
five largest suppliers.

Donations
During the year, the Group has made donations of approximately HK$1,103,000
for charitable or other purposes.

Directors

The Directors as at the date of this report are listed on page 4 of this report. The
changes in Board membership during the year and up to the date of this report
are set out below:

Dr. LU Hua retired as the Chairman of the Board and an Executive Director
of the Company on 20 November 2024,

—  Mr. WANG Yuwen was appointed as the Acting Chairman of the Board on 20
November 2024.

—  Mr. XU Enli resigned as an Executive Director of the Company on 10
December 2024.

—  Mr. YAN Zhongyu was appointed as an Executive Director of the Company
on 10 December 2024.
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In accordance with article 100 of the articles of association of the Company,
Mr. WANG Yuwen and Ms. SHI Xiaomei will retire by rotation at the forthcoming
annual general meeting and being eligible, have offered themselves for re-
election.

Mr. YAN Zhongyu was appointed by the Board as a Director to fill casual
vacancy on 10 December 2024. In accordance with article 91 of the articles of
association of the Company, Mr. YAN Zhongyu will hold office as Director only
until the next following general meeting after his appointment and, being eligible,
he has offered himself for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company.

The list of directors who have served on the boards of the subsidiaries
of the Company during the year is available on the Company’s website at
www. shenzheninvestment.com under the “Corporate Governance” section.

Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies
Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group are
set out on pages 41 to 48 of this report.

Directors’ Service Contracts
None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

Directors’ Material Interests in Transaction, Arrangement and
Contract

None of the Directors or his/her connected entity had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance in relation to the business of the Group where were entered into by
the Group and subsisting during or at the end of the year.

Directors’ Interests in Competing Businesses

Save as disclosed below, none of the Directors has any direct or indirect interest
in a business which competes or may compete, with the business of the Group as
required to be disclosed under the Listing Rules.

Mr. WANG Yuwen, Ms. CAI Xun and Ms. SHI Xiaomei are directors of both Shum
Yip Holdings Limited (“SYH”") and Shum Yip Group Limited (“SYG”). SYH and SYG,
through their subsidiaries and associates, have interests in property investment
and development businesses in the PRC.
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Mr. YAN Zhongyu and Ms. SHI Xiaomei are directors of Shahe Industrial Co., Ltd.
(000014.S7), which shares are listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange and have
interests in property investment and development businesses in the PRC.

In addition, Ms. CAl Xun is a non-executive director of Road King Infrastructure
Limited (1098.HK), an associated company of the Company, whose shares are
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and engages in property
investment and development businesses.

Emoluments of Directors and Chief Executives and the Five
Highest Paid Employees

Details of the Directors” and chief executives’ emoluments and of the five highest
paid employees in the Group are set out in note 9 to the financial statements
respectively.

Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Group were entered into or existed during
the year.

Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 22 June 2012 (“Old Share
Option Scheme”), which had expired on 19 June 2022. No further options may be
granted under the Old Share Option Scheme but as at the date of this report, the
2,470,000 options granted and outstanding thereunder shall continue to be valid
and exercisable in accordance with their terms of grant.

The Company adopted a new share option scheme on 31 May 2022 (“Share
Option Scheme”). No options have been granted under the Share Option Scheme
since its adoption. 882,249,311 options are available for grant at both the
beginning and end of 2024, and 887,409,311 options are available for grant as
at the date of this report, under the Share Option Scheme.

The major terms of the Share Option Scheme are set out below:

1. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide the Company
with a flexible means of giving incentive to, rewarding, remunerating,
compensating and/or providing benefits to the participants (“Participant(s)”)
and for such other purposes as the Board may approve from time to time,
and to provide the Participants with the opportunity to acquire propriety
interests in the Company to encourage the Participants to work towards
enhancing the value of the Company and its shares for the benefits of the

Company and its shareholders as a whole.
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The Participants of the Share Option Scheme are the employee or director
(including executive, non-executive and independent non-executive
directors) of any member of the Group comprising the Company, Shum
Yip Holdings Company Limited, a substantial shareholder of the Company,
Shum Yip Group Limited, the holding company of Shum Yip Holdings
Company Limited, and their respective subsidiaries and associated
companies from time to time (the “SY Group”), or any employee, partner or
director of any business consultant, joint venture partner, financial adviser
and legal adviser of and to any member of the SY Group, as the Board may
at it absolute discretion determine.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company, namely the Old Share Option Scheme,
shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of shares in issue
as at the date of adopting the Share Option Scheme, being 889,879,311
shares. As at the date of this report, the total number of shares available
for issue under the Share Option Scheme is 887,409,311, representing
approximately 9.97% of the shares in issue of the Company.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted and to be granted pursuant to the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company to each Participant
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the total number of shares of the Company
in issue, unless otherwise separately approved by the shareholders of the
Company in a general meeting. Further, any grant of option to a Participant
who is a substantial shareholder or an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company, or any of their respective associates, which
would result in the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options already granted and to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company (including options
exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to him in the 12-month period up
to and including the date of such grant (i) representing in aggregate more
than 0.1% of the total number of shares of the Company in issue; and (i)
having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the shares of the
Company at the date of each grant, in excess of HK$5,000,000, is subject
to the approval of the shareholders of the Company in general meeting.
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The exercise period of any option granted under the Share Option Scheme
is to be determined by the Board at its absolute discretion, and shall expire
no later than the 10th anniversary of the date upon which the option is
granted and accepted in accordance with the Share Option Scheme.

There is neither any minimum period for which an option must be held, nor
any performance target which is needed to be achieved by the grantee,
before the option can be exercised unless otherwise determined by the
Board and specified at the time of the offer.

The period open for acceptance of an offer of the grant of the option shall
be determined by the Board at its absolute discretion provided that it shall
not be opened for acceptance after the 10th anniversary of the date the
Share Option Scheme is adopted or after the Share Option Scheme has
been terminated in accordance with the provisions thereof, whichever is
earlier. An amount of HK$1.00 is payable by the grantee on acceptance of a
grant.

The exercise price of options granted shall be a price determined solely
by the Board and shall be at least the highest of (i) the closing price
of the Company’s shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) on the date
of grant, which must be a business day; (ii) the average closing price of
the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the 5 business days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and (iii) the nominal value of a share in the Company.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective until 31 May 2032
unless otherwise terminated in accordance with the terms stipulated
therein.

Please refer to note 29 to the financial statements for further information on the
share option schemes of the Company.
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The particulars of, and movements in, the outstanding share options granted TFTXEHIENEEREFEIETEREBEKRTE

under the Old Share Option Scheme during the year are set out below: CHBREZEERES:
As at 1 January 2024 Movements during the year As at 31 December 2024
2024118 ERZEH R2024512B31H
Exercise Exercise
Outstanding period/ Share Share Share Share - Qutstanding period/
Name/Categories Share Date of Vesting Exercise Options Options Options Options Share Date of Vesting Exercise
of grantee Options grant period Price granted ~ exercised lapsed  cancelled Options grant period Price
HATT s/ Btz Bfiffz BA¥z BEEZ  HEOE frfEm/
RS/ BH ZERE EERH  BEH  OFE  BRE  BRE  BRE  BRE ZERE RURE BER 68
Employee Participants 5,160,000  28/9/2021  18/1/2022- 2.00 - - - - 5160,000  28/9/2021 18/1/2022- 2.00
EE24% 171112026 171112026*
2,470,000 28/9/2021  28/9/2022- 2.00 - - - - 2470000  28/9/2021  28/9/2022- 2.00
27/9/2025* 27/9/2025
Total 7,630,000 - - - - 7,630,000
A
(=N
* Options are exercisable subject to performance review and the following vesting term. * BRERRREEZE T HEBR{THE
As at the date of this report, all 5,160,000 Share Options have lapsed. PR AR S BHA > 2865,160,00088 IS # B 38 o

Maximum percentage (and the corresponding number) of

Share Option exercisable (including Share Options previous exercised) Exercise period of the relevant percentage of the Share Option
ATEERERSLS (REEHE) (BEBEETRZERE R LB RR B 1 2 1T R R R
40% (2,064,000 Share Options) at any time from 18 January 2022 to 17 January 2023
40% (2,064,00017 B R 1) 20221518 £2023F1 B17H 2 E K
70% (3,612,000 Share Options) at any time from 18 January 2023 to 17 January 2024
70% (3,612,00017 FE 1) 2023F1 B18E £2024F1 A17H 2 ERIF
100% (5,160,000 Share Options) at any time from 18 January 2024 to 17 January 2025
100% (5,160,00013 & A5 1) 20241 B18B £2025%F 1 A17H 2 E A E
** QOptions are exercisable subject to performance review and the following vesting term: = EREBERRIAEZRTYEBERITE
Maximum percentage (and the corresponding number) of
Share Option exercisable (including Share Options previous exercised) Exercise period of the relevant percentage of the Share Option
AfTEERERSLS (RERYE) (BEAGETEZERE HERILLFIRA B 1 2 TR H RS
40% (988,000 Share Options) at any time from 28 September 2022 to 27 September 2023
40% (988,00017 B AR 1) 20224E9F 28 0 £20235 9527 B 2 (F 175575
70% (1,729,000 Share Options) at any time from 28 September 2023 to 27 September 2024
70% (1,729,00017 & A 1) 202398 28 H E2024F9A27H 2 oI5
100% (2,470,000 Share Options) at any time from 28 September 2024 to 27 September 2025

100% (2,470,007 B B 1) 2024459 F 28 B 202559 27 B 2 A I BF



Directors’ Interests in Shares

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the directors and
chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company and any associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) which were notified to the
Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests in short
positions which were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of SFO),
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352
of the SFO or which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) adopted by the Company were as follows:

Long positions in the shares (“Shares”) and underlying shares of the Company:

Name of director Capacity
BEHY 51

LI Wai Keung Beneficial owner
EN L EGEAA
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Number of Percentage of
Shares Shares in issue
HEETRG

RHEE LRAE
(Note)

k3]

1,180,880 0.01

Note: The percentage was calculated based on 8,898,793,115 Shares in issue as at 31
December 2024.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors and chief executive of the
Company had, as at 31 December 2024, any interests or short positions in
any Shares and underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (which is the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which would
have to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests in short positions which were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of SFQ), or which were recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO,
or which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code. Save as disclosed above, at no time during the
year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in, or debts securities (including debentures) of, the Company or its associated
corporations and none of the Directors, or their spouse or children under the age
of 18, had any rights to subscribe for equity or debt securities of the Company or
its associated corporations, or had exercised any such rights.
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Substantial Shareholders

So far as is known to any director or chief executive of the Company, as at 31
December 2024, the interests and short positions of the shareholders (other
than directors or chief executives of the Company) who had interests or short
positions in the Shares and underlying shares of the Company which would fall
to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, were as follows:

FERH

RERFERNESHRSTHASFAM > [220245F
12R31H RR (ARREFARSTHRAERIN 1t
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Percentage of
Name Capacity Long Position Short Position Shares in issue
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b2y 513 Ha xE ZzB7ak
(Note 1)
(M sE1)
Shum Yip Group Limited* (“SYG”) Interest in controlled corporation 5,622,994,189 Mete2 - 63.19
REEERBRAR (TF£ER)) SEEEZER i)
Shum Yip Holdings Company Limited (“SYH")  Beneficial owner 5,546,307,730 - 62.33
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Interest in controlled corporation 76,686,459 Mote ) - 0.86
SELRZ S L
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BEREEA
Notes: BfH5E :
1. The percentage was calculated based on 8,898,793,115 Shares in issue as at 31 1. BARLBREHZE2024F12831B 2 B2 1TRG

December 2024.

2. SYG is deemed to be interested in the 5,622,994,189 Shares which SYH is interested in by
virtue of SYH being its direct 90%-owned subsidiary.

3. These 76,686,459 Shares were held by Goldclass Industrial Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Successful Years Holdings Limited, which in turn is wholly-owned by Shum Yip
Finance Company Limited (“SYF"). SYF is a wholly-owned subsidiary of SYH and accordingly,
SYH is deemed to be interested in these 76,686,459 Shares.
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Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Company had not been
notified by any person (other than directors and chief executives of the Company)
who had interests or short positions in the Shares and underlying shares of the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the
SFO.

Equity-Linked Agreements
Other than the share option schemes of the Company as disclosed above, no
equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing shares or
that require the Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result in
the Company issuing shares were entered into by the Company during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year.

Related Party Transactions

Details of the significant related party transactions undertaken in the normal
course of business are provided under note 39 to the financial statements.
Some of these transactions also constituted non-exempt connected transactions
under the Listing Rules, for which the Company has complied with the applicable
disclosure requirements.

Connected Transactions

Set out below is the information in relation to the connected transactions and
continuing connected transactions carried out by the Group during the year,
particulars of which were previously disclosed by way of announcements and are
required under the Listing Rules to be disclosed in this report.
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Connected Transaction

On 11 June 2024, Shum Yip Smart Technology (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (“Shum
Yip Technology”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a
digitalization framework agreement (the “Digitalization Framework Agreement”)
with Shum Yip Group which sets out the framework for the engagement of Shum
Yip Technology for the provision of certain services of digitalization development
and maintenance to certain members of Shum Yip Group (including the Company
and its subsidiaries) (the “Users”). Pursuant to the Digitalization Framework
Agreement, Shum Yip Technology will, subject to the entering into of individual
contracts, provide the services of digitalization development and maintenance
to the Users, and Shum Yip Group will act as the coordinator in relation to each
service project and one of the Users, and the fees receivable by Shum Yip
Technology under the Digitalization Framework Agreement are to be borne by
and allocated among the Users. The maximum amount of services fees payable
to Shum Yip Technology by the Users is RMB14,958,000 (including tax). And,
according to the costs allocation arrangement under the Digitalization Framework
Agreement, the maximum aggregate amounts of service fees payable to Shum
Yip Technology by the Users who are not members of the Group, namely Shum
Yip Group and its subsidiaries Shum Yip Shahe Group Co., Ltd., Shenzhen Shum
Yip Infrastructure Holdings Co., Ltd. and Shenzhen Science & Industry Park Group
Co., Ltd. (collectively the “SY Users”) in respect of the development services is
approximately RMB8,676,667 (including tax). As Shum Yip Group is the ultimate
controlling shareholder of the Company, all the SY Users are therefore connected
persons of the Company. Accordingly, the transactions with the SY Users
contemplated under the Digitalization Framework Agreement constitute connected
transactions of the Company and are subject to the reporting and announcement
requirements but exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval
requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Details of the transactions
under the Digitalization Framework Agreement were set out in the announcement
of the Company dated 11 June 2024.
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Continuing Connected Transactions

1.

On 28 March 2022, Shum Yip Terra Land Investment & Development
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (“Shum Yip Terra Land Company”, an indirect non-
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company), Zhongshan Vanke Enterprise Co.,
Ltd. (“Zhongshan Vanke”) and Zhongshan Shenye Wansheng Investment
Co., Ltd. (the “Project Company”, an indirect non-wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company owned as to 50% by Shum Yip Terra Land Company
and 50% by Hefei Vanke Ruixiang Real Estate Company Limited (“Hefei
Vanke”)) respectively entered into a development and construction services
agreement regarding the provision by Zhongshan Vanke of a full range
of management services for the development, construction, marketing
and other affairs in relation to the piece of land situated at Zhongshan
City, Guangdong Province, the PRC held by the Project Company for the
period commencing from 28 March 2022 to 28 March 2032 (or the day on
which Zhongshan Vanke completes all the work under the said agreement
(whichever is earlier)) (the “Development and Construction Services
Agreement”). The annual cap of the service fee (“Service Fee”) payable
by the Project Company to Zhongshan Vanke for the services provided
under the Development and Construction Services Agreement is RMB250
million, RMB300 million, RMB320 million, RMB250 million, RMB170 million,
RMB250 million and RMB95 million for the years ending 31 December
2022, 2023, 2024, 2025, 2026, 2027 and 2028 respectively. The annual
cap for Service Fee for each of the four years ending 31 December 2029,
2030, 2031 and 2032 is set at zero because while Zhongshan Vanke may
be required to provide follow up services, it is expected that the Service Fee
would be fully settled and paid to Zhongshan Vanke by the year ending 31
December 2028. As Hefei Vanke is a substantial shareholder of the Project
Company and both Hefei Vanke and Zhongshan Vanke are subsidiaries
of China Vanke Co., Ltd., Zhongshan Vanke is therefore an associate
of a substantial shareholder of a subsidiary of the Company and thus a
connected person of the Company at the subsidiary level. Accordingly,
the transactions contemplated under the Development and Construction
Services Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and are subject to the
reporting and announcement and annual review requirements but is exempt
from the independent shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. Details of the transactions under the Development
and Construction Services Agreement were set out in the announcement of
the Company dated 28 March 2022.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Service Fee paid by the
Project Company to Zhongshan Vanke amounted to RMB86,764,864.72
(representing approximately 27.11% of the annual cap for 2024).
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On 28 March 2024, Shenzhen Guangming Science City Development
and Construction Co., Ltd. (“Science City Co.”) and Shum Yip Property
Operation Group Co., Ltd. (“Shum Yip Property Operation”), a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a property management
services agreement (the “2024 Property Management Services Agreement”)
with respect to the engagement by Science City Co. of Shum Yip Property
Operation to provide property management services in relation to the
property (comprising office, laboratories, apartments and commercial areas)
situated at Northwest side of the intersection of Yongchuang Road and
Qiangxia 1st Road, Guangming District, Shenzhen, the PRC for the period
from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (both dates inclusive). The
annual cap of the management services fees (tax inclusive) payable by
Science City Co. under the 2024 Property Management Services Agreement
is RMB24,156,602.88. As Shum Yip Group is the ultimate holding company
of the Company, Science City Co., a subsidiary of Shum Yip Group, is
therefore a connected person of the Company. Accordingly, the property
management services contemplated under the 2024 Property Management
Services Agreement constitutes a continuing connected transaction of the
Company and is subject to the reporting and announcement and annual
review requirements, but is exempt from the independent shareholders’
approval requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Details of
the transactions under the 2024 Property Management Services Agreement
were set out in the announcement of the Company dated 28 March 2022.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the management services fees (tax
inclusive) paid by Science City Co. to Shum Yip Property Operation amounted to
RMB21,147,338.19 (representing approximately 87.54% of the annual cap for
2024).
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The Independent Non-executive Directors, having reviewed the continuing
connected transactions under the Development and Construction Services
Agreement and the 2024 Property Management Services Agreement, confirmed
that such transactions had been entered into

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(i) according to the agreement governing them on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a
whole.

The Company has engaged its external auditor, Ernst & Young, to report on the
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard
on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other
than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference
to Practice Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued an unqualified
letter containing the findings and conclusions in respect of the aforesaid
continuing connected transaction in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing
Rules.

In respect of the continuing connected transactions, the Company’s auditor
confirmed that:

()  nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that
the continuing connected transactions have not been approved by the
Company’s board of directors;

(i) for transactions involving the provision of services by the Group,
nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the
transactions were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the
pricing policies of the Group;

(i) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the
transactions were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance
with the relevant agreements governing such transactions; and

(iv) with respect to the aggregate amount of the continuing connected
transactions, nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that the continuing connected transactions have exceeded the
annual cap as set by the Company.

Shenzhen Investment Limited &I A RA T
Annual Report &3 2024

&

Directors” Report
HHEGHRY

HERRAERRRBHRRNUENZEERBHZ
BETHNREREXS% BUFRNTESHDERR
BRUTER 1L

) REEE-RERAEEHBRESD,;
(i) REBBEEREABEBRD;

(il WERERERBATSEAREGALATKE
MEERRF R AR

FABBZEEIEREAZ XSS MEHARE
BEGSIAGRHNEBEEXFERF0005%
(B:]) TIEEMBEMBRABRLUIINZEER
%1 LB REBRPAET405% (B:]) TRREB LS
RBFME R ERER Z RS R ) S ERER
SEEHRE - ZYAMERE L TR F14A 56055 £
XEENRERERZEHERSERNR G 1§
BEHERRER -

HREHERZME SR ZMMERED

() WEIRINEAFEINSHEEZSHRBE
ﬁ%%%$@ﬂ§$§m&,

i) ERZIRBFEERERS TEITIME
HEEL Efﬁhzf“%fﬁikﬁﬁ&ﬁ
BRAEENTE BHRET;

(i) WEIRINEASESHRIAEZERZES
BEXAFBREREBEEEZSERSNIHEET,;
K

vy MBEFERERZNBEEMES 7\‘/%‘3%‘\
HAENFELYREMEREHERERZNE

BBALABUNEFE LR

065



066

Shenzhen Investment Limited ZF3IZRAFRAT
Annual Report 3§ 2024

®

Directors” Report
HHEGHRY

Purchases, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s Securities
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company'’s listed securities during the year.

Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of its Directors, throughout the year and up to the date of this report,
there is sufficient public float, as not less than 25% of the Company’s issued
Shares are held by the public.

Continuing Disclosure Requirements Under Rule 13.21 of the
Listing Rules

Banking facilities with covenants in relation to specific performance of the
controlling shareholder:

On 26 June 2019, the Company as borrower accepted the facility letter
(“1st Facility Agreement”) relating to a revolving loan facility of up to
RMB1,000,000,000 (“1st Facility”) offered by a bank as lender. The 1st Facility is
subject to annual review by the lender.

On 14 September 2020, the Company as borrower accepted the facility letter
(“2nd Facility Agreement”) relating to an uncommitted term loan facility of up to
US$185,000,000 (or its equivalent in Hong Kong dollars) (“2nd Facility”) offered
by a bank as lender. The last repayment date of the borrowing under the 2nd
Facility is 48 months from the date of the first drawdown under the 2nd Facility
Agreement.

On 19 August 2021, the Company as borrower accepted the facility letter (“3rd
Facility Agreement”) relating to a term loan facility of up to HK$1,000,000,000
(“3rd Facility”) offered by a bank as lender. The term of the 3rd Facility is 36
months commencing from the date of acceptance of the 3rd Facility Agreement.

On 30 August 2021, the Company as borrower accepted the facility letter (“4th
Facility Agreement”) relating to a term loan facility of up to HK$600,000,000
(“4th Facility”) offered by a bank as lender. The term of the 4th Facility is 36
months commencing from the first drawdown date of the 4th Facility Agreement.

On 9 December 2021, the Company as borrower accepted the facility letter (“5th
Facility Agreement”) relating to a term loan facility of up to HK$1,000,000,000
(“bth Facility”) offered by a bank as lender. The term of the 5th Facility is 36
months commencing from the date of acceptance of the 5th Facility Agreement.
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On 14 June 2022, the Company as borrower entered into a facility agreement
(“6th Facility Agreement”) with certain banks as lenders relating to a term loan
facility of HK$5,000,000,000 (“6th Facility”) for a term of up to 3 years.

On 11 May 2023, the Company as borrower accepted a facility letter (“7th
Facility Agreement”) relating to a revolving loan facility of up to HK$500,000,000
(or its equivalent amount in RMB) (“7th Facility”) offered by a bank as lender. The
term of the 7th Facility is 3 years.

On 12 May 2023, the Company as borrower accepted a facility letter (“8th
Facility Agreement”) relating to a term loan facility of HK$1,000,000,000 (“8th
Facility”) offered by a bank as lender. The term of the 8th Facility is 3 years.

On 16 May 2023, the Company as borrower entered into a facility agreement
(“9th Facility Agreement”) with certain banks as lenders relating to a term loan
facility of HK$3,500,000,000 (“9th Facility”). The term of the 9th Facility is 3
years.

On 5 February 2024, the Company as borrower accepted a facility letter (“10th
Facility Agreement”) relating to a term loan facility of HK$1,000,000,000 (or its
equivalent in US$) (“10th Facility”) offered by a bank as lender. The term of the
10th Facility is 3 years.

On 6 February 2024, the Company as borrower accepted a facility letter (“11th
Facility Agreement”) relating to a term loan facility of HK$300,000,000 (or its
equivalent in RMB) (“11th Facility”) offered by a bank as lender. The term of the
11th Facility is 3 years.

On 24 April 2024, the Company as borrower accepted a facility letter (“12th
Facility Agreement”) relating to a term loan facility of US$100,000,000 (or its
equivalent in HK$) (the “12th Facility”) offered by a bank as lender. The term of
the 12th Facility is 3 years.
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On 3 July 2024, the Company as borrower accepted a facility letter (“13th
Facility Agreement”) relating to a revolving loan facility of HK$1,000,000,000
(“13th Facility”) offered by a bank as lender. The term of the 13th Facility is 3
years.

On 16 September 2024, the Company as borrower entered into a facility
agreement (“14th Facility Agreement”) relating to a term loan facility of up to
HK$2,000,000,000 (“14th Facility”) offered by a bank as lender. The term of the
14th Facility is 36 months.

On 20 March 2025, the Company as borrower entered into a facility agreement
(“15th Facility Agreement”), together with the 1st Facility Agreement, 2nd
Facility Agreement, 3rd Facility Agreement, 4th Facility Agreement, 5th Facility
Agreement, 6th Facility Agreement, 7th Facility Agreement, 8th Facility
Agreement, 9th Facility Agreement, 10th Facility Agreement, 11th Facility
Agreement, 12th Facility Agreement, 13th Facility Agreement and 14th Facility
Agreement collectively referred to as the (“Facility Agreements”) with certain
banks as lenders for a HK$4,000,000,000 term loan facility (“15th Facility”) for a
term of up to 3 years.

Under each of the Facility Agreements, it will be an event of default if Shum Yip
holdings Company Limited ceases to own beneficially at least 35% of the issued
share capital of the Company, ceases to be the single largest shareholder of
the Company, ceases to have management control of the Company, or ceases
to remain beneficially owned as to at least 51% by the Shenzhen Municipal
People’s Government of the People’s Republic of China and at any time after the
happening of an event of default, all sum payable under the facilities may become
immediately due and payable.

As at 31 December 2024, all advances made under the 2th Facility Agreement,
3rd Facility Agreement, 4th Facility Agreement and 5th Facility Agreement had
been fully repaid.
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Permitted Indemnity

The articles of association of the Company provides that each Director, Secretary
or other officer of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the
assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities (to the fullest extent
permitted by the Companies Ordinance) which he/she may sustain or incur in or
about the execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto.
In addition, the Company has maintained a directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance in respect of relevant legal actions against the Directors and officers.

Auditors

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2024 have been audited by Ernst & Young (Certified Public
Accountants and Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance with the
Financial Reporting Council Ordinance), who will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

By Order of the Board

WANG Yuwen
Acting Chairman & President

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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Corporate Governance Practices

The Company is committed to maintaining high standard of corporate
governance. The board of Directors (the “Board”) strongly believes that good
corporate governance is essential for effective management, a healthy corporate
culture, successful business growth and enhancing shareholders’ value. The
Company has applied the principles and complied with all code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Listing Rules”) throughout the year 2024.

Corporate Culture and Strategy

The Company adheres to the core values of “Sunshine and Honesty, Innovation
and Excellence, Diligence and Commitment, Harmony and Sharing” and acting in
a legal, ethical and responsible manner at all levels, and upholds the corporate
vision of “Innovation-Builder of the City, Operator of People’s Well-being”to
continuously improve corporate governance, strengthen risk controls, promote
a culture of integrity, and firmly establish the fundamentals of high-quality
sustainable development. The Board’s oversight of corporate culture covers
a range of long-term measures and approaches, including prudent financial
reporting, legal and regulatory compliance (including compliance with the code of
conduct and group policies), as well as employee engagement, employee safety
and well-being.

The primary objective of the Company is to bring overall stable returns to
shareholders and create value growth. To this end, the Group is committed to
the long-term sustainable development of its business to achieve recurring
sustainable profitability, focusing on revenue growth, disciplined cost
management and sound financial planning, as well as the integration of social
responsibility and sustainability into its operations. A discussion and analysis
of the Group’s annual performance is set out in the Letter from the Board and
the Management Discussion and Analysis in this report, and information on the
Group’s sustainability initiatives and key relationships with its stakeholders is
set out in the 2024 Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Group.
The Board considers the corporate culture of the Company is consistent with the
objectives, values and strategies of the Group.
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The Board

Role and Delegation

Under the leadership of the Chairman, the Board is responsible for shaping and
overseeing the corporate culture, formulating overall strategies and policies of
the Company, supervising and evaluating business and financial performance of
the Company, determining appropriate corporate governance practices applicable
to the Company’s circumstances and ensuring operational efficiency and
effectiveness by establishing a comprehensive corporate governance framework
with appropriate risk control measures and aiming to enhance long-term
shareholders’ value.

The Board has delegated certain functions to respective committees, including
Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee, the
details of the responsibilities, membership and activities during the year of
each of them are set out in the section headed “Board Committees” below.
These Board committees assist the Board to discharge its duties while the
responsibilities of the day-to-day operations and business management are
delegated to the Executive Directors and senior management. Matters specifically
reserved to the Board include approval of financial statements, dividend policy,
significant changes in corporate structure, mergers and acquisitions, major
investments, material acquisition and disposal of assets, selection of Directors,
changes to remuneration policy for Directors and senior management, terms of
reference of Board committees, as well as major corporate policies.

The Company has mechanisms in place to ensure independent views and
inputs from Directors are conveyed to the Board. In this regard, as part of the
established governance framework, the independence of Independent Non-
executive Directors is reviewed by the Board regularly. All Board members have
separate and independent access to the management to make enquiries and
obtain information on the Group’s affairs. And, to facilitate effective and active
participation by the Directors, in particular the Independent Non-executive
Directors, Directors are provided with full and timely information about the
conduct of the business and development of the Group, including reports on
significant corporate matters, monthly management updates which contain
periodic financials with summaries of key events, outlook and business-related
matters of the Group. External independent professional advice is also available
to all Directors (including Independent Non-executive Directors) whenever they
deemed necessary. These mechanisms are kept under regular review to ensure
their effectiveness.
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Board Composition

The Board currently comprises four Executive Directors and three Independent
Non-executive Directors. Throughout the year, the number of Independent Non-
executive Directors on the Board meets the one-third requirement under the
Listing Rules.

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships) between members of the Board. Biographical particulars
of the Directors are set out on pages 41 to 47 of this report. Each Director has
entered into an appointment letter with the Company for a term of three years.
Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, every Director shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. One third of the
Directors (or if their number is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to
one-third) shall retire from office at each annual general meeting and eligible for
re-election by shareholders. Also, any Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy
shall retire at the next following general meeting of the Company and be eligible
for re-election by shareholders. A separate resolution is proposed for the re-
election of each Director.

Each Independent Non-executive Director has confirmed that there has been no
subsequent change of circumstances which may affect his independency under
the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board
considers each of them to be independent.

Mr. LI Wai Keung and Dr. WONG Yau Kar, David have served the Board for more
than nine years. The Board considers that they have continued to exercise
independent judgment on the matters of the Group and there is no evidence that
length of tenure is having an adverse impact on their independence. The Board
therefore considers that they remain independent notwithstanding the length of
their tenure.
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Chairman and President

During the year, the position of Chairman of the Board was held by Dr. LU Hua
and the position of President of the Company is held by Mr. WANG Yuwen. The
Chairman is responsible for leading the Board to formulate Group-wide strategies
and policies, good corporate governance practices and procedures together with
the directors, determine the strategic directions, business plans and investment
proposals of the Company, assess its performance and supervise the business
affairs of the management in ensuring the effectiveness of the Board, whereas
the President is responsible for overseeing overall operations of the Company and
ensuring the implementation of plans efficiently.

Diversity

The Board recognizes the benefits of a diverse Board with members possessing
a balance of skills, experience and expertise which complement to the business
success of the Group, and seeks increasing diversity at Board level to enhance
the effectiveness of the Board and to achieve a sustainable and balanced
development. The Board Diversity Policy sets out the approach to achieve
diversity in the Board, namely through the consideration of a number of factors,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All
Board appointments will continue to be made on a merit basis having due regard
to the overall effective functioning of the Board as a whole. The Nomination
Committee will review at least annually the appropriateness of the structure, size
and composition of the Board and will take into account of, among others, the
Board Diversity Policy when considering proposals for appointment or reelection
of Directors. And, the Board will take into account the recommendations from
the Nomination Committee at its regular review of the implementation and
effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy.
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The Board currently comprises four Executive Directors and three Independent
Non-executive Directors, a summary of their profile in terms of gender, age,
length of services and expertise/experience is set out below. The Nomination
Committee and the Board are of the view that Board diversity is achieved.
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No. of Directors
(Full Board of 7)*

EEIN
(BEEg2B7)
Gender Male 5
el B
Female 2
peg iz
Age Group 50-59 4
Fh R 50-597%
60 or above 3
605% A £
Length of Service 5 years or below 5
REFEE S5EFGHLT
Over 5 years 2
5EM £
Expertise/Experience Other listed board roles 6
EASTIE: P S Ht tHRARESENE
Company executive 7
TETH
Global market experience 2
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Public administration 5
NEITH
Related industry experience 3
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Other industries 4
HifT%
Professional 3

*
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In terms of gender diversity, female representation on the Board maintained at
25% or above, which is considered to be at a reasonable level.

In respect of the Group’s workforce (including senior management), the ratio of
female to male as at 31 December 2024 was approximately 1:1.7. The Company
considers there is a reasonable diversity across its workforce in terms of gender
mix. The Group will continue to take gender diversity into account in its ongoing
recruitment process and to build a diverse and inclusive workforce.

Board Meeting

The Board meets regularly to review the financial and operating performance of
the Company and to discuss future strategy. Four regular Board meetings and
one special Board meeting were held in 2024 to review and approve significant
corporate matters including the Company’s business development, the Group’s
corporate governance policies, proposals for final and interim dividends, annual
report and half-year report, change of auditor and connected transactions. At
least fourteen days’ notice of a regular Board meeting was given to all Directors
who were provided with an opportunity to include matters for discussion in the
agenda. The agenda and the accompanying Board papers were sent to Directors
at least three days before the intended date of a Board meeting. Draft and final
versions of minutes of each Board meeting were circulated to Directors for
their comment and record respectively. In addition to the Board meetings, the
Chairman of the Board also held a separate meeting with the Independent Non-
executive Directors without the presence of other Directors on an annual basis.
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Attendance Record at Board Meetings, Board Committee

Meetings and General Meeting
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The attendance record of each Director at Board meetings, Board committee 120245 REEHFEE S 2 EEEE2389H
meetings and general meeting in 2024 is set out below: T

RBRRAE M HETI

Audit ~ Nomination Remuneration Annual
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
BREZEE R%ZET FMWEET RKREF
EES-g- g3 g =L AE
No. of meetings held BIINERETH 5 3 2 2 1
Executive Directors BTES
LU Hua (i) 2E() 34 NAFEH 1N NARER v
WANG Yuwen (i) E 2 i) 565 NATER 1N NATRBEH %
CAI Xun 23 45 NATBEE NATEE NATBEE v
XU Enli (i) & B i 35 NAFREHE NATEBHE NATEA %
YAN Zhongyu (v) B F(v) 1M NATEBRE NATEBRE NAREBR NATER
SHI Xiaomei SIS 565 NAARER NAFRBER NAFREHR v
Independent Non-executive Directors ~ EIIEHITES
LI Wai Keung FER 5/5 3/3 2/2 2/2 v
WONG Yau Kar David BRE 5/5 3/3 2/2 2/2 %
GONG Peng = 4/5 13 NARER 2/2 -
Note: Mk -
() Dr. LU Hua retired as an Executive Director and ceased to be a member of the Nomination () B EEF T R2024F11F208BERITEE > T
Committee on 20 November 2024. BRIERLEZEEME-

(i) Mr. WANG Yuwen was appointed as a member of the Nomination Committee on 20 (i) FEEXER2024F11B200ESEARLES

November 2024.

(iii) ~ Mr. XU Enli resigned as an Executive Director on 10 December 2024.

(iv)  Mr. YAN Zhongyu was appointed as an Executive Director on 10 December 2024.

FHE-
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Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Board has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”)
as the code of conduct of the Company for dealing in securities of the Company
by the Directors. Having made specific enquiry to all the Directors, all Directors
confirmed that throughout the year, they had complied with the required standard
set out in the Model Code.

Induction and Continuing Professional Development

Each newly appointed Director will be provided with necessary induction
information to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the Company’s
and the Board’s operations, corporate governance practices as well as his/her
responsibilities under relevant statutes, laws, rules and regulations.

The Company will from time to time provide seminars to the Directors to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills. The Company also continuously updates
Directors on any latest development regarding the Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements to ensure compliance and enhance their
awareness of good corporate governance practices. During the year, the Company
had arranged an in-house directors’ training on topic under the Listing Rules.
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The Directors are required to provide the Company with their training records. A
summary of the training records reported by the Directors for year 2024 is set
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out below:
Directors Type of training covered*
o i 2 1 3 Y Fa L
LU Hua () BE() 1,23
WANG Yuwen FTEX 1,2,3
CAl Xun =5 1,2,3
XU Enli (ii) REF() 1,2,3
YAN Zhongyu (i) B F G N/A 48 F
SHI Xiaomei el =i 12,3
LI Wai Keung =ER 1,2
WONG Yau Kar David BERE 1,2
GONG Peng =18 1,2

Note: Ff5E -

U)
(i)
(iii)

Dr. LU Hua retired as an Executive Director on 20 November 2024.
Mr. XU Enli resigned as an Executive Director on 10 December 2024.

Mr. YAN Zhongyu was appointed as an Executive Director on 10 December 2024,

Attending briefing/training seminars/conferences relevant to the industry, business and their
duties.

Reading industrial and regulatory updates/monthly management reports etc.

The Board is regularly kept up-to-date on key events, the performance, position and outlook
of the Group through the monthly management reports.

Site visit.

() BEFLTR2024FE11B0BRENTES-
(i)  HREFGCER2024F12B10HFHTHITES
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Board Committees

The Board has appointed a number of committees to discharge its functions. The
respective roles, responsibilities and activities of each Board committee are set
out below:

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises three members, all being Independent Non-
executive Directors. It is chaired by Mr. LI Wai Keung, who has the appropriate
professional qualifications as required under the Listing Rules, and other
members are Dr. WONG Yau Kar, David and Prof. GONG Peng.

Under its terms of reference, the duties of the Audit Committee include, but
not limited to, making recommendations on the appointment of external auditor
and monitoring the effectiveness of external audit, supervision of internal audit
and oversight of the integrity of financial information and the financial reporting
system, overseeing internal audit, risk management and internal control systems
of the Company and ensuring such functions are adequately resourced. The
full terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on the Company’s
website and the website of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock
Exchange”).

The following is a summary of the major work performed by the Audit Committee
during the year and up to the date of this report:

HHZHG
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Financial reporting/internal review

Review of financial statements, annual report and results announcement for
years 2023 and 2024 and for the six months ended 30 June 2024;

Review of report submitted by external auditor on their statutory audit
of financial statements for years 2023 and 2024 respectively and their
independent review of the 2024 half-year financial statements;

Review of the observations and recommendations on the financial reporting
and control matters set out in the respective management letter for years
2023 and 2024 submitted by external auditor;

Review of the respective representation letter issued by management to
external auditor in connection with their audit of the financial statements for
years 2023 and 2024;

Review of audit plan for year 2024;

Review of non-exempt continuing connected transactions carried out by the
Group in 2024.

Risk management, internal control and internal audit

Review of the respective evaluation report on internal control and risk
management systems for years 2023 and 2024 issued by the risk
management department;

Reviewed with the risk management department on the risk management
and internal control systems and their effectiveness, the overall risk
management, internal control and internal audit work progress and findings,
and the adequacy of resources and staffing for such functions.

External auditor

Considered the proposal on the change of external auditor, review of the
independence of the external auditor, approval of the remuneration and
terms of engagement of the external auditor and making recommendations
to the Board on the change of external auditor and re-appointment of
external auditor;

Review of the policy on engaging the external auditor to supply non-audit
services; approval of non-audit services fees for 2024 and cap for 2025.

The meeting attendance of each member of the Audit Committee is set out in
the paragraph headed “Attendance Record at Board Meetings, Board Committee
Meetings and General Meetings” of this report.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises three members, all being Independent
Non-executive Directors. It is chaired by Dr. WONG Yau Kar, David and other
members are Mr. LI Wai Keung and Prof. GONG Peng.

The Company adopted the model whereby the Remuneration Committee is
responsible for making recommendation to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual Executive Director and senior management according to its
terms of reference. The Remuneration Committee is also responsible for making
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration matters of Non-executive
Directors, the setting up of adequate and transparent procedures for setting
such remuneration, reviewing and/or approving matters relating to share option
schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. The full terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee are available on the Company’s website and the Stock
Exchange’s website.

The Group’s Remuneration Policy aims to ensure that the remuneration level is
appropriate and align with the Company’s goals, objectives and performance,
so as to facilitate the recruitment and retention of outstanding directors, senior
management and employees and to provide them with adequate incentive
for achieving business targets. When determining Directors’ and employees’
remuneration, factors including salary levels in the market as a whole and in
the real estate industry; market benchmarks for relevant positions and work
areas; the performance of the Group and the individual etc. shall be considered.
Bonuses and other incentives including share options will also be provided to
employees based on individual performance and the results of the Group. And,
remuneration packages are reviewed on an annual basis to ensure internal equity
and competitiveness.

No Director or any of his/her associates is allowed to determine their own
remuneration. In making recommendation to the Board on the remuneration of
Directors and senior management, the Remuneration Committee will take into
account the factors set out in the Group’s Remuneration Policy.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed the remuneration of
the Directors, including the remuneration of newly appointed Executive Director,
and senior management. The Remuneration Committee also reviewed the overall
remuneration structure of the Group and considered the forms and adequacy of
the various performance-based incentive arrangements including share options.
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The remuneration of senior management by band for the year ended 31
December 2024 is set out below:

Remuneration Bands
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HE04F12R3NALEE  BHENEEH ISR
BEABZHHEIIMT :

Number of Individuals

HlEE A¥
Below HK$1,000,000 1£741,000,000% 7T 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 75 %£2,000,0005% 7T 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 2,000,001 75 23,500,000 7T 1

The particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the five highest paid
employees are set out in note 9 to the financial statements.

The meeting attendance of each member of the Remuneration Committee is
set out in the paragraph headed “Attendance Record at Board Meetings, Board
Committee Meetings and General Meetings” of this report.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises three members of which two are
Independent Non-executive Directors. It is chaired by Dr. WONG Yau Kar, David
and other members are Dr. LU Hua (ceased to be a member on 20 November
2024), Mr. WANG Yuwen (appointed as a member on 20 November 2024) and Mr.
LI Wai Keung.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the structure, size and
composition of the Board, assessing the independence of the Independent Non-
executive Directors, identifying and evaluating individuals suitably qualified to
become Board members as required and making recommendations to the Board
on the appointment and re-appointment of Directors. The full terms of reference
of the Nomination Committee are available on the Company’s website and the
Stock Exchange’s website.

During the year, the Nomination Committee reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board and opined that it has the skills, experience and
diversity of perspective appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business. The Nomination Committee also reviewed and recommended to the
Board in relation to the re-election of the retiring directors at the annual general
meeting of the Company having due regard to the Board Diversity Policy and
Nomination Policy, and recommended to the Board on the appointment of a new
Executive Director. The Nomination Committee also assessed the independency of
the Independent Non-executive Directors.
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The meeting attendance of each member of the Nomination Committee is set
out in the paragraph headed “Attendance Record at Board Meetings, Board
Committee Meetings and General Meetings” of this report.

The Board Nomination Policy sets out the principles which guide the Nomination
Committee to identify and evaluate a candidate for nomination to (i) the Board
for appointment or (ii) the shareholders of the Company for election, as a
Director with a view to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience
and diversity of perspective appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business. The Nomination Committee shall propose a candidate for nomination
or a Director for re-election based on merit and other considerations including
the Board Diversity Policy, the expected contribution the candidate would add to
Board and whether the candidate is able to commit and devote sufficient time
and attention to the Company’s affairs etc. The Nomination Committee may take
such measures that it considers appropriate in connection with its identification
and evaluation of a candidate and make recommendation to the Board for the
Board’s consideration.

Corporate Governance Functions
The Board is responsible for, and has performed during the year, the following
corporate governance duties:

e {0 develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance;

° to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development
of directors and senior management;

e to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements;

° to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual
applicable to employees and directors;

e 1o review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in
the corporate governance report.
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Risk Management and Internal Control

Responsibility

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control systems
and reviewing the effectiveness of such systems. Management is responsible for
designing and implementing an internal control system to manage the risks to the
Company to the maximum extent, in order to identify and manage these risks so
as to understand, reduce, mitigate, divert or avoid these risks. The Board hereby
explains that the systems are designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk
of failure to meet business objectives, and only to provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Risk Management Structure

Board Oversight

Audit Committee, acting on behalf of the Board
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o Ensure that an appropriate and effective risk management framework is
established and maintained by the Company.

e  (Oversee management in the design, implementation and monitoring of
the risk management framework.

e (versee management in their risk mitigation efforts.

Risk Management, Reporting and Communication

Risk Management Department
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e  Being the specialized risk management department, is responsible for
the establishment and operation of the comprehensive risk management
system of the Company; guide and supervise the overall risk
management of other departments and the respective enterprises which
they belong to.

e  Risk management: regularly conduct systematic risk evaluation and
carry out risk audit to major businesses in advance.

° Internal control: inspect, evaluate and optimize the implementation of
internal control system, to avoid execution risks.

° Internal audit: conduct multi-level audit, implement auditing issues
rectification work, prevent operational risks.

e  Ensure that a review of the effectiveness of the risk management
framework has been conducted at least annually and provide such
confirmation to the Board through the Audit Committee.

o Optimize dynamic monitoring and early warning of risks to facilitate
inspection and tracking monitoring of potential risk hazards on a
monthly and quarterly basis, meanwhile, establish, and effectively
implement, a sound risk prevention and resolution mechanism for the
Company.
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Performing Daily Risk and Monitoring Responsibility

Functional Departments, Risk Management Departments of Subsidiaries and
Individuals

e Responsible for carrying out risk management procedures and internal
control measures in their daily operations.

e Regularly review the risk profile and report to the risk management
department and management on the risks within their respective

RITEREARKEEES
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operating and functional areas. PR o
Risk Management Process Ja i i AL
The Company adopts an integrated “bottom-up” and “top-down” risk review ATHEBHTMLINAREAH LM MNESE
process, requiring the heads of functional departments and business units of the ~ [&isti2RF > BRADBADFIRERLFHTESH
Company to participate in identifying operational risks and incorporate them into B EE RN  MARBEEH L AR ARS BER

various business and decision-making processes, including strategy formulation,
business development, business planning, capital allocation, investment
decisions, internal controls and daily operations, to enable

(1)  comprehensive identification and prioritization of all significant risks within
the Company,

(2)  reporting of significant risks to the appropriate management level,

(3) the management to effectively communicate about the risks.

i
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Bottom-up Process HTmLENER

Business units and functional departments of the Company conduct risk
identification and evaluation of specific businesses within the scope of
responsibility, propose and implement risk management solutions and
report annually to the risk management department of the Company the
significant risks identified during the risk management process.

All departments of the Company are responsible for sorting out their
own business processes, collecting and collating internal and external
risk initial information within their scope of functions extensively
and continuously. The risk management department regularly
screens, refines, compares, classifies and combines the initial risk
information collected by each department as necessary and draws
the risk coordinates map based on the risk evaluation results of each
department to initially determine the management priorities of various
risks of the Company, formulate risk management strategies, and
propose and implement risk management solutions.

The risk management department of the Company, through collection,
screening and sequencing and interview procedures, compiles the
“Evaluation Report on Internal Control and Risk Management Systems”.

The risk management department of the Company reports their works to
the Audit Committee annually and submits “Evaluation Report on Internal
Control and Risk Management Systems” to the Audit Committee and the
Board for their review.
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Top-down Process HEmTHERF

The Audit Committee inspects and reviews the new risks or significant
strategic risks that may have a significant long-term impact on the
Company, and reviews the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Company on an annual basis.

In addition to the risk evaluation function, the management from the
functional departments is responsible for identifying and evaluating the
financial and other risks in different areas of the Company from the
aspects such as investment auditing and strategic planning, financial
management and legal compliance respectively, and forms a normalized
mechanism for risk evaluation to regularly conduct systematic significant
risk evaluation, so as to achieve dynamic management of significant
risks.

Forme a normalized mechanism for risk evaluation to regularly carry out
systematic significant risk evaluation, identify, evaluate and analyze all
kinds of existing or potential risks in current business development, and
timely track and monitor the moving trend of significant risks, control
the progress and effectiveness, so as to achieve dynamic management
of significant risks.

For major businesses such as land bidding, equity acquisition, joint
venture cooperation etc., a comprehensive risk assessment and audit
must be conducted in advance to achieve the operating mechanism
where audit opinions without prior risk evaluation may not be submitted
for approval so that significant business risks are effectively controlled.

Annual review is performed to strengthen the institutionalization and
standardization of internal audit work.
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Internal Control

The internal control system of the Company is based on the principles under the
COSO (the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission).
The risk management department of the Company conducts an annual
assessment and review of the internal control and risk management systems.
The review covers five aspects including control environment, risk assessment,
control activities, monitoring measures and information and communication, in
order to assess whether the internal control and risk management systems of the
Company are sound, appropriate, effective and sufficient. The risk management
department annually prepares an evaluation report on internal control and risk
management systems of the Company.

Principal Policies and Measures of Internal Control
Control Environment
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e  The Company has established a corporate governance policy, a human
resource management policy, and a code of discipline to regulate
business operation and governance, and conducts regular reviews and
refresher trainings on key ethical practices.

e  The Company has developed and implemented a series of human
resource systems, so that the human resource concepts, policies,
systems are unified and standardized, and the policies are more
transparent. Each employee is subject to an accountability system for
internal control responsibilities.

e  The Company amended the “Management Measures for Connected
Transactions of Shenzhen Investment Limited” in accordance with
its management needs, and strictly followed the “Management
Measures for Tendering and Procurement”, “Management Measures for
Project Quality”, the “Management Measures for Equity Participating
Companies”, “Management Measures for Asset Evaluation”,
“Management Measures for Post-evaluation of Investment Projects”,
“Management Measures for Internal Auditing” and “Management
Measures for Information Security” newly formulated and revised by
the parent company, in an effort to improve and optimize a series of
systems in respect of “operation management, asset management,
equity management, audit supervision, tendering and procurement”, as
well as to strengthen its business management and further facilitate its
standardized development.

e In accordance with the “Management Measures for Internal Auditing”
newly amended by the parent company, the Company clarified the
principles and specific requirements for the commencement of internal
control self-evaluation and internal control audit work of the Company
and its subsidiaries and established the “1+N” internal control system
led by the construction and supervision system of the internal control
system and supported by various specific operation regulations.
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Risk Assessment

The risk management functional department identifies and assesses the
systemic risks faced by the Company through regular risk management;
controls the risk position of subsidiaries as well as identifies and
assesses changes that may have a significant impact on the internal
control system through periodic risk management reporting systems of
the subsidiaries and risk assessment and monitoring of major projects
and businesses.

The relevant functional departments of the Company are responsible
for identifying and assessing financial and other risks in different
areas of the Company from the aspects such as strategy planning and
investment auditing, financial management, capital operation and legal
compliance.

Compile a comprehensive risk management report and submit it to the
Audit Committee for consideration and timely take corresponding risk
management measures.

Control Activities

ARFIS
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Ensure that policies are implemented effectively through the
development of well-defined policies and procedures.

Key control systems and processes, including budget and cost control,
submitting management report, corporate policies and corporate daily
activities, for approval, review and division of duties through financial
reporting systems and processes. The internal control system of the
Company clearly defines the responsibilities and powers of each unit.
The Company has established policies and procedures for major
business functions and business units.

Based on the “Administrative Rules on Supervision and Management
of Audit Rectification” established by the parent company, the
Company included the completion of audit rectification into annual
appraisal indicators for related subsidiaries, to complete a closed-
loop management accountability mechanism for auditing rectification
supervision.

Through the “Request System on Key Issues”, the Company has
established strict decision-making mechanism for major businesses
and issues, such as major investments, appointments and removal of
key personnel and large-scale capital operations to ensure that the
Company’s major decision-making arrangements are in place.

Environment, social and governance risk is one of the major risk
categories monitored by the comprehensive risk management system
of the Company, and all the major ESG risk issues identified, such as
bribery and corruption, business ethics, product quality and safety,
occupational health and safety, and climate change, etc., have been
included in the periodic internal risk evaluation and control procedures.
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Monitoring Measures

Continuously check compliance and conduct risk management and
internal control reviews.

The secretariat of the Board and relevant functional departments
are responsible for the overall assessment and monitoring for the
established procedures to ensure compliance with the Listing Rules and
to monitor the compliance with applicable laws and other key provisions.

The internal audit is performed by the risk management department
of the Company, which is responsible for independent auditing of risk
management and internal control.

The Company strictly follows the model clauses of contracts in the
“Management Measures for Contracts” to finalize an integrated system
combining corporate decisions and legal risk prevention and control and
highlight the function of legal risk control.

The Company strictly follows the related published systems, such as the
“Management Measures for Real Estate Investment” and the “Request
System on Key Issues”, for investments in real estate projects, as well
as implements the approval procedures required for project investments.

The Company implements business integrity risk prevention and control
over key areas, key processes and key posts. It oversees the entire
purchase bidding procedures for significant projects of the Company
and its subsidiaries and regulates the standard operation of evaluation
process to promote the company-wide application of the Sunshine
Procurement Platform and realize full coverage of sunshine transaction,
online information transparency and full-chain big data monitoring.

Information and Communication

Implement, maintain and continuously develop business and information
management systems to support the business and operations of the
Company, including financial, information disclosure and collaborative
oversight.

Disseminate corporate information in a timely manner through the
intranet of the Company, collaborative office systems and e-mail system
of the Company.

Establish and implement the Company’s website and shareholder
communication policies to ensure that shareholders receive
comprehensive, clear, transparent and timely information about the
Company.

Establish a unified stock property management information system to
make the stock asset management more transparent and instant.

The Company constructed the cloud platform to ensure data security
and realize the dynamic extension of the computing resources platform
in line with business demand.
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Internal Auditing

The risk management department is responsible for the internal audit of the
Company. It reviews the risks involved in daily operations of the Company
and its subsidiaries by using the audit plans and procedures set out in the
“Comprehensive Risk Management Manual” and the “Management Measures for
Internal Auditing” it established, and conducts regular post-evaluation reviews on
internal audit items to ensure the effectiveness of risk management framework.

Each year, the risk management department determines the internal audit work
priorities and formulates annual internal audit plans according to the Company’s
strategic deployment, business management needs and annual work schedule.
The annual internal audit plan shall include the following basic elements:

1) Annual work objectives of internal audit;

2)  The specific audit items to be implemented and their sequence;

3)  The audit resources allocated to each audit item.

According to the “Management Measures for Internal Auditing” and “Management
Measures for Post-evaluation of Investment Projects” issued by the parent

company, matters that must be audited shall include the following:

Type of Audit Content

At
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Economic Responsibility Audit o
REEEE .

Expiration of the term of office of the principal leaders of the enterprise;
TEFZEEATHERD ;

° Due to redesignation, removal, dismissal, retirement, etc., during the term of

office;

o HRREBE BB #HER BURTE;

° Assets reorganization of the enterprise such as transfer of control, mixed
ownership reform and change of ownership management level;

o GEETEHNRER ECMENNE EREEERETIEEEAEN

e Bankruptcy or dissolution of the enterprise;

o REBENBHN

e  Qthers that are subject to economic responsibility audit.
o HMRBEETKEEESEN-
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Type of Audit Content

i AE
Audit Supervision Implementation of special audits, internal control audits, post-evaluation of
investment projects, mid-investment evaluation, and tenure of economic responsibility
audits, etc., to ensure that at least one special audit for every three years on the
subsidiaries is carried out to achieve full coverage of audit supervision.

EEEFEE ENEEEN  ANEHES REEERIE BPIE FHSEEEE
O RRUMBLEE=FEVEEEF— BREAEELES
Post-Evaluation After an investment project is completed, a comprehensive post-evaluation of its

operation and economic benefits is required.

‘B REEEBRTME  BERHEFNEENG S ETE2ENETE-
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In addition to the above, the risk management department will also conduct
specialized internal audit on the operational priorities of each functional
departments and subsidiaries according to the actual operational and
management situation, the annual work priorities of the Company, as well as the
risks faced by the Company as assessed at the beginning of each year. The risk
management department conducts internal audit supervision on the following
matters of the wholly-owned and controlled enterprises of the Company:

° Audit of the enterprise development plan, strategic decisions, major
measures and implementation of annual business plans;

° Audit of the enterprise economic benefits, operation management, internal
control and risk management;

° Audit of the financial revenue and expenditure and resources assets;

e Audit of the engineering construction and foreign investment (including
overseas investment) of the enterprise;

e Audit of the economic responsibility of the leaders of the internal
management of the enterprise;

e Supervision on the implementation of the rectification of the problems
identified in the audit;

° Guidance and supervision on the internal audit of its subsidiaries;

° Other duties as specified by relevant laws, regulations and national
provisions.

Review of Effectiveness of Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems and Main Procedures to Address the Lack of
Internal Control

Based on the above risk management and internal control systems, the risk
management department of the Company conducts regular review and evaluation
in accordance with three aspects of risk management, internal control and
internal auditing, to identify the deficiencies of internal control and improve the
system process.

The risk management department establishes a work plan for the coming year in
the later part of every year, which sets out the objectives and scope of the audit.

Internal auditing includes the testing of the Company’s financial, operational
and compliance controls. The risk management department engages an external
accounting firm to issue an annual internal audit report, and the risk management
department will, towards the deficiencies in monitoring raised by the accounting
firm, make rectification on the details of the audit disclosed by the audit report on
internal control and on the audit results of the department concerned.
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In response to the identified internal control deficiencies, the risk management
department will promptly communicate the issues with the relevant functional
departments or subsidiaries, put forward measures of rectification and establish
corresponding policies after discussion with the management, and issue a
rectification notice to the functional departments or subsidiaries to urge them to
complete the rectification within the prescribed time.

The implementation of the rectification of various enterprises in the year
was good, and passed the second round of internal control conducted by the
accounting firm.

In the internal control work carried out during the year, the risk management
department did not find any significant deficiencies. According to the relevant
audit results and management responses, the management believes that the
existing internal control systems are still valid as a whole.

Review on Effectiveness of Risk Management and Internal
Control in 2024

The risk management department has predicted and analyzed the possible risks
the Company’s operations and management may face in 2024. After evaluation,
there are four major risks facing the Company in 2024, including macroeconomic
risks, investment risks, and engineering project management risks. At the same
time, during the year, it continued to strengthen pre-supervision of key issues,
carried out annual in-depth special audits in key areas, continued to track and
monitor the major risks, to timely monitor changes in corporate business risks.
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During the year, the risk management department has conducted internal audit
and examination on rectification of audit opinions for its subsidiaries:

Conducted special audit on lease management of resources assets.
In order to strengthen the standardization of resources assets leasing
management, ensure the effective implementation of the internal control
systems to further find out the bottom line of the Company’s resources
assets, so as to improve the establishment of the internal control systems
and mechanism related to resources assets, enhance the standardization
and refinement of the management of resources assets leasing and
promote the continuous improvement of the operational efficiency of
resources assets, the risk management department has conducted a
group-wide special audit on the management of resources assets leasing,
which covered 9 secondary enterprises at the holding level, and focused
on basic asset management work, establishment and implementation of
internal control systems, financial and operational efficiency, and regulatory
concerns, etc. Six individual audit reports and one special summary
report were formulated, with 33 audit issues identified and targeted audit
rectification opinions and recommendations were put forward.

Conducted an evaluation of 2023 internal control and risk
management systems of the Company. In accordance with the CG
Code and the five-factor criteria for improving internal controls set out
in the “Internal Controls and Risk Management — A Basic Framework”
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the
risk management department conducted a careful review and evaluation
of the annual internal control and risk management systems of Shenzhen
Investment Limited, completed the “Evaluation Report of Shenzhen
Investment Limited for Internal Control and Risk Management Systems
for the Year 2023” on time as required and submitted it to the Audit
Committee and the Board of the Company for review and approval. After
comprehensive evaluation of the five components of the internal control
systems, the existing internal control and risk management systems of the
Company were found to be sound and effective.
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Conducted post-evaluation of 2024 investment projects of the
Company. In order to further enhance the management of investment
projects and prevent investment risks, the risk management department
selected six real estate projects and four equity investment projects for
review and evaluation. The department studied the discrepancies between
the actual state and the feasibility study report of the projects and the
reasons thereof, analyzed the present situation and benefits of the project
operations and disclosed the problems and risks associated with the
projects at different stages, from project establishment, feasibility study,
construction to sales and operation. The “Comprehensive Post-evaluation
Report” of ten projects and the “Work Report on Post-evaluation of
Investment of 2024” were formulated.

Conducted annual internal control audit. During the year, the risk
management department organized and completed the audit for the
year 2023 on the internal control of 32 enterprises, including Shenzhen
Investment and its subsidiaries Pengnan (#EF), Tairan (%&%4), Land
(Eh), based on which PricewaterhouseCoopers completed the “2023
Internal Control Audit Report” with its unqualified opinion in April 2024 as
scheduled. As shown in the report, the Company has maintained effective
internal controls related to financial reporting in accordance with the “Basic
Norms for Enterprise Internal Control” and the relevant requirements in all
material aspects during the reporting period.
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During the year, the Audit Committee and the risk management department
reviewed the risk management and internal control systems of the Company for
the year 2024, covering financial, operational and compliance controls, as well as
the progress of overall risk management and internal control. The annual review
has also taken into account the adequacy of the resources, qualification and
experience of staff in accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions
of the Company; and the adequacy of the training courses received by the staff
and related budgets.

The Audit Committee and the Board have also reviewed the “Evaluation Report
for Internal Control and Risk Management Systems for the Year 2024” issued by
the risk management department. The Board is of the view that the existing risk
management and internal control systems are effective and sufficient as a whole.

Procedures for Handling Inside Information and Internal
Control Measures

The Company requires any department or individual to keep any information
which may constitute inside information in strict confidentiality and not to leak
or report the contents involving inside information without the prior approval of
the Board. The Board makes timely disclosure decision on the inside information
(if necessary), and disclosure of the inside information is in charge by the Board
Office. In this connection, the management and other relevant employees who are
privy to unpublished inside information are reminded of their responsibilities to
comply with the provisions of the Model Code.

Whistleblowing

The Board has adopted a Whistleblowing Policy which provides employees of the
Group and those who deal with the Group with reporting channels and guidance
to raise concerns, in confidence and anonymity, with the Audit Committee about
possible improprieties related to the Group, a copy of which is available on the
Company’s website. The Audit Committee had received a whistleblowing enquiry
in 2024 and which has been dealt with accordingly.

Company Secretary

The Company has appointed a representative from an external secretarial
services provider as the company secretary of the Company, who has confirmed
his compliance with the relevant training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules. Our primary corporate contact person is Ms. Edith Wong, our
General Counsel.
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Constitutional Documents
There were no changes in the constitutional documents of the Company during
the year.

Director’s Responsibilities on Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the financial
statements of the Group that give a true and fair view of the Group’s affairs, its
results and cash flows in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and in compliance with the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong). The responsibility statement issued by the auditors of the
Company is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report in this report.

Dividend Policy

It is the Company’s long-term policy to provide stable ordinary dividends that are
linked to the underlying earnings performances of the business of the Group.
The Company aims to ensure that whilst allowing the shareholders to participate
in the Company’s earnings, adequate balance for future business expansion is
retained.

Generally, the Company pays dividends twice a year (annual interim dividend and
final dividend) regularly. The overall dividend plan including the amount and form
of any dividend is to be proposed/determined by the Board. The Board may also
declare/propose the payment of special dividends when there is special income
or circumstances and at any time as it deems appropriate.
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In determining/recommending any dividend payout, the Board shall take into
account;

e  the actual and expected financial performance of Group;

° the cash-flow position, the expected working capital requirements and
future expansion plans of the Group;

e the general economic conditions, business cycle and other internal and
external factors that may have an impact on the business or financial
performance and position of the Group;

° The contractual restrictions imposed on the payment of dividends (if any);
and

e any other factors that the Board considers appropriate.

Independent Auditor

PricewaterhouseCoopers (‘PwC”) was appointed as the auditor of the Company
with effect from 1 June 2021. In view of the market information in the second
half of 2024, the need for the Company’s ultimate holding company to change
its auditor and taking into account the future needs for audit services of the
Company, after the Company’s communication with PwC on the proposed change
of auditor, PwC has agreed to resign as the auditor of the Company with effect
from 10 December 2024. Ernst & Young (“EY”) was appointed as the auditor
of the Company with effect from 10 December 2024 to fill the casual vacancy
following the resignation of PwC as the auditor of the Company, and to hold office
until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company.

During the year, the services provided by PwC and EY and the fees for such
services were as follows:

Audit fees: (by EY)

Financial statements audit fees: HK$4,387,000 (2023: HK$4,442,000)

Other service fees:
Interim review and other services (by PwC): HK$1,383,000 (2023:
HK$1,978,000)

Other service fees (by EY): HK$757,000
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Communication with Shareholders

The Board has adopted a Shareholders Communication Policy in March 2022,
setting out the framework that the Company has put in place to promote
effective communication with shareholders. This Policy forms the basis for
extensive and ongoing engagement with our shareholders and the investment
community via multiple channels, including through the publication of notices,
announcements, circulars, interim and annual reports on the Company’s website
and the Stock Exchange’s website, making available a wide range of information
on the Company’s website, briefings and meetings with investment community
and face-to-face communication between the Board and the shareholders at
the Company’s general meetings, with the aim of ensuring shareholders are
provided with timely information about the Company and encouraging them to
engage actively in communication with the Company and to exercise their rights
as shareholders in an informed manner. The shareholders are also provided with
contact details of the Company to enable them to make enquiries and comments
on the affairs of the Company at any time.

The Board has conducted a review on the implementation and effectiveness
of the Shareholders Communication Policy. Having considered the multiple
channels available and the investor-relations-related engagement in place, the
Board is satisfied that the Shareholders Communication Policy has been properly
implemented during the year and is effective.

Investors Relations

The Company recognizes its responsibility to update its business activities to
persons with legitimate interests and respond to their questions. We meet with
investors on a regular basis to update them on our business progress and
strategy. In addition, we endeavor to share both financial and non-financial
information that is relevant and material, for instance, we publish unaudited
contracted sales performance voluntarily and respond promptly to enquiries
arising from general public and individual shareholders. And, in all cases, great
care is taken to ensure that no inside information is disclosed to selected parties.
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Shareholders’ Rights

Subject to applicable laws and regulations, including but not limited to the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “C0”), the
Listing Rules, and the articles of association of the Company as amended from
time to time, shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”) may call general
meeting, put forward proposals at annual general meetings (“AGM”) and direct
enquiries to the Board in accordance with the following procedures:

—  Convening of General Meeting on Request

Shareholder(s) holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition not less than
one-twentieth of the paid up capital of the Company may request the directors to
convene an extraordinary general meeting pursuant to Sections 566 to 568 of the
CO.

In accordance with Section 566 of the CO, the directors are required to
call a general meeting if the Company has received requests to do so from
Shareholders representing at least 5% of the total voting rights of all the
Shareholders having a right to vote at general meeting. Such requests must state
the general nature of the business to be dealt with at the meeting; and may
include the text of a resolution that may properly be moved and is intended to be
moved at the meeting. Such requests may be sent to the Company and attention
to the Company Secretary in hard copy form (by depositing at the registered
office of the Company at 8th Floor, New East Ocean Centre, No. 9 Science
Museum Road, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong for the attention of the Board)
or in electronic form (by fax: 852-2723-2263); and must be authenticated by
the person or persons making it. In accordance with Section 567 of the CO, the
directors must call a meeting within 21 days after the date on which they become
subject to the requirement under Section 566 of the CO and such meeting must
be held on a date not more than 28 days after the date of the notice convening
the meeting.
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—  Putting Forward Proposals at AGM
To put forward a resolution at AGM, Shareholders are requested to follow the
requirements and procedures set out in Sections 615 and 616 of the CO.

Section 615 of the CO provides that the Company must give notice of a resolution
if it has received requests to do so from (a) the Shareholders representing at
least 2.5% of the total voting rights of all the Shareholders who have a right to
vote on the resolution at the AGM of the Company to which the requests relate; or
(b) at least 50 Shareholders who have the rights to vote on the resolution at the
AGM to which the requests relate.

Such requests (a) may be sent to the Company and attention to the Company
Secretary in hard copy form (by depositing at the registered office of the
Company at 8th Floor, New East Ocean Centre, No. 9 Science Museum Road,
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong for the attention of the Board) or in electronic
form (by fax: 852-2723-2263); (b) must identify the resolution of which notice is
to be given; (c) must be authenticated by the person or persons making it; and
(d) must be received by the Company not later than (i) 6 weeks before the AGM to
which the requests relate; or (ii) if later, the time at which notice is given of that
meeting. Section 616 of the CO provides that the Company that is required under
Section 615 of the CO to give notice of a resolution must send a copy of it at
the Company’s own expense to each Shareholder entitled to receive notice of the
AGM (a) in the same manner as the notice of the meeting; and (b) at the same
time as, or as soon as reasonably practicable after, it gives notice of the meeting.

The detailed procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election as
a director can be found on “Corporate Information” under the section headed
“Investor Relations” of the Company’s website.

Shenzhen Investment Limited ZEIIZERBRAE | 103
Annual Report &3 2024

&

Corporate Governance Report
EEE R

R R EER G L1 2 R
ARREBEARG LRERER RREKBRATRE
BIE615E E61618 2 BER KRB ©

REMRBIE615IFRTE » fid = AR UE LT IR (a)fh
ERABAEZBEXRFMBINERAIRRBERG L
HZABTRNRRNERAERD25%RE ; &
DR L0BEREZEXRFAFIRRBERES L5
ZRABRANRR EHERZNBNNER BIA
@A

BREEX@IUNAER EREXEANAT MM
FEO MU ATBNRERDAN BEESENEER
Erhsig THPESSW AEFFA (BBREE:
852-2723-2263) EEARNRZ ABWEW ;(h)AIEH
ERBHBERETINRAERE (BEREREZE
KBNS ; ROBEFBROZERAEFHRE
BEAGRTAIMNELE ; o) (&K 2HzK
SEENRERREALQT  ABERIE6165HE T
m%@ﬂwJ%6151\%@ﬂ’éﬁf%ﬁl§§$§§&d%
LB AQBRATEENEESN  ROEHLAY

‘%%Eﬁﬂﬁﬁif‘é’%j{ﬁ@ & TRENEAT
BRT BEREERZABRRBENNE BEXE4

AREEIRRBFAGESIRR

BERRFRRDEFANENEFHBHN A AT R
REERFIETHIATE -



104 | Shenzhen Investment Limited F3[#2HHRAT
Annual Report E$§ 2024

®

Corporate Governance Report
BB RS

Procedures for directing enquiries to the Company

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries to the Board in writing through the Board
Office at the below contact details:

Address:  8th Floor, New East Ocean Centre,
No. 9 Science Museum Road, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong
Email: ir@shumyip.com.hk
Tel: (852) 2723 8113
Fax: (852) 2723 2263

Share registration related matters

For share registration related matters, such as share transfer and registration,
change of name or address, loss of share certificates or dividend warrants, the
Shareholders can contact the Share Registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at
the below contact details:

Address:  17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong
Email: is-enquiries@nhk.tricorglobal.com

Tel: (852) 2980 1333

Fax: (852) 2810 8185

AR AR E A 2 R
BHEEEFHEH
MEFEFHEARFTANEEHARUTHESR
HERESEMRENESTSFLEN !

ik BANERDIER LEEESR
MEEHETRLE

B ir@shumyip.com.hk

Bt (852) 2723 8113

(= (852) 2723 2263
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Independent Auditor’s Report
To the shareholders of Shenzhen Investment Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Shenzhen Investment
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages
116 to 255, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSAs”) as issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auwditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that
context.

Yo 7 A% BRI e
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Key audit matters (continued)

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report, including
in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance
of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit
procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated

fin

ancial statements.

R gt ot = OH (D
RMEBTERE [BHRE G BERERE
BHEE —BPRENED BREZSFTERR
WEME -FIt RANBEZEENTER UEHR
PR S M B IR R PRV E A S ER Rt R s B 5T 45 o 3K
PNEZER (BEARETIHEEMATHER)
BR RERMANBN G BRERMERNELER
RHEER-

Key audit matter

MRSt EE

Valuation of investment properties
KREMEMGE

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's investment properties
amounted to HK$32,917 million, accounting for approximately
19% of the Group’s total assets. An fair value loss of investment
properties in the amount of HK$228 million was recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year then
ended.

K2024F12831H > BEBEERENE327TERET
it EEERBEEQNI% BREMEANEHE2288EET
EREERFENGREBRRERD

The Group’s investment properties are measured at fair value.
Management engaged an independent external valuer to assist
them in measuring the fair value of investment properties. The
determination of the fair value for investment properties involved
significant management judgements in selection of valuation
methodology and significant management estimations on certain
key assumptions including prevailing market rents, capitalisation
rates and vacancy rates.
EEENKENEUR A EFE - EEREZRE LI ER
BB BRENEA N E BERENEARET RINEER
BREEEHEREERBYERAETHARBRRELEAETE
Bt BERTHEHE BREXEREERX

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BMNEtMAEEMREEt SR

Our audit procedures included, among others, the following:
HMNBEZERSE (HPEHE) TH&E !

(i)  Understood, evaluated and validated the management’s
internal controls over the process to determine the fair
value of investment properties and assessed the inherent
risk of material misstatement by considering the degree
of estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent risk
factors including complexity and subjectivity;

() TH TEEBEREEEREEREMELAAENBREF
BIER AR > 1EBE R AT AREENEE REM
BEREAR (BEEHEMEENE NAFRIHELA
ReR R A E B R

(i) Assessed the competence, capability and objectivity of the
external valuer and understood the scope of their work;

(i) SHEIMBEEMNER S ENREEM > I THRET(FE
B,

Involved our internal valuation specialists in examining the
valuation results prepared by the external valuer, including
assessing the valuation methodology, key assumption
and parameters used by the external valuer based on our
knowledge and experience for similar types of properties
valuation;
HMWABGEEXSEEEIH B EENREENHES
R ORBEREIMHEECMERAUGEN T REEE 5T
BN EMERNGES Z  AREZR2E ;

(i
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Key audit matter
MREtEE
Valuation of investment properties (continued)

REMEMLE (@)

We focused on auditing the valuation of investment properties
because the total balance of investment properties is significant
to the consolidated financial statements and the valuation of the
investment properties is subject to a high degree of estimation
uncertainty, as the inherent risk in relation to the valuation
is considered relatively higher due to the subjectivity of key
assumptions used in the valuation and significant judgements
involved in selecting the valuation methodology.
HMBIHREMEGEETE ERAREYENERE
HERaHMBRRMEEREA BHRNGEMABRESRNE
BMENERGERER S REAHE  BEEEEANEER
BRGAEHES BRENEGEFESEMtAREL

The valuation of investment properties is, therefore, considered
as a key audit matter.
At > HEMENHERREARBESEE

Disclosures are set out in note 4(b) fair value of investment
properties and note 15 investment properties to the consolidated
financial statements.
BRRBHNGEMBRRMT4O)REMEZ A E KM
163 B o

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BBt AR MRSt SIS

(iv)

(iv)

Checked the key assumptions and parameters used in
the valuations, on a sample basis, to supporting evidence
including:
HERBREHEREANEARBRI 28 AREZFHE
%o 8l

e  compared the prevailing market rents, capitalisation
rates and vacancy rates used in the valuations
against the published industry benchmarks and
comparable market transactions;

o REETFEANBETMEHEE BERCEREEE
BARNTEEERATBILELRMBR ZETLR ;

e  checked the rental rates of the leased properties
used in the valuation against the key terms of
existing rental agreements and rental income
breakdown;

e BREMEREENEENEAcERRREHEER
ZNFERTREEWARMS ;

e  compared the key assumptions used in the valuation
against historical records and evaluated their
reasonableness based on our industry knowledge;

o REETEANMRERREFELDIRETILER > I
REHZPITENATHESEY ;

Assessed the adequacy of disclosures related to the
valuation of investment properties in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

ARaVBRENEPTIGALENELERENEE

RERD o
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Key audit matters (continued)

Key audit matter

Bt EE

Assessment of net realisable value of properties under
development and completed properties held for sale
BRIYMERFEGEZEERMEZIERFETG

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s properties under
development (“PUD”) and completed properties held for sale
(“PHS”") amounted to HK$60,557 million and HK$32,734 million
respectively, which in total accounted for approximately 55% of
the Group’s total assets. The carrying amounts of PUD and PHS
are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value (“NRV").
120245128318 EBEEARFEZEETYE (TPUDY)
REFESEZBEMYE (TPHS 1) 60,5575 B 7% 70 532,734
BEAT Al BEBEEEENS% PUDKPHSHIREE
DAk A BT 23R B (TNRV ) MEEESIR o

Management assessed the NRV based on existing sales and
construction plans, and a forecast of future selling price based
on prevailing market conditions, with reference to the current
market price of properties of comparable type, size and location.
The determination of NRV involved significant management
estimations on the selling price, selling expenses and the costs
to completion of PUD.
BEEEERNRTHAREREHERERFEURAREETR
A W2EE RRRAUEEENYZEN SR HETHENRY
NRVIEETEH R EE ~ SHEM A > UK EPUDT LR R ELERN
RAENEABEB AT

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BBt AR EMREtEE

Our audit procedures included, among others, the following:
EMMNBZERSE HPaE TI8E !

(i)  Obtained an understanding of the management’s internal
controls over the process of the assessment of NRV and
assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement by
considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and level
of other inherent risk factors including complexity and
subjectivity;

() THREEERNRVIGEEREMNADES TEEE
RESTTREENEEREMBEERERER (BEREN
MEEM) AT RIMEAERFANES B ;

(i) Evaluated the outcome of prior period assessment of
net realisable value of properties under development
and completed properties held for sale to assess the
effectiveness of management’s estimation process;

(i) FEHERPNERFEFEZEERNEZ IR
BEREFHENTIEER  UFHEEEGFBENEN
e

(i) Understood, evaluated and validated the management’s
internal controls over the process around the property
development cycle with particular focus on controls over
cost budgeting;

(i) T~ FMEERREEEEAYERSBEREMBRENAL
il THEHRABEOES ;
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Key audit matter

MEEHEE

Assessment of net realisable value of properties under
development and completed properties held for sale
(continued)
ERPMERBEGEZEERYEZTERBETE (8)
We focused on auditing the assessment of NRV of PUD and
PHS because the total balances of PUD and PHS are significant
and the estimation of the NRV is subject to a high degree of
estimation uncertainty. The assessment of NRV of PUD and PHS
is, therefore, considered as a key audit matter.

I FE R B s PUD RPHSHINRVEF (Y » R EAPUDKPHSH 48
ERERE A 0 ENRVA (52 72 & E R (5t A HETE 1 © R LIE > PUD
KPHSEINRVET it t AR (FRAR B 5t 18 o

Disclosures are set out in note 4(a) estimates for net realisable
value of properties under development and completed properties
held for sale, note 22 properties under development and note 23
completed properties held for sale to the consolidated financial
statements.

BREEBEIR R BERRNFHI(ERTVWERFEFEZ
EEMMENT SR FE M5 [ 228 BPYE kI FE235
FREZEERM=-

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BB NARERRENEE

Tested management’s key estimates, on a sample basis,
for:
M EEENERGE

e selling price which was estimated based on the
prevailing market conditions, we compared the
estimated selling price to recent transactions by
making reference to the Group’s selling price of
presold units or the prevailing market price of
properties with comparable type, size and location;

e MEBRTMAGHNEE HM2E E£EE
EBANEERHELY - RERUEEENYENR
ImE BEGIEBRIBRZETLR ;

e selling expenses which were estimated based on
a certain percentage of estimated selling price, we
compared the above estimated percentage with the
approved budget and the actual average selling
expenses to revenue ratio of the Group in recent
years;

e HREMGHEEBN—TBEAMAERHEERAM
S RMELAMGEANEALE SEBRREEDN
HERERBRTHOHERAIGRARERETE
8,

o estimated costs to completion for PUD, we reconciled
the estimated costs to completion to the approved
budget and examined the construction contracts.

o HPUDMEETSER AL AT S > IRt 5t T8 AU AL AR B it
EREETHER TRERESH -

Assessed the adequacy of disclosures related to the net
realisable value of properties under development and
completed properties held for sale in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

EEAE B RRNT PRI AEAEBP M ERSER
EZBRBMEZ IR FERANEERSR D
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Key audit matter

REHEE

Impairment assessment of investments in joint ventures and
associates

REERAFRBEABDMNKEERHET

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of the Group’s
investments in joint ventures and associates amounted to
HK$7,942 million and HK$2,264 million. Management reviewed
regularly whether there are any indicators of impairment of the
investments by reference to the requirements under HKAS 36
“Impairment of Assets”.

R2024F12H31H > BEERGEAGARMERTZKER
REEDAA7942EE B TR 26458 BT - EEE2 R
BEFHENER BEEREI ZERK CHERZSIRERS
GFHEEMBETR

0 OH &

During the current year, impairment indicators were identified
for the investment in joint ventures and associates due to
the continued losses incurred. Management has performed
impairment assessment to determine the recoverable amount of
the investments in joint ventures and associates. The recoverable
amount was determined in accordance with HKAS 36 to be the
higher of the fair value less cost of disposal and the value in use,
determined by discounting future cash flows of the underlying
businesses. An impairment relating to investments in joint
ventures and associates amounted to HK$1,171 million was
recognised in profit or loss in 2024,

REFE > REERAAMERRNRERSER  NaEAH
REBESATNEEEHNFETHENR - EEEBETRET
ENEER GE A B REE R BREKERN P Ul 88 o 7] i[E]
SHERBEEE G L FIORET AL A E ML ERAES
REE (BBUREREZENARREEREETE) NREE -
20245 BRANGE AR RMERANKRENREIITIEE
BTERIEEET

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BBt AR EMREtEE

Our audit procedures included, among others, the following:
EMNBZERSE (GREMEEN TISE !

(i)  Obtained an understanding of the management’s process
for identifying the objective evidence of impairment in
respect of the interest in joint ventures and associates;

() THREEEMNNSEAARMEAIRDAETERER
MEF ;

(i) Evaluated and tested the assumptions and methodologies
used by management in the determination of the
recoverable amount;

(i) HERAAEEENETAINEEERMANRSE RS
%

(i) Checked the cash flow projection by making reference to
the historical financial performance and discussed with the
management of joint venture and associate to understand
the basis and reasonableness of the financial budgets;

(i) 2EBEHBRF BERE[EFH THSEREAR
HERANEEENR UTHRUERENERKSE
%
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Key audit matter

RREHEE

Impairment assessment of investments in joint ventures and
associates (continued)
REEATRMEATNRENRETG (&)

The impairment assessment of the Group’s investments in joint
ventures and associates was significant to our audit due to (i) the
significance of the carrying amount as at 31 December 2024;
and (i) significant judgements are required to determine the
key assumptions used in the discounted cash flow models, such
as revenue growth, unit price and discount rates. Independent
external valuers were also involved in the fair value and value in
use assessments.

EERNRGE AR REHEABNKENHETEHRMNE
HEEE > JHHR)R2024F 12831 HNREENEER ; &
(NBEEEHEXRHE UETHTRRERERUMANEER
FoMBAE R BABHEKRERE - FHIUIMNLEERMITS E
NpEREABEET G

Disclosures are set out in notes 4(c), note 18 investments in
joint ventures and note 19 investments in associates to the
consolidated financial statements.
BREERENGEHMBRRINTA(C) HEF18SREBERAENEK
BRKF19REHEATNEKE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BBt AR MRSt SIS

(iv)

(iv)

(vi)

Checked the mathematical accuracy of the management’s
calculations in the impairment assessments;

BREAETEREERSENEMERY ;

Evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of
the independent external valuers;

MBI EMNEE N RERI ;

Involved our internal valuation specialists to assist us in
assessing the discount rate and the Group’s valuation
methodology applied in determining the recoverable
amount adopted in the cash flow projection.
EMNABGEERSEAFHRMATLHEREERR &
EREERSRERATMEKAN]KE S ERMEA
MG {E % o
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Other information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Annual Report, other than
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated financial
statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to
do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

P L At
g HHEMESAE -EMESBRERA
WES EFfEEGREMBRERAMNZEMR

RABGREMHRRNVERLEFTREEMES > T
TAHZEAME B EREAT AR EELR

BaRMBREMBRENES AANSEEREA
AftER At BRET ZRHEMEE TR AR ST
BREAKMESSFREPATRNBREEER
BEAEUFFEEERRENER - ERAMAE
[T T MREFABSEMEEFEERERR
o RABRREZFE-EE @ KFARAER
HEo

HH AR O MR R H T
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
review of the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

BT 28 w1 o5 2 B AR I R AE (8D

o HEZRAFECESHERNBEMLFLE
o RBFMENNESBE RESSFHERS
BRBEREMNERTRENE EMAEER
H BREENRECERENELEEARE N
REMBBEHEERTHREN  NELBEER
RS NRFEAELIR G M HRETH
HERE - REAMANKRESR AIAMAEER
AFERERR HMANEREENLHUME
& B LEFrEVS R 51 REE ° 24T » ARFRHE
nAEEY EREEFERSRLE.

o FEGRAMBERRNBREIRAN EHBNA
B BERE URGEMBERRES T 5 KRB
REMEE-

o FHERBTEBRSSMUN SEERERIE
BEANMBEEERTR BENSEHESE
ERBREeMBREVAERNER -RMA&
BERE - BENEBELAERSBNMRTH
Bt LE-UMABARRAERHE T

REMERN RALEHEZEGER T RIS
HE HEZH BEABHEES QBEAMES
th 8 B BRI B R B R ERRG o

KPERESZEGRIEN RPRMAENEER
BUMNERERERER LRMMAEERIAS
EMREA e ERMBUMNMERGNEMNS
B UREBERNERT AU BT EER
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the
public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Law Kwok Kee.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

28 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

R

n‘/T IZI
Year ended 31 December
HZE12B31ALLEE
2024 2023
20245 20235
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
M sE FTAET FAT
Revenue W= 6 15,567,468 15,832,132
Cost of sales and services i E R RIEA A 7 (11,128,364)  (10,721,440)
Gross profit EF) 4,439,104 5,110,692
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHMZ 7 (416,791) (514,590)
Administrative expenses TERZ 7 (1,196,697) (1,516,803)
Increase/(decrease) in fair value of financial FRBERRARENEZ
assets at fair value through profit or loss SREEANEEM, GAL) 20 11,254 (75,025)
(Losses)/gains result from changes in fair value ~ REVEARESERERE
of and transfer to investment properties REVEELEZ (5B 78 15 (227,877) 554,651
Net impairment losses on financial assets CHEERNESREE 3.1(b) (8,961) (26,697)
Other expenses HAthpasz 7 (613,446) (436,541)
Other income HAnk A 8 741,205 408,173
Other gains/(losses) HitF13 (558 175 (3,916)
Operating profit R Al 2,727,966 3,499,944
Finance income A 10 137,745 203,581
Finance costs M MA 10 (1,381,486) (1,244,915)
Finance costs — net A F R 10 (1,243,741) (1,041,334)
Share of results of joint ventures and associates ~ FEfE A& AT H‘é‘ ENEKERE 18,19 (1,135,416) (682,698)
Impairment losses on investment in an associate REHMEATRAEEATZ
and a joint venture HEBRE 18,19 (1,171,000) =
(Loss)/profit before income tax PBREFIGHIAT (B538) iHA (822,191) 1,775,912
Income tax expenses FTEMEY 11 (715,166) (1,582,516)
(Loss)/profit for the year ER (8518 &7 (1,537,357) 193,396
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to THEGER (B518) /&5
— Owners of the Company —ARE @R (1,822,579) (261,397)
— Non-controlling interests —IFEf 285,222 454,793
(1,537,357) 193,396
Losses per share attributable to owners of the AT SR EELSRER
Company (expressed in HK cents per share) (U B R EWLIT)
Basic PN 12 (20.48) (2.94)
Diluted B 12 (20.48) (2.94)
The above consolidated statement of profit or loss should be read in conjunction — L#i4R&18a RIELKTE—HRIE

with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Fr oy A T AR R

Year ended 31 December

HZE12B31HILEE
2024 2023
20245 20235
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTAT FAT
(Loss)/profit for the year FR (8518) /&7 (1,537,357) 193,396
Other comprehensive income Hft2mk=E
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss: B EM FEE R m 2 HE .
— Share of other comprehensive income of —EhEEERATRBEAT
joint ventures and associates Hith2mEUz (252,908) (159,337)
— Surplus on revaluation of investment property —EEE BERREZ
transferred from property, plant and equipment BEHEBEMEZRR 36,466 -
— Exchange differences on translation of foreign — BN EBFHEZ ERELR
operations (1,263,056) (699,679)
Other comprehensive income for the year, ERHEMEEKE MNFRE
net of tax (1,479,498) (859,016)
Total comprehensive income for the year EREZEWNEELE (3,016,855) (665,620)
Total comprehensive income attributable to: THIEGEREKEEEE .
— Owners of the Company YNNG £l (3,164,765) (1,048,633)
— Non-controlling interests —JEPERC R 147,910 383,013
(3,016,855) (665,620)

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in  Fit4s &2 EW s R E LN — (I8 o
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

o BN DL 3R

Shenzhen Investment Limited ZF3IZRAFRAT

As at 31 December

®12H31H
2024 2023
20244 20235
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
(i3 FTET FAT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y ERN =Y 14 6,663,197 6,181,723
Investment properties REYE 15 32,916,540 33,450,507
Investments in joint ventures REENTZRE 18 7,942,496 8,735,858
Investments in associates REEAEZKE 19 2,263,641 4,545,599
Intangible assets B EE 17 843,325 887,135
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss BBEHRANEFEZEHEE 20 139,649 131,365
Financial assets at fair value through other FHRHMEENGERARENEZ
comprehensive income TRBE 21 2,317 2,368
Trade and other receivables B 5 R EMRERR 25 661,023 277,026
Deferred income tax assets BEMBREE 31 3,520,101 3,513,667
54,952,289 57,725,248
Current assets MEBEE
Properties under development FRBYE 22 60,556,638 70,563,075
Completed properties held for sale RIEFEZBRMME 23 32,734,452 19,744,800
Inventories F& 24 240,115 266,208
Trade and other receivables B 5 R H e WL ER 25 10,884,193 11,665,380
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss BBBEHRANEEZEHEE 20 894 906
Biological assets EYMEE 1,489 4,512
Restricted cash and bank deposits ZREBRERBITER 26 6,013,544 3,389,371
Cash and cash equivalents ReEMREEEY 26 5,786,000 11,053,858
116,217,325 116,688,110
Total assets BENRE 171,169,614 174,413,358
EQUITY g
Equity attributable to owners of the Company  ZxA B # % IR RE(G1ER
Share capital Bz 27 22,071,756 22,071,756
Capital reserve BAHE 27 59,019 59,019
Other reserves HMhfas 28 1,027,997 2,370,145
Retained earnings REBF 15,391,191 17,836,686
38,549,963 42,337,606
Non-controlling interests JEPER RS 6,769,996 5,142,605
Total equity Ha4aEE 45,319,959 47,480,211
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
& E A B AR I 2

As at 31 December

®128318
2024 2023
20244 20234
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
M E FERT FET
LIABILITIES afE
Non-current liabilities JEREEE
Bank and other borrowings RITRHEMEE 30 22,804,481 24,897,499
Lease liabilities HEa’ 16 252,259 269,430
Deferred income FIEUTA 19,759 20,219
Due to the immediate holding company e ERERA B TIE 34 697,382 700,651
Deferred income tax liabilities REEFTEMRAR 31 7,159,234 7,319,668
30,933,115 33,207,467
Current liabilities mEaE
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 30 14,560,568 14,141,603
Contract liabilities BHEaR 32 28,229,357 24,303,239
Trade and other payables B REMENR 33 18,819,666 22,802,440
Lease liabilities HEaE 16 93,909 105,488
Due to the immediate holding company e B A B8 34 3,638,644 3,194,490
Due to the ultimate holding company BT REIZERATRIE 34 18,652,676 17,653,750
Tax payable eI TR 18 35 10,921,720 11,524,670
94,916,540 93,725,680
Total liabilities BEEE 125,849,655 126,933,147
Total equity and liabilities Bk aREE 171,169,614 174,413,358

LR AR B R IE RN — G

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The financial statements on pages 116 to 255 were approved by the Board of  $116ZE255B MBI FEREX 1 2025F3F 28K E S

Directors on 28 March 2025 and were signed on its behalf. e TREES
Mr. WANG Yuwen Ms. SHI Xiaomei
FENEKE FERLL
Director Director

EF EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

O R E) R

Attributable to the owners of the Company

KATERRREN
Non-
Share Capital Other Retained controlling Total
capital reserve reserves earnings Total interests equity
K& BAfHE Hitif# e RERT hE  EERES EmaE
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TER TEr TEr TAT TAT TART
(note 27) (note 27) (note 28)
(G2 (Rit3Eer) (Fit3E28)
Balance at 1 January 2024 R04F1818 266 22,071,756 50,019 2,370,145 17,836,686 42,337,606 5,142,605 47,480,211
Comprehensive income 2EkE
(Loss)/profit for the year £R/ (518) /57 - - - (1,822,579)  (1,822,579) 285,222 (1,537,357)
Other comprehensive income: At Eha -
Recognition of change in other HEti2ARRERE
comprehensive income transferto R EVENEF R
investment properties (note 15) (Fff5£15) - - 36,466 - 36,466 - 36,466
Share of other comprehensive income  [EESE AT R e
of joint ventures and associates AREMZERE - - (252,908) - (252,908) - (252,908)
Exchange differences on translation ~ E/NEBBEZER
of foreign operations 28 - - (1,125,744) - (,125744) (137312  (1,263,056)
Total comprehensive income FRAZENGEEE
for the year - - (1,342,186)  (1,822,579)  (3,164,765) 147,910 (3,016,855)
Transactions with owners in ARERRUAEEART
their capacity as owners RESHETZRS
Capital injections from FEREDIE
non-controlling interests = = = = = 6,478 6,478
Loans of non-controlling interests FEREREDERA
transform to capital (Note) B (i) - - - - - 1,600,740 1,600,740
Dividends provided for or paid BRGALAIBE - - - (622916)  (622916)  (127,737)  (750,653)
Equity-settled share option expense  MRAS 2 BIRERS - - 38 - 38 - 38
Total transactions with owners AEGREZRFHEE - - 38 (622,916) (622,878) 1,479,481 856,603
Balance at 31 December 2024 R2024E12B310 2 &k 22,071,756 59,019 1,027,997 15,391,191 38,549,963 6,769,996 45,319,959

Note: The Group’s subsidiary, Shum Yip Terra (Holdings) Company Limited (“Shum Yip Terra”),
signed an agreement with Shenzhen Metro Real Estate Group Co., Ltd (“Shenzhen
Metro Real Estate”), the non-controling shareholder of Shenzhen Taiyuntong Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen Taiyuntong), that loans from Shum Yip Terra and
Shenzhen Metro Real Estate to Shenzhen Taiyuntong were transformed to the capital of
Shenzhen Taiyuntong.

MIEE

FEEWNB AR RESRA (EE) RNHABIRAR

(MREZA) BRI T REBEHEREAR
A8 (TRIYIZEB)) BITEERR R FORYI M 5 &
EEEBRAR (MREER)) BT W% R
ER AR BB EERRY IR EBNERE R
ERYIREBAIIRA
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

o RE ) R
Attributable to the owners of the Company
RAFER KRR
Non-
Share Capital Other Retained controlling Total
capital reserve [ESErves earnings Total interests equity
frA& BARE Hiti R RERER am EERER ERRE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL FEL TEL T TAT TAL FEL

(note 27) (note 27) (note 28)

(Mizk27) (izk2r) (Hizk2s)

Balance at 1 January 2023 R2023F 1818 2 & 22,071,756 59,019 3,157,152 19,343,914 44,631,841 4,925,132 49,556,973
Comprehensive income 2EKE
(Loss)/profit for the year £ (58) /5F - - - (61397 (261397) 454793 193,39
Other comprehensive income: Bt2mls .
Share of other comprehensive income  [EfS A& AT K&

of joint ventures and associates ARHEMZENR - - (159,337) - (159,337) - (159,337)
Exchange differences on tranglation ~ BHNEHRBEZESR

of foreign operations = = = (627,899) = (627,899) (71,780) (699,679)
Total comprehensive income FRZENGEE

for the year - - 78723 (261,397 (1,048,633 383013  (665,620)
Transactions with owners in AEGRRUREARS

their capacity as owners REENETZRA
Capital injections from FERERTE

non-controlling interests - - - - - 5,441 5,441
Dividends provided for or paid BEBARMZRE - - - (1,245831)  (1,245831)  (170,981)  (1,416812)
Equity-settled share option expense  MBAZ Tz BRERS - - 229 - 229 - 229
Total transactions with owners AEGREZRFEHE - - 209 (1,245,831)  (1,245,602) (165,540)  (1,411,142)
Balance at 31 December 2023 WA2023FE12A3IB 24k 22,071,756 59,019 2,370,145 17,836,686 42,337,606 5,142,605 47,480,211

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in i EResSEHREEAN T —HEIE
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
o HeiiaR

Year ended 31 December

HE12HNBLEE
2024 2023
20245 20235
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
(g3 TET TET
Cash flows (used in)/from operating activities &= E8) (FrE) /EXZ2HLRE
Cash generated from operations REXEBEEZRE 36(a) 2,033,225 10,847,030
Interest received BIF 8 241,132 265,848
Interest paid BIFIE (2,074,633)  (3,391,157)
Income tax paid BNMER (2,036,090) (3,324,883)
Net cash (used in)/generated from REEE (FRA)  EXZREFE
operating activities (1,836,366) 4,396,838
Cash flows (used in)/from investing activities & 58 (FTR) /EX2HERE
Dividends received from financial assets BlEBEREANESEZ
fair value through profit or loss SHMEERE 2,081 2,168
Dividends received from joint ventures BREEREIRE 77,134 15,817
Dividends received from associates BENBEA GRS 14,481 7,949
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEYE -BEREZEHERERIE
plant and equipment 172 206
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties ~ HEB BV EFFERIE = 2,410,727
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BAME BRENSRE (926,329) (443,300)
Purchases of investment properties BAZBRRLEYE
under development (369,320) (462,276)
Capital injection to joint ventures BEEAEEE (12,322) (198,332)
Capital injection to associates AEEAREE - (169,684)
Payments for loans to joint ventures SBTEEREZER (279,684) (910,610)
Repayments of loans to joint ventures BTYEERBZETER 100,906 199,890
Purchases of financial assets at fair value BAZBEREANEFEZ
through profit or loss TREE - (99,315)
Net cash (used in)/generated from REE® FIA) EX2

investing activities REFE (1,392,881) 353,240
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

FRE BB R R

Year ended 31 December

the accompanying notes.

BE12HBLEE

2024 2023
20245 20235
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
HiE FTAT FAT

Cash flows used in financing activities REZBHFAAZRERE 36(h)
Capital element of lease payments HENRZEXRE R (116,352) (69,257)
Dividends paid to the Company’s shareholders IRNERBRERZEE (622,916) (1,245,831)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests TANEERERZKE (127,737) (170,981)
Proceeds from loans from non-controlling interests 3F#E g% & RS TIE 40,254 67,316
Repayments of loans from non-controlling interests 188 JFEZER T ET (1,099,414) (4,719,048)
Capital injection from non-controlling interests FERERTE 6,478 5,441
Proceeds from loans from related parties Rl ERFris B 7,743,217 16,081,443
Repayments of loans from related parties BEMBHER (6,509,208)  (14,323,083)
Proceeds from bank and other borrowings R REMBERSHRIE 14,375,690 18,261,507
Repayments of bank and other borrowings BEREEBTREMEES (15,508,644)  (19,103,456)
Net cash used in financing activities MEEBMAZRERE (1,818,632) (5,215,949)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents RERREEEBMRLFE (5,047,879) (465,871)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year E¥IZHE&RELZEN 11,053,858 11,668,267

Exchange differences on cash ReRkREEBYMZERESE
and cash equivalents (219,979) (148,538)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year EXRZRERBTEEEY 26 5,786,000 11,053,858
The above consolidated cash flows statement should be read in conjunction with ~ FilissARE REREEN T —HRIE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
“r o A5 i 22 Y 5 E

N

General information

Shenzhen Investment Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability company
incorporated in Hong Kong. The address of the Company’s registered office
is located at 8th Floor, New East Ocean Centre, 9 Science Museum Road,
Kowloon, Hong Kong. The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are
principally engaged in property development, property investment, property
management and manufacture operation. The principal activities of the
Group’s joint ventures and associates are disclosed in notes 18 and 19.

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate holding company of the
Company is Shum Yip Holdings Company Limited (“Shum Yip Holdings”,
¥ (@) AMR/23), which is a private company incorporated in Hong
Kong. The ultimate holding company of the Company is F2E£EAFRA
B (“Shum Yip Group”), which is a state-owned company established in

Shenzhen, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

The Company’s shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.

The consolidated financial information is presented in Hong Kong dollar
(“HK$") and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand (HK$’'000)
except when otherwise indicated.

These consolidated financial statements have been approved for issue by
the Board of Directors on 28 March 2025.

Basic of preparation

Going concern basis

The directors of the Company have given careful consideration to the
future liquidity and performance of the Group and its available sources
of financing in assessing whether the Group will have sufficient financial
resources to continue as a going concern for at least of 12 months from 31
December 2024.

Do

—fRER

RYNERBRAD ((RAF) A—BREE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Basic of preparation (continued)

Going concern basis (continued)

The directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s cash flow
projections, which covers a period of twelve months from 31 December
2024. The directors of the Company are of the opinion that, taking into
account the anticipated cash flows generated from the Group’s operations,
the continued availability of the Group’s bank and other borrowings as well
as the Group’s ability to raise new financing under the prevailing rules and
regulations, and the continuous financial support from the ultimate holding
company, the Group will have sufficient working capital to meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due within the coming twelve months from
31 December 2024.

Accordingly, these consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
a going concern basis.

Compliance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRS”) and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in
accordance with applicable HKFRS as issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and requirements under the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance Cap. 622.

HKFRS comprise the following authoritative literature:
o Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
o Hong Kong Accounting Standards

° Interpretations developed by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants

Historical cost convention

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical
cost basis, except for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL"), financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVOCI”), and investment properties, which are measured at fair
value.

2.2

2.3
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Basic of preparation (continued)

New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following new and amended standards for its
annual reporting period commencing 1 January 2024:

o Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback — Amendments to HKFRS 16

o Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current — Amendments
to HKAS 1 (the “2020 amendments”)

° Non-current Liabilities with Covenants — Amendments to HKAS 1 (the
“2022 Amendments”)

o Supplier Finance Arrangements — Amendments to HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 16 and Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 did
not have any impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods and are not
expected to significantly affect the current or future periods.

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities
as current or non-current, including what is meant by a right to defer
settlement and that a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting
period. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the
entity will exercise its right to defer settlement. The amendments also
clarify that a liability can be settled in its own equity instruments, and
that only if a conversion option in a convertible liability is itself accounted
for as an equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact its
classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify that, among covenants
of a liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those with which an
entity must comply on or before the reporting date affect the classification
of that liability as current or non-current. Additional disclosures are required
for non-current liabilities that are subject to the entity complying with future
covenants within 12 months after the reporting period.

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions of its liabilities as
at 1 January 2023 and 2024 and concluded that the classification of
its liabilities as current or non-current remained unchanged upon initial
application of the amendments. Accordingly, the amendments did not have
any impact on the financial position or performance of the Group.

4 AL (D)
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Basic of preparation (continued)

New or amended standards and interpretations not yet adopted
Certain amendments to accounting standards and interpretation have been
published that are not mandatory for 31 December 2024 reporting periods
and have not been early adopted by the Group, summarised as below:

A S R R B R

i AL (D)

EESPY P HE TS CHE S V&
BREfZETEHERRZRRZIE 122024
F12RANBREPBEREN FEBTRE
BUERAN BT

SR

()]

HKFRS 18
ERMBREEAF185E
HKFRS 19

BB BIREEF195%
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7
BARUBREEANEIR KRB BYH
REERSETR2EET
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7
BEMBREENFIR RSB
SRR BT 2 BT
Annual Improvements to
HKFRS Accounting Standards —
Volume 11
EEMBREENEHEL 2
FENE—F1E

Amendments to HKAS 21
BAEERFE21R 25T
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28
ERUMBREENEI0REEEGE
R F285%E 2 1B5]

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

HHERENET REE

Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures

FRAAZFAEERBARNIKE

Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of
Financial Instruments

ERTADBRGEZE]

Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity
B REKBEAEREEBNNGH

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 7

EEMBREENFIR AU FREEETR
EREMBREENEIR ERAMBREENFE10RK
BB ERBTR 2B

Lack of Exchangeability

RZ AR

Sale or contribution of assets between an
investor and its associate or joint venture

REEZHRHBENFT NS EARNZANEEHERTE

Effective for the
annual periods
beginning on or after
RTF AR ZE
MRz FEHREN

1 January 2027
2027E1B1H
1 January 2027
20271811
1 January 2026

20265 151H

1 January 2026
20261811

1 January 2026

2026F181H

1 January 2025
20251818
To be determined

T E

i

AEB BRI RS e £R Rt

The Group has already commenced an assessment of the impact of these
new or amended standards and interpretations, certain of which are
relevant to the Group’s operations. According to the preliminary assessment
made by the Group, no material impact on the financial performance and
position of the Group in the current or future reporting period and on
foreseeable future transactions is expected when they become effective
except HKFRS 18.
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FEETEARZERENEFGHAERE
BRI S R B RR R 7
BRRNARIZELEATE-



128

Shenzhen Investment Limited ZF3IZRAFRAT
Annual Report F#§ 2024

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&7 O A B R BN R

Basic of preparation (continued)

New or amended standards and interpretations not yet adopted
(continued)

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements. While
a number of sections have been brought forward from HKAS 1 with
limited changes, HKFRS 18 introduces new requirements for presentation
within the statement of profit or loss, including specified totals and
subtotals. Entities are required to classify all income and expenses
within the statement of profit or loss into one of the five categories:
operating, investing, financing, income taxes and discontinued operations
and to present two new defined subtotals. It also requires disclosures
about management-defined performance measures in a single note and
introduces enhanced requirements on the grouping (aggregation and
disaggregation) and the location of information in both the primary financial
statements and the notes. Some requirements previously included in
HKAS 1 are moved to HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors, which is renamed as HKAS 8 Basis of Preparation
of Financial Statements. As a consequence of the issuance of HKFRS 18,
limited, but widely applicable, amendments are made to HKAS 7 Statement
of Cash Flows, HKAS 33 Earnings per Share and HKAS 34 Interim Financial
Reporting. In addition, there are minor consequential amendments to
other HKFRS Accounting Standards. HKFRS 18 and the consequential
amendments to other HKFRS Accounting Standards are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027 with earlier application
permitted. Retrospective application is required. The Group is currently
analysing the new requirements and assessing the impact of HKFRS 18 on
the presentation and disclosure of the Group’s financial statements.
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Financial risk management

The Group’s major operations are mainly located in the PRC and is
subject to special considerations and significant risks. These include
risks associated with, among others, the political, economic and legal
environment, influence of national authorities over pricing regulation and
competition in the market.

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk
(mainly including currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

The property market is highly sensitive to the economic environment in
the PRC, which will affect the volumes of property transactions and selling
prices. The Group mainly relies on sales of properties and debt financing
to fund its operations. The Group has alternative plans to monitor liquidity
risk should there be significant adverse changes on the Group’s cash flow
projections.

Financial risk factors
(@  Market risk
(i) Currency risk
Most of the operating income of the Group’s business is in
Renminbi (“RMB”) and the Group's assets held and all of the
committed borrowings of the Group are mainly denominated in
RMB.

The Group currently does not have a policy on foreign currency
risk as it had minimal transactions denominated in foreign
currencies during the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023 and the impact of foreign currency risk on the Group’s
operation is minimal.

(i) Interest rate risk

The Group’s market risk arises mainly from interest rate risk
of long-term bank and other borrowings. Bank and other
borrowings obtained at variable rates expose the Group to cash
flow interest rate risk which is partially offset by cash held at
variable rates. Bank and other borrowings obtained at fixed
rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. The Group
closely monitors trend of interest rate and its impact on the
Group’s interest rate risk exposure. The Group currently has not
used any interest rate swap arrangements and may consider
hedging interest rate risk should the need arise.
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or oy A 5 i AR B 5
3  Financial risk management (continued) 5 WHEREHE G
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 8.1 WEE kR E &)
(a)  Market risk (continued) @ THER (&
(i) Interest rate risk (continued) i) FMERE (B
The exposure of the Group’s borrowings to interest rate changes RBEEHAAERBEHN X2
and the contractual re-pricing dates of the borrowings at the ZREREEZEHAMENEEAR
end of the reporting period are as follows: BT
2024 2023
20245 2023E
% of total % of total
HK$’000  borrowings HK$'000  borrowings
THAT hEREEY THET HETEEY
Variable rate borrowings FEEE 24,578,825 66% 25,413,309 65%
Fixed rate borrowings — repricing or EEEE-EHE B
maturity dates: Z)HA
Less than 1 year DS 2,531,404 7% 2,040,154 5%
110 5 years 1-54 2,972,651 8% 4,023,289 10%
Over 5 years SEDE 7,282,169 19% 7,562,350 20%
37,365,049 100% 39,039,102 100%

At 31 December 2024, the Group had HK$24,578,825,000
(2023: HK$25,413,309,000) variable interest rate borrowings
which expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. If the
interest rate of these borrowings had increased/decreased
by 0.5% and all other factors remained unchanged, the profit
before tax for the year of the Group would have decreased/
increased by approximately HK$122,894,000 (2023:
HK$127,067,000).

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group’s profit before tax that would arise
assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred at the
end of the reporting period and the impact on the Group’s profit
before tax is estimated as an annualised impact on interest
expense or income of such a change in interest rates. The
analysis is performed on the same basis as 2023.

R2024F 128310 AEBAEL A
ERASHERSNEARKRZIE
E524,578,825,000% 75 (20234 :
25,413,309,00078 7T)  HZEBEN
R 7t/ FER0.5%Mm A 2t E
ZREAE REEAEEZKR
AlE M R D /18 N 49122,894,000
7T (20234 © 127,067,0005 %) o

BREDMBRAEBNBRRANG
FIaTREEE MR 28 EHRR
MEREHENRRESHREE M
MR8 A E@IBRR AR B
FEGHAHNERSTRRANE
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Financial risk management (continued)
Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk

Credit risks refer to the risk of losses incurred by the inabilities of
debtors or counterparties to fulfil their contractual obligations or by
the adverse changes in their credit conditions. The Group is exposed
to credit risk in relation to its cash and cash equivalents, restricted
cash and bank deposits, trade and other receivables and financial
guarantee contracts.

Credit risk is managed on a group basis.

For trade receivables in respect of property development, the Group
has policies in place to ensure that sales are made to purchasers with
an appropriate financial strength and appropriate percentage of down
payments. The Group also has other monitoring procedures to ensure
that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition,
the Group reviews regularly the recoverable amount of each individual
trade receivables to ensure that adequate loss allowance are made
for irrecoverable amounts.

For other trade receivables not related to property development
business, the Group’s customer base is diversified and has no
significant concentrations of credit risk. Trade receivables are due
from 30 to 180 days from the date of billing. The Group has policy
to closely monitor the settlement of trade receivables and long
outstanding balances are requested to be settled before any further
credit is granted. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from
customers.

For the financial guarantee contracts provided by the Group to banks
in connection with the customers’ mortgage loans to finance their
purchase of properties, the Group measured the loss allowance on
financial guarantee contracts by reference to the historical default
rate of the purchasers, the loss given default based on the current
property value and the pre-sale deposits already received and the
forward-looking information. Detailed such financial guarantee is
disclosed in note 37.
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3 Financial risk management (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)  Credit risk (continued)

The directors of the Company considered that the loss allowances on
financial guarantee contracts at 1 January 2024 and 31 December
2024 were insignificant to the Group. For properties which have
been pre-sold, or the completed properties that sold but the building
ownership certificate not yet issued, the Group typically provides
guarantees to banks in connection with the customers’ mortgage
loans to finance their purchase of the properties for an amount up to
the unpaid purchase consideration of the properties. If a defaults on
the payment of mortgage of properties during the term of guarantee,
the bank holding the mortgage may demand the Group to repay the
outstanding amount of the loan and any accrued interest thereon.
Under such circumstances, the Group is able to retain the customer’s
deposit and sell the property to recover any amounts paid by the
Group to the bank on the purchasers’ behalf. Unless the selling price
would drop by more than the buyer’s deposits received, the Group
may not be in a loss position for such financial guarantee contracts.
In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s
credit risk under such financial guarantee contracts is insignificant.

The credit risks of other receivables are managed through internal
control. The credit quality of each counterparty is investigated before
credit granted. The Group also actively monitors the outstanding
amounts owed by each debtor and identifies any credit risks in a
timely manner in order to reduce the risk of a credit related loss. The
Group reviews the recoverable amount of these receivables at each of
the reporting period end.

Impairment assessment

The Group formulates the credit losses of cash and cash equivalents,
restricted cash and bank deposits, trade and other receivables, and
financial guarantees contracts using the expected credit loss (ECL)
models according to HKFRS 9 requirements.
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3 Financial risk management (continued) 5 WHEREHE )
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 8.1 WFE kR E &)
(b)  Credit risk (continued) b GEERE &
Impairment assessment (continued) A (B

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach
permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires lifetime expected credit
losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables.
To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics. The Group
applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach in measuring expected credit
losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade
receivables.

For financial assets whose impairment losses are measured using
three-stages general approach ECL assessment except for trade
receivables, the Group assesses whether their credit risk has
increased significantly since their initial recognition, and applies a
three-stage impairment model to calculate their impairment allowance
and recognise their ECL, as follows:

—  Stage 1: If the credit risk has not increased significantly since
its initial recognition, the financial asset is included in stage 1.

—  Stage 2: If the credit risk has increased significantly since its
initial recognition but is not yet deemed to be credit-impaired,
the financial instrument is included in stage 2. The description
of how the Group determines when a significant increase in
credit risk has occurred is disclosed in the following section of
“judgement of significant increase in credit risk”.

—  Stage 3: If the financial instruments are credit-impaired, the
financial instrument is included in stage 3. The definition of
credit-impaired financial assets is disclosed in the following
section of “the definition of credit-impaired assets”.
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3  Financial risk management (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)  Credit risk (continued)

Impairment assessment (continued)

The Group considers the credit risk characteristics of different
financial instruments when determining if there is significant increase
in credit risk. For financial instruments with or without significant
increase in credit risk, 12-month or lifetime expected credit losses
are provided respectively.

The expected credit loss is the result of discounting the product of
exposure at default, probabilities of default (‘PD") and loss given
default (“LGD"). According to whether the credit risk has increased
significantly or whether the assets have been impaired, the Group
measures the loss allowance with the expected credit losses of
12-month or the lifetime due to the credit risk characteristics of
different assets.

Judgement of significant increase in credit risk (“SICR”)

Under HKFRS 9, when considering the impairment stages for financial
assets, the Group evaluates the credit risk at initial recognition and
also whether there is any significant increase in credit risk for each
reporting period. The Group considers various reasonable supporting
information to judge if there is significant increase in credit risk when
determining the ECL staging for financial assets. Major factors being
considered include solvency and operational capabilities. The Group
could base on individual financial instruments or portfolios of financial
instruments with similar credit risk characteristics to determine ECL
staging by comparing the credit risks of the financial instruments at
the reporting date with those at initial recognition.

The Group set quantitative and qualitative criteria to judge whether
the credit risk has SICR after initial recognition. The judgement
criteria mainly include the PD changes of the debtors, changes of
credit risk categories and other indicators of SICR, etc.

3
3.1

§o s J s P (A0
i s B B R 3% (50

()

EERE (B

HE G (&)

FERRBEEEERREENBREMEE

BEARzMIANGERRER -EE
RBRENREARBENNEMTANS

R BIZ12M8 B NEBRERERRK

R

RAERAXEZENARMO BOHR
(MEM =

) REMBEE (TBHNRX
’):%mif%ﬁ%m*% ﬁ??“
ARREEARENNEEZSEREM

Eﬁ$$lﬁ?ﬂ§§%h§ﬂﬁ%@ﬁ

ENERANFENRERERRBRANGRE
o

HlEEERBRABIEM (M5
$Bmy)
BREEBUBREENBSR REES
MEENRERRE  KERF LD
BENEERR THERSREHNE
ERRREEEEAARBEM REESH
BEENRBERBREERR AEBER
TRNGEEEENMUABEERRES
AIEIEMe 2 %FWI%&%&H
REEREN - AEERERERLEE
SRENENEHMTANSMIRAS,
BELEBREMIANRS HMNEERR

BERR A

ReMTARIRRIRNEERR &
R AR
REBR TR R EE LGS
R EEERRAS ARG EARAR
0o %%k+I§@%FﬁAWLUw
=8 EEARENEHRAMES

RAIRIENBIIEIRSE o



3
3.1

Shenzhen Investment Limited &I A RA T
Annual Report 1§ 2024

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial risk management (continued)
Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (continuea)

The definition of credit-impaired assets

Under HKFRS 9, in order to determine whether credit impairment
occurs, the defined standards adopted by the Group are consistent
with the internal credit risk management objectives for relevant
financial assets, while considering quantitative and qualitative
indicators. When the Group assesses whether the debtor has credit
impairment, the following factors are mainly considered:

The debt has overdue for more than 90 days after the contract
payment date.

e The lender gives the debtor concessions for economic or
contractual reasons due to the debtor’s financial difficulties,
where such concessions are normally reluctant to be made by
the lender.

e The debtor has significant financial difficulties.

e The debtor is likely to go bankrupt or needs other financial
restructuring.

The credit impairment of financial assets may be caused by the joint
effects of multiple events, and may not be caused by separately
identifiable events.

Forward-looking information

The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-
looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of
the debtors to settle the receivables.

The Group comprehensively considers internal and external data,
expert forecasts and statistical analysis to determine the relationship
between economic indicators with PD and LGD. The Group evaluates
and forecasts these economic indicators at least annually, provides
the best estimates for the future, and regularly evaluates the results.

Similar to other economic forecasts, the estimates of economic
indicators have high inherent uncertainties, actual results may
have significant difference with estimates. The Group considered
the estimates above represented the optimal estimation of possible
outcomes.
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3  Financial risk management (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)
(b)  Credit risk (continued)

Credit risk exposure of financial assets

3 R b B ()
3.1 WFsEkRE R (50

()

Without considering the impact of collateral and other credit
enhancement, for on-balance sheet assets, the maximum exposures
are based on net carrying amounts as reported in the consolidated
financial statements. Concentration of credit risk reflects the
sensitivity of the Group’s operating results to a particular customer,

industry or geographic location.

(i)  Other receivables

The Group’s other receivables mainly include amounts due from
third parties, related parties and non-controlling interests. To
measure the expected credit losses of other receivables, other
receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk

characteristics and the days past due.

For other receivables, management makes periodic collective
assessments as well as individual assessment on the
recoverability of outstanding balances based on historical
settlement records and past experience. The other receivables
of the Group are mainly due from related parties and
government entities, for which there were no recent history of
default. The other receivables were classified as stage 1 for

measurement of expected credit losses.

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of other

receivables during the year is as follows:
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Other

2024 receivables
20245 HthfE e FRIE
HK$’000

FTAT

Balance at 1 January 2024 1202451 B1 B B 48R 329,351
Impairment losses for the year FRRBESE 4,908
Exchange differences b (7,043)
Balance at 31 December 2024 112024512831 B A ER 327,216
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3  Financial risk management (continued) 3 sk ()
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 8.1 WEE kIR E &)
(b)  Credit risk (continued) ) EEERE B
Credit risk exposure of financial assets (continued) SHEENEERRKO @)
() Other receivables (continued) ) HEKRZRE (B
Other
2023 receivables
20235 HimEW I
HK$’000
FEx
Balance at 1 January 2023 1220235181 H N4 & 325,194
Impairment losses for the year FERRERE 8,861
Exchange differences ERERE (4,704)
Balance at 31 December 2023 122023512831 H WAL R 329,351
(i)  Trade receivables (i) FEWERIR
The Group applies the simplified approach to providing for FERRBESBHMBREENEST
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits MR EREBSIEN ARG
the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for trade BEEEE ZEL AT EBIRD
receivables. FAREGERFERBERERS
The following table provides information about the Group’s TREAEETRNEERRE K
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables: FEW RN BB E BIEANER
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
2024 loss rate amount allowance
20245 FRBAE IRE4(E BREE
% HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Within 1 year —&FR 3% 1,006,851 25,357
1 10 2 years —FERERN 5% 455,255 24,526
2 to 3 years MEE=FR 43% 33,096 14,355
Over 3 years =FENE 86% 124,270 106,616

1,619,472 170,854
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3  Financial risk management (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b)  Credit risk (continued)
Credit risk exposure of financial assets (continued)

3
3.1
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(i) Trade receivables (continued) (i) FEUERTR (B)

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
2023 loss rate amount allowance
20235 BHEAE RERE BREE
% HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TET
Within 1 year —FR 2% 2,130,418 41,427
1 to 2 years —EEWERN 14% 144,633 20,147
2 to 3 years MEEZERN 60% 22,246 13,383
Over 3 years =EME 70% 136,400 95,489
2,433,697 170,446

Expected loss rates are estimated using a provision matrix,
taking into account the past due status of the customers. The
expected loss rates are adjusted periodically to reflect changes
in current economic conditions and the Group’s view of forecast
economic conditions over the expected lives of the trade
receivables.

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade
receivables during the year is as follows:

RBBRERNERAREEREMGS
TERIERNBRHIR T - BHE
KEREGEMAE URREFNEH

R FRN RS ER TR

EREBEREREREGRZE
E N

2024 2023

20245 20234

HK$’000 HK$’000

FERT FET

Balance at 1 January 1B 1 B 170,446 168,627
Impairment losses recognised during FERRERR R ERL

the year 4,053 6,953

Exchange differences PR =% (3,645) (5,134)

Balance at 31 December 12831 BB & iR 170,854 170,446
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Financial risk management (continued)
Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

()

Credit risk (continuea)

Credit risk exposure of financial assets (continued)

(i)  Cash and bank balances
The credit risks on cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash
and bank deposits are limited because the counterparties are
banks/financial institutions with acceptable credit ratings and
have no default records in the past.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises when the Group is unable to meet its current
liabilities that fall due. The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance
between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of short
and long term bank loans and other borrowings. Through maintaining
a reasonable proportion in its asset and liability structure, the Group
is able to meet its ongoing financial needs.

The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities at the
end of the reporting period of the Group’s financial liabilities, which
are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest
payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on
rates current at the end of the reporting period) and the earliest date
the Group can be required to pay.

i 15

A 1 S S R R B R

b B (%)

o 5 e R 3% (40)

)

()

EERE (&)

SREENEARRKRO (&)

i) BERBTES
HRRGZHEFHAEEIEXEER
FREBEEBRANZENET/
SREB BRENBEEEEY
RREFERBTERNEERR
BlRo

e LR
ErEEREEEREEINRDEER]
EERBURAR FEESEERERRE
HERERMBTERKAMES #EES
FRUERAREN 2 T -BRRHAEE
BEERREESELA AEETRHE
HREMBRE-

TRETRBESHRTEENUHER
ZBTIENEHB DRESHRMER
ERE (BREAGHNRHEZNEN
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Liquidity risk (continued)

Financial risk management (continued)
Financial risk factors (continued)

3 MBEkE

B (50

3.1 MHBERAE &)
© REIEERE )

Carrying

amount at

Less than ~ Between 1 Between 2 Over 31 December

2024 1year and2years and 3 years 3 years Total 2024
2024

1283182

2024E _ﬁw _Emﬁ W:K:EE E;ﬁiﬂi #Egﬁ EEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TER TER T#ER TR TER THER

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings s BRI R EMEE 11,149,190 10,124,774 2,164,998 16,576,585 40,015,547 37,365,049
Lease liabilities HEEE 114,142 116,538 98,219 149,583 478,482 346,168
Trade payables FETERAR 5,803,323 - - - 5803323 5,803,323
Other payables HAnE S FE 9,033,136 = - - 003313 9,033,136
Loans from fellow subsidiaries RERZMBARZER 2,484,240 3,523 - - 2,487,763 1,889,199
Loans from an ather related company REEMBB AR 2 ER 167,669 - - - 167,669 167,558
Loans from non-controlling interests REFERERZER 496,408 141,103 2,002,051 - 2639562 2,319,309
Due to the immediate holding company ERE#EER AR 4,701,921 500,000 - - 5201921 4,336,026
Dug to the ultimate holding company BT R R AR TIE 18,073,439 809,596 740,846 - 19,623,881 18,652,676
Total oz 52,023,468  11,695534 5,006,114 16,726,168  85451,283 79,912,444
Carrying

amount at

Less than Between 1 Between 2 Over 31 December

2023 1year and2years  and 3 years 3 years Total 2023
120235

1283182

2023%E —FR —ERE WE=E Ba=f k] IREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TERT AT TERT TERT TET TERT

Interest-bearing hank and other borrowings st SRTREMEE 14923046 10587,032  9461,379  4667,051 39,638,508 39,039,102
Lease liabilities HESE 110,436 69,773 73,143 126,996 380,348 374,918
Trade payables FEfT IR 6,047,954 - - - 6047954 6,047,954
Other payables HitENFIE 7,033,767 - - - 7033767 7,033,767
Loans from fellow subsidiaries RERZMBARZER 2,097,254 97,660 - - 2194914 2,134,324
Loans from a joint venture RE—BAEARAZER 227,285 - - - 227,285 224,479
Loans from an other related company REHEMEAR AR ZER 171,734 - - - 171,734 171,533
Loans from non-controlling interests REFERERZER 832,145 170,244 580,686 2,192,564 3775639 3,209,714
Due to the immediate holding company ENBERERAFIRE 3,243,930 734,963 - - 3078893 3,895,141
Due to the ultimate holding company ENRAERAFTE 18,604,080 = = - 18,604,080 17,653,750
Total 1B 53,291,631 11,659,672 10,115,208 6,986,611 82,053,122 79,784,682
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Financial risk management (continued)

Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to optimise the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount
of dividends paid to shareholders, repurchase of shares, issue new shares
or sell assets.

Consistent with other companies in the market, the Group monitors its
capital by reviewing its gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt
divided by equity attributable to owners of the Company. Net debt is
calculated as total borrowings (including bank and other borrowings as
shown in the consolidated statement of financial position) less cash and
cash equivalents, restricted cash and bank deposits.

The gearing ratio as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 were as follows:

A S R R B R

o J s P ()
AEREREFERDERFERRBELERE
7 UBRREHERASEMANEEE SRS
M TR REBREELUAEE ZMA

REBLEERRE &R EEREERARE
XANREEE EBRO FTHRALE

FEBEBERNA S AEGRAAK AT
ERUAR R BEREDRESFERUE
RAR R 3 SRR E
(BEEAMBRRE AR RENER)
HER2RASSEN ERHRERBGE
LT

FR2024E K 20231283 AN EBEXRNT :

2024 2023

20245 20235

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTAET FAT

Total borrowings (note 30) BE#EE (1E+30) 37,365,049 39,039,102

Less: Cash and cash equivalents (note 26) i : RERIREEBEY (Fi:526) (5,786,000) (11,053,858)
Restricted cash and bank deposits ZIRFIRE R AR1TE (Hi5E26)

(note 26) (6,013,544) (3,389,371)

Net debt BHFE 25,565,505 24,595,873

Equity attributable to owners of the Company Z<A &% R R FE(LE = 38,549,963 42,337,606

Gearing ratio BEX 66% 58%

The directors of the Company consider the Group’s gearing ratio is within a
healthy range.

AAREERREEEZERREN RELE
Py o
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3 Financial risk management (continued) 3 WBEREHE )
3.3 Fair value estimation 8.3 ARfEME

The table below analyses financial instruments carried or presented at fair TREFEANBFAEEL EZZEAEBRER

value, by level of the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair DMBRAAEINEREN 2ERTE - FRE

value. The different levels are defined as follows: RATEWT

e  Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets s R%EEHEBRZEBMERE KRLH
or liabilities. The quoted prices already incorporates the market's ) FTIREREMATHHEERTEE
assumptions with respect to changes in economic climate such WMAELARBR) ARRRE -4 &
as rising interest rates and inflation, as well as changes due to KEa (TESG ) RGP ESEENRE (B
Environmental, Social and Governance (‘ESG”) risks (level 1) —R)

e Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are o BRE-LMEEREN BEERERZA
observable for the assets or liabilities, either directly (that is, as BRp AE AERE EFMER) fE
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2) % EUREER) GEZH)

e Inputs for the assets or liabilities that are not based on observable o HIFLMRERSFKESCRABREEHEK
market data (that is, unobservable inputs). This is the case for AOHRBEENTAMS  HBEEYERE
unlisted equity securities and for instruments where ESG risk gives ZEABLFERTRENHZEE BIF

rise to a significant unobservable adjustment (level 3) oOHEEEAE) (F=R)
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3  Financial risk management (continued) o 75 D 1 (4)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 8.3 ARfEME )
Quoted Significant Significant
prices in observable unobservable
active markets Inputs inputs
2024 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ERTARE EENRE EEFUEZ
20045 (E—%) BAEGEZH BAEEFE=H am
HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
FAT FART TER TER
FUTPL FOBRRRAREHE
— Listed equity investments in Hong Kong -REAEZ LTRERE 894 - - 894
— Listed equity investments in ~-RHEAEZ EhkE
Mainland China k& 42,458 - - 42,458
— Unlisted equity investments in ~-REAREZ L RE
Mainland China RE - - 97,191 97,191
Fvocl FRAMEARGRANEHE
— Unlisted equity investments in ~-REAREZ L RE
Mainland China RE - - 2317 2317
43,352 - 99,508 142,860
Quoted Significant Significant
prices in observable unobservable
active markets [nputs inputs
2023 (Level 1) (Level 2 (Level 3 Total
EETRRE EZAHE EEFUER
20037 E-® BAEGEZH BAEGE=H ek
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TEr
FUTPL BRBRRANETE
— Listed equity investments in Hong Kong -REBZ LTRERE 906 - - 906
~ Listed equity investments in —RAEAREZ EHkE
Mainland China k& 32,050 - - 32,050
~ Unlisted equity investments in N e N T
Mainland China ®E - - 99,315 99,315
Fvocl BRAMZENERANENE
~ Unlisted equity investments in N e N T
Mainland China ®E - - 2,368 2,368
32,956 - 101,683 134,639

There were no transfers among levels 1, 2 and 3 for recurring fair value

measurements during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

HE2024F K023 FE12A31HEEE KB EA
AEFEF RGBT EEE
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3  Financial risk management (continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)
(@)  Financial instruments in level 3
The following table presents the changes in the level 3 financial
instruments for the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023:

5 WHEREHE G
3.3 AnfafhEH &)
@ F=REHITA
TREFEE20245 K20235F128318 1E
FEZE=-HhtmMTI AL

2024 2023

20245 20234

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

At 1 January MB1H 101,683 83,006
Fair value changes NREES = (79,956)
Additions 1= - 99,315
Exchange differences fERE% (2,175) (682)
At 31 December ®12B318 99,508 101,683

There is no realised gain or loss recognised in profit or loss in the
current year (2023: nil) attributable to the level 3 financial assets held
by the Group at the end of the reporting period. There were also no
changes made to any of the valuation techniques applied as of 31
December 2024.

AEETERRERRAEARFE =R
SHEERGZNERRIAZEEERE
o E518 (20234 © £) ° # F 2024412531
B EAfFRANEEL AR ETFEE
;j]o
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Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgements used in preparing the consolidated financial
statements are evaluated and based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances. The Group makes estimates and
assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will,
by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that may have a significant effect on the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

Estimates for net realisable value of properties under
development and completed properties held for sale

The carrying amounts of properties under development and completed
properties held for sale amounted to HK$60,557 million and HK$32,734
million (2023: HK$70,563 million and HK$19,745 million) respectively as
at 31 December 2024, which in total accounted for approximately 55%
(2023: 54%) of the Group’s total assets. The Group assesses the carrying
amounts of properties under development and completed properties held
for sale according to their net realisable values based on the realisability
of these properties. Net realisable value for properties under development
is determined by reference to management’s estimates of the selling price
based on prevailing market conditions, less applicable variable selling
expenses based on certain percentage of estimated selling price and
the anticipated costs to completion. Net realisable value for completed
properties held for sale is determined by reference to management'’s
estimates of the selling price based on prevailing market conditions, less
applicable variable selling expenses.

A 1 S S R R B R

I 982 i il M B

SR MR SR s 5 B 5 SR PR 8 PR 9 fih 5 R 1 Bl
BUBTEERIEMER (BEEERERT
RERGENRREGNRYD AR -sEH
HARELH G RERR -REER FISHE
st AERNERERER T X mA
EHTEMREENEENGGREEEEX
FENMGSHRR

ERYIE RHERR S 2 B YR M T 5 5
A M

R2024E12831H  ERPERFEREZ
EERMENREESD R A60,55T5BATR
32,734BEBTT (20234 1 70,563 E BB TK
19,745 B 88 TT) » 6 M AEEEEEL55%
(20234 : 54%) - REBRBEZERHYERST
FREZEERMENTEEFE ERZE
MENTEIREN) FHEREE ZEDYE
Me R FENSEERRTTIHAEER M
SNER AERNTZHERS (RIFMst
EBN—TENLHE) REFTIREEE
FEREZEERYENIERFENLSZEE
RRTHRHEEBGENER IRERN
O HERTEE
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Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued)
Fair value of investment properties

The fair value of each investment property is individually determined at
each reporting date by independent external valuers based on a market
value assessment. Fair values of investment properties are derived using
the income capitalisation method approach. The valuations are dependent
on certain key assumptions that require significant judgement, including
prevailing market rents, capitalisation rates and vacancy rates.

Significant judgement and assumptions are required in assessing the
fair value of the investment properties. Details of the judgement and
assumptions used in the valuation of the investment properties are
disclosed in note 15.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment
testing for an asset is required (other than inventories, contract assets,
deferred tax assets, financial assets, and investment properties), the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount
is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and
its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case
the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged
to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether
there is an indication that previously recognised impairment losses may
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss
of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it arises.

4

o 982 i il KB (D)
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Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued)
Current and deferred income tax

Significant judgements are required in determining the provision for income
tax. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such difference will impact the income tax and
deferred income tax provision in the period in which such determination is
made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain temporary differences and
tax losses are recognised when management considers to be probable
that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences or tax losses can be utilised. The outcome of their actual
utilisation may be different.

Land appreciation taxes

PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT”) is levied at progressive rates ranging
from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds
of sales of properties less deductible expenditures including land cost,
borrowing costs and all property development expenditures.

The subsidiaries of the Group engaging in property development business
in Mainland China are subject to land appreciation taxes, which have been
included in the income tax expenses. However, the implementation of these
taxes varies amongst various PRC cities and the Group has not finalised
its land appreciation tax returns with various tax authorities for certain
projects. Accordingly, judgement is required in determining the amount
of land appreciation and its related taxes payable. The Group recognises
these liabilities based on management’s best estimates. Where the final
tax outcome is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the income tax expenses and provisions of land
appreciation taxes in the period in which such determination is made.

A 1 S S R R B R

I 982 i sl M B ()
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Segment information

The Group manages its businesses by business units, which are organised
based on their products and services. In a manner consistent with the
way in which information is reported internally to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes of resource allocation
and performance assessment, the Group has presented the following five
reportable segments:

(@) the property development segment engages in the development of
properties;

(b)  the property investment segment invests in commercial properties for
rental;

(c) the property management segment engages in the management of
both properties developed by the Group and external parties;

(d) the manufacture segment engages in the manufacture and sale of
industrial products; and

(e) the “others” segment comprises, principally, the hotel operations, sale
of display panel and agricultural products, provision of construction
services and other businesses.

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and allocating
resources between segments, the Group’s senior executive management
monitors the results, assets and liabilities attributable to each reportable
segment on the following bases:

Segment assets exclude unallocated assets such as deferred tax assets,
restricted cash, cash and cash equivalents, other financial assets,
investments in associates and joint ventures, and other head office and
corporate assets as these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude unallocated liabilities such as interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings, an amount due to the ultimate holding
company, tax payable, an amount due to the immediate holding company,
deferred tax liabilities and other head office and corporate liabilities as
these liabilities are managed on a group basis.

Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit,
which is a measure of adjusted profit before taxation from continuing
operations. The adjusted profit before taxation is measured consistently
with the Group’s profit before taxation except that other income and
other gains, finance costs, net fair value gain or loss on financial assets
measured at fair value through profit or loss, results of associates and
joint ventures and related impairment losses, as well as head office and
corporate expenses are excluded from such measurement.
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Segment information (continued) 5 HHEER &)
Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as provided to the HE2024FE K2023F12B31H L EER BT A
Group’s most senior executive management for the purpose of resource EERSTHEEASUMERDRERDER
allocation and assessment of segment performance for the year ended 31 RN AER 2RO EERHN TR
December 2024 and 2023 is set out in the following table.
Property Property Property
2024 development investment ~ management  Manufacturing Others Total
2044 MERRE MERE MEERE i Htr mE
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET THET FHERT FHERT THERT
Revenue from contracts with customers R B 2 M AREEMN
ON
Recognised at a point of time RE— R R 2D 9,133,208 - 9,542 403,593 688,974 10,235,407
Recognised over time E—EREE R - - 3,485,571 - 688,150 4,173,721
Revenue from other sources HiR R
Rental income HEWA - 1,391,539 - - - 1,391,539
Total segment revenue DR B 9,133,298 1,391,539 3,495,113 403,593 1,377,124 15,800,667
Inter-Segment revenue HEREKE - (14,200) (205,620) - (13,379) (233,199)
Revenue from external customers RERIMIE F B K5 9,133,208 1,377,339 3,280,493 403,593 1,363,745 15,567,468
Segment results before changes in RENERAAEEHA
fair value of investment properties DEEE 1,389,347 519,728 293,816 32,887 116,340 2,352,118
Losses result from changes in fair RENEARELBRER
value of and transfer to ERENEESZFE
investment properties - (227,877) - - - (227,877)
Segment results after changes in fair REMEAAEEHEZ
value of investment properties NEEE 1,389,347 291,851 293,816 32,887 116,340 2,124,241
Share of results of joint ventures EhEaERARREE AR
and associates RERE (1,135,416)
Impairment losses on investment in RERERTARAERAZ
an associate and a joint venture AEEE (1,171,000)
Other income =1L N 741,205
Other gains HiFE 175
Fair value gain of financial assets BREGRANEBHEZ
measured at fair value through SHEEALERR
profit or loss, net B 11,254
Corporate and other RAREMKPEER
unallocated expenses (148,909)
Finance costs - net MBERAFE (1,243,741)
Loss before income tax PREREMAIRGE (822,191)




150

Shenzhen Investment Limited JFIIIZRE B AT

Annual Report E$§ 2024

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

or o A 5 i R B
5  Segment information (continued) DEER ()
Property Property Property
2024 development investment ~ management  Manufacturing Others Total
20245 MEERE MELE MEERE 8 Hth e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TAET TERT TERT TERT TERT
Segment assets NEEE 91,216,376 37,451,856 990,308 351,400 3,249,113 133,259,053
Corporate and other unallocated assets ~ ABREMADEEE - - = = = 27,704,424
Interests in associates REEABER - - - - - 2,208,641
Interests in joint ventures REERFER - - - - - 7,997,496
Total assets BEE - - - - - 171,169,614
Segment liabilities NEER 73,789,702 7,584,197 1,006,174 98,059 753,140 83,231,272
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities ‘AB R E AP EEE 42,618,383
Total liabilities mefs 125,849,655
Other segment information: HitpEEN
Depreciation and amortisation E R 176,382 70,563 47,332 3,271 156,787 454,335
Additions to non-current segment FRARBFRDNEEE
assets during the year 91,103 464,602 29,836 8,430 471,540 1,065,511
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5 Segment information (continued) 5 AR )
Property Property Property
2023 development investment management  Manufacturing Others Total
2023 MEERE WELE MEEE g =] k]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TER TER
Revenue from contracts with customers & E Z M EREEMN
ON
Recognised at a point of time NE B RE%HER 9,585,487 - 10,965 470,971 1,076,364 11,143,787
Recognised over time T—BEERED = = 3,001,764 = 939,211 3,940,975
Revenue from other sources HiR K &=
Rental income HEEBA - 1,463,868 - - - 1,463,868
Total segment revenue DB B 9,585,487 1,463,868 3,012,729 470,971 2,015,575 16,548,630
Inter-segment revenue NEEWE - (43,684) (219,150) - (453,664) (716,499)
Revenue from external customers RERIMNEE BRI 9,585,487 1,420,184 2,793,579 470,971 1,561,911 15,832,132
Segment results before increase in fair R BEMEA A BEEMNAT 2
value of investment properties NEEE 2,089,950 650,683 211,811 23,767 (196,600) 2,779,611
Gains result from changes in fair value of RENEAREEHRER
and transfer to investment properties ERBMEELE 2 WA - 554,651 - - = 554,651
Segment results after increase in fair REWNEAREEMEZ
value of investment properties NEEE 2,089,950 1,205,334 211,811 23,767 (196,600) 3,334,262
Share of results of joint ventures EhaE AR RBEAT
and associates W& R (682,698)
Other income HA 408,173
Other losses Hitgs8 (3,916)
Fair value loss of financial assets BREGRANEBHEZ
measured at fair value through SREEANEER
profit or loss, net b (75,025)
Corporate and other unallocated expenses ‘A= R E MK EEH (163,550)
Finance costs - net RN (1,041,334)
Profit before income tax FRPRAS 1R A0 s A 1,775,912
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5 Segment information (continued) 5 AR )
Property Property Property
2023 development investment management  Manufacturing Others Total
20236 MERR MERE MEEE 8iE A nrm
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TAERT TER TER TET TERT
Segment assets NEEE 92,940,153 39,685,002 1,044,382 368,357 3417178 137,455,072
Corporate and other unallocated assets AR EMKDEEE 23,676,829
Interests in associates REE AR ER - - - - - 4,545,599
Interests in joint ventures SEEARER - - - - - 8,735,858
Total assets BEE 174,413,358
Segment liabilities SEERE 72,869,502 7,489,618 1,171,382 96,836 1,131,771 82,759,109
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities ‘AB R E AP EEE 44,174,038
Total liabilities BafE 126,933,147
Other segment information: HivpEEH
Depreciation and amortisation E R 176,848 70,749 47,466 3,271 157,202 455,536
Additions to non-current segment FAREFRDNEEE
assets during the year 70,346 350,028 29,836 8,430 364,103 822,743
As the Group generates substantially all of its revenues from customers MR A E BB AR5 W E B R LR P B ARE
domiciled in the Mainland China and majority of its non-current assets are ZRE > BAEMMIERENE EHL AR PR AR

located in Mainland China, no geographical information is presented. Btk 2RMEER o
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Revenue

Revenue information

Revenue, represents sale of completed properties, commercial and
industrial goods, rental income, property management fee income and
others.

Revenue from contracts with customers by major products and service lines
is as follows:

0
(a)

A S R R B R

et

W &

WERERMME BERIXERZHER
EEBAMEEEBERAREMIA

RIBEGRRERIDZEZRZEANGR
EERNBALT

2024 2023
20244 20235
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

Revenue from contracts with customers HEEFRZENERELNIRA
Sales of properties THEYE 9,133,298 9,585,487
Property management service income ESEREWA 3,289,493 2,793,579
Sales of industrial goods HETXER 403,593 470,971
Others Hh 1,363,745 1,561,911
14,190,129 14,411,948

Revenue from other sources H itk Rk =

Rental income HEUWA 1,377,339 1,420,184
15,567,468 15,832,132

No single customer contributed 10% or more of the Group’s total revenue
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Accounting policies of revenue recognition

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises from the sale of
goods, the provision of services or the use by others of the Group’s assets
under leases in the ordinary course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service is transferred
to the customer, or the lessee has the right to use the asset, at the amount
of promised consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue
excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction of any
trade discounts.

(b)

B E2024E F2023FE 12831 H I EE > s —
BEREMLAERBREGEI0%T M Lo

et ab < & At BCR
EXAEERAREBBRTRERBAMAR
BHEEBAREEEMELHEGRBA
B AEERWADER W o

EEMURBZENRBRERRAAEAAR
BEREER BRAKERAREANAENL
BE BT W N eREAE =75 WA
BeWm A REBERIEMBER MR
ERHEZFNEGE-
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Revenue (continued)

Accounting policies of revenue recognition (continued)

Where the contract contains a financing component which provides a
significant financing benefit to the customer for more than 12 months,
revenue is measured at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in a separate
financing transaction with the customer, and interest income is accrued
separately under the effective interest method. Where the contract contains
a financing component which provides a significant financing benefit to
the Group, revenue recognised under that contract includes the interest
expense accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method.

The Group applies advantage of the practical expedient in paragraph 63
of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration for any effects of a
significant financing component if the period of financing is 12 months or
less.

(i) Sales of properties

Revenue from sales of properties is recognised upon the point in time
when the control of the properties is transferred to the customers,
which is when the construction of properties has been completed,
the properties have been delivered to the customers and the
recoverability of related receivables is reasonably assured. Deposits
and instalments received on properties sold prior to the date of
revenue recognition are included in the statement of financial position
under contract liabilities.

(i) Sales of goods
Revenue is recognised when the customer takes possession of and
accepts the products.

(if))  Construction income
A contract with a customer is classified by the Group as a
construction contract when the contract relates to work on real
estate assets under the control of the customer and therefore the
Group’s construction activities create or enhance an asset under the
customer’s control.

When the outcome of a construction contract can be reasonably
measured, revenue from the contract is recognised progressively over
time using the cost-to-cost method, i.e. based on the proportion of
the actual costs incurred relative to the estimated total costs.

6
(b)

et ()

Wt iR 2 € st BCR (8D
HENHARZRRHBBNERNEARE
MEHREAEMSR AT RE RS ENR
B8 UEARRRABRERNENRE
ReEMMRERER AR ERARRERAZX
ENRERS HENHAENAERRHEEAR
BN mimE a0 AIREZGORDN
W EERBEERMNXEZENEEN AN E
fisz o

AEBFAEBMHRSERF1558H63RT
WEBHBEME TERBRENR12E8 N
THEAREARBHNEATEREHE-

) YEHE
ENEENRBEERRE YRS
B MEERNFE R RAERHE R
Bz B A SR RE R R R R LR
SR E YR MU o IR a B SR B BB AT L
& BRI E] & K 7 BARRIE 5 A RS
BRRARAGHEEERT-

(i) HEEm

BHRER AT RNE LRS-

(i) EEHA
EENAREREZNEHEEETREA
R AEBR AR PN a0 (R
BEH HAKERERREVREAR
EREENEE-

EREAVNERESEFER S
SRAHAE BREMEENERNE
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Revenue (continued)
Accounting policies of revenue recognition (continued)
(ii))  Construction income (continuead)

()

V)

The likelihood of the Group earning contractual bonuses for early
completion or suffering contractual penalties for late completion are
taken into account in making these estimates, such that revenue
is only recognised to the extent that it is highly probable that a
significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised
will not occur.

When the outcome of the contract cannot be reasonably measured,
revenue is recognised only to the extent of contract costs incurred
that are expected to be recovered.

Rental income from leases

Rental income receivable under leases is recognised in profit or
loss in equal instalments over the periods covered by the lease
term, except where an alternative basis is more representative of
the pattern of benefits to be derived from the use of the leased
asset. Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss as
an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments receivable.
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are recognised as income in the accounting period in which they are
earned.

Property management service income

The Group provides property management services and bills the
property owners a fixed lump sum amount for services provided
on a monthly basis. Under this arrangement, the Group acts as
a principal and is primary responsible for providing the property
management services to the property owners. The Group recognises
the fee received or receivable from property owners as its revenue
when the Group has a right to invoice and that corresponds directly
with the value of performance completed, and all related property
management costs as its cost of services.

6
(b)

e

A 1 S S R R B R
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7 Expenses by nature 7 EEEIENEH
Expenses included in cost of sales and services, selling and distribution SIABERRBRE HERDEER THE
expenses, administrative expenses and other expenses were analysed as BREMERRANERSTMT
follows:
2024 2023
20244 20234
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
i TAT FAT
Cost of properties and inventories sold EENERGFEERE (BiEEE
(including employee benefit expenses) BRES) 6,668,130 6,449,564
Cost of services provided B IR AR 75 A A 4,460,234 4,271,876
Employee benefit expenses BERANFES
— Wages and salaries —T&RKi® 731,994 890,466
— Pension costs — defined contribution plans — B RE A — € BHEZE 2 179,984 272,850
— Share options granted to directors and —RTIESRESZERRE
employee 29 38 229
Other taxes and levies H MR & K0 194,672 227,142
Advertising and promotion costs EENEGEHEERS 110,641 161,283
Depreciation of property, plant and MEBEKRRETE
equipment* 14 98,498 142,590
Amortisation of intangible assets* BREESH 4,848 3,762
Sales commission HEMS 136,107 143,781
Write-down of inventories to the net FEMRZE T EIRFEE
realisable value 306,731 73,342
Research and development expenses MRS 77,676 55,808
Auditors’ remuneration ZEENEN &
— Audit services — 1% ERTS 4,387 4,442
— Non-audit services — I E RS 1,383 1,978
Others Hith 379,975 490,261
Total cost of sales and services, selling THE MIRFE LA ~ $HE kD
and distribution expenses, administrative ERTTHERRAEM
expenses and other expenses BERERE 13,355,298 13,189,374
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and amortization of intangible assets * EXFEZERAYE BRERXEITE
for the year as disclosed above are included in the administrative expenses and UKREFEEZHET ABEAZTHRER

selling and marketing costs in the profit or loss. UREHRMIBHEREER -
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Other income 8 HfA
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FET
Interest income(note (a)) FEWA (k@) 383,375 253,863
Income from demolition and relocation HFBUA (FT5ED))

(note (b)) 267,448 75,786
Government grant B 88D 43,008 39,134
Dividend income from financial assets FREBERRARNENEZ

at FVTPL TREEZREWBA 2,151 2,168
Others Hh 45,223 37,222

741,205 408,173
[nterest income (a) FIEWA

Interest income represented interests accrued for the amounts due from
related parties and other third parties, according to the agreed terms.

Income from demolition and relocation

During the year 2024, the Group entered into a relocation compensation
and resettlement agreement with Shenzhen Fusheng Construction and
Development Co., Ltd. in relation to the properties located in the Gualiaoling
Industrial Zone, Yuantling Subdistrict, Futian District, Shenzhen, as part
of the urban renewal unit. The agreement stipulates that the Group’s
demolished properties will be compensated with relocation properties. The
Group has recognized the disposal gains from demolition with reference to
the fair value of the consideration to be received.

M B W ASS R W TE IR0 FEURRA B 75 R H At
FZARAEERNFE -

FRBIA

R024FE AEBBRFTEARLZMAES
MR /2 B Fh ALK R 211 7 48 FH (& & 48 141 28 Gualiaoling
TERENSAWHEMETYET UTER
EBhZERZ ZHEREAEBRENYE
RUREYEEABE AEEBE2REHKE
MREBHA R ERRITE RS W&
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9 Employee benefit expenses and benefits and interests of 9 (EBEREAIH DU E R R A ot
directors

(a) Directors’ remuneration (a) #HEFEM2
The remuneration of each director and chief executive officer of the AR BEERTHAH ZFHMEINT

Company is set out below:

For the year ended 31 December 2024: B E2024F12831HIEEE
Salaries,
allowances Retirement Equity settled
Directors’ and benefits Discretionary scheme share option
fees in kind bonuses contributions expense Total
e 2R BHhE MRS i
B3 REMAE BT AR ZBERERS i
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TET TERT TET TET TR TET
Executive directors BES
LU Hua(j 2% - 2,538 - 522 - 3,060
WANG Yuwen FEX - 3,135 - 515 - 3,650
CAl Xun 22 - 701 210 242 - 1,153
XU Enlii) BBF) - 643 193 243 - 1,079
SHI Xiaomei EES 330 - - - - 330
YAN Zhong Yu(i) BoE() = 701 210 234 - 1,145
330 7,718 613 1,756 - 10,417
Independent non-executive directors BIIEHTES
LI Wai Keung TEH 380 - - - - 380
WONG Yau Kar, David BRE 380 - - - - 380
GONG Peng = 330 - - - - 330
1,090 - - - - 1,090
1,420 7,718 613 1,756 - 11,507
() On 20 November 2024, LU Hua retired as an executive director. () 720245118208 > BERERITES -
(i) On 10 December 2024, XU Enli resigned as an executive director. On the same day, (i) 720245128108 > R BABERITES
YAN Zhong Yu appointed as an executive director. BH BPFEREALAATES
Salary paid to a director of the Company is generally an emolument paid ENAAREEHcBEANEREEART
or payable in respect of that person’s other services in connection with the HEWMBAGNEZEHABNEMREMEZ MK

management of the affairs of the Company or its subsidiaries. EHE
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Employee benefit expenses and benefits and interests of 9 [REBAIE XU EH R R ()
directors (continued)
Directors’ remuneration (continued) (a) EFEM< &)
For the year ended 31 December 2023: HE2023512831HILFE
Salaries,
allowances Retirement Equity settled
Directors’ and benefits Discretionary scheme share option
fees in kind bonuses contributions expense Total
e 2R Bthe WA A
ESHE RENFG B TEA SEfS  ZBREES st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx TER TEx TEx TER ThEx
Executive directors HTES
LU Hua BE = 3,300 - 905 - 4,205
WANG Yuwen FEX - 3,135 - 592 - 3,727
CAI Xun 23 - 917 - 543 - 1,460
XU Enl #HER - 917 - 538 - 1,455
SHI Xiaomei PEIS 330 - - - - 330
330 8,269 - 2,578 - 1177
Independent non-executive directors  BUFHITES
LI Wai Keung TER 380 - - - - 380
WONG Yau Kar, David BRE 380 - - - - 380
GONG Peng =i 330 = = = - 330
1,090 - - - - 1,090
1,420 8,269 - 2,578 - 12,267
Five highest paid employees (b) HAEREHER
The five highest paid employees during the year included four directors AEEZAYREHESEEENSES (2023
(2023: four directors), details of whose remuneration are set out in note FINLER) BEEZZMEFBERNLX

9(a) above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining one
(2023: one) non-director highest paid employees of the Company are as

follows:

I}ﬁgzg(a)oﬁ,%—[:—% (202335 _%) 3’521&@5—'%
EzeRHEENAEEZMEFENT !

2024 2023
20245 20235
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FAT

Basic salaries, housing allowances, BEXfFe BEEM BRE-

share options, other allowances and H 2R EYH =

benefits in kind 3,000 3,333
Contribution to pension scheme BRAKEETEIMHR 12 12
3,012 3,345
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<]

directors (continued)

(b) Five highest paid employees (continued)

Employee benefit expenses and benefits and interests of

The number of non-director highest paid employees whose remuneration

{i B A6 A B S DB 2 AR e

(b) HAEEEHER &)
BREZN MeBUTHEEZ

FerEdt (1)

REHEEHE

fell within the following bands is as follows: W
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$2,000,001 to HK$4,000,000 2,000,001 775 %4,000,00078 75 1 1
10 Finance costs — net 0 BABSRAR TR
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FETT
Finance income o ET N
— Interest income from bank deposits —IRITERFSWA (137,745) (203,581)
Finance costs: BAFERR S
— Interest expenses of bank borrowings —RTREZNERX 1,424,020 1,466,572
— Interest expenses of other borrowings - HMEEZMNERZ 325,605 434,738
— Lease liabilities —HE&RE 11,761 8,438
— Loans from the ultimate holding company —HRERKEZERAT ZER 578,969 548,420
— Loans from the immediate holding company —J&EE%&#’“HMWZ, N 198,390 145,531
— Loans from fellow subsidiaries —RERZWB AR ZEM 62,201 63,866
— Loans from a joint venture —JKE-F'&%%@?Z%?R 5,831 5,596
— Loans from an other related company —RE— F'sﬁH@%ﬁHﬁ’ﬁ’& Z‘ﬁ%’ﬂ 5,777 6,187
— Loans from non-controlling interests —REFERERZ 267,435 451,645
Total interest expense on financial liabilites  W3IFBBEZRANEFE 2
not at fair value through profit or loss =N Pl =Gy 2,879,989 3,130,993
Less: amounts capitalised on qualifying assets i : 8 EREEB N2 (1,498,503) (1,886,078)
1,381,486 1,244 915
Finance costs — net MBHAFEE 1,243,741 1,041,334

Finance costs have been capitalised on qualifying assets at average rate of
3.59% for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: 3.70%).

HE2024F12831BIEEE A BEREENT K
AR E1%3.59% (20234 : 3.70%) L RE K

o
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11 Income tax expenses 11 P8

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTAET FAT

Current income tax BPEAFR 1SR
— Mainland China CIT — B KRBERZFER 592,500 1,488,777
— Withholding tax on dividend — R EFEIR 35,962 105,456
— LAT in Mainland China — HH A B L3 12 E 7R 188,563 683,872
817,025 2,278,105

Deferred income tax RIEFRISH
— Mainland China CIT —HE AL EREFR (117,500) (636,887)
— Withholding tax on dividend —REFENH 2,419 32,598
— LAT in Mainland China — FR ) K o - 3 (E 7R 13,222 (91,300)
(101,859) (695,589)

715,166 1,682,516
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11 Income tax expenses (continued) 11 s Hib = ()
The tax on the Group’s loss before tax differs from the theoretical amount AEBRRAIBEZRBEENRERAEEE
that would arise using the tax rate applicable to profits of the entities of the BRANTEAZREEEZEBRmEHE BT
Group as follows: TF 5
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FAT
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRFT{SHAT (B518) /iad (822,191) 1,775,912
Notional tax on profit before taxation, BEMAEERERENEZ
calculated at the rates applicable to BrMAEF 2 2 ERE
the respective tax jurisdictions (37,478) 595,568
Profits less losses attributable to joint SERNARBERTEMN
ventures and associates w1 145,983 65,988
Income not subject to tax BEMBZ WA (16,970) (25,286)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised REBRZHREERZ BB E 494,597 140,779
Tax effect of prior years’ tax losses utilised  EREZBAEERBEGEEZREZE (186,049) (4,821)
Adjustments in respect of current tax BRBAIREANRRIENAE
of previous periods (110,189) -
Tax effect of temporary differences not REBRZ2ERERBIRBTE
recognised 42,864 34,495
Expenses not deductible for tax AEMNKZBAZ 192,688 193,310
Effect of withholding tax on distributable REEFEARBENRE QT ] H
profits of the Group’s subsidiaries in DIREH Z BN £
Mainland China 38,381 138,054
LAT T ER 201,785 592,572
LAT deductible for PRC CIT purpose FLARE (MR AR 2 T HIE AR (50,446) (148,143)
Income tax expense PriStiRA 715,166 1,582,516
The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year ended 31 December BE2024F 1283 BILEE BEENER &
2024 is calculated at 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable BIRBEE NG ERR HF1216.5% (20234 !
profits for the year. No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax was made as the 16.5%) ZMEHE AR AEER ERLER
Group has no assessable profits arising in or derived from Hong Kong for EREENBNERR RN g ERE BN
year (2023 nil). BHREHEES (2023F : &) o
No provision for taxation has been recognised for companies incorporated HRERBRZHE ((HERLEHE]) MM
in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), as they are not subject to any tax during VHABRAEEGASMNERNRIE R

the year (2023: nil). EREDAMIRIERE (2023F © &)
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Income tax expenses (continued)
Under the relevant income tax law, the Mainland China subsidiaries are
subject to corporate income tax (“CIT”) at a statutory rate of 25% on their
respective taxable income during the year.

LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the
appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from sale of properties less
deductible expenditures including amortisation of land use rights, borrowing
costs and all property development expenditures.

Dividend withholding tax

Pursuant to the Detailed Implementation Regulations for Implementation
of the Corporate Income Tax Law, dividends distributed from the profits
generated by the PRC companies after 1 January 2008 to their foreign
investors shall be subject to a withholding income tax of 10%. A lower 5%
withholding tax rate may be applied when the immediate holding companies
of the PRC subsidiaries are qualified as tax residents of Hong Kong
according to the tax treat arrangements between the PRC and Hong Kong.
The Company’s applicable dividend withholding tax rate is 5%.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, deferred
income tax liabilities had been recognised for the withholding tax that would
be payable on the unremitted earnings of certain subsidiaries in the PRC, as
these earnings are expected to be distributed by the PRC subsidiaries and
would be remitted to their overseas holding companies in the foreseeable
future. The aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China for which deferred tax
liabilities have not been recognised totalled approximately HK$1,799 million
at 31 December 2024 (2023: nil).

11

A 1 S S R R B R
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Ko LB EE M HEYEPRERER
BRIMERREE EERERMENEH
EHAEARZ AR

R & EAIH

RE(EEFRTHRABEMA)  PERFR
2008F1 B1AUREEHNABOERRIMNEE
EHNRE 0% R KRB AER o 6 P EI
BRARANERZERADRETEATEZHN
REGBZANEEBNBERER BAE
AREREIRK - AABHNBEARE RN
MR 5%

HE2024F 2023 F 12831 B EHBEE > B
KRB B AR ER T BERRED KK DK
BHNEBNERAR RSB E S PE N B
NEINZERTHRENREDEILMEHRE
BoR2024512H31H > SRR KRERB AR %
ERMERERRIRBEaGE  EREHELE
WA 798 BETT (20235 © ) ©
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12

13

Losses per share 12
Basic losses per share are calculated by dividing the losses attributable to

the owners of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year.

Loss attributable to the owners of
the Company (HK$'000)

AARRTRREMGER (THT)

s3T5
BREABENZERAADRZRERGEE
SRUFAEETEBRNETOHEHE

2024 2023
20245 20234
(1,822,579) (261,397)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares ERBETSERMETLHH

in issue during the year

8,898,793,115 8,898,793,115

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the effect of
conversion of share option scheme (note 29) were anti-dilutive and the
diluted earnings per share for the year is therefore equal to the basic
earnings per share.

B E2024F [2023F12831 H L EE > B
BREsTE (sE20) W EARES FTLIE
NERB SR ESREARNAS

Dividends 13 KR
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Dividends recognised as distribution BIBFENDKZEE
during the year:
Final dividend declared for 2023 — 0BFERAARE —FRTEL
HK7 cents per share (2023: declared (20235 : 2022 Bk A HA
for 2022 — HK12 cents per share) (note (a)) B2 —&R12EM) (MizE@)
Cash Be 622,916 1,067,855
622,916 1,067,855
Dividend declared in respect of current period: BEAHS k2 B &
No interim dividend for 2024 04FRE KT S
(2023: HK2 cents per share) (note (b)) (20234 : BRR2EMN) (FTEED) - 177,976
622,916 1,245,831
(@  The Company declared a final dividend of HK7.00 cents per share in respect of year @ AREEIREE2023F1 2% SIHLEEEZ
ended 31 December 2023 amounted to approximately HK$622,916,000. The final REARG B & RR7.0078 1l > & 3£49622,916,000
dividend has been paid in cash on 4 July 2024. ST o R HARR B B R2024F 7B 4H LS %
o
The Company declared a final dividend of HK12.00 cents per share in respect of year KNG EIREE2022F12831HLEE
ended 31 December 2022 amounted to approximately HK$1,067,855,000. The final EZARBERESR12.0081 > &&£4
dividend has been paid in cash on 5 July 2023. 1,067,855,0007 7t o AR HA AR S B 72202357 H
S5HLUREZ (T o

(b)  The Company did not declare an interim dividend in 2024 (2023: HK2.00 cents per
share and amounted to HK$177,976,000 fully paid in cash).

(c) On 28 March 2025, the board of directors resolved not to propose a final dividend,
for the financial year ended 31 December 2024.

(b) zts’LJitﬁE,)&zozﬁﬁqﬂﬁﬁﬁ’x‘% (20234 :
822,001l > & $£177,976,0008 7T » BF
HFUREZA) o

(© 1R202553H28H > B 5 & 3 R R 2 K 3
§ﬁ§2024fﬁ12)§315¢ﬁ7fﬁ¢}§ AR RS

Be
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14 Property, plant and equipment [ERE/E N V&
Furniture,
Land and Plantand  Transportation fitting and Construction
buildings machinery equipment equipment in progress Total
HiRE
THREF RERES EHRfE Rt TEEIR wam
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TER TR THER THER THER
Year ended 31 December 2024 HENUENANBLEE
Opening net book amount BAREFE 5,256,588 55,168 12,982 49,198 807,787 6,181,723
Additions AE 111,707 14,927 3,838 153,000 754,878 1,038,350
Transfer from construction in progress ~ EEEARE IR - - - 13,311 (13,311) -
Transfer from investment properties BERAKENE 16,522 - - - - 16,522
Transfer to investment properties BREELENE (9,649) - - - (30,548) (40,197)
Derecognition of right-of-use assets BIEBIFEHESE (1,816) - - - - (1,816)
Other decreases Hta b (15,779) (10,648) (1,773) (9,420) - (37,620)
Depreciation e (227,787) (15,893) (4,097) (149,860) - (397,637)
Exchange differences EREE (57,048) (483) (121) (591) (37,885) (96,128)
Closing net book amount HARREFE 5,072,738 43,07 10,829 55,638 1,480,921 6,663,197
At 31 December 2024 #2024%128318
Cost R 7,487,893 145,414 113,923 743,121 1,480,921 9,971,278
Accumulated depreciation REINE (2,415,155) (102,343) (103,094) (687,489) - (3,308,081)
Net book amount REFE 5,072,738 43,071 10,829 55,638 1,480,921 6,663,197
Furniture,
Land and Plantand  Transportation fitting and Construction
buildings machinery equipment equipment in progress Total
Ri£E
THEEF BERES BHRE K&t TEIR Gk
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TR TET TET
Year ended 31 December 2023 HENBENANBILERE
Opening net book amount HEREFE 4,898,914 50,955 12,616 74,1171 1,122,520 6,159,776
Additions AE 303,611 28,812 5,658 134,723 120,152 592,956
Transfer from construction in progress ~ EEEAR IR 389,580 - - 32,869 (422,449) -
Transfer from investment properties BEARENE 55,727 - - - - 55,727
Derecognition of right-of-use assets RITEICHAEEE (47,358) - - - - (47,358)
Other decreases Hitig b (50,805) (9,832) (687) (16,250) (2,474) (80,048)
Depreciation e (224,956) (14,034) (4,435) (176,283) = (419,708)
Exchange differences ERER (68,125) (733) (170) (632) (9,962) (79,622)
Closing net book amount HARREZE 5,256,588 55,168 12,982 49,198 807,787 6,181,723
At 31 December 2023 #2023%12R8318
Cost MA 7,443,956 141,618 111,979 586,827 807,787 9,092,167
Accumulated depreciation i (2,187,368) (86,450) (98,997) (537,629) = (2,910,444)
Net book amount IREFE 5,256,588 55,168 12,982 49,198 807,787 6,181,723
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14 Property, plant and equipment (continued) [ERE/EN & A )
Depreciation charge was capitalised or expensed in the following categories TEEBRD N GV ERRERN FEER
in the consolidated statement of financial position or the consolidated B TERNEAMEE T ¢

statement of profit or loss respectively:

2024 2023
20245 20235
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FAT
Cost of sales HE WA 258,385 223,737
Administrative expenses THEX 94,487 130,009
Properties under development EEDY 40,754 53,381
Selling and marketing costs SRS EEER 4,011 12,581
397,637 419,708
As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s property, plant and equipment 120245128310 » XEBNYE BE MR E
included the leased assets of land and buildings amounted to ARET UM KIEFNHAEEE%329,590,000% 7T
HK$329,590,000 (31 December 2023: HK$336,485,000), details of which (2023128310 : 336,485,000 7T) @ sEIEH
are set out in note 16. BisE16 0
As at 31 December 2024, the Group's land and buildings in Mainland 12024128310 AEBRPEAERE 2R
China with a net book value of HK$1,017,000 (2023: HK$1,074,000) were HF1E 71,017,000 75 (20234 : 1,074,000 7T)
pledged as collateral for the Group’s bank and other borrowings to secure ZETIHKRIEFTERE FAREBRITE
bank borrowings of the Group (note 30(b)). Bz &R (FEE30()) ©
As at 31 December 2024, the Group has not yet obtained the 12024128318 » AEE B AEEREFES
ownership title certificates in respect of buildings with net book value of 53,920,0007 7t (20234 : 69,869,007 7T) Z 1EF

HK$53,920,000 (2023: HK$69,869,000). ZFTEERE
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15 Investment properties 15 K&V
Investment properties at fair value: BARESEZREDE
2024 2023
20245 20235
HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT FET
At 1 January 1818 33,450,507 35,126,999
Transfer from property under development ERREERYE - 567,648
Transfer from property, plant and equipment BB ¥ BE R HE 40,197 =
Transfer from completed properties held ERAREREZEEMME
for sale - 473,584
Transfer to completed properties held for sale EBEEFEFE 2B EMYE - (170,601)
Transfer to properties under development EBREEERYE - (126,130)
Transfer to property, plant and equipment BREEYE \-BRENERE (16,522) (55,727)
Recognition of change in other comprehensive E & EZE E & =/ B M
income transfer to investment properties EHHE 48,373 =
Addition of investment properties under RELERPRENE
development 369,320 462,276
Disposal of investment properties HEREYE (29,229) (2,876,660)
(Decrease)/increase in fair value of and REMEAAEB (RL) /BN EEE
transfer to investment properties REME (227,877) 554,651
Exchange differences EREL (718,229) (505,533)
32,916,540 33,450,507
Amounts recognised in profit or loss related & EYERIBRER 28
to investment properties:
— Rental income —HAEWA 1,377,339 1,420,184
(Loss)/gain arising from changes in fair REMERNAEEGNERE
value of and transfer to investment BEMEEE Y (1BX) /EE:
properties represent:
— (Decrease)/increase in fair value of and —REMEARME AL /EMK
transfer to investment properties BRELEYE (227,877) 554,651
(227,877) 554,651
Certificates of ownership in respect of certain investment properties of the 72024128318 Z SR A B E 4 42,950,172,000
Group with a net carrying amount of approximately HK$2,950,172,000 as T (20234F © 4,200,362,00058 1) 2 REBEE T
at 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$4,200,362,000) have not yet been issued REMERREEBBPIIELMERE K&
by the relevant authorities. The Group is in the process of obtaining the BhEpEamEE s FE-

relevant certificates.
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15 Investment properties (continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s investment properties with
a net carrying value of approximately HK$10,094,208,000 (2023:
HK$7,119,481,000) was pledged to secure bank borrowings granted to the
Group (note 30(b)).

Fair value hierarchy

The Group’s investment properties are located in Mainland China and are
held under medium lease terms. The Group’s investment properties were
revalued at 31 December 2024 based on valuation performed by Jones
Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited (“JLL").

The Group’s investment properties are all at level 3 valuation. The Group’s
property managers and the general manager of financial management
department have discussed with JLL on the valuation assumptions and
valuation results when the valuation is performed at each reporting date.

REYFE (E)

R2024F12B31H  AEBKREFENA
10,094,208,00038 7T ( 20234 : 7,119,481,0007% 7T)
ZRENECER FAXERERRTHEE
Z R (IEE30(0)) ©

AYIRIEEF T

REBZ KR EY LR B ARER U HEHE
NHARFB AEE 2R EMER 2024512831
BREMEHTEETGEREHAERAR (T
ST BT EETUER-

AEBZRENELHBBRERFRMEE-R
BREQPETHER FERYXEERM
BEENMECEERMERTHRGERR
KfGEGER
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Investment properties (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques and the key inputs to the

valuation of investment properties:

Investment properties — commercial
properties and others

REME-BENERHM

Valuation
techniques

fER*%

Income capitalisation
method
WAERIEE

Residual method

Fers
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15 HREWVFE @)

A S R R B R

(a) AREFHREED

ZBE:

Significant
unobservable inputs
BEATTHZRHAE

Vacancy rate
TEZ
Capitalisation rate
HALE

Monthly rental
(RMB/square meter/month)
=k
(ANR¥/E5K/A)

Vacancy rate
TEE
Capitalisation rate
HALE

Monthly rental

(RMB/square meter/month)
Bii®
(ANR¥/E5K/R)
Estimated developer’s profit
margins

(CHEEERIR-ES

UTARENMEREZEENEREEHAE

Range

#E

3% — 20%
(2023: 3% — 20%)
3% — 20%

(20234 : 3% - 20%)
3% — 7%

(2023: 3% — 7%)
3% - 7%

(20234 : 3% — 7%)
18 — 490

(2023: 18 — 425)

18 - 490

(20234 : 18-425)
3% — 15%

(2023: 5% — 15%)
3% — 15%

(20234 : 5% - 15%)
3% — 6%

(2023: 3% — 6%)
3% - 6%

(20234 : 3% - 6%)
30-195

(2023: 30 — 200)
30-195

(20234 : 30 - 200)
4% — 7%

(2023: 6% — 8%)
4% - 7%

(20234 : 6% - 8%)
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15 Investment properties (continued)

(a) Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Investment properties — car parking

space

REME-FEFEQU

Valuation
techniques

fhER &

Income capitalisation
method

WABR(EE

Residual method

ReRA

15 REWEE)

(a) ARMEFFRE G

Significant
unobservable inputs

EXFABREBAE

Vacancy rate

FEX

Capitalisation rate

BARER

Monthly rental
(RMB per car parking spaces

per month)
BH%
N YR V)

Vacancy rate
EEX
Capitalisation rate
BALEX

Monthly rental
(RMB/square meter/month)
Bfi® (AR¥/¥5K/B)

Estimated developer’s profit
margins

st EER R

Range
]

5% — 25%
(2023: 5% — 25%)
5% — 25%

(20234 : 5% — 25%)
4%

(2023: 4%)

4%

(20234 : 4%)

250 — 850

(2023: 295 — 850)

250-850

(20234 : 295 - 850)
25%

(2023: 20% — 25%)
25%

(20234 @ 20% — 25%)
4%

(2023: 3% — 4%)
4%

(20234 : 3% — 4%)
250

(2023: 250 — 300)
250

(20234 : 250 - 300)
7%

(2023: 6% — 8%)
7%

(20234 : 6% — 8%)
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Investment properties (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties is determined using
income capitalisation method and residual method.

Income capitalisation method determines fair values by discounting the
projected cash flows associated with the properties using capitalisation
rates. The valuation takes into account the expected market rental and
vacancy rate of the respective properties. The discount rates used have
been adjusted for the quality and location of the buildings and the tenant
credit quality. The fair value measurement is positively correlated to the
expected market rental, and negatively correlated to the vacancy rate and
the capitalisation rate.

The residual method takes into account the residual value of the gross
development value (“GDV”) after deduction of the outstanding construction
costs and expenses as well as profit element. It involves firstly the
assessment of the aggregate GDV of the proposed development, as if
completed, as at the valuation date. Estimated costs of the proposed
development include construction costs, marketing expense, professional
fee, finance charges and associated costs, plus an allowance for the
developer’s risk and profit. The outstanding development costs are then
deducted from the GDV and the resultant figure is the residual value of the
subject property.

Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases

The Group leases out its investment properties under operating leases. The
leases typically run for an initial period of 1 to 20 years, with an option to
renew the leases after the date at which time all terms are renegotiated.
Lease payments are usually increased annually to reflect market rentals.
Certain leases of the group contain variable lease payment terms that are
based on the revenue of tenants.

15

(a)

A 1 S S R R B R

REVE ()

NREFRER ()
FEBZRENERAEFRBBRABEREER
FEATUETE

WABXCZERRBELCXFTRARNE
ZRAREREEEAAE -BRMGEZED
EMEZERTEEEREER -FIAKEE
DRBFHNERRMHEUREREEERFY
RE-ANEFERBRTEEEIERR ER
FEXREXERGAM-

R ZZRBEREBELNFHREENRRE
AR AR E R BROFIERMEE RERE
BAGERREZERBENRGEDEEMN
A REEEBE BRXBRENMGINEE
REERA HHERXL FXER UHE
FRLUR AR R B 2 > 55 0 G 3% 75 B L B R )R 288
FoHABENREMFIRABEREETN
R TR H RN ENRIGREE-

AT A8 1 B 2 ARG B B K

AEERBECEHEHEAREYF -HO—
ROy RIIE20F UEERHBAEEF
BREMBNABGRT - HENR—REFEM
— R URBTEHRE AEEETHNEIE
PR W R TR B AR
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15 Investment properties (continued)

(b)

Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases (continued)

Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases in
place at the reporting date will be receivable by the Group in future periods
as follows:

15

(b)

&M (D)
AR ERR A B 2 R B A B K (80D

AEERRRPERBNREABETLZA
AIRHEERE 2 REFEEEARNT -

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Within one year —&ER 1,163,653 1,109,081
Over one year but within five years —EBBRER 1,861,094 2,328,831
Over five years HE% 251,337 224,056
3,276,084 3,661,968

Accounting policies of Investment properties (c) WEVHEZTEBUR

Investment properties, principally freehold office buildings, are held for
long-term rental yields and are not occupied by the Group. Investment
property is initially measured at cost, including related transaction costs
and where applicable borrowing costs. Subsequently, they are carried at fair
value.

Fair value is based on active market prices, adjusted, if necessary, for any
difference in the nature, location or condition of the specific asset. If the
information is not available, the Group uses alternative valuation methods
such as recent prices on less active markets. Changes in fair values are
presented in profit or loss.

RENEIENRIFERFR DARMAE
TWEMmMFA UFAAEEAGER RENE
PptEp A5t 8 0 BIRERR 7 A R GRS
(MBEA) -HEBBANEHE-

ARBELUERTRERAEE TEEREN
BRTRERTEEZME ARG ZE
AERBELAE HEIRBLESTERN &
BERAEMGEEN & ANERERETS
ZIEHER - RABEBINETRZS
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Investment properties (continued)

Accounting policies of Investment properties (continued)

If an item of owner-occupied property becomes an investment property
because its use has changed, any difference resulting between the carrying
amount and the fair value of this item at the date of transfer is treated in
the same way as a revaluation under HKAS 16. Any resulting increase in the
carrying amount of the property is recognised in profit or loss to the extent
that it reverses a previous impairment loss, with any remaining increase
recognised in other comprehensive income and increase directly to equity
in revaluation surplus within equity. Any resulting decrease in the carrying
amount of the property is initially charged in other comprehensive income
against any previously recognised revaluation surplus, with any remaining
decrease charged to profit or loss. For a transfer from completed properties
held for sale or properties under development to investment properties that
will be carried at fair value, any difference between the fair value of the
property at that date and its previous carrying amount shall be recognised
in profit or loss.

The Group shall transfer a property from investment properties to properties
under development when it commences related development with a view to
sale. For a transfer from investment properties that is carried at fair value
to properties under development, related properties under development
shall be recognised at fair value at the date of transfer.

The Group classifies cash outflows to acquire or construct investment
property as investing and rental inflows as operating cash flows.

1
(

5
0)

A 1 S S R R B R

REMFE (@)

REME L GEHBUR (5D
HEEANGBYEZEERRENEMBARE
WE AZBERERHNNREEEAAE
ZHEENERREARBEBGHEREI6%
EEERNSARE 2 EELENEMRE
ERRREDTES AR ZRHERR
EAFGERNEMEZERETRE TEE
BARTZTHNEGER ZYEELENEMEK
HERDEEREMEEREHE T’
EREGRERT AR MERRGRAERBR
PR -HRARERFEZEERNENLE
THEBLREAREIRNREY X %I
MEAABREBEREENENEZREN B
PIRERT

E-EVERIEEHENBRRER £ &
ERRENEBESLERTYE -BNBANE
JIRNRENZBLERTYE BRERY
XARBRAN AN ERSD-

AERRPBARERBNENRERUNE
mERENFEERE MASRARDEREE
RERBo
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16
(a)

Leases

Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position

The consolidated statement of financial position shows the following
amounts relating to leases:

HE
TR %R & M BIRLH ERE 2 S

HEMBRRRETUTAEEER S8

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE
Land use right TR 59,471 48,198
Buildings BF 270,119 288,287
329,590 336,485
Lease liabilities HEAR
Current el 93,909 105,488
Non-current JERE 252,259 269,430
346,168 374,918

Additions to the right-of-use assets during the financial year were
HK$97,436,000 (2023: HK$303,470,000).

Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets was HK$104,519,000 (2023:
HK$99,205,000). Expenses relating to short-term leases and low-value
assets was HK$54,372,000 (2023: HK$38,801,000) and HK$2,388,000
(2023: HK$2,034,000) respectively.

The total cash outflow for leases during the financial year was
HK$180,148,888 (2023: HK$116,494,000).

REBEER AEZGAEEE 497,436,000
T (20234F © 303,470,00058 7T) ©

ARG R R 2 R

ERAREEZITEREA104,519,000% 7T (2023
% 199,205,00087T) B HERBEEBEEE
B ZBEX DRI A54,372,0007% 7T (20234 :
38,801,000 7t) K2,388,00078 75 (20234 :
2,034,000 75) ©

RHREER BEZREALBES
180,148,88878 7T (20234F : 116,494,000 7T) ©
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17 Intangible assets 17 EEEE
Patents,
trademarks and Computer Concession
other rights software Goodwill right Total
5 EER
HtrER SRR He BRERE st
HK$'000 HK$’000 HKS’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FER TR FH7 FHL
Year ended 31 December 2024 HE204F12A31BLFE
Opening net book amount BRERE 21,369 70,077 19,913 775,776 887,135
Additions HE - 21,161 - - 21,161
Decreases B (4,109) (13) - - (4,122)
Amortisation #y (30) (25,426) - (31,242) (56,698)
Exchange differences ERELR (172) (857) (77 (9,045) (10,151)
Closing net book amount HREREFE 17,058 70,942 19,836 735,489 843,325
At 31 December 2024 12024128318
Cost B2 21,265 155,050 381,982 864,751 1,423,048
Accumulated amortisation REtE R E
and impairment (4,207) (84,108) (362,146) (129,262) (579,723)
Net book amount IRERE 17,058 70,942 19,836 735,489 843,325
Patents,
trademarks and Computer Concession
other rights software Goodwill right Total
E NS
Het#R STERTGT HeE KSR a5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET TET TET FTET FTET
Year ended 31 December 2023 HE023E12831BLEE
Opening net book amount HREFE 16,991 48,560 20,202 637,217 722,970
Additions RE 5,128 40,668 = 183,944 229,740
Amortisation N (24) (16,771) - (19,033) (35,828)
Exchange differences EREE (726) (2,380) (289) (26,352) (29,747)
Closing net book amount HARREFE 21,369 70,077 19,913 775,776 887,135
At 31 December 2023 12023128318
Cost D% 25,374 127,902 381,982 864,751 1,400,009
Accumulated amortisation RetEH R E
and impairment (4,005) (57,825) (362,069) (88,975) (512,874)
Net book amount IRERE 21,369 70,077 19,913 775,776 887,135
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18 Investments in joint ventures

18 REBARIZKRHA

2024 2023

20245 20234

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Unlisted EES 8,234,496 8,735,858
Provision for impairment REEE (292,000) =
7,942,496 8,735,858

Particulars of the Group’s material joint ventures, which is accounted for
using the equity method in the consolidated financial statements, are as

follows:
Nominal value of Place of Ownership
Name registered capital  registration interest
218 AMEAEE Mt FAEEER
%
Shenzhen Langtong Property Development RMB100,000,000 PRC 50
Company Limited (“Langtong”)
AITRBEEHEREERAT  AKK100,000000T HE
(T8R%))
Shenzhen Tianan Cyber Park (Group) US$62,000,000 PRC 37.53
Company Limited* (“Tianan”)
REHE (£ BRAT" 62,000,000%7T
(Fx%1)
Taizhou Shum Yip Investment Development RMB100,000,000 PRC 51
Limited (“Taizhou Shum Yip”)
MM REREERERRAE AE#100,000,0007c
(THRMRE])
Shum King Company Limited (“Shum King") HK$2  Hong Kong 50

RHBERAF (MFH)) 2Bm BB

* The 50% ownership interest in Tianan is held by Shum Yip Terra, a 75.05% non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Group. Therefore, the Group’s effective ownership
interest and profit sharing ratio is 37.53%.

ERRD ARG BREARZEERZE

ERERRFENT

Profit
Voting sharing  Principal activities
power ratio  and place of operation
i BANEX TEEBREMY
% %
50 50  Property development and property
investment in the PRC
RAEREERERNERE
50 37.53*  Property investment and development in
the PRC
RAEREMEREREAR
50 51 Provision of land development service in
the PRC
TR R ER {it 1 50 B 3 AR 75
50 50  Property development and property

investment in Hong Kong

REBRENZHERNERA

Y ORB0%FAERED A —BAERER
75.06% 2 F 2 E M B AR RERAFA °
Ht AEBBRAAREDREFDZ
Z(h37.53% °
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(a) The movement of investments in joint ventures is as follows:
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18 NEBAFZRE (@)
() REEARNZREZHUT:

2024 2023
20245 20235
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FET

Share of net assets: EEEFE:
Opening balances 8,735,858 8,836,242
Addition 3,290 186,244
Share of results (2,622) 381,846
Share of other comprehensive income FE (i EL th 2 [ U s (11,227) (258)
Dividends (328,502) (590,404)
Provision for impairment (292,000) -
Exchange differences (162,301) (77,812)
Closing balances 7,942,496 8,735,858

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had an outstanding capital
commitment to Shum King Company Limited of HK$1,542,500,000 (2023:

HK$1,562,500,000) (note 38).

12024128310 AEBHEHRTYERA
Bl Z R ARITEZBARKIER1,542,500,0007 75
(20234 : 1,562,500,0007 7%) (Fz£38) o
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18
(b)

Investments in joint ventures (continued)
Set out below are the summarised financial information for

material joint ventures

The following table sets out the summarised financial information in
respect of Langtong adjusted for any differences in accounting policies and

18 REBATZRE (3)

(b)  TFHRIVREZSEAF MM B ERHHE

THRITHBERNBE NERBEREAS
SHRERFHARIHRABREGGMHR

reconciled to the carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements: TN ZIREE :
2024 2023
20245 20235
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Current assets MENEE 208,501 334,033
Non-current assets FRBEE 1,610,447 2,049,555
Current liabilities mEEE (110,702) (59,913)
Non-current liabilities FEREBERE (9,323) (5,509)
Net assets BEFE 1,698,923 2,318,170
Included in the above assets and liabilities: — FtA LB EREE :
Cash and cash equivalents RekBEEEY 187,691 176,337
Revenue Wz 170,067 151,862
(Loss)/profit for the year FR (B18) /&7 (14,899) 13,917
Total comprehensive income for the year FRE2ANEEE (14,899) 13,917
Included in the above profit: FIA L mA
Depreciation and amortisation E R (16,624) (24,494)
Interest income FEWA 13,509 12,106
Income tax expense Frigiif (1,889) (4,596)
Reconciliation to the Group’s interestin ~ HRAEEAEBMRGE QAT 2D !
the joint venture:
Proportion of the Group’s ownership REBAREZ LA 50% 50%
Group’s share of net assets of FEEDGEERREERE
the joint venture 849,461 1,159,085
Goodwill on acquisition recognised REERIZWEDE
by the Group 6,116 6,116
Carrying amount of the investment REZRHAE 855,577 1,165,201
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Investments in joint ventures (continued)
Set out below are the summarised financial information for

material joint ventures (continued)

The following table sets out the summarised financial information in respect

of Tianan adjusted for any differences in accounting policies, and reconciled

18 REBATZRE (H)

(b) THRIVREZSBAR MM ERHE (5D

TRITHBERNBEE NERXZREFS
SHRERFHABLHIRABRERSMHR

to the carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements: KA ZIRHEE -
2024 2023
20245 20235
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FAT
Current assets MENEE 19,505,790 21,923,714
Non-current assets FRBEE 10,740,803 10,909,894
Current liabilities REEE (11,657,336) (13,841,875)
Non-current liabilities FEREBER (9,156,202) (9,281,784)
Net assets BERE 9,433,055 9,709,949
Less: non-controlling interests o IEE RS (282,260) (421,951)
Net assets attributable to equity SENEEERRELEESE
shareholders of the joint venture 9,150,795 9,287,998
Included in the above assets and liabilities: — A LHBEREE
Cash and cash equivalents BeERREEEY 1,824,021 2,620,281
Current financial liabilities (excluding trade ~ AFEHEE FEEEZ R
and other payables and provisions) HAtE R E ) (2,728,367) (4,625,268)
Non-current financial liabilities (excluding FRBCHEE FEREEGK
trade and other payables and provisions) H e (7R B 48) (8,978,795) (9,040,901)
Revenue U 2 3,997,495 6,214,949
Profit for the year FNEH 195,405 396,644
Total comprehensive income for the year FREEWRELE 195,405 396,644
Included in the above profit: FIA_LBR
Depreciation and amortisation EREH (22,067) (23,800)
Interest income AISUON 9,109 14,757
Interest expense FERES (218,608) (163,993)
Income tax expense FiEiiRYX (90,459) (125,245)
Reconciliation to the Group’s interestin ~ HIRAEEXEANGE AR 2 ©
the joint venture:
Proportion of the Group’s ownership KEBMBRZLLA 50% 50%
Group’s share of net assets of REBDGEENBBEERE
the joint venture 4,575,397 4,643,998
Loans to the joint venture BYEERBIZER 154,952 165,920
Carrying amount of the investment REZERAE 4,730,349 4,809,918
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18 Investments in joint ventures (continued) 18 RABARIZHE )
(b) Set out below are the summarised financial information for (b) PRIPRFHESENF WM B ERHEE ()

material joint ventures (continued)
The following table sets out the summarised financial information in respect
of Taizhou Shum Yip adjusted for any differences in accounting policies and

TRITHBERER HAEBRRMNRERE
AEFHRERFHABRTHRABREN TR

reconciled to the carrying amount in the financial statements: TN ZIREE :
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Current assets MENE E 5,419,589 5,038,445
Non-current assets FRBEE 2,892,458 2,989,231
Current liabilities mEEE (5,188,098) (5,237,459)
Non-current liabilities FEREBERE (635,261) (937,975)
Net assets BERE 2,488,688 1,852,242
Included in the above assets and liabilities: ~— A _FIEEREE :
Cash and cash equivalents BeERREEEY 210,180 232,930
Non-current financial liabilities (excluding FnBcmat FEREGK
trade and other payables and provisions) Lt e 0 R ) (635,261) (937,975)
Revenue Wi 895,504 1,723,083
Profit for the year FREA] 688,589 531,442
Total comprehensive income for the year ENEEWRABEEE 688,589 531,442
Included in the above profit: SIA L mA
Depreciation and amortisation E R (106) 119
Interest income FIEWA 309 587
Interest expense FERZ (60,170) (69,786)
Income tax expense ik t53 (243,074) (177,147)
Reconciliation to the Group’s interestin ~ HIRABREXEFRGE AT 2R
the joint venture:
Proportion of the Group’s ownership KEEMRBEZ LA 51% 51%
Carrying amount of the investment REZERAE 1,269,230 944,643
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[nvestments in joint ventures (continued) 18 RAEBARIZHRE (#)
Set out below are the summarised financial information for (b) TFRIDRFHEAENF B ERHEE ()
material joint ventures (continued)
The following table sets out the summarised financial information in respect TRITHEERNBE HERAYMENS
of Shum King adjusted for any differences in accounting policies and SRR EREHABRTHRABRENBERERA
reconciled to the carrying amount in the financial statements: ZIREE:
2024 2023
20245 20235
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FAT
Current assets MENEE 4,977,993 5,588,401
Current liabilities REEE (622,225) (167,4006)
Non-current liabilities FrRBas (5,569,402) (5,815,219)
Net liabilities =K (1,213,634) (394,224)
Included in the above assets and liabilities: — A LHBEREE
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEY 11,658 31,926
Current financial liabilities (excluding trade ~ ABEHEE FEHEEZ R
and other payables and provisions) HtE R & E) (5,569,402) (5,815,219)
Loss for the year FNEEE (819,410) (23,945)
Total comprehensive income for the year FREEKEHELE (819,410) (23,945)
Included in the above loss: A _LAER
Interest income FIEWA 35 429
Reconciliation to the Group’s interestin =~ HIRAEEXEANGE AR 2 ©
the joint venture:
Proportion of the Group’s ownership KEBMARZLLA 50% 50%
Group’s share of net assets of the REBDGEENDBEEFE
joint venture (606,817) (197,112)
Provision for impairment HERE (292,000) -
Loan to the joint venture BYEERBIZERN 1,668,817 1,689,856
Carrying amount of the investment REZIREE 770,000 1,492,744

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group made an impairment

HE2024F12B31 A EFE  "EBRFHHER

provision amounted to HK$292,000,000 in relation to the investment in
Shum King. As the investment in Shum King mainly relates to the loans
which are considered as part of the investments, the recoverable amount
has been determined based on the estimated future cash flows expected to
be generated by the joint venture from the sales of properties.

B {F A B #292,000,0007 7T © BRI B9
EIXZAENAR MERKEAREN—F
72 AT EEEEREEEATHENE
REENESRAREEREEE
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18 Investments in joint ventures (continued) 18 RABARIZHE )
(c) Individually immaterial joint ventures (c) MRIAERERAH

REXPIRBREEARZEImIN REETT
REEREDEARNENFTERGEREHE

In addition to the interests in joint ventures disclosed above, the group also
has interests in a number of individually immaterial joint ventures that are

accounted for using the equity method. BiEme

2024 2023
20244 20235
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TET

Aggregate carrying amount of individually BRFEAGE LB REEE
immaterial joint ventures 317,340 323,352

Aggregate amounts of the Group's share of: ~ AREE DG F4EE ¢
Profit from continuing operations FEEEEB 2 RT 13,480 14,059
Total comprehensive income EHEIREAARE 13,480 14,059
19 Investments in associates 19 REBARIZRE

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT FTAT
Unlisted L 288,641 307,798
Listed in Hong Kong REALEM 3,670,000 5,053,801
Provision for impairment HERHE (1,695,000) (816,000)
2,263,641 4,545,599
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Investments in associates (continued)
Particulars of the material associate, which is accounted for using the
equity method in the consolidated financial statements, are as follows:

19

Issued ordinary/

registered

Name Business structure Place of registration share capital
BRTLE/

B8 EBRE s s AR
Road King Corporate Bermuda 749,336,566
ordinary shares of

$0.1 each

BY RF) BRE SREE1TH
749,336,566

LAk

Road King is a limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda and its
ordinary shares with a nominal value of $0.10 each are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The principal location
of Road King’s business is PRC.

The Group’s shareholdings in the associates comprise equity shares held
by the Company, except for Road King, the shareholdings of which are held
through a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

Market value of stakes in listed associates as at 31 December 2024
is HK$230,646,000 (31 December 2023: HK$293,351,000), which
approximate its fair value.

Both external and internal sources of information of associates are
considered in assessing whether there is any indication that the investment
may be impaired, including but not limited to financial position, business
performance and market capitalisation. The Group carries out impairment
assessment on those investments with impairment indications, and the
respective recoverable amounts of investments are determined with
reference to the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.

A S R R B R

VB 7 2 B ()
ERREENEAMBERE AR EEHED
FHENT :

Proportion

of effective
ownership
interest held

by the Group
FEEMER
HRMAERT
8Lt

Principal activities and place of
operation

TEEHRERNY

27% Development, operation and management of
toll roads and property development and
investment in the PRC

A%  RHEEE EERERKEARUK
MEREREE

BYDREREZMMILZAEREELAR H
BREEIITZEBRATEHEXIFAME
RABEREM Bz TBER M ATE -

AEERBMEARZRECGRALDFEZE
mRin RN ZARZREDEBEAR
AZE2ENBATRAC

12024128318 EBE A RNKRGONTE
75230,646,00035 7z (2023 12831H : 293,351,000
B BEHANERE-

EHERSAERREAREIELFRER
SERMERTBIIBRABER KR BF
BARRMBRR XERERME - FEEY
BREDSRNRBETRENE LE2RAR
ERFENTAERBENRSEREREN
EL(EEFET

183
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19 Investments in associates (continued)

(a)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group made an impairment
provision amounted to HK$879,000,000 in relation to the investment in
Road King. The recoverable amount of the investment in Road King has
been determined based on a value-in-use calculation using the Company’s
share of the present value of the estimated future cash flows expected
to be generated by the associate from financial budgets covering a five-
year period. The projected cash flows have been updated to reflect the
current financial performance of Road King. The key assumptions adopted
for growth rates and discount rates used in the value-in-use calculations
are based on management’s best estimates. Growth rates are determined
by considering both internal and external factors. The pre-tax discount rate
applied to the cash flow projections is 9.79% (2023: 10.16%).

The movement of investments in associates is as follows:

19

RIS ARl 2 & ()
HE2024F12831HILEE ) AEBRBEHH
BB EH BE B 879,000,000 7T o iR ER $NAT
RENKREEEEREZHEARRAER
MR EEEREEENEFRERSREN
REPAQRRGHRERFEREBE;E R ZE
TR RECEMN URMEHZE a1
BRE -MEREEAELHAFMANEREN
IR ERMNEARRRDENEEEBNREM
stol EXREENDMIBRERBETE IR
EnERAMBNKREIEIRERA9.79% (2023
4 1 10.16%) °

RMERBZRELHMT

2024 2023
20245 20235
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FHET

Share of net assets: e EEFE
Opening balances B4R 4,545,599 5,610,595
Share of results iS5 (1,132,794) (1,064,544)
Share of other comprehensive income PG EM 2 E (241,681) (159,079)
Dividends %8 (22,097) (7,949)
Additions NE - 169,684
Provision for impairment BEEE (879,000) =
Exchange differences ERELE (6,386) (3,108)
Closing balances HAR 45 87 2,263,641 4,545,599

As at 31 December 2024, there were no significant capital commitments
relating to the Group’s investments in the associates.

1220245123310 AR EAREBE QR RBR
BFHBERERAE-
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Set out below are the summarised financial information for Road

19 REEEARZRE (8)
(b) T SCHRA B S I 5 B A

King
Summarised consolidated statement of financial position HREHBERARIGE
2024 2023
20245 20235
HK$’000 HK$’000
TAT FAT
Current assets mEEE 34,576,424 45,567,991
Non-current assets FERBEE 22,691,634 27,578,322
Current liabilities mEER (22,262,165) (31,401,987)
Non-current liabilities FRBERE (14,350,791) (14,546,662)
Net assets BERE 20,655,102 27,197,664
Less: non-controlling interests B IEERE R (10,084,732) (11,502,106)
Net assets attributable to equity shareholders Mt ABIHFRFELEERE
of the associate 10,570,370 15,695,558
Revenue Wi 5,536,911 13,075,348
Loss for the year FRNEIE (3,308,309) (3,760,547)
Other comprehensive income Hit2mla (895,114) (712,297)
Total comprehensive income for the year FREEWEELE (4,203,423) (4,472,844)
Dividend received from Road King EWESZEE - -
Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in HIRBEEAEFRHE L2 B
the associate:
Proportion of the Group’s ownership KEBMARZLLA 27% 27%
Provision for impairment WEEE (879,000) =
Carrying amount of the investment REZIREE 1,975,000 4,237,801
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19 Investments in associates (continued) 19 REEARZHRE )
(c) Individually immaterial associates (c) MERIAEREE AR

REXPIRBRBEARD 2T REETT
REEREDEARNENFERRERE R

In addition to the interests in associates disclosed above, the group also
has interests in a number of individually immaterial associates that are

accounted for using the equity method. BiEme
2024 2023
20245 20235
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FEx
Aggregate carrying amount of individually BRIFEARBE NG REEE
immaterial associates 288,641 307,798
Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share of:  ANEE 5 FAE%EE
Profit from continuing operations FEEEEB 2 RT 10,112 5,084
Total comprehensive income EHEIREAARE 10,112 5,084
20 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 20 ZEMBEIEARMEFEZ EMERE
2024 2023
20245 20235
HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT FET
Non-current: JEE
Financial assets measured at FVTPL BREGEANENBZEHEE
— Listed equity investments in —REAEY FHRERE
Mainland China 42,458 32,050
— Unlisted equity investments in —RHRBEAEZIEETRERE
Mainland China 97,191 99,315
139,649 131,365
Current: e
Financial assets measured at FVTPL FEBERRANENEZEREE
— Listed equity investments in Hong Kong —REBZ LHRERE 894 906
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20 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(continued)
(i)  Accounting policies of financial assets

(@)

Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement
categories:

e those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through
other comprehensive income (“0CI”), or through profit or loss),
and

e  those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash
flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be
recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For investments in debt instruments,
this will depend on the business model in which the investment
is held. For investments in equity instruments, this will depend on
whether the Group has made an irrevocable election at the time of
initial recognition to account for the equity investment at FVOCI.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its
business model for managing those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on trade-date, the date on which the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have
been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership.

A 1 S S R R B R

20 BREZHARMENRZEMEE ()

AEBBHSHEERUTHBEND
g -

HEgmAnEstE GtAHMEER
m (TEthEmE K 35t ARz 8
EHEE R

RIRBERA BN TRMEE-
ZAERANERERESHEERSNR
éﬁ%i%z%%ﬁﬁ°

REANEHEZEEMS  RakEE
RRER AN 2 E R E AR R EH
TENREMS RRTRARENES
ﬁﬁﬁEO%K%EIﬁEﬁ  BREUR
RAEBEN GRS 2 S (F A 5]
m%gﬁ%EWELLHmiﬁw YN
REFEZRERBE AR

BEEERSEEZEABRARLED
FoAEESEHEHEREETEND
fe

FESD R AR LERE D
ﬁﬁ%ﬁ&ﬁﬁmﬁﬂﬁéﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ

XPABEAERREBEEILEZSE
EZEO KEMBEEWNE S RENE
MEIRNEER MAEEEBEE LR
FIERNME AENRMEEE  £RHE
EBNAR EREST o
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20 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 20 ZRBEHHARMEFEZEMERE @)
(continued)
(i) Accounting policies of financial assets (continued) () SREEasHBeR (@)
(b)  Measurement b FHE
At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair BRI EABBERRANENEZ
value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at FVTPL, transaction THEBEE RYGRERE AEENER
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial AENLIEZRBERESZBEHEE
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVTPL are NRZERENHE - BRBEERANE
expensed in profit or loss. SEZEREEZR SRR BRI
Ho
Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their EREEEERATETENEHEENR
entirety when determining whether their cash flows are solely ERERREINAES KA ER ENE
payment of principal and interest. MEENERETEZE
Debt instruments BEHIE
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the BEIREZBRENENANEEREEE
Group’s business model for managing the asset and the cash flow EZEBEANZSEEZRENER
characteristics of the asset. There are three measurement categories BoAEEREBEIAENEA=EHE
into which the Group classifies its debt instruments: 85
e Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual o BEHEAA  BEKREARER
cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of EZEE HMZEREREEAT
principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Interest AR E KA S EF > B #4885 A 5t
income from these financial assets is included in finance EZETHEEZHNERALRE
income using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss BERFE LT ATBUA o &R 1EFE
arising on derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss BEEZEAKRRNBEERINE
and presented in other gains together with foreign exchange WakEERERERZRED 1R
gains and losses. Impairment losses are presented as separate HMAF25 - BEBERBERER

line item in the statement of profit or loss. RNEABEBIEBR
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20 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(continued)
(i) Accounting policies of financial assets (continued)
(b)  Measurement (continuead)
Debt instruments (continued)

e  FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash
flows and for selling the financial assets, where the assets’
cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest,
are measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are
taken through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment
gains or losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains and
losses which are recognised in profit or loss. When the financial
asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss
and recognised in other gains. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance income using the effective
interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in other gains and impairment expenses or reversals
are presented as separate line item in the statement of profit or

loss.

o FVTPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised
cost or FVOCI are measured at FVTPL. A gain or loss on a
debt investment that is subsequently measured at FVTPL is
recognised in profit or loss and presented net as separate line
item in the statement of profit or loss in the year in which it

arises.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value.
Where the Group’s management has elected to present fair value
gains and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no subsequent
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss following
the derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in profit or loss as other income when the

Group’s right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVTPL are recognised
in “Increase/(decrease) in fair value of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss”. Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment
losses) on equity investments measured at financial assets at FVOCI

are not reported separately from other changes in fair value.

20

(1)

ERBAREAREH RS

A 1 S S R R B R

il (D)

T E AT BCR (8D

()

518 (8)

BHIE (@)

s ZBBEMEZEUNmZBRAAESRE:
REBMENHERERSHESH
BEMBANEE HRKFEEN
REREBER/TTRAMEBM A
BREEZBHEMZ2ERZRAN
EstBstE-REEZI T AEM
2EWE ER B R ER
m A R R B R A RS B W a K
BRZEDMRN  EMEERILE
s B S Al B H A 2 [ W T A
R NGHEEARRERNEE
BaURHMA SR 2T R
BEZMBWADRERNE A
AMBRA - ER W REERE
R 1551 8 » 0 8 (B 5 S 30 [l 7t
BarnFERERREST
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22

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 21 %
B

income

LA 2 T Wk 8 AR LA B

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAT
Equity securities designated at FVOCI EEABEREMEZEWRREARE
StEZIRAE
— Unlisted equity investments in — R AEZIEEHRERS
mainland China 2,317 2,368
Properties under development 22 EFYE
2024 2023
20245 20235
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAT
Within one operating cycle included under R—EZEBHRIARBEEERT
current assets
— Expected to be completed within —FEHREN T _EERET
twelve months 10,602,324 40,913,149
— Expected to be completed after — R+ _ERBET
more than twelve months 49,954,314 29,649,926
60,556,638 70,563,075
Properties under development comprise: BRAYMEDRE
— Construction costs —BEBA 13,828,732 13,164,210
— Land costs — TR 47,008,630 57,596,861
Less: write-down provision MR E (280,724) (197,996)
60,556,638 70,563,075
Representing S
— At cost — A 58,491,108 66,999,586
— At net realisable value — AR R E 2,065,530 3,563,489
60,556,638 70,563,075
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Properties under development (continued)

During the year, the write-down of properties under development located
in Mainland China of HK$109,303,000 (2023: HK$17,720,000) was
recognised in the Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss due to
the decrease in the estimated net realisable value of certain properties
under development.

No properties under development were transferred to investment properties
during the year upon change in use as evidenced by the inception of
operating leases with another party (2023: HK$567,648,000). There were
no difference of the fair value of these properties at the date of transfer
from their carrying amounts was recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss (2023: net loss of HK$43,769,000).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s properties under development with
a net carrying amount of HK$2,956,036,000 (2023: HK$4,529,724,000)
were pledged to secure bank loans granted to the Group (note 30(b)).

As at 31 December 2024, the application for land certificates in
Mainland China for land with a net carrying amount of approximately
HK$1,308,463,000 (2023: HK$2,256,773,000) was still in progress.

The properties under development include costs of acquiring land use rights
in Mainland China, for property development over fixed periods. Land use
rights are held on leases term of 40 to 70 years.

Accounting policies of properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Net realisable value is determined by reference to the
sale proceeds of properties sold in the ordinary course of business, less
applicable selling expenses and the anticipated costs to completion, or by
management estimates based on prevailing marketing conditions.

Development cost of property comprises cost of land use rights,
construction costs, depreciation of machinery and equipment, borrowing
costs capitalised for qualifying assets and professional fees incurred during
the development period. On completion, the properties are transferred to
completed properties held for sale.

22

A 1 S S R R B R

BIEPE ()

FR ARG TERETYEN G TZIRFEE
D BUAL R o B A B O B R R WD 2 2 R
109,303,0007 75 (20234 : 17,720,000387T) B
REENGEB@mAED

ER HEEEPYELHKREARS —H 2K
MEZERRNERMEREREYE (2023
& © 567,648,000 7T) c RER A 25X
NABREREETEEZEN GRS EERARE
58 (20234 © E5187$%843,769,00078 7T) ©

R2024F12A31H A& EBRAFES
2,956,036,0007 7T (20234F : 4,529,724,00078 7T) 2
HERAMESER FALERERRTER
2R (HiEE300)) ©

122024128310 » BREFE471,308,463,0007 7T
(20234 : 2,256,773,00058 %) Z R E A BES
Bzt DR NERGT o

ERTPEOEREEBRAMLMERE R T
BIARERG LM ERE A - LR ER
BOFE  EHNFAEF

B IE 2 A BCR
ERPNERMARAIERFENE 2BEE
SR -RIERFENDSENBEEFETEEN
MENEEMBRRREBERANBEER LR
HRIMAEE WERBRTDRERER
BhE S

MERBMA ST LM ERENS  BEMAE
REBRREFE BEXCHNEEREEEEM
ARREPBERNEXER N IR 18
MEBREREFEZCERME -
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22 Properties under development (continued) 22 BRI )
(i) Accounting policies of properties under development (continued) (i) ERHWEZGEECR ()
Properties under development are classified as current assets when the BB EMYELRBEENERRRN K
construction of the relevant properties commences unless the construction SEER GREBETMERERMENRES
period of the relevant property development project is expected to complete HERERTEATHEE —REEBRRE
beyond normal operating cycle. The normal operating cycle is usually within BAER.
3 years.
Costs to fulfill a contract comprise the development cost and land use BIIEANMAABERARESNEZBERNE
right cost directly related to an existing contract that will be used to BRARTHMERERE FERBITRERN
satisfy performance obligations in the future. The costs to fulfill a contract BAER - METANNMATE AU B A
are recorded in properties under development if they are expected to be RIAZEEDYNE -BTAANREERZ R
recovered. The amount is amortised on a systematic basis, consistent WEAETHE BZEERBNSOWAR
with the pattern of revenue recognition of the contract to which the asset SR —E o
relates.
23 Completed properties held for sale 23 FEREZERBME
2024 2023
20245 20235
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FAT
Completed properties held for sale RIEFEZBRMME 33,111,785 19,949,310
Less: write-down provision MR (377,333) (204,510
32,734,452 19,744,800

During the year, the write-down of completed properties held for sale
located in Mainland China of HK$197,428,000 (2023: HK$33,421,000)
was recognised in the Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, none completed properties
held for sale were transferred to investment properties upon change
in use as evidenced by the signing of relevant tenancy agreements
(2023: HK$473,584,000). There were no difference of the fair value of
these properties at the date of transfer from their carrying amounts was
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss (2023: net loss of
HK$205,084,000).

FR IR PREAENFFFEZEERNE
Z #i197,428,0007 7T (20234 : 33,421,000/
) ERFKENGSRERED

HE024F 1A BLEEE BEFEFEZE
ERMERE]ERHEREES RN ER
TIEEE IR B (20234 : 473,584,000 7T) ©
RERAY ZSWEZ AL ERAREAEL
BERERGEEERARED (2023F : BEFE
205,084,000 7T) °
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Completed properties held for sale (continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s completed properties held for
sale with a net carrying value of approximately HK$2,562,557,000 (31
December 2023: Nil) was pledged to secure other borrowings of the Group
(note 30(h)).

The completed properties include costs of acquiring rights to use certain
lands, which are located in the Mainland China, for property development
over fixed periods. Land use rights are held on leases term of 40 to 70
years.

Accounting policies of completed properties held for sale
Completed properties remaining unsold at year end are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value.

Cost comprises development costs attributable to the unsold properties.

Net realisable value is determined by reference to the sale proceeds of
properties sold in the ordinary course of business, less applicable selling
expenses, or by management estimates based on prevailing marketing
conditions.

A S R R B R

23 FEfRFEBZCR I (8

(i)

R2024F12A31H  A&EERAFES
2,562,557,00078 7T (20235128311 @ ) ZHE
FEZERRYMEBRE FAXEREMBE
Bz &R (FEE30()) ©

ERBMELEREEHRARNERENE
ETURPEAREZz LM EREZMAE LM
ERRRANER  FRNFOEE-

FHERF 2 TR R 2 @RI BOR
RERNAELZEEMNERMA AL
FEMEZBREETR

RABERHENERIGRRE A
AEFFENSERAREFTEELNEN

HEMGRENZBRNHERXEE W&
RERTHREHAEER MG L

Inventories 24 7R

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Raw materials [E# 67,602 75,088
Work in progress TED 82,351 96,149
Finished goods E 91,651 94,971
241,604 266,208

During the year, the write-down of inventory of Nil (2023: HK$569,000) was FR WEFEMA (20234 | 569,0007 7T) I 2

recognised in the Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss.

ERGRERmRESR -
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25 Trade and other receivables 25 H 5 R HAMELGK
2024 2023
20245 20235
HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT TET
Included in non-current assets STAERBEE
— Other receivables — net —HAEWRIE— 55 661,023 277,026
Included in current assets SATRBEE
— Trade receivables — net (note (a)) —BUWER— 35 (M) 1,448,618 2,263,251
— Other receivables — net (note (b)) —HMEWIE— 35 (fisE0b) 9,291,542 7,944,492
— Prepayments (note (c)) —FERIE (i) 144,033 1,457 637
10,884,193 11,665,380
As at 31 December 2024, non-current other receivables mainly represented 12024128318 > JERB EME U FIE T Bi5
the fair value of the relocation properties which will be delivered to the AEBFZzHFBLHMEBERT T AERZ KB
Group as a result of the demolition and relocation arrangements with MEZ N AEFRILZ SN B 5 R EMEW
the governments. Other than that, the carrying value of trade and other REERRAREARAERSE
receivables approximated their fair value.
(a) Details of trade receivables are as follows: (a) FUERRZFHBEWT :
2024 2023
20245 20235
HK$’000 HK$’000
TER FTET
Trade receivables FE W BRI 1,619,472 2,433,697
Less: provision for loss allowance B EE (170,854) (170,446)
Trade receivables — net PR — % 88 1,448,618 2,263,251
The Group normally does not grant any credit terms to its customers for FERBEAENRAMNEHERKEME
the sale of properties. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its B o AEBREH RIREIE K IBRFRE
outstanding receivables. In view of the aforementioned and the fact that the Pril o 858 LAk R (A R AN 5 B 2 FE M AR =0 K
Group’s trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified customers, SETEZRZER HAERTRBEEEF
there is no significant concentration of credit risk. The Group does not hold 2EERB AEETEFRABKREREER
any collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade receivables. Trade MIEFREEMEERR BUERT AR

receivables are non-interest-bearing. HIE
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25 Trade and other receivables (continued) 25 © 5 R HAM LG (4)
(a) Details of trade receivables are as follows: (continued) (a) MEWERFZEEBNT @ (B
As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s trade receivables with a net R2024F12B3 1B AEBREFELNA
carrying value of approximately HK$41,481,000 (31 December 2023: 41,481,000 75 (2023F12831H : 40,116,0007%
HK$40,116,000) was pledged to secure other borrowings of the Group 70) ZRUERRBIRIF (FAXEBEMEER
(note 30(h)). R (FFEE300D)) ©
An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the reporting RBERRUEH B E 2 BUWIRZERE 2
period, based on the contract date, is as follows: T
2024 2023
20244 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT FTET
Within 1 year —FER 1,006,851 2,130,418
1 to 2 years —EEREN 455,255 144,633
2 to 3 years MEE=FRN 33,096 22,246
Over 3 years =FENE 124,270 136,400
1,619,472 2,433,697
None of the single customer’s contributed 10% or more of the Group’s total B E2024F [ 202312831 H L BUEE » 4

revenue during the financial year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. B—XPER G ARERBUEI0%EU Lo
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25 Trade and other receivables (continued) 25 H 5 R HAM LG (4)
(b) Details of other receivables are as follows: (b)) EMERZBEZEBUT
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAT
Prepaid tax BREMIE 4,310,233 3,436,714
Dividend receivable from joint ventures FWAEERBERBEABRE
and associates 645,547 736,900
Loans to an associate BY—REBERAZER 24,942 =
Loans to joint ventures BYEENBZEM 1,909,215 1,589,468
Due from non-controlling interests FEURIER RG 1 2 20 0B 512,794 511,296
Due from fellow subsidiaries FEUR R 2 [t B A B A 24,312 37,166
Due from the ultimate holding company EW R RN B A 32,188 39,124
Due from the immediate holding company R ERZER AT RIE 1,143 9,364
Others = 2,158,384 1,913,811
9,618,758 8,273,843
Less: allowance for impairment B ORERE (327,216) (329,351)
Other receivables — net HMENIE— 35 9,291,542 7,944,492
(c) Details of dividends receivable are as follows: (c) FEWREZFHBEWT:
2024 2023
20244 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Taizhou Shum Yip RINRE 493,960 570,965
Tianan PN 151,186 165,525
Others Hith 401 410

645,547 736,900
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Trade and other receivables (continued) 25 © 5 R HAM LG (4)
Details of prepayments are as follows: (d) FENTIBZFHBUOT:
2024 2023
20245 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FET
For acquisitions of land W s it 15,368 1,293,142
For construction costs and BERAKRERR
construction materials 69,117 120,134
Others =k} 59,548 44,361
144,033 1,457,637
Cash and cash equivalents 26 HERHBFEY
2024 2023
20245 20235
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Cash and bank balances REMIRITER 11,799,544 14,443,229
Less: restricted cash (note (a)) o ZREEE (@) (5,983,560) (3,340,931)
bank deposits (note (b)) RITER (BIEED) (29,984) (48,440)
Cash and cash equivalents RBeEMREEEY 5,786,000 11,053,858

As at 31 December 2024, cash and cash equivalents did not include
housing maintenance funds of HK$57,043,000 (2023: HK$58,417,000)
which were owned by the property owners but were deposited in the bank
accounts in the name of the Group. Such deposits can be used by the
Group for the purpose of public maintenance expenditures to be incurred at
the sole discretion and approval of the relevant government authorities.

(@) Restricted cash mainly represented unreleased guarantee deposits
for construction of pre-sale properties denominated in RMB placed
in designated bank accounts as at 31 December 2024, and will be
released in accordance with certain construction progress milestones.

(b)  These bank deposits were with original maturity over three months.
The effective interest rate of these deposits as at 31 December 2024
was 1.41% per annum (2023: 3.18% per annum).

12024128318 REMREEBYABEE
R4 1EE£57,043,00078 7T (20234 : 58,417,000
BT BAERETEE WEARSERL
ENRTERP -BRAERIHAEEER K H
BB HEZEN B EN AL EBRS -

@ ZREREETEAN2024F12831HEE
RIEERTIRAUARKEAENTEEYE
B ARG REE BRBEETEREE
fRBR o

b ZEFRTEIRIAABBE=EA %%
2024 FE 12831 BB ERA X A1.41%
BRI (20234 © 3.18%FEFXK) o
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26 Cash and cash equivalents (continued) 26 BERHSFEY (&)

(c)  The conversion of RMB denominated balances into foreign currencies © ARBREMEAIMNEURZEIMERNE
and the remittance of such foreign currencies denominated bank TR 2 E W P EEK B P EIBTE
balances and cash out of the PRC are subject to relevant rules and A RIMNESFIRRA KA
regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC
government.

Cash and deposits were denominated in the following currencies: RERGFAUTIEBHE
2024 2023
20245 20235
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTERT TET
Denominated in RMB MARESE 10,975,801 13,662,005
Denominated in USD MEmTstE 231,375 308,626
Denominated in HKD LUB Tt E 592,368 472,598
11,799,544 14,443,229
27 Share capital and reserves 27  PEA At
(a) Share capital (a) MEA
2024 2023
20245 20235
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTERT FTET
Issued and fully paid: BETRERE .
8,898,793,115 (31 December 2023: 8,898,793,1150% (2023F128318 :

8,898,793,115) ordinary shares 8,898,793,1150%) Z&EM 22,071,756 22,071,756
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27 Share capital and reserves (continued) 27 AR f ()
(a) Share capital (continued) (a) FRA (&)
During the year, the movements in share capital were as follows: FR REZEMT :
2024 2023
20245 20236
Number of Number of
shares in Issued shares in Issued
Issue  share capital Issue share capital
BETR BETR
PEHE BRTRA PEE BEIRE
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHETT
At 1 January M1B1H 8,898,793,115 22,071,756 8,898,793,115 22,071,756
At 31 December ?12831H 8,898,793,115 22,071,756 8,898,793,115 22,071,756
(b) Capital reserve (b) EAGEH
2024 2023
20245 20235
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTERT FET
Capital reserve BARGFE 59,019 59,019
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28 Other reserves 28  HAtfEH
Share Exchange
Statutory option Other fluctuation

reserve reserve reserve reserve Total

EE IR Hihfks ERSERRE neE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000

TERT FTET TET FTET TET

As at 1 January 2024 1202451818 3,951,954 1,399 59,562 (1,642,770) 2,370,145
Recognition of change in other Ht2ANGERERE

comprehensive income transfer YIS ERESR

to investment properties - - 36,466 - 36,466
Share of other comprehensive income  FE{E & & A F R E A

of joint ventures and associates Hith2mEWm - - (252,908) - (252,908)

Equity-settled share option expense MR AZ (T 2 BERRER - 38 - - 38

Exchange differences ERER - - - (1,125,744) (1,125,744)

As at 31 December 2024 120245128310 3,951,954 1,437 (156,880) (2,768,514) 1,027,997

As at 1 January 2023 1202318 1H 3,951,954 1,170 218,899 (1,014,871) 3,157,152
Share of other comprehensive income  fE{E & & AR K& AR

of joint ventures and associates Hitt2mElE - - (159,337) - (159,337)

Equity-settled share option expense  MURRAZ {F 2 BERRER S - 229 - - 229

Exchange differences ERELR - - - (627,899) (627,899)

As at 31 December 2023 120235128318 3,951,954 1,399 59,562 (1,642,770) 2,370,145

29 Share option scheme 29 [ RERTE
The Company operated a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) which was KPNBRE—BEREE (T5H8))) 120126

approved and adopted on 22 June 2012 for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to directors and employees of the Group who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. The Scheme became
effective on 22 June 2012 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended,
shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 year from that date, after
which period no further options will be issued but in all other respects the
provisions of the Scheme shall remain in full force and effect.

6R2B AR UHAEREFHA L
BRZFEREERESRHETE R ER -5t
810201266 8 220 £ 20 MBI BUH L E
i BAZF RN ERES T EREM B
HEak AFrgERUEABRE BERE
HEftsm st DR+ BB A RIER-
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29 AR HEGHE (40)
¥R & HAR i) R AT 156 8 AR 8 2 A o e A £

the reporting period are as follows: T o
Remaining
Number of Contractual life
instruments Exercise price Vesting date Expiry date of options
fEltEZ
TA%HE fIfEE HEAH HHEE  REREOER
HKS
BT
At 31 December 2024 12024128318
Options granted to employees: RYEEZERE .
on 28 September 2021 12021598285 2,064,000 2.0000 18/01/2022 17/01/2025 0.05
on 28 September 2021 12021598 28H 1,548,000 2.0000 18/01/2023 17/01/2025 0.05
on 28 September 2021 1120214F95 288 1,548,000 2.0000 18/01/2024 17/01/2025 0.05
Options granted to employees: BYEEZBERE:
on 28 September 2021 12202195288 988,000 2.0000 28/09/2022 27/09/2025 0.74
on 28 September 2021 12021598285 741,000 2.0000 28/09/2023 27/09/2025 0.74
on 28 September 2021 1202195288 741,000 2.0000 28/09/2024 27/09/2025 0.74
Total share options outstanding el AT 0 HE AR R AR &S 7,630,000

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 7,630,000 share
options outstanding under the Scheme, representing approximately 0.09%
of the Company’s shares in issue as at that date.

The exercise in full of the outstanding share options would, under the
present capital structure of the Company, result in the issue of 7,630,000
additional ordinary shares of the Company and an increase in share capital

and reserve of HK$16,696,000 (before issue expenses).

The Group recognised a share option expense of HK$38,000 during the

year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$229,000).

RIREERR  RIE5H 2] KA FA7,630,00017 B8
Be i (5 R A BN Z A B #1TRD490.09%) i# K

17fEe

BN 2 AABRARRE  BHTER KT
2 B8 BR A 1 BB 35 1T 2R 417,630,000k &= A F]
TR 0 R IR 7 Tt 15 12 1116,696,00078 75 (R0

RETR)

HE2024F12831 0 LFE » mEBRRBRE
F95738,00058 7T (20234F : 229,000357T) o
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30 Bank and other borrowings

30 SRAT R HAhEER

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FAT
Non-current JEENHA
Bank loans — secured (note (b)) RTEF—FER (ffsED) 587,649 718,369
Bank loans — unsecured RITER— BT 18,421,395 20,186,326
Other borrowings — secured CMBS HthEE— B R EERIEES
(note (a), note (b)) (K 5% (a) ~ B EE (D)) 3,795,438 3,992,804
22,804,481 24,897,499
Current BPHA
Bank loans — secured (note (b)) RITER—BER (D)) 467,314 434,530
Bank loans — unsecured RITEHR—EILIF 10,606,523 10,104,577
Other borrowings — secured CMBS HMBE - B EIFE £ 5T 5Es
(note (a), note (b)) (5% (@) ~ B 5E (b)) 3,486,731 3,602,496
14,560,568 14,141,603
37,365,049 39,039,102

All of the non-current interest-bearing borrowings are carried at amortised
cost.

The Group has complied with the financial covenants of its borrowing
facilities during the financial year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

At 31 December 2024, other borrowings included Commercial
Mortgage-backed Securities (“CMBS”) as below:

At 1 March 2021, RMB1,800,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$1,943,820,000) was issued in China Interbank Bond Market,
which was secured by certain property, plant and equipment,
investment properties and its receivables of future rental incomes.
The interest rate of the CMBS classified as Priority Level with a
principal amount of RMB1,790,000,000 was fixed at 3.88% per
annum. The term of the CMBS was 18 years. At the end of the third
year, the sixth year and the ninth year, the Group shall be entitled to
adjust the interest rate of the CMBS or repurchase the outstanding
balance, and the holders of the CMBS shall be entitled to require
the Group to redeem the outstanding balance. In 2024, the Group
adjusted the interest rate of the CMBS to 3.65% per annum. None of
the CMBS were repurchased or redeemed in the year.

FrAIERN st RER I RBIEMATIR

AEE D REE20245F 2023128315 L&
HEEBTHBRRMENMHZL -

(a) R2024F128331H st ABERIF R RS
(MM FES)) <EMESMT

R2021E381H RPERTEEST
5217 AR 1,800,000,0007T (FHE R
1,943,820,000/87T)  ERE TYE B 5

RE REMERERTREWARNE
WRIB(EI# o A& A R #1,790,000,000
TR BABLEBREERAEIFESNE
FEEEA3.88%  FERIFLFEHMN
EHRBI8FE-RE=F - BAERENE
R AEEERBEREEEIRESN
FIEG O R BB M EIRIRSE
BENFEAERERAEEELR KEER
R R20245 ) AEBBEERASE

Bl 5 BBl (E A A R R IR S B 55 o
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30 Bank and other borrowings (continued)

(@)

(continued)

At 7 May 2021, RMB2,000,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$2,159,800,000) was issued in China Interbank Bond Market,
which was secured by certain property, plant and equipment,
investment properties and its receivables of future rental incomes.
The interest rate of the CMBS classified as Priority Level with a
principal amount of RMB1,999,000,000 was fixed at 3.80% per
annum. The term of the CMBS was 18 years. At the end of the
third year, the sixth year and the ninth year, the Group shall be
entitled to adjust the interest rate of the CMBS or repurchase
the outstanding balance, and the holders of the CMBS shall be
entitled to require the Group to redeem the outstanding balance. In
2024, RMB1,446,045,000 (equivalent to HK$1,561,584,000) was
redeemed by the Group and subsequently re-issued to the investors.

At 24 February 2022, RMB3,200,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$3,455,680,000) was issued in China Interbank Bond Market,
which was secured by investment properties and its receivables of
future rental incomes. The interest rate of the CMBS classified as
Priority Level with a principal amount of RMB3,190,000,000 was
fixed at 3.40% per annum. The term of the CMBS was 18 years. At
the end of the third year, the sixth year and the ninth year, the Group
shall be entitled to adjust the interest rate of the CMBS or repurchase
the outstanding balance, and the holders of the CMBS shall be
entitled to require the Group to redeem the outstanding balance.

A 1 S S R R B R

30 SRAT R HAhfEE (1)

(a)

(&)
R2021E5 870 RPERTEES T
57 AR H2,000,000,0007T (FHE R
2,159,800,000%8 ) » EHETHE BE
RE RENERERKBASWANE
WHRIBEIEH o A& A R 1,999,000,000
TR EABEABEERFIRESN
FEHEE TE£3.80% 0 5 EHIH 155
MEHABE - RE=ZF - FAEREN
R AEEEEREBHERFIEES
MAEgBE R ERGE MEEEE
IREESNEEABRERAEREqD
REBRE -R04E FEBBLAR
#1,446,045,0007T (18 531,561,584,0007%8
) HEBRTTRES

12022828248 KRR BIRITRIES T
BT AR #3,200,000,0007 (HHER
3,455,680,00077T) » HHEEMERER
KEEWANBRRBERR A& AR
#3,190,000,000cHI DA B L REEE
RS RSN ERNEEEA3.40%  iE 2
BRETHESNERAI8E - RE=ZE
EAERBNER AEEBRAERE
BEHZFESNNE G EE R ERRE
MEERES FESNFEABREXRA
SEBEDIRERGRRE
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30

Bank and other borrowings (continued)

(b)

(©)

At 31 December 2024, loans amounting to approximately
HK$8,337,131,000 (2023: HK$8,748,199,000) were secured by
certain of the Group’s assets with carrying amounts as below:

30 SRAT R H A (80

(b)

122024512831 H » £ 48478,337,131,00078
77 (20234 : 8,748,199,00078 75) Z EFLLT
FEmMEZ A TAEEEEFRR

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FET
Property, plant, and equipment MEBERFRE (BEIHNETF)

(included land and buildings) (note 14) (MizE14) 1,017 1,074
Properties under development (note 22) EREAYE (H522) 2,956,035 4,529,724
Completed properties held for sale (note 23) FEFEZEZRYE (fz23) 2,562,557 =
Trade receivables (note 25(a)) FEUER =T (FTEE25(a)) 41,481 40,116
Investment properties (note 15) BEME (fFzE15) 10,094,208 10,664,376

15,655,298 15,235,289

At 31 December 2024, bank borrowings of approximately
HK$23,797,915,000 (2023: HK$25,413,309,000) were bearing
floating interest rates.

Except for bank borrowings of approximately HK$14,077,300,000
(2023: HK$15,708,478,000), which are denominated in Hong Kong
dollars, all borrowings as at 31 December 2024 are denominated in
RMB.

As at 31 December 2024, the average effective interest rate of
borrowings was 3.98% per annum (2023: 4.42% per annum).

120245128318 » £923,797,915,00078 75
(20234 : 25,413,309,00058 70) Z RIT1E
BT e RS B o

&4 284914,077,300,0005 75 (20234 :
15,708,478,000% 7t) Z R1TEE LA T
BN 202412831 BFF AR & MUA
EstEe

2024128310 A EZ FHERFX
A4 B3.98% (20234 | FEE4.42%) o
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31 Deferred income tax 31 BRIEFHH

The analysis of deferred income tax assets and liabilities is as follows: BLEFMEREENREBATNT
2024 2023
20245 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FAT
Deferred income tax assets RILFISMEE 3,520,101 3,513,667
Deferred income tax liabilities FIEFEHRAR (7,159,234) (7,319,668)
(3,639,133) (3,806,001)

The movement on the net deferred income tax is as follows: FIEFT SR BEHWT

2024 2023
20245 20235
HK$’000 HK$’000
TAT FAT
At 1 January 1818 (3,806,001) (4,564,287)
Charged to other comprehensive income FARMGE WS (11,907) -
Credited to profit or loss StAE@ 101,859 695,589
Exchange differences bE R E R 76,916 62,697

At 31 December K12A31H (3,639,133) (3,806,001)
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31 Deferred income tax (continued)

Movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities without taking into
consideration the offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction is

31 BEFEH (8)
AAAR-—RBERRABRREHNBERT
EEFSREERERESHNT

as follows:
Deferred income tax assets: RIEFTISIRE
Losses Temporary
available for differences Temporary
offsetting arising differences
against future from LAT  arising from Unrealised Credit loss

taxable profits provision accruals profits allowance Others Total

RS LHEER EHER

RRER BEEEZ Ef2 BRBX
b=l pd 53 ERES BREE  RERER B Hit Hm
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TR TER TER TR TET TER
At1 January 2024 R2024E1 1R 149,183 2,568,764 90,143 453,957 145,398 178,293 3,585,738
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to REEFA/ (M) BEAZ
proft or loss during the year BIERE 15,725 (13,222) 4,516 42,608 2218 23,653 75,498
Exchange differences ERER (3,191) (54,937) (1,928) (9,709) (3,110) (731) (73,606)
At 31 December 2024 2024128311 161,717 2,500,605 92,731 486,856 144,506 201,215 3,587,630
At 1 January 2023 #2023 1518 80,080 2,570,376 38,508 403,452 133,221 150,710 3,376,347
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to KEETFA/ () BiERZ

profit or loss during the year BITHE 70,248 35,124 52,185 56,269 14,081 28,275 256,182
Exchange differences ERER (1,145) (36,736) (550) (5,764) (1,904) (692) 46,791)
At 31 December 2023 142023128318 149,183 2,568,764 90,143 453,957 145,398 178,293 3,585,738

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward
to the extent that the realisation of the related benefit through future
taxable profits is probable. The Group did not recognise deferred income
tax assets as at 31 December 2024 of HK$ 3,679,321,000 (2023:
HK$3,370,773,000) in respect of accumulated tax losses amounting to HK$
14,717,285,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$13,483,093,000).

FEFEHEERDAGENRBL KA
OEBEBRRERR N BERBAF R -HE
2024128310 » A EE IR FE £20245128
B MR SR FE53814,717,285,0007 75 (2023
F :13,483,093,00078 70) BRBELFEREE
3,679,321,0007 7 (20234 : 3,370,773,0003 7T) °
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31 Deferred income tax (continued) 31 BHEFTTSH ()
Deferred income tax liabilities: FEILEFTEREE !

Fair value Accelerated

adjustment tax

Withholding Revaluation arising from  depreciation

taxon  of investment Revaluation acquisition of on investment
dividend properties of assets  subsidiaries properties Others Total

VG o)

RENE RAREEZ REWEZ
REEMNR B BEEfR NAERE MERERE Hft #gm
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000

a7 TFHT TET THT THT TEL THT

At 1 January 2024 202461 B18 00692 2,798,352 176493 2,883,873 551,533 2079 7,391,739
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to REENR/ GtA) BERZ
profit or loss during the year BERE 2,419 (56,565) - (47,470) 10,993 64,262 (26,361)
Deferred tax charged to other comprehensive AEEHREMEERERZ
income during the year BERE - 11,907 - - - - 11,907
Exchange differences ERER (10,506) (59,847) (3,779) (61,676) (11,795) (2,923 (150,522)
At 31 December 2024 20244128318 692605 2,693,847 8 T 550,731 U135 7,206,763
At 1 January 2023 R0%3EIB1 675208 3267694 177627 3,110,379 535,009 1477 7,940,634
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to FEEMR/ GIA) BERZ
profitor loss during the year EEHIE 32,598 (t22,640) 1,405 (182,052) 24,170 107,112 (439,407)
Exchange diferences EREE 7114 (46,702) 2539 (44,454) (7,646) (1,039 (109,488)
At 31 December 2023 120235128318 00692 2,798,352 176493 2,883,873 551,533 2079% 7,391,739
For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have HREFENME  &ETREERBEBEERERE
been offset in the statement of financial position. The following is an AR R R P IEE o U T A EEER TR
analysis of the deferred tax balances of the Group for financial reporting SENMAELTRBEFETNDN
pUrpoSes:
2024 2023
20245 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Net deferred tax assets recognised in the RiGE M ER R RERIELRIE
consolidated statement of financial position ~ BEF{& 3,520,101 3,513,667
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the iR A BRI KRB IELERTE
consolidated statement of financial position ~ &1&3% (7,159,234) (7,319,668)

(3,639,133) (3,806,001)
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32 Contract liabilities 32 AHAE
2024 2023
20246 20235
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FAT
Contract liabilities BHERE 28,229,357 24,303,239
Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract liabilities of HERAMERLANEESRERTYEZ—
property development recognised are as follows: B sz ARG
The Group receives certain amount of deposit from customers when they rEERREFPEEEEREZRBREWEET
sign the sale and purchase agreements. These deposits are recognised as Ao Z LI eEIRARNER EEARAYE
contract liabilities until the relevant properties are completed and ready for ERI A HEETREA L
hand-over to the customers.
The Group may require the customers to pay off the remaining balance of FERTEREARBEIRNEETZRE

(a)

the consideration within an agreed timeframe while constructions are still
ongoing, rather than on the completion of the relevant properties. Such
advance payment schemes result in contract liabilities being recognised
throughout the remaining property construction period for the full amount of
the contract price.

Movements in contract liabilities (@)

Balance at 1 January 1B 2 &5

Recognition of revenue that was included BRREMSAGHNEEZNE
in the contract liabilities at the beginning of
the year

Receiving pre-sales deposits and instalments WETEE T & K5 HF0E

Recognition of revenue that was included in ~ BEREARFFASGHNEEBEZ NG
the contract liabilities during the year

Balance at 31 December 12831 B 2 &8

BEAMFERERNEZRFEENRAE.

BERRAREA I EERNEE

NeMERE

HER2BELNEREISNER

2024
20244
HK$’000
FET

24,303,239

(5,541,653)

13,015,040

(3,547,269)
28,229,357

2023
20234
HK$’000
FET

6,328,458

(3,562,945)

27,508,734

(5,971,008)
24,303,239

The amount of billings in advance of performance and pre-sales deposits
and instalments received expected to be recognised as income after more
than one year is HK$8,536,225,820 (2023: HK$13,690,094,000).

RHRBE-—FRBIARAZENENR

B BEEREWS BHIEAS
7% (20234 : 13,690,094,0005 7T) ©

,536,225,82078
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33 Trade and other payables 33 E 5 b H A AT R
2024 2023
20245 20235
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTAET FAT
Trade payables (note (a)) FETERFR (FiiaE(a)) 5,803,323 6,047,954
Other payables and accruals (note (b)) HitENIBRESER (D)) 12,655,152 16,482,215
Other taxes payable (note (c)) HAEARIE (M) 361,191 272,271
18,819,666 22,802,440
(a) Trade payables (a) FEMTERFR
The ageing analysis of the trade payables based on invoice date was as BRRTREEZ R BNRE MR T
follows:
2024 2023
20245 20235
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTAET FAT
Within 1 year —&ER 5,224,385 5,134,335
1 to 2 years —EEMER 171,538 438,086
2 to 3 years MEE=ZFERN 177,447 319,905
Over 3 years =&ML 229,953 155,628
5,803,323 6,047,954

The total amounts of the trade payables are non-interest-bearing. FENERTAARE AR st ERIA
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33 Trade and other payables (continued) 33 © 5 b H A AR ()
(b) Other payables and accruals (b) LA A5 30 e R T

HEtEN BN ERTEZRRENEER
BERE RARNBRARE  HMEKA R RIFE

Other payables and accruals mainly included amount due to joint ventures,

fellow subsidiaries, an other related company and non-controlling interests

of the Group. IR BITRIE o

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Accruals and other payables EstERMEMENIA 4,915,153 7,245,355
Output VAT to be transferred HFEHIER 2,427,725 2,160,749
Employee benefits payable eI EEEF 803,271 1,205,391

Dividend payables to non-controlling NES I E R
shareholders 88,435 77,204
Due to joint ventures ENEE AR ZHIE 12,601 228,984
Due to fellow subsidiaries EARRNEARZHE 1,906,341 2,143,286
Due to an other related company e EL MR A B 2 7 167,558 171,533
Due to non-controlling interests ENEZY T Tk V= 2,334,068 3,249,713
12,655,152 16,482,215

Details of dividends payable are as follows: EAREEBEMT

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAT
Hong Kong Xinchao Investment Co., Ltd. SR EBRERRAR 74,354 75,979
Others Hth 14,081 1,225
88,435 77,204

(c) Other taxes payables

Other taxes payables mainly included value-added taxes payables and other

taxes.

(c) AR HIE

HEtEANRATZEEBRMRERIEMR

THo
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34 Due to immediate and ultimate holding company 34 JETE & R R R A R ROE
2024 2023
20245 20235
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Non-current JEENER
Due to the immediate holding company e BT AT TIE 697,382 700,651
697,382 700,651
Current BHA
Due to the immediate holding company ENERERATZRE 3,638,644 3,194,490
Due to the ultimate holding company e RN B 78 18,652,676 17,653,750
22,291,320 20,848,240
22,988,702 21,548,891
35 Tax payable 35 JEfRIE
2024 2023
20245 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Current tax in the consolidated statement REMBIR RN NEARIE :
of financial position represents:
Provision for CIT TEMERER 696,275 983,053
Provision for LAT T ER 10,225,445 10,541,617

10,921,720

11,524,670
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36 Cash flow information

(a)

Cash generated from operations

36 HEm=Er
(a) RBEBELZHS

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
(Loss)/profit before taxation briAl (B518) /aF (822,191) 1,775,912
Adjustments for: BTSIERE
Finance costs MR A 1,381,486 1,244,915
Interest income FEWA (383,375) (253,863)
Depreciation and amortisation I R 413,580 401,847
Decrease/(increase) in fair value of REMEARERLD/ (M)
investment properties 227,877 (554,651)
Dividend income from other financial assets REEMEREE 2 KREWA (2,151) (2,168)
Share of profits less losses of EhaERE REE AR REE
joint ventures and associates 1,135,415 682,698
(Gain)/loss on disposal of items of HEYVE -BEMREERZ
property, plant and equipment (fs) /B8 (175) 3,916
Loss allowance of trade receivables, net FEUR R T E K BB 3 4 4,053 17,836
Loss allowance of prepayments, finance FETFIE BB R ]2 R EAE K
guarantees, deposits and other FIERLEEFE
receivables, net 4,908 8,861
Impairment losses of joint ventures and BERBERBERR ZRERE
associates 1,171,000 -
Write-down of inventory FEMR 306,731 51,710
Increase/(decrease) in fair value of FREBRBRANEHEZEHEE
financial assets at fair value through NAE G /B8
profit or loss, net (11,254) 75,025
Equity-settled share option expense MRS (T 7 BB AR RE R =2 38 229
3,425,942 3,452,267
Changes in working capital: EEEEE
Decrease in trade receivables and YGRS R EMEREERD
other financial assets 765,398 426,426
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, BAMIE T REMERTIE
deposits and other receivables L/ () 596,241 (2,394,002)
Decrease in inventories EERD 20,400 70,509
Decrease/(increase) in biological assets EMEERL/ (Em) 2,927 (548)
Increase in completed properties held for sale IF{ERE Z BEMEEM (13,609,352) (8,662,847)
Decrease in properties under development 2B H D 9,927,294 921,942
Decrease in trade payables FE(FER TR (115,284) (186,462)
(Decrease)/increase in other payables HttECRIERESER CRb) /12
and accruals (729,532) 873,967
Increase in contract liabilities BHEEEM 4,445,879 18,065,228
(Decrease)/increase in deferred income EIEUWA CRiZD) /120 (28) 787
Increase in restricted cash R HI3R &1 (2,696,660) (1,720,237)
Cash generated from operations REXEBEEE 2,033,225 10,847,030
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36 Cash flow information (continued) 36 HEHEER @)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities (b) ZREREEE 2 AME BHR
Due to the Loans from
ultimate non-controlling
Bank and and immediate Loans from Loans from holders and
other Lease holding fellow associates and  other related
borrowings liabilities company subsidiaries joint ventures party Total
ERRER EE JEiER
i) BREERAR WBAR HEAAR REREM
Hitife & HEafE ME 8% REAFER HMBAEX m
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TER TR TE7 TR TER TER THER
At 1 January 2024 R2024E181H 39,039,102 374,918 19,140,553 2,134,324 224,479 3,381,247 64,294,623
Changes from financing cash flows: REMEREREZEE
Proceeds from new hank loans WRTERERE 14,375,689 - - - - - 14,375,689
Repayment of bank loans BERTER (15,508,644) - - - - - (15,508,644)
Proceeds from loans from FEREREREHNE
non-controlling interests - - - - - 40,254 40,254
Repayments of loans from BEFERERED
non-controlling interests - - - - - (1,099,414) (1,099,414)
Proceeds from related parties REEBHZFETIE - - 7,743,218 - - - 7,743,218
Repayments of related parties il pAse - - (6,226,857) (282,351) - - (6,509,208)
Capital element of lease rentals paid BREREZEXHH - (116,352) - - - - (116,352)
Total changes from financing cash flows ~ RERERSREZEHEE (1,132,955) (116352) 1,516,361 (282,351) - (1,059,160)  (1,074457)
Interest paid included as change in JIfERERER2EE 2
operating cash flows: EffFIE: (1,702,595) (11,761) (294,754) 20,621 (9,588) (76,556)  (2,074,633)
Non-cash movement FREEH - 95,620 1,241,449 - (219,360) 21,573 1,145,282
Exchange differences EREE (588,129) (8,018) (383,646) (45,597) (1,363) (59,448)  (1,086,201)
Finance costs BT FRA 1,749,625 11,761 777,359 62,201 5,832 273,212 2,879,990
At 31 December 2024 R2024128318 37,365,048 346,168 21,997,322 1,889,198 - 2,486,868 64,084,604
At 1 January 2023 R2023E1A1H 40,222,209 190,790 18,092,832 1,803,046 228,904 8,260,442 68,798,223
Changes from financing cash flows: FEREREREZET:
Proceeds from new bank loans MRTEFFBRE 18,261,507 - - - - - 18,261,507
Repayment of hank loans RERTER (19,103,456) - - - - - (19,103,456)
Proceeds from loans from FEREGEENFENE
non-controlling interests - - - - - 67,316 67,316
Repayments of loans from REFERERER
non-controlling interests - - - - - (4,719,048) (4,719,048)
Proceeds from related parties REEEL ZFETE - - 15688326 393,117 - - 16081443
Repayments of related parties kA 2B - - (14205412 (97,671) - - (14,323,083)
Capital element of lease rentals paid EAREREZEAHH - (69,257) - - - = (69,257)
Total changes from financing cash flows ~ REMEREHEZ ZEEE (841,949) (69,257) 1,462,914 295,446 - (4651739 (3,804,578)
Interest paid included as change in FIEREREREEH
operating cash flows: BARNE: (1,893,969) (8,438) (884,557) - (6,756) (597,437 (3,391,157)
Non-cash movement FReEH - 256,112 - - - - 256,112
Exchange differences BEREH (348,499) (,721) (224,587) (28,034) (3,265) (87,858) (694,970)
Finance costs BBHA 1,901,310 8,438 693,951 63,866 5,596 457,832 3,130,093
At 31 December 2023 #2023%128318 39,039,102 374918 19,140,553 2,134,324 224,479 3,381,247 64,294,623
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36 Cash flow information (continued)
(c) Acquisition of right-of-use assets

36 BeRBRER (H)
(c) HEMEIRER

2024 2023
20245 20235
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Acquisition of right-of-use assets WEEEREEE 97,436 303,470
37 Financial guarantees 37 WMHHER
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
TER FTET
Financial guarantees to purchasers of BAEEYEE KRR BER
the Group’s properties (note (a)) (Hi5%(a)) 13,070,659 12,778,057
Financial guarantees to related parties of AL B S REMBER (EE0)
the Group (note (b)) 1,445,322 1,938,357
Financial guarantees to the parties AT EREE RIS UERIFEYE
affected by the urban renewal project, EAEIRY 2 ERUR M FER
using their demolished properties as (BFaE(C))
collateral for the loan (note (c)) 323,381 282,139

Pursuant to the terms of the financial guarantees, if there is default of
the mortgage payments by these purchasers, the Group is responsible
for repaying the outstanding mortgage loans together with any
accrued interest and penalty owed by the defaulted purchasers to
banks. The Group is then entitled to take over the legal title of the
related properties. The Group’s guarantee period commences from the
date of grant of the relevant mortgage loan and ends after the buyer
of the Group’s properties obtained the individual property ownership
certificate.

The directors consider that in case of default in payments, the net
realizable value of the related properties can cover the repayment of
the outstanding mortgage loans together with any accrued interest
and penalty and therefore no provision has been made in connection
with the guarantees.

REMBERFEER BRZFEREREE
MR AERBERENRAZRIBER
IR RRIRE R R R1T 2 A 57
SRR -sEERERAIBRUARNEZ
GIAMBRE -AERZERBEARLAER
HEENERRRBEREEYEERM
BENMERAERERER

EXRR HEKEIRR EENEZ
AERFERNENHREEZRBER
BREMEF BRI RRAZEE
RIEHB -
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37 Financial guarantees (continued)

(b)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has given guarantees amounted
to HK$1,445,322,000 (31 December 2023: HK$1,938,357,000)
in respect of bank loans and other borrowings to Taizhou Shum Yip
Investment Development Limited and Shum King Company Limited,
both of which are joint ventures of the Group.

The Group provided loan guarantees to the parties affected by the
urban renewal project, using their demolished properties as collateral
for the loan.

Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, if there is default on
repayment by these affected parties, the Group is responsible for
repaying the outstanding bank loans with any accrued interest and
penalties owed to the bank. The Group is then entitled to take over
the legal ownership of the repossessed properties. The Group’s
guarantee period extends from the date of signing the guarantee
contract until the affected parties obtain the ownership certificate of
the repossessed properties.

The directors consider that in case of default in payment, the net
realizable value of the related properties is sufficient to repay the
outstanding loans along with any accrued interest and penalties,
and therefore no provisions have been made in connection with the
guarantees.

38 Commitments
Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December 2024 not provided for in
the financial report were as follows:

Commitments in respect of the acquisition

of land and buildings, and development ZEEBITNEREE
costs attributable to properties under

development contracted, but not provided for

A S R R B R

37 MHsHELR (B

(b)

38 K

12024128310 AEBP R M HIRE
REERBRADREYERAR (ME
HAXREBSGE QT ZRTERREM
(& E512 11 445,322,000 7T (2023412831
H :1,938,357,00058 1) Z &R o

7 5 [ ) 49 7 5B AT IR B R B 75 AR IR
BYEEAREYZENREERER-

REBERFR HRIFBLEREN &
SRBERENRFEBARNZRITER
BUIRHRASRIT 2 AR F S R IR
BrrEEARBUCBENEZGEMN
Bl -AEEZERABEREBARIZ
REERFB LSRR EY XA EE
& e

EXEAR HEXRRE ERVEZAE
RPEERNEMNHREEZEMEREM
FESTH B R AR SR pl % 5 B Rt
o

122024512831 B W R {TE R AR R B Bk 5
HEGENEREKENT :

2024
20244
HK$’000
FERT

2023
20234
HK$’000
FET

MR LM RIET RERPYEERMAE

7,144,700 12,313,696

The Group agreed a maximum capital contribution to a related party,
Shum King Company Limited, of HK$3,000,000,000 for its development
of a piece of land in Hong Kong. As at 31 December 2024, the Group had
an outstanding capital commitment to Shum King Company Limited of
HK$1,542,500,000 (2023: HK$1,562,500,000).

AEERERSOBBH A FDBRARTE
3,000,000,000 8 TN EREE B 2 — R Mo
12024128318 ZEBHEFNER LB 2 H
RITEZ BARAIEA1,542,500,0007 75 (20234
1,562,500,00037T) ©
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39 Related party transactions

In addition to the financial guarantees provided to joint ventures disclosed
in note 37(b) and the capital commitments provided to a joint venture
disclosed in note 38, the Group had the following significant related party

transactions:

Financing arrangements

39 B LHRS

PRI EEST )T IRBH MG E A
R EFIRENE—EE
KEEN AEENEARBORZNT

(a) RUEZHE

AR AT
EARRMNE

() The Group entered certain financing arrangements with its related () FEFEREH I TE THELH-
parties.

2024 2023

20245 20235

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTERT TET

Loans from the ultimate holding company RERKERRABZER 18,349,939 15,889,902

Loans from the immediate holding company ~REBEZIZEBATZER 3,647,383 3,250,651

Loans from fellow subsidiaries RERAZMBABZER 1,889,199 2,134,324

Loans from a joint venture RE—FEEEREZER - 224,479

Loans from an other related company RE—BEMBERARZER 167,558 171,533

Loans from non-controlling interests REFERERZER 2,319,309 3,209,714

26,373,388 24,880,603

The balances are interest bearing at interest rates ranging from 2.3%
to 6.65% per annum (2023: 2.5% to 6.65% per annum). The relevant

finance costs are disclosed in note 10.

LEER IR F2.3%E6.65% M) FF =K (2023
F P2 5%ZE6.65%H FEFX) 5t B o 1B

MBS R B R0
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39 Related party transactions (continued) 39 BM RS (@)
Financing arrangements (continued) (a) MEEZHE (D)
The Group also provides loans to its related parties. ()  EEEEEBHIEHER
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
TERT FET
Loans to an associate BYHBENBZEMN 24,942 =
Loans to joint ventures A%é%’&?z &m 1,909,215 1,589,468
Loans to non-controlling interests MTIFERERZER 462,293 459,465
2,396,450 2,048,933
The interest income from the associates, joint ventures and non- HZE2024F12831HIEEE  REHE
controlling shareholders for the year ended 31 December 2024 were NEANEERB RIFERRKENF B U
HK$597,000 (2023: Nil), HK$229,057,000 (2023: HK$242,067,000) AR R A597,00058 7T (20234 © &) ~
and HK$10,526,000 (2023: HK$11,525,000) respectively. 229,057,0007 7T (20234 : 242,067,0007 7T)
1%10,526,00078 75 (20234 : 11,525,00078

(b)

The balances are interest bearing at rates ranging from 5.00% to
8.00% per annum (2023: from 5.00% to 8.00% per annum).

Leasing arrangements with related parties

0)

(ii

(i)

The Group entered leases in respect of certain leasehold properties
from its related parties, with lease terms ranging from 1 year to 3
years. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the amounts of
lease liabilities payable by the Group to its ultimate holding company,
immediate holding company and associates were HK$7,437,000
(2023: HK$5,098,000), HK$5,767,000 (2023: HK$7,859,000), and
HK$24,927,000 (2023: HK$26,318,000) respectively. The interest
expenses paid to its ultimate holding company, immediate holding
company and associates for the year ended 31 December 2024 were
HK$847,000 in aggregate (2023: HK$928,000), respectively.

The Group also entered into a lease arrangement with its ultimate
holding company and fellow subsidiaries as a lessor. For the year
ended 31 December 2024, the rental income in respect of the
lease arrangement was HK$7,086,000 (2023: HK$7,869,000) and
HK$5,581,000 (2023: HK$0).

The prices for the above transactions were determined based on
mutual agreement between the Group and related parties.

(b)

Jo) e

EERRIE N F-5.00%F8.00% K9 £ F =
F L F5.00%Z8.00% 89 FE A =

SA i i 75 R 65 22 B

) 380

(2023

) AEEREBRHANETHEYETLA
#> EEN F1E3F o H F20245F12831
HBEFE AEBREOERKERAT
BEREERABDRBERADZINEE :%ﬁ
35 77,437,0007 75 (20234 : 5,098,000
7T) ~5,767,0007 7T (20234 : 7,859,000
7T) 5224,927,0007 7T (20234 : 26,318,00078
70) B E20U4FE12BNBIEEE  ZHF
HEAERAE  BERERABRBEA

51847,00078 7t (20234 :

ANMEHRARE

928,00057T) ©

i) AEBEALBATEERKERAT
RAMBAGUAEZH- éizizozztﬁ
12BN BALEEE > BREAEZHNAS U
A 757,086,00038 75 (20234 : 7,869,000 7T)
%25,581,00058 7t (20234 : 03B 7T) ©

(i) ElRRFZZERDERERKEEFER

BEBRETE
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39 Related party transactions (continued)

(c)

Other related party transactions

0)

(ii

(i)

(iv)

The Group entered arrangements with its ultimate holding company
and fellow subsidiaries in which the Group provides management
services (training and property management). For the years ended
31 December 2024, the management fee income in respect of the
management services provided to the ultimate holding company and
fellow subsidiaries were HK$5,838,000 and HK$12,210,000 (2023:
HK$3,396,000 and HK$2,660,000).

The Group entered into arrangements with its ultimate holding
company in which the Group provides consulting services in respect
of certain agricultural lands and property development projects. For
the year ended 31 December 2024, the management fee income in
respect of these management services was HK$1,887,000 (2023:
Nil).

The Group entered into the development and construction services
agreement with the parent of its non-controlling interest. The parent
of its non-controlling interest will provide development, construction,
marketing and other services to the Group. The service fee shall be
determined and accrued and payable by the Group to the parent of
its non-controlling interest. For the year ended 31 December 2024,
the cost in respect of these services was HK$86,765,000, included
value-added tax (2023: HK$59,192,000). This transaction constitutes
the continuing connected transactions under Hong Kong Listing Rules.

The Group entered into the property management services
agreement with its fellow subsidiary. The Group will provide property
management service in relation to the property comprising office,
laboratories, apartments and commercial areas in Guangming District
Science City. The service fee shall be determined and accrued and
payable by the fellow subsidiary to the Group. For the year ended
31 December 2024, the revenue in respect of these services was
HK$21,147,000, included value-added tax (2023: HK$0). This
transaction constitutes the continuing connected transactions under
Hong Kong Listing Rules.

R 7 2 5 ()
A A 75 28

()

(i)

i)

(iv)

AEBLRERKRERADRBRZREA
BIFIALZH Bt AERREEERE
(BIIRMEER) -HZE20245128318
LEE BRARERERARDRRANEB
NEREEERFNEEERADE A
5,838,00075 7T 5 12,210,0007 75 ( 20234 :
3,396,0007 7T % 2,660,0007 7T) °

AEBRARKERARITUZH &
It AEBRETEERM R EFRLE
B tAA MRS - B E20245F12831H IE
EE AERSEERENESEERASL
1,887,000/ 75 (20234 : &) °

AEBERFERER 2 ARGIILRA
BRELREHE FEREREZBARE
AAEBRRMERE BR EHKEMR
BoREERBAERETE L ARTA
FHIFEFRERZBRAT  HZE2024512
BIBLFE BEMZERF 2 IEER
B A< 486,765,000 7T (20234 59,192,000
B7) cLBEBRZEMEALTRNET
MFERBER S o

AEBRERZRBEARTUNEEE
R Z  AEBEMUNLBERE 2
HYE (BERAE - BERE ABREE
&) RIEVEEERFZ -REEARZN
BARAEBE fREINFAER -HE
2024F 12BN BIEFE > BRAZEREN
W (B E1EER) £21,147,000% 7T (2023
E08BT) LB SEMEE LHRA
BTIHSERERS



Shenzhen Investment Limited ZEIIZERBEAT | 219
Annual Report %3k 2024

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

39 Related party transactions (continued)
Other related party transactions (continued)

(c)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

The Group also entered arrangements with its fellow subsidiaries
which provide hotel management services to the Group. For the year
ended 31 December 2024, the management fee in respect of these
event management sevices was HK$2,547,000 (2023: Nil).

The Group entered into the Digital Platform Development Agreements
and the Digital Platform Repair and Maintenance Services Agreements
with its ultimate holding company and fellow subsidiaries for the
provision of services of development and maintenance of digital
platforms and systems. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the
service fee income in respect of the development and maintenance
services provided to the ultimate holding company and fellow
subsidiaries were HK$9,594,000 and HK$9,517,000 respectively
(2023: HK$8,818,000 and HK$12,190,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group provided
development and construction services to the subsidiaries of its joint
venture, Tian An Cyber Park (Group) Co.,Ltd, the relevant revenue
earned is HK$25,060,000 (2023: HK$45,538,000).

The Group also entered arrangements with its fellow subsidiaries in
which the Group provided goods. For the year ended 31 December
2024, the amount of providing goods was HK$2,073,000 (2023: Nil).

The prices for the above mentioned transactions with related parties
were determined based on mutual agreement between the Group and
related parties.

39

A 1 S S R R B R

Wi 75 22 5 ()
LAt BB 75 52 5 (380)

(V)

(vi)

(vl

(vil)

(ix)

AEETRERANBARILTH &
It 1) 78 &2 B4R (1A 5 B IR AR 75 o 822024
FEVENBLEEE EHZERHEER
TR B E 72,547,000 7T (20234 : &) o

AEBRERKERADRBRZKEA
AMREEFTETERARNEE S R4
ERBM LT T RERBEE MR
BERAMRBF LT EERBEER BE
2024F 12831 BIEFE > BRRRKER
NERERITBABRME 2 FHEREE
AR 2 BR %5 & WA 2 B 9,594,00078 75 K
9,517,000 75 ( 20234 : 8,818,0007 7T &
12,190,00037T) °

HE204F12BHEEE  AEEBRE
BEARRZUGN (EB) BRARZHK
BABIR M ERIRTS > Fr B A 2 1868
Wi 73 7325,060,00078 7T (20234F : 45,538,000
BT ©

AEETEERANB AR LZH &
It AEBIRES A - 8 £20245F12831
HIEFE RHEERNEEE52,073,00087T
(20234 : 4E) o

LR R 5 2 BT AE B K B
HEERERERE-
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39 Related party transactions (continued)

(d)
(i

(il

(e)

Outstanding balances with related parties:

The Group had an outstanding balance due to its ultimate holding
company, fellow subsidiaries, joint ventures and non-controlling
interests were HK$302,737,000 (2023: HK$1,763,848,000),
HK$17,142,000 (2023: HK$8,962,000), HK$12,601,000 (2023:
HK$4,505,000) and HK$14,759,000 (2023: HK$39,999,000) as
at the end of the reporting period. The Group had an outstanding
balance due from ultimate holding company, immediate holding
company, fellow subsidiaries and non-controlling interests were
HK$32,188,000 (2023: HK$39,124,000), HK$1,143,000 (2023:
HK$9,364,000), HK$24,312,000 (2023: HK$37,166,000) and
HK$50,501,000 (2023: HK$51,831,000) as at the end of the
reporting period. These balance are unsecured, interest-free and has
no fixed terms of repayment.

Details of the Group’s loans to its associates as at the end of the
reporting period are included in note 19 to the financial statements,
and details of the Group’s loans to its joint ventures are included in
note 18 to the financial statements.

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group

39

R 75 2 5 ()
B 77 R R A5 R

)

(i

R

RBERR > AEBRTERKTERA
A -EEMBAT 52N RFEZR
BEMEREELR DA A302,737,000
HIT (20234 : 1,763,848,0005 1) ~
17,142,000 70 ( 20234 : 8,962,000
HBr) ~12,601,000% 7% (20234 :
4,505,000 75) K14,759,000% 75 (2023
£ 139,999,000 7T) c RIEEHK
AEARRREKERAR - BRERA
B RAMNBABAKRIFERERHNKE
BN FA32,188,0008 T (2023
& 1 39,124,000%75) ~1,143,000% 7T
(20234 : 9,364,000 %) * 24,312,000
#Er (20234 : 37,166,000 7m) &
50,501,000 7T (20234 : 51,831,0005
TT) cRERBAREE - REEEE

=y

EERIR

REREMFR > AEERHBZEATER
HRERMBERENE 19 MAEERE
GERBERNFRHN B HREME
180

HEEEFAR M

2024 2023

20245 20234

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAT

Short-term employee benefits R ESET 13,739 14,398
Post-employment benefits RIKEF] 1,947 3,193
Share-based payments BB (IHIE 38 229
Total compensation paid BB E 425 15,724 17,820
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40 Statement of financial position and reserve movement of

the Company

A S R R B R

40 AN EIR BRI B Gk A S B

2024 2023
20245 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FAT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment MEBEREZE 271 324
Interests in subsidiaries KRB AR Z #m 38,590,422 41,660,729
Investments in associates RBERATZKE 13,424 13,424
38,604,117 41,674,477
Current assets MEEE
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables  TB{TTRIE ~ 5] & K H A FEULFUIE 1,060 1,626
Financial assets at fair value through PREERANEHEZEREE
profit or loss 894 906
Cash and cash equivalents RBeRIREEEY 658,931 555,037
660,885 557,569
Current liabilities nE AR ‘
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 5,286,128 6,225,995
Other payables and accruals HthEARIBERESER 641,700 675,060
Due to the ultimate holding company e RSB A Bl 7038 40,686 41,575
Due to the immediate holding company e EZERA B TIE 3,423,261 2,998,138
9,391,775 9,940,768
Net current assets ENEERE (8,730,890) (9,383,199)
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBHEE 29,873,227 32,291,278
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 9,573,654 9,482,483
9,573,654 9,482,483
Equity gy
Share capital and premium B A K (B 22,071,756 22,071,756
Other reserves HAtnf# 108,561 108,523
Retained earnings RBEF (1,880,744) 628,516
Total equity FES4E%E 20,299,573 22,808,795
Total equity and non-current liabilities BHlERIERBERE 29,873,227 32,291,278

The statement of financial position of the Company was approved by the
Board of Directors on 28 March 2025 and were signed on its behalf.

Mr. WANG Yuwen
EIEXRE
Director
EF

A ARHBRRBRN0BFIANACEEE
ot BRAHE

Ms. SHI Xiaomei
FEERT
Director
EZ
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40 Statement of financial position and reserve movement of
the Company (continued)

40 AL BRI R B kA S B ()

Reserve movement of the Company YNNI AR

Share Other Retained
capital reserves earnings Total
i Hithf#E REEM 1%
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET TAET TAT
At 1 January 2024 120241818 22,071,756 108,523 628,516 22,808,795
Total comprehensive income for the year & A2 E I & A2 5B - - (1,886,344) (1,886,344)
Cash dividends REKE - - (622,916) (622,916)
Equity-settled share option expense MRAS Tz ERERS - 38 - 38
At 31 December 2024 2024F128318 22,071,756 108,561 (1,880,744) 20,299,573
At 1 January 2023 120231818 22,071,756 108,294 1,118,712 23,298,762
Total comprehensive income for the year — £E /9 & [ Ui & 42 48 - - 755,635 755,635
Cash dividends HBERE - - (1,245,831) (1,245,831)
Equity-settled share option expense DR AR (T 7 BB IR RERE =2 = 229 = 229
At 31 December 2023 2023F12831H 22,071,756 108,523 628,516 22,808,795

41 Contingencies 41 HEFHE

On 29 November 2024, Chengdu Fengze Investment Co., Ltd and Shum Yip
Terra (Holdings) Company Limited (collectively, “Subsidiaries”), both being
non-wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Group, received a statement of claim
from the Intermediate People Court of Chengdu City regarding the claims
by Sichuan Haofu Industrial Co., Ltd. against the Subsidiaries and four
individuals (all of the individuals are not directors or senior management
of the Company) regarding the disputes in earnings distribution over the
investment of “198” Congshu Area in Chenghua district, Chengdu, the
People’s Republic of China, with a claim amount of approximately RMB220
million. The first trial of the case commenced on 24 December 2024 and
is now in progress. Chengdu Fengze Investment Co., Ltd and Shum Yip
Terra (Holdings) Company Limited have engaged external legal advisers to
handle the litigation, and will rigorously defend the litigation to protect the
legitimate interest of the Group. Based on the current assessment and the
legal opinions, management considers that the litigation has no material
adverse financial impact on the operations of the Group.

R2024F11 5298 B 2 EREBR LB KF
£ (&R RHBRAE HEHBAR)

(MEARHEAREENEEZERBAR) &
EMEBHRRAREREHNRERERR B
ROEREXRERABNPEAREMER
WhkEE198) R A BREN W@ 2B A
HNEMBARREAEAN FIEEAHLEEA
BAEEHNSREEAS) RENRR BAREE
W2 28T AR « ZRUFE—FHR 2024125248 54
B EEEER RS 2RERRAGRFE
&% (EE) RNERADEREINSZEMEE
Fah MR BBE R RENHURERER
MEzEm RERRTIERZEER EEE
BEFAFEHAEENEBERNEARTIE
B o
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42 Particulars of principal subsidiaries 42 FHHE A RS
The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2024, all of DT AR2024F 1283 BEENBEAGRE &
these are limited liability companies: EZREHAEREE LT
Nominal value of
issued and fully Proportion of ordinary

Name

4R

Shum Yip Terra (note ¢ & )
RERN (Hskcke)

Shum Yip Pengji Holdings
Co., Ltd. (note a & ¢)
RERE (EE) ARAR
(Hf3Eake)

Shum Yip Investment (Shenzhen)
Co., Ltd. (note a & )
¥P“H§(, ) BRAE
GEO)

Shum Yip Southern Land (Holdings)
Co., Ltd. (note a & )

REBANE ERBRAT
GBSO

Shum Yip Taifu Logistics Group
Holdings Co., Ltd. (note b)

ﬁ%ﬁ%@m%lkm
BRAF (Mzth)

Shum Yip Property Operation
Group Co., Ltd

RENEEEEERN
BRAH

Xinwang Industrial Development
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd (note a)
WREERE (RN ARAF

(Fiyta)

Place of
registration

st e

PRC

hE

PRC

el

PRC

hE

PRC

hE

paid share capital/
paid-in capital
ERTRAR
Kx/ B
BEFEE

RMBB00,000,000
AR #800,000,00070
RMB1,032,050,000

AR #1,032,050,0007T

US$710,000,000

710,000,000 7T

RMB50,000,000

A 850,000,007

RMB323,799,552

AR #323,799,5527T

RMB30,000,000

A 130,000,007

US$100,744,000

100,744,000 7

Proportion of equity interest

held by the Group
KERFEZRED R
2024 2023
20245 2023
75% 75%
75% 75%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
98% 98%
98% 98%
93% 93%
93% 93%
95% 95%
95% 95%

shares held by non-
controlling interests

FEREEEE
EERIH
2024 2023
20245 2023F
25% 25%
25% 25%
0% 0%
0% 0%
0% 0%
0% 0%
0% 0%
0% 0%
2% 2%
2% 2%
7% 7%
7% 7%
5% 5%
5% 5%

Principal activities and
place of operation

IREBREENHN

Property investment and development
in the PRC
RAERENERERBEE

Property investment and development
in the PRC
RAERENERERBER

Investment Holding in the PRC

RPEREEREER

Property development in the PRC
NEETEE Y E S
Operation of warehouses and
property development in the PRC
RAERELEER K
MR

Property management in the PRC

RPEENEEE

Property development in the PRC

RS
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42 Particulars of principal subsidiaries (continued)

Nominal value of

issued and fully
Place of paid share capital/  Proportion of equity interest
Name registration paid-in capital held by the Group
BETRARE
ek &S
i 2 BXEE FEEREZREDHD
2024 2023
UE NBE
Shenzhen Kezhigu Investment PRC RMB784,528,950 100% 100%
Limited (note b)
FITHZARERRAT  HE AR #784,528,9507C 100% 100%
(Hi3ED)
Shenzhen Nongke Holdings PRC RMB200,000,000 100% 100%
Company Limited (note b)
AMImENEEERAT HE K 200,000,007 100% 100%
(Fsth)
Shenzhen Shum Yip Sky Park PRC RMB100,000,000 100% 100%
Co., Ltd (note b)
FlmRERHERAT HE AR 100,000,007 100% 100%
(Rrth)
Ma'anshan Shenye Real Estate PRC RMB70,000,000 100% 100%
Co., Ltd. (note b)
BRIFEHEERAT HE AR 70,000,0007¢ 100% 100%
(Hi3ED)
Shenzhen real estate (Guangzhou)  PRC RMB50,000,000 100% 100%
Co., Ltd. (note b)
AEEH (BN BRAT A AR 50,000,007 100% 100%
(Hi3ED)
Zhongshan Shenye Wansheng PRC RMB1,000,000,000 44% 44%
Investment Co., Ltd. (note h&f)
HUmAEEBEREERAT A A #1,000,000,00070 4% 44%
GED)))
Shenzhen Nongke Dongcheng PRC RMB10,000,000 100% 100%
Real Estate Co., Ltd. (note b)
MITERRHEXERAT A AR #10,000,0007T 100% 100%
(Rrth)
Shenzhen Jinzhi Logistics PRC RMB100,000,000 53% 53%
Development Co., Ltd. (note b)
REEBMRERAERAE HE AE#100,000,0007¢ 53% 53%

(Hf=b)

42

T ZWHE A Al (8D

Proportion of ordinary
shares held by non-
controlling interests

FERERRE

EERIH
2024 2023
20245 2023F
0% 0%
0% 0%
0% 0%
0% 0%
0% 0%
0% 0%
0% 0%
0% 0%
0% 0%
0% 0%
56% 56%
56% 56%
0% 0%
0% 0%
47% 47%
47% 47%

Principal activities and
place of operation

TREBREENH

Property development and property
investment in the PRC

RAERENERER
MERE

Property development and property
investment in the PRC

RPEEENERER
MERE

Property development in the PRC

KPR ENERSE

Property development in the PRC
JNEETEE Y E L

Property development in the PRC

R ENRRE

Property investment and development
in the PRC
RAEEENERERAE

Property management in the PRC

RPBRENREE

Business services in the PRC

JSSETE S e



Particulars of principal subsidiaries (continued)

Chengdu Shenye Tairan Huacheng
Real Estate Development
Co., Ltd. (note b)

AT RE R AE R B E
HMEBRAT (i)

Shenzhen Shenye Minghong
Real Estate Development
Co., Ltd. (note b)

TR EAR ERE
BRAE (M)

Suzhou New Development
Investment Co., Ltd. (note b)

BHHERRERRAT
(HizED)

Shenzhen Yunwan Real Estate
Co., Ltd. (note b)

FIHmEEEXERAR
(Bt3ED)

Nanjing Shenwan Real Estate
Co., Ltd. (note b)

ARFEEXERAT
(Firh)

Shum Yip Land Co., Ltd. (note b)
REEHERAF ()

Shenzhen Mingsheng Real Estate
Co., Ltd. (note b)

FI TR E
BREFAF (fizkn)

Shenzhen Huaju Real Estate
Co., Ltd (note b)

R TREEEHERRAR
(Miztn)

Place of
registration

st

PRC

e

PRC

e

PRC
G

PRC
e

Nominal value of
issued and fully
paid share capital/
paid-in capital
ERTRAR
kx/ BH
BFE

¥

RMB50,000,000

A #50,000,0007C

RMB100,000,000

A #100,000,0007

RMB800,000,000

AR #800,000,00070

RMB10,000,000

A 10,000,007

RMB10,000,000
AR #10,000,0007T
RMB1 807,600,000
AR #4,807,600,0007T
RMB10,000,000

A 810,000,007

RMB10,000,000

A #10,000,0007T
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Proportion of equity interest

42 FEWE AR (8D

held by the Group

SEBEZRED R
2024 2023
0A4F 20236
75% 75%
75% 75%
65% 65%
65% 65%
100% 100%
100% 100%
51% 51%
51% 51%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
51% 51%
51% 51%

Proportion of ordinary
shares held by non-
controlling interests

FEREREE

EERIH
2024 2023
2245 2023F
25% 25%
25% 25%
35% 35%
35% 35%
0% 0%
0% 0%
49% 49%
49% 49%
0% 0%
0% 0%
0% 0%
0% 0%
0% 0%
0% 0%
49% 49%
49% 49%

Principal activities and
place of operation

TEEBREENN

Property development in the PRC

KRB MR

Property development in the PRC

RAERENERS

Property development in the PRC

KRB EMEF

Property development in the PRC

RPEHRE MR

Property development in the PRC
NGlETEE S E S
Investment Holding in the PRC
RPEREREER
Property development in the PRC

RS ER

Property development in the PRC
NEETEnE 2y E Sk
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Place of paid share capital/  Proportion of equity interest
Name registration paid-in capital held by the Group
BETRARE
/&S
Eu 2 BREE FEEREZREDHD
2024 2023
20245 0235
Shenzhen Jinghua Display PRC RMB36,000,000 70% 70%
Electronics Co., Ltd (note c)
R BEBREFRN HE AE1#36,000,0007C 70% 70%
BRAR (fizk)
Shenye Center Development PRC RMB37,919,000 100% 100%
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd (note b)
RETOERE(RINBRAT A %37,919,0007 100% 100%
(Firh)
Taizhou Shenye Real Estate PRC RMB10,000,000 100% 100%
Co., Ltd. (note b)
ZMNF£EXBRAR HE A 10,000,0007c 100% 100%
(Frh)
Shanghai Shenjiadong Real Estate  PRC RMB10,000,000 100% 100%
Co., Ltd. (note h)
LEREREXERRAE T AR #10,000,0007¢ 100% 100%
(Hi3ED)
Shenzhen Nongke Real Estate PRC RMB30,000,000 100% 100%
Co., Ltd. (note h)
A TEHNEZERAT HE AE#30,000,0007c 100% 100%
(MizEh)
Brightful Investment Hong Kong USD50,000 100% 100%
Holding Limited
Brightful Investment &8 50,000% 7 100% 100%
Holding Limited
MEDOS LIMITED Hong Kong USD50,000 100% 100%
MEDOS LIMITED &% 50,0005 7% 100% 100%
Shenzhen Taiyuntong (note b) PRC RMB10,000,000 38% 38%
AINRER (k) hE K #10,000,0007c 38% 38%
Wuhan Shenye Tairan Real Estate ~ PRC RMB130,000,000 75% 75%
Development Co., Ltd. (note b)
REMAZZARMAERE HE B 130,000,007 75% 75%

BRAF ()

42 Particulars of principal subsidiaries (continued)

Nominal value of
issued and fully

42

T ZWHE A Al (8D

Proportion of ordinary
shares held by non-
controlling interests

FERERRE

EERIH
2024 2023
20245 2023F
30% 30%
30% 30%
0% 0%
0% 0%
0% 0%
0% 0%
0% 0%
0% 0%
0% 0%
0% 0%
0% 0%
0% 0%
0% 0%
0% 0%
62% 62%
62% 62%
25% 25%
25% 25%

Principal activities and
place of operation

TREBREENA

Manufacturing in the PRC
KA ERE

Property development in the PRC

R MR

Property development in the PRC

KPR ENERSE

Property development in the PRC
JNEETEE Y E L

Property development in the PRC

R ENERE

Investment Holding in Hongkong
China
RAEEAEREER

Investment Holding in Hongkong
China
RPEEBNLEREER

Property development in the PRC
RPEEEEmEE

Property development in the PRC

R EMER
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42 Particulars of principal subsidiaries (continued)

Nominal value of
issued and fully

Place of paid share capital/  Proportion of equity interest
Name registration paid-in capital held by the Group
BEITRARE
kB4
Eu sEff 2 BFXEE FEEREZREDSD
2024 2023
2UE N0E
Shenzhen Shenye Tairan New Era ~ PRC RMB249,800,000 75% 75%
Co., Ltd. (note h)
FINTRERIMIER HE A 249,800,007 75% 75%
BIRAT (izk)
Shenzhen International Qianhai PRC RMB10,000,000 50% 50%
Real Estate (Shenzhen)
Co., Ltd. (note b)
FERABEE (F) HE A B #10,000,0007¢ 50% 50%
BRAF (k)
Shenzhen Women and PRC RMBS82,000,000 99% 99%
Children Building Operation
Management Co., Ltd. (note b)
MITFERAREEEEE HE A E 82,000,007 99% 99%

RAE (k)

A S R R B R

42 FEWE AR (8D

Proportion of ordinary
shares held by non- Principal activities and
controlling interests place of operation

FEREDSE
&R TREBREENA
2024 2023

2245 2023F

25% 25%  Property management in the PRC

25% X% REEAREYEER

50% 50%  Property development and property
investment in the PRC

50% 50% REESMERERNER
B

1% 1% Property management in the PRC

1% 1% RPERENEREE

(@) Established in the PRC as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise.

(b)  Established in the PRC as a domestic enterprise with limited liability.

(c)  Established in the PRC as a Sino-foreign joint venture enterprise.

(d)  Established in the PRC as a domestic enterprise limited by shares.

(e)  Subsidiaries directly held by the Company.

(f) Although the Group’s effective ownership interest in this company was less than
50%, the management considers that the Group controls this company through more

than 50% voting power in the board or shareholders’ meeting of this company and
therefore this company is accounted for as subsidiary of the Group.

The English names of the Mainland China companies referred to above in
this note represent management’s best efforts in translating the Chinese
names of those companies as no English names have been registered or
available.

@ BRI AINEEERE-

b MRPBERIBSENBEREEEE-

© HRHRBEEIARIGEDRE-

@ HRPBEEIAENRBERAR -

e HERBEEFAZIIBAR-

f BEFAEERZABDNERMAREZ D
150% > BEEERBEEBBEBIRZ AT
EEENRRAGEALNN LA ER

EHZAT L ZABEAEERBNN
BAB AR

BRI 2% 1) o kA S 42 SR S0 0 7 » A B 5 b XA
RAZPEAREAARXEBAREEEER
RABNEEZE AR XL
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43 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies
43.1 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

(@

(b)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which
the Group has control. The Group controls an entity where the Group
is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the
Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business
combinations by the Group (refer to note 43.2).

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on
transactions between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting policies
of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries
are shown separately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity
and statement of financial position respectively.

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant
influence but not control or joint control. This is generally the case
where the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method
of accounting, after initially being recognised at cost.

43 HAMTEAEE R G R BORE
43.1 AfFRrER & HkERI

(@)

()

Mg 4 ]
WEARATEERREGENAAEEE
(BEEELER) E45ER2HE—

BRENEREETRERLH L EIZE
BRI MRGEGE - WEBATS
EHEBBEAEECHEZESH M
BREBERELZ HERREH-

AEEGERARBE iR ERSHESTD
SHERIE (B RMTEE43.2) o

REZBZRF EBREERF 2 EER
RAEF WG T UHH - REFERT T
LHH BERZERBEAEEEE
HIFHE B AR G BRERFRNE
HEE LRREAXEBRMZERE
M=%

WEARLER RERHFEREEST
REaBER PERER REEHE

RYBRRETEBZS
BEAE]
WEARIEFMAAEENEEREAYE

NEEEHERBSEHENER —R
BRT AEBFH0%E0NREE R
BERBDZREBERDT MM EEREERA
BmEsEARe
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43 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies
(continued)
43.1 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting (continued)

()

(@

Joint arrangements

Under HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements investments in joint
arrangements are classified as either joint operations or joint
ventures. The classification depends on the contractual rights and
obligations of each investor, rather than the legal structure of the
joint arrangement. The Group has assessed the nature of its joint
arrangements and determined them to be joint ventures.

Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method,
after initially being recognised at cost in the consolidated statement
of financial position.

Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially
recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s
share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee in profit
or loss, and the Group’s share of movements in other comprehensive
income of the investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends
received or receivable from associates and joint ventures are
recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.

Where the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted investment
equals or exceeds its interest in the entity, including any other
unsecured long-term receivables, the Group does not recognize
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on
behalf of the other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its
associates and joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s interest in these entities. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity-accounted
investees have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments is tested for
impairment in accordance with the policy described in note 43.9.

43

43.1

A 1 S S R R B R

Hfth 718 R @ st BORMEE (D)

& f b e &t I A (5D

()

(@

BELH

REEEMBREERFBIRBE X
REEZHNRERDEAHEGEENS
AT ZNBHAREREEN GO
BAMREME MBS LHBVERRE-
FEBCHEEBERHNNE  REE

ERBENT

REERTNRENGEMBR TR
BN AER R UL A AR

#i

REBZGsHA REMGRMARET
HBETHABRUNEnERBAEE DG
BREF BRGNS RL N HM2
HW@ERESERREDHth2E N a
NWEF EWRABERBEADRGEART
iR SRAARERDEDR

WAEED R ARRENBESN S
BEARZERNED (BEEAAME
BRRRMAEKRE) RIEEEF SRR
E—IER BFEAXRS—BERRESR
EREH TR

FEEEREBMERTIRGERDZERS
WAREF R AEERZEBRENER
FUEE - REFEETT T UHE B4
BRRZRUMBEEENELZE R
o ARKRESNEHBREER
ERFUAE  UBRFRESEEMENG
STBER—He

BEARREREERRN E43.9F7 1 E
RETHER
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43 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies
(continued)
43.1 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting (continued)

(€

Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do
not result in a loss of control as transactions with equity owners of
the Group. A change in ownership interest results in an adjustment
between the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling
interests to reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling
interests and any consideration paid or received is recognised in a
separate reserve within equity attributable to owners of the Company.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity account for an
investment because of a loss of control, joint control or significant
influence, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair
value with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss.
This fair value becomes the initial carrying amount for the purposes
of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate,
joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit
or loss or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRS Accounting Standards.

If the ownership interest in a joint venture or an associate is
reduced but joint control or significant influence is retained, only a
proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where
appropriate.

43 HAMEAEE ARG BORME (8

43.1 GfFRHER G at IR (5D

(€

HEREEDE

FEER I ERRAZH RN IFERED
RARERFEAET B AN S
FREnZERERAFERERRE
BRAEZ DR RER B AT RERE
moFERERAEHELEMENAB
KWABREZERERR AR RERFRE
hEnhZ BBHARENERS -

HAEBRERREZHE HKRZHENE

FEOMRIERRESH AR BB
AR HRZERZ ARG EDKER
AEEMFE MEAEEBANERA
B MHEBARIHMELT GEA
ANEHEENREREaMS R ANE
AAMRREE WL ZaEHMER
W2 EREINEMERBENRE
BEERHERREENRGRAKR B
AREARCHERMEAKRDNERZE
BEMNEERaNBREEREENE
REEH G EAME Tz B —#i
18h o

W —EaEARNBME AT NERER
HHAVERBLFEFEIEAZEN
Alemr Hth 2 m R m RS RER —
ELAREEHRNEERE WMBA) -
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43 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies

(continued)

43.2 Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business
combinations, regardless of whether equity instruments or other assets are
acquired. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary
comprises the:

° fair values of the assets transferred

° liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired business

e equity interests issued by the group

e  fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement, and

e fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary.

|dentifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed
in a business combination are, with limited exceptions, measured initially
at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-
controlling interest in the acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate
share of the acquired entity’s net identifiable assets.

Concentration test as prescribed by HKFRS 3 “Business Combination”
has been applied by the Group to consider whether the set of activities
and assets of subsidiaries acquired are individually businesses. If the fair
value of total net assets acquired substantially equals to the fair value of
an identifiable asset acquired, the transaction would be accounted for as
asset acquisition instead of business acquisition. The consideration is then
directly allocated to the individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

43

43.2

A 1 S S R R B R

Hfth 718 R @ st BORMEE (D)

FBa 0
AEERBURESHENMBERE S H AR
MERESREREIENEMEE WE—
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nE R
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2R 5 & B P U B B9 T 380 Al B e P AR R Y
BERFEER DREBRBEBEANAAER
£ W DBAIMETIRIN - S EBIREE R URHE
EERANEIFEREDEEREEERR
WA BEEFENLARSNREBEENTM
IR

AEBERBEBVBREER BN XKL
I PTARE BV E RIS > DA PR R BB B A
AN—RIEBREERT DM X - WA
WEEEFERENAABRCKETARE
ENAAERBRE AIRGREAREEKRE
MEEHFUBAR ERERABERIEE
R BRI Rl # R B E R AENE R

R R A IS B R S8 o



Shenzhen Investment Limited ZF3IZRAFRAT

232
Annual Report E$§ 2024

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
&7 O A B R BN R

Hfth 18 R @ R BOR B (D)

43 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies 43
(continued)

43.2 Business combinations (continued) 43.2 EBEOF ()
The excess of the: TH&IE

° consideration transferred,

o amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity, and

° acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the
acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as
goodwill. If those amounts are less than the fair value of the net identifiable
assets of the business acquired, the difference is recognised directly in
profit or loss as a bargain purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the
amounts payable in the future are discounted to their present value as at
the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s incremental
borrowing rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be
obtained from an independent financier under comparable terms and
conditions. Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or a
financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial liability are subsequently
remeasured to fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date
carrying value of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the
acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any gains or
losses arising from such remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss.

s FIEEAB:

s RUBEERNTIAFEREZEEH K

o RRUBERTANEARENKERD
MRnE

BHAKERHANEEFENARER HE
BLUEEIR ML ASBENTREREH
BAIBEFENANE BREREFESA—1E
HEREERNRmED -

HEMBIREABNEEERT  AREN
TRMEERER R R ABNREREBK
MRXZEENEEMEER BN LR
T IR BUREAGESEMUGBERN
ME-FARNBNERRTAEREE - DES
THERNERHRENAEEAAE AR
EEFHNIBmED

MEBEHIBRET WRELTARER
BB 75 OB RS Uk B B RV BR B E IS UK BE B R
BNRANEE - REMENABHREEN
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43 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies

(continued)

43.2 Business combinations (continued)

Disposals of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained interest in the entity
is re-measured to its fair value at the date when control is lost, with the
change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is
the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting
for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset.
In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. It means the amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to
profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRS Accounting Standards.

43.3 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment.
Cost also includes direct attributable costs of investment. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon
receiving dividends from these investments if the dividend exceeds the
total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period the dividend
is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including goodwill.

43.4 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal
reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker.

The Group’s most senior executive management assesses the financial
performance and position of the Group and makes strategic decisions of
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations. They have been
identified as being the chief operating decision maker, consists of the chief
executive officer, the chief financial officer and the managers for corporate
planning.

43

43.2

43.3

43.4
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43 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies
(continued)

43.4 Segment reporting

(continued)

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar economic
characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products
and services, the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products or provide the
services, and the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

43.5 Foreign currency translation

@

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’).
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollar (HK$), which is the Company’s functional and presentation
currency.

Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at year end exchange
rates are generally recognised in profit or loss. They are deferred in
equity if they relate to qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net
investment hedges or are attributable to part of the net investment in
a foreign operation.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings are
presented in the statement of profit or loss. All other foreign exchange
gains and losses are presented in the statement of profit or loss on a
net basis within other gains.

43
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43 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies
(continued)
43.5 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(b)

()

Transactions and balances (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when
the fair value was determined. Translation differences on assets and
liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of the fair value
gain or loss. For example, translation differences on non-monetary
assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair value through profit
or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain
or loss and translation differences on non-monetary assets such as
equities classified as fair value through other comprehensive income
are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign operations (none of
which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have
a functional currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

o assets and liabilities for each consolidated statement of
financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that statement of financial position;

o income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss and
statement of comprehensive income are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable approximation of
the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the
dates of the transactions), and

e all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation
of any net investment in foreign entities, and of borrowings and other
financial instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are
recognised in other comprehensive income. When a foreign operation
is sold or any borrowings forming part of the net investment are
repaid, the associated exchange differences are reclassified to profit
or loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.
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43 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies
(continued)
43.5 Foreign currency translation (continued)

()

(@

Group companies (continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a
foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
operation and translated at the closing rate.

Disposal of foreign operation and partial disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
a disposal involving loss of joint control over a joint venture that
includes a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of significant
influence over an associate that includes a foreign operation), all of
the currency translation differences accumulated in equity in respect
of that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result in the Group
losing control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the
proportionate share of accumulated currency translation differences
are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised
in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (that is, reductions in
the Group’s ownership interest in associates or joint ventures that do
not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint control),
the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange difference is
reclassified to profit or loss.

43.6 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation
and any impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised
as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and
the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of
the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are
charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which they are
incurred.
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Summary of other potentially material accounting policies
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, the principal annual rates used for this purpose are
as follows:

Ownership interest in over the

leasehold land lease terms
Buildings 1.9% 10 3.2%
Building improvements 19%

9.5% to0 23.8%
9.5% to 19%
9.5% t0 33.7%

Plant and machinery
Transportation equipment
Furniture, fitting and equipment

Furniture, fittings and equipment include assets improvement services
received from suppliers. These assets and other leasehold improvements
are depreciated over the shorter of their useful life or the lease term, unless
the entity expects to use the assets beyond the lease term.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount (note 43.9).

Construction in progress represents the direct costs of construction or
installation incurred of property, plant and equipment less any impairment
losses. No provision for depreciation is made on construction in progress
until such time the relevant assets are completed and put into use.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for use.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds
with carrying amount and are recognised within ‘other gains — net’ in the
consolidated income statement.
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43 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies
(continued)
43.7 Intangible assets

@)

(b)

Gooawill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries represents the
excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value
of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of
the identified net assets acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is allocated to each of the cash-generating
units (“CGUs”), or Groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination. Each unit or Group of units to which
the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within the entity
at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.
Goodwill is monitored at the operating segment level.

Goodwill is not amortized but its impairment reviews are undertaken
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate a potential impairment. The carrying value of the CGU
containing the goodwill is compared to the recoverable amount, which
is the higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal.
Any impairment is recognised immediately as an expense and is not
subsequently reversed.

Concession right

The Group adopts the construction and operation transfer method
to participate in the operation of infrastructure facilities. The Group
obtains the management right of the facility from the national
administrative department (contract awarding party) and participates
in the construction and operation of the facility. After the expiration of
the management rights, the Group shall hand over the relevant project
to the state administrative department.
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43 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies
(continued)
43.7 Intangible assets (continued)
(b)  Concession right (continued)
If the contract stipulates that the Group has the right to collect fees
during a certain period of operation after the completion of the
relevant infrastructure facility, but the amount of fees is uncertain,
such right does not constitute an unconditional right to receive
cash, and the Group recognizes intangible assets when the relevant
construction costs are incurred. These costs are amortised over the
concession period on a straight-line basis.

(c)  Computer software
Acquired computer software programmes are capitalised on the basis
of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software.
These costs are amortised over the estimated useful lives of 5 to
10 years on a straight-line basis. Costs associated with maintaining
computer software programmes are recognised as an expense as
incurred.

(d)  Research and development expenses
Research and development expenditure incurred on projects to
develop new products is capitalised and deferred only when the
Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing
the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its
intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how
the asset will generate future economic benefits, the availability of
resources to complete the project and the ability to measure reliably
the expenditure during the development. Research and development
expenditures that do not meet the capitalised criteria are recognised
as an expense as incurred. Development costs previously recognised
as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period.

43.8 Leases
Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability
at the date at which the leased asset is available for use by the Group.

The Group leases various properties. Lease terms are negotiated on an
individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
These property lease agreements do not impose any covenants, but leased
properties may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.
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43 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies
(continued)

43.8 Leases (continued)
Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a
present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of the
following lease payments:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any
lease incentives receivable;

e  variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, initially
measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value
guarantees;

e the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably
certain to exercise that option; and

e  payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are
also included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the
lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee would have
to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value in a
similar economic environment with similar terms and conditions.
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43 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies 43  HAth/%fF & kK &5t FCRIEE (4)

(continued)
43.8 Leases (continued) 43.8 HE &)

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group: AETHSEDNFE AEH

e where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by the o HEAGEERT BRENEKBARIES
individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes in NE=FREAHENELAE DM
financing conditions since third party financing was received: BERSE=FRMEMKRERTZES ;

e  uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest rate s HHEN X BLEMEAEERMFEEHRE
adjusted for credit risk for leases held by the Group, which does not (RETERE=FMES) NEERKS
have recent third party financing; and BERRNE; &

e makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term, country, currency o HEBSMEERHEAR FAIWHR BR-
and security. B R o

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available to the individual MENABEARESEABECRERELERE

lessee (through recent financing or market data) which has a similar BRRR 7 #HERFE (BRTHRERD

payment profile to the lease, then the Group entities use that rate as a BEK)  BAEEERSZANEFAETIEE

starting point to determine the incremental borrowing rate. BRAEZ 3o

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The AENTR A S K A 2 DB o B 5

finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to AREERRBEBEETR NG UEEHENE

produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the BEREHEL BN T AR

liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following: FRAEESERNAGN2 BENTEE !

e the amount of the initial measurement of lease liabilities; o HEABNTRIESE;

e any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less o RHEABBHRIZAMENEEBEECT
any lease incentives received; REFMENERAERE ;

e any initial direct costs; and o  [IEYBERRE; K

e restoration costs. o [BEMAK-
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43 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies

(continued)

43.8 Leases (continued)

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the
asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. If the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-
term leases of machinery and equipment (i.e., those leases that have a
lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option). It also applies the recognition exemption for
leases of low-value assets to leases of office equipment that is considered
to be of low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a lessor is
recognised in income on a straight-line basis over the lease term (note 6).
Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the underlying asset and recognised as expense over
the lease term on the same basis as lease income. The respective leased
assets are included in the consolidated statement of financial position
based on their nature.

43.9 Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”) on
financial assets which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9 (including
trade and other receivables, loans to joint ventures and associates, cash
and cash equivalents, restricted cash and bank deposits and financial
guarantee).

The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition. Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that
will result from all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the
portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that
are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment are
done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as
the forecast of future conditions.
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(continued)

43.9 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables. To
measure ECL, trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit
risk characteristics and the days past due. The ECL on these assets are
assessed using simplified expected credit loss model.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal
to 12-months ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognizes lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.

43.10 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in
the consolidated statement of financial position when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be contingent on
future events and must be enforceable in the normal course of business
and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Company or the
counterparty.

43.11 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Cost
is determined using the weighted average method. Net realisable value
is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
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43 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies

(continued)

43.12 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from buyers for properties sold or
services performed in the ordinary course of business. If collection of trade
and other receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the normal
operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current
assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less provision for impairment.

43.13 Contract assets, contract liabilities and contract cost

Upon entering into a contract with a buyer, the Group obtains rights to
receive consideration from the buyer and assumes performance obligations
to transfer goods or provide services to the buyer. The combination of
those rights and performance obligations gives rise to a net asset or a
net liability depending on the relationship between the remaining rights
and the performance obligations. The contract is an asset and recognised
as contract assets if the measure of the remaining rights exceeds the
measure of the remaining performance obligations. Conversely, the contract
is a liability and recognised as contract liabilities if the measure of the
remaining performance obligations exceeds the measure of the remaining
rights.

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories, property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets, costs incurred to fulfil a contract with
a customer are capitalised as an asset if all of the following criteria are
met:

(@ The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated contract
that the entity can specifically identify.

(b)  The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that will be
used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy) performance obligations
in the future.

(c) The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to the statement
of profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer
to the customer of the goods or services to which the asset relates. Other
contract costs are expensed as incurred.
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(continued)

43.14 Cash and bank balances

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial
institutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value.

43.15 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Where any Group company purchases the Company’s equity share capital
(treasury shares), the consideration paid, including any directly attributable
incremental costs (net of income taxes), is deducted from equity
attributable to the owners of Company until the shares are cancelled or
reissued. Where such shares are subsequently reissued, any consideration
received, net of any directly attributable incremental transaction costs and
the related income tax effect is included in equity attributable to the owners
of Company.

43.16 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there
is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and the Group will
comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the
profit or loss over the period necessary to match them with the costs that
they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to the purchase of property, plant and
equipment are included in non-current liabilities as deferred income and
are credited to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the expected lives
of the related assets.

43.17 Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been
acquired in the ordinary course of business from suppliers. Trade payables
are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less
(or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are
presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.
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43 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies

(continued)

43.18 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs
incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost;
any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the
redemption value is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated statement financial position
when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled
or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a financial
liability that has been extinguished or transferred to another party and the
consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities
assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as finance costs.

Where the terms of a financial liability are renegotiated and the entity
issues equity instruments to a creditor to extinguish all or part of the
liability (debt for equity swap), a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss,
which is measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability and the fair value of the equity instruments issued.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months
after the reporting period.

43.19 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from
the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.
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43 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies
(continued)

43.20 Current and deferred income tax
The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on the
current period’s taxable income based on the applicable income tax rate for
each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities
attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

@

(b)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax
laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period in the countries where the company and its subsidiaries
and associates operate and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect
to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation and considers whether it is probable that a taxation
authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment. The Group measures
its tax balances either based on the most likely amount or the
expected value, depending on which method provides a better
prediction of the resolution of the uncertainty.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on
temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they
arise from the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is
also not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that
at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences. Deferred income tax is determined using tax
rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income
tax liability is settled.

The deferred tax liability in relation to investment property that is
measured at fair value is determined assuming the property will be
recovered entirely through sale.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that
future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary
differences and losses.
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43 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies
(continued)
43.20 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(b)

()

Deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary
differences between the carrying amount and tax bases of
investments in foreign operations where the company is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and
it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a legally
enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and where
the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority.
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a
legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to
the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Investment allowances and similar tax incentives

Companies within the Group may be entitled to claim special tax
deductions for investments in qualifying assets or in relation to
qualifying expenditure (e.g. the Research and Development Tax
Incentive regime in Oneland or other investment allowances). The
Group accounts for such allowances as tax credits, which means that
the allowance reduces income tax payable and current tax expense.
A deferred tax asset is recognised for unclaimed tax credits that are
carried forward as deferred tax assets.

43.21 Employee benefits

@

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits
and accumulating sick leave that are expected to be settled wholly
within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees
render the related service are recognised in respect of employees’
services up to the end of the reporting period and are measured at
the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. The
liabilities are presented as current employee benefit obligations in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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43 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies
(continued)
43.21 Employee benefits (continued)

(b)

Post-employment obligations

The Group operates various post-employment schemes, including
defined contribution pension plans and post-employment medical
plans.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees
employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees
are each required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan vest immediately
and are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets
of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme
except for the Group’s employer voluntary contributions, which are
refunded to the Group when the employee leaves employment prior
to the contributions vesting fully, in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme.

Each of the subsidiaries operating in mainland China participates
in the central pension scheme (the “CPS”) operated by the local
municipal government for all of its staff. These subsidiaries are
required to contribute certain portion of their payroll costs to the CPS.
The contributions are charged to the statement of profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the CPS, except
to the extent that they are included in the cost of investments not yet
recognised as an expense.

There were no forfeited contributions (by employers on behalf of
employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in such
contributions) to offset existing contributions under the defined
contribution schemes.
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43 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies
(continued)
43.21 Employee benefits (continued)

(@]

(@

Profit-sharing and bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses and
profit-sharing based on a formula that takes into consideration
the profit attributable to the company’s shareholders after certain
adjustments. The Group recognises a provision where contractually
obliged or where there is a past practice that has created a
constructive obligation.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by
the Group before the normal retirement date, or when an employee
accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The
Group recognises termination benefits at the earlier of the following
dates: (a) when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits; and (b) when the entity recognises costs for a restructuring
that is within the scope of HKAS 37 and involves the payment of
terminations benefits. In the case of an offer made to encourage
voluntary redundancy, the termination benefits are measured based
on the number of employees expected to accept the offer. Benefits
falling due more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period
are discounted to present value.
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43 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies

(continued)

43.22 Share-based payments

The Group operates a number of equity-settled, share-based compensation
plans, under which the Group receives services from employees as
consideration for equity instruments (including shares options and awarded
shares) of the Group. The fair value of the employee services received
in exchange for the grant of the equity instruments is recognised as an
expense. The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to
the fair value of the equity instruments granted:

° including any market performance conditions (for example, an entity’s
share price);

° excluding the impact of any service and non-market performance
vesting conditions (for example, profitability, sales growth targets and
remaining an employee of the entity over a specified time period); and

e including the impact of any non-vesting conditions.

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period
over which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the
end of each period, the entity revises its estimates of the number of options
that are expected to vest based on the non-market vesting and service
conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if
any, in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

Non-market performance and service conditions are included in
assumptions about the number of equity instruments that are expected to
vest. The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the
period over which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied.

In addition, in some circumstances employees may provide services
in advance of the grant date and therefore the grant date fair value is
estimated for the purposes of recognising the expense during the period
between service commencement period and grant date.
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43 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies

(continued)

43.22 Share-based payments (continued)

The grant by the Company of equity instruments over its equity instruments
to the employees of subsidiaries in the Group is treated as a capital
contribution. The fair value of employee services received, measured by
reference to the grant date fair value, is recognised over the vesting period
as an increase to investments in subsidiaries, with a corresponding credit to
equity in the parent entity accounts.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of
the number of equity instruments that are expected to vest based on the
non-marketing performance and service conditions. It recognises the
impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the share options are exercised, the Company issues new shares.
The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are
credited to share capital.

43.23 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when: the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that an
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the
amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for
future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an
outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the
class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the
likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same
class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of
time is recognised as interest expense.
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43 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies

(continued)

43.24 Interest income

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset except for financial assets that
subsequently become credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets
the effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset (after deduction of the loss allowance).

43.25 Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is
established.

43.26 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a
liability in the Group’s and the Company’s financial statements in the period
in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders or
directors of the Company, where appropriate.

43.27 Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised in respect of the financial
guarantee provided by the Group to the banks for property purchasers.

Financial guarantee liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issue of the financial
guarantee liabilities. After initial recognition, such liabilities are measured
at the higher of the present value of the best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the present obligation and the amount initially recognised
less cumulative amortisation of fees recognised.

Financial guarantee liabilities are derecognised from the consolidated
statement of financial position when, and only when, the obligation
specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expired.
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43 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies
(continued)

43.28 Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Company if:

(@)

Or

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and
that person

(i)

(i

(i)

has control or joint control over the Company;

has significant influence over the Company; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the Company
or of a parent of the Company;

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

(i)

(i

(iif)

(i)

(vil)

the entity and the Company are members of the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or
of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Company are joint ventures of the same third
party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity
is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified
in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Company or
to the parent of the Company.
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43 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies
(continued)

43.29 Events after the reporting period
If the Company receives information after the reporting period, but prior
to the date of authorisation for issue,about conditions that existed at the
end of the reporting period, it will assess whether the information affects
the amounts that it recognises in its financial statements. The Company
will adjust the amounts recognised in its financial statements to reflect
any adjusting events after the reporting period and update the disclosures
that relate to those conditions in light of the new information. For non-
adjusting events after the reporting period, the Company will not change the
amounts recognised in its financial statements, but will disclose the nature
of the non-adjusting events and an estimate of their financial effects, or a
statement that such an estimate cannot be made, if applicable.
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Group I — Property interest held by the Group under development and for future development

FB- AR AR AT A RE R YR

Interests Expected
attributable Planned GFA Completion
Project Name Address Type to the Company Site Area (sq.m.) Year
mERZEA
HE 47 stist BittE AT S EHER (F5HK) B RIER
Property interest held for future development
BERBRERZMERS
Terra Wuhan Bio Valley Project Donghu Gaoxin, Wuhan, Residential 52.54% 93,201 260,000 2027
Hubei
ZANELNAER MIEARETRABHE g
Chaohu Royal Spring Garden, North Bantang Economic Residential 100.00% 78,827 28,997 Unscheduled
Development Zone, KEE
) Chaohu,Hefm,Anhui\ )
EHRHRELR ZHAGEH NS £
KERZER
Chaohu Royal Spring Garden, South Bantang Economic Residential 100.00% 81,537 22,085 Unscheduled
Development Zone, KEE
) Chaohu,Hefm,Anhui\ )
EHREER ZHAGEH NS £
KERZER
Yunjing Garden High-Tech Zone, Residential 100.00% 146,738 250,998 2026
~ Taizhou, Jiangiu
ERTH LEERMNTENE g
Kashi Residential Project (Land Plot 2) Economic Development Residential 100.00% 17,129 25,694 Unscheduled
Zone, Kashi, Xinjiang KEE
\ Uygur Autono[nous Region )
BEEEEE (iRD) MEEER R REE T £
KERZER
Phase Il of the First Portion of Futian, Shenzhen, Guangdong Com. and Off. 75.05% 11,354 159,250 2029
Chegongmiao Renewal Project, North _
BRBE—FIME ERERHREEHE [EERFEUN
Hanlin Road No. 18 Land Plot Shenhe, Shenyang, Liaoning pomplex 97.68% 16,039 70,322 Unscheduled

B R8s HIRRE EERERTILTE i) KA
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FEYER
Interests Expected

attributable Planned GFA Completion

Project Name Address Type to the Company Site Area (sq.m.) Year
REREER
HE &7 b RikE AR EEE (EBK) Bt RIER
Property interest held_ynder development
REERTZYERE
Shum Yip Luxiygnjing Yuelu, Changsha, Hunan Residential 100.00% 61,327 83,719 2025
REBZER HEERITERER e
Land Plot A811-0347, Longhua, Longhua, Shenzhen, Complex 100% 10,118 72,850 2026
Shenghen Guangdong
FYI T B ERAS11-0347311] BRERYIMEEER B
Land Plot G28, Xisanwei, Zhongshan Cuiheng New District, Residential 43.89% 99,039 198,077 2025-2027
Zhongshan, Gua@dong
UL = EG28 3 17 BREDUDREZHE £
Shum Yip Chuangzhi Building Longgang, Shenzhen, Guangdong Industrial 100.00% 8,436 38,814 2025
REREXE BREAImREEE E%
Shum Yip Time Mansion Futian, Shenzhen, Guangdong Commercial 100.00% 4,038 41,990 2025
RE M BRERAIHREHE [EES
Shum Yip Taifu Yinying Square Luohu, Shenzhen, Guangdong Industrial 97.68% 8,807 91,045 2025
RERERRES BREFITENE E%
Wanlin Huafu Huicheng, Huizhou, Guangdong Residential 100.00% 72,922 225,060 2026
BRERT BEREEMNTERNER £
Huizhou Shum Yip Cloud Mansion Huicheng, Huizhou, Guangdong Residential 100.00% 44,678 129,519 2025
ENEXZEENER BEREENTERE g
Shum Yip Zhongshan Future Gate Project ~ Cuiheng New District, Zhongshan, ~ Complex 43.89% 668,974 1,553,435 2024-2028
Guangdong
RERRKRZFIEE BREPUTRSHE &A
Chengdu Qingbaijiang Shum Yip Qingbaijiang, Chengdu, Sichuan Complex 97.68% 113,668 284,126 2027
Taifu Square

BBERLAEREER m)IEs#BHERLE &A
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FEYER

Interests Expected

attributable Planned GFA Completion

Project Name Address Type to the Company Site Area (sq.m.) Year
REREER
HE &7 b AtE NG EHEE (EB%K) Bt RIER
Property interest held‘ynder development
REERPZME D
The Cloud Mansion High-tech Zone, Tiizhou, Jiangsu Residential 100.00% 19,365 40,667 2025
i THERMHEHNE g
konggang Universiade Land Plot Longgang, Shenzhen, Guangdong Residential 51.00% 29,360 153,427 2026
REAEHIR BREAIHREE g
Shum Yip Luxury Mansion Longhua, Shenzhen, Guangdong Residential 51.00% 26,114 135,790 2025-2026
REBRAT ERERTRER g
Jiangyin Technology Innovation Park Jiangyin, Wuxi, Jiangsu Industrial 100.00% 81,235 135,450 2025
LR AR IHAEHTIR T%
Chengdu Longquanyi Shum Yip City Longquanyi, Chengdu, Sichuan Complex 51.00% 36,211 151,410 2024-2025
REBERERAERER m) B #mERER BAE
Hexinan Land Plot G111 Jianye, Nanjing, Jiangsu Residential 99.77% 22,549 63,137 2024-2025
TFRGI1IER IHEERTEIE g
Upper Coast Nanshan, Shenzhen, Guangdong Residential 51.00% 51,350 210,040 2025
EBBIEEER ERERImELE g
Shanghai Jiading Shenjia Hydrogen Valley ~ Jiading, Shanghai Complex 99.77% 44728 102,874 2026
LETEERAZEA LETEER &a
Ma'anshan Cihu Industrial Land Plot Cihu High-Tech Zone, Industrial 100.00% 67,108 111,221 2024-2025
Ma'anshan, Anhui
BRLZH TR ZHEEBRUTASSHE I
Shanghai International Automobile Jiading, Shanghai Residential 99.77% 43,129 86,257 2025
City Residential Project

LETERSEHEEEE LETEER g
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Schedule of Major Properties

FEYER
Group II — Property interest held by the Group for sales
BB AREE ARG YRR
Interest to Completion

Property Address Use the Group TGFA (sq.m.) year

: AEH  GEEEN <
M ik itk PRk (EBK) ERER
Shunde Shum Yip City Shunde, Foshan, Guangdong Com. & Res. 100% 46,101.57 2012-2017
BB RE BEREHLUTIEEE BEREE
Xiyue City Huizhou, Guangdong Com. & Res. 100% 9,997.5 2012-2017
=i BEREEMT BHEREE
Saina Bay Heyuan, Guangdong Com. & Res. 100% 4,107.63 2012
Eing BREDRT HEREE
Ma'anshan Shum Yip Huafu Ma'anshan, Anhui Residential 99.77% 9,666.58 2013-2019
BRIFEERN ZHERE LS e
Yihu Rose Garden Chengdu, Sichuan Com. & Res. 52.54% 10,609.35 2013-2020
T MBS )11 B 2k h HEREE
UpperHills Shenzhen, Guangdong Com., Off. and House used 100% 74,389.43 2014, 2016, 2018

for industrial R&D
RELR BRE T HEBAZR

EXMERRE
Taifu Square Phase 1 Shenzhen, Guangdong Com., Off. and Res. 97.68% 105,245.03 2019
ZEESH BRE T HEBAZTREE
§ky Park Shenzhen, Guangdong Com., Off. and Res. 100% 78,494.55 2019
R BRE R HEVBRERETE
Shum Yip Gaobangshan No. 1 Garden Huizhou, Guangdong Residential 100% 174.37 2019
EELSETER BREENT g
§hum Yip Rui Cheng Phase 3.2 Changsha, Ijunan Residential 80% 6,801.16 2020
REEI3.288 Mg RDT g
Shum Yip Garden Hills Phase 3.2.1 Huizhou, Guangdong Residential 100% 67,896.2 2020
REFA3.2.158 BREENT g
Shum Yip West Lake Sanli Phase 2.1 Huizhou, Guangdong Residential 100% 8,284.16 2020
FEAN=2218 BEREEMT g
Ma'anshan Shum Yip Huafu Phase 2.2 (North) Ma'anshan, Anhui Residential 99.77% 6,824.89 2020
BRFXERAREEILE ZHEBEELD g
Chaohu Royal Spring Garden Bantang Economic Development Zone, Residential 100% 3,460 2015-2020

Chaohu, Hefei, Anhui
SMERE ZHEAETENHALERER #=E
Shum Yip Cloud Center Guangming, Shenzhen, Guangdong Residential 65% 547,449 2022-2023
REER BRERYITLHE g
(Garden Hills Zhongkai, Development Zone, Huizhou, Residential 100% 345,872 2022
(Guangdong

F%5 BEREENTHERER g
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FEYER

Property
L/ES

Parkview Bay

BE

$hum Yip Upper Life
REBELRE

Shum Yip Qinglong Mansion
REBR LI

Wan\ip Lake

BiH

Shum Yip Splenqid City
REREZH

Shum Yip Heron Mansion
REEMR

Terra Licheng
HRALY,

Nanhu Rose Bay
[Epibein

Shum Yip Four Seasons Mansion
RENFERE

Wan\in Hua fu

BHER

Shum Yip Starry~ Lakeshore
RN HER

Foshan Lish\ui Bustling City
A=Y, §; 21T} : 27

Shum Yip Longwan Mansion
RERE LIS

Shenma East China Industrial
Technology Industrial Park
AEERTENREER

Ma’anshan Shum Yip Huafu Phase 2
ERUFEER_B

Shum Yip Dongling

RERE

Shum Yip Taifu Kechuang Square
RERENAES

Shum Yip Scenery Bay
REEER

Nanwan Mansion
el

Address
bk

Shenzhen, Guangdong
BRERERH

Nanjing, Jiangsu
IBEERT

Nanjing, Jiangsu
LBERERD

Huizhou, Guangdong
BREEMNT

Taizhou, Jiangsu
LB E RN

Changsha, Hunan
HEE RN

Shenzhen, Guangdong
BRERERH

Wuhan, Hubgi
HMILAEED

Chengdu, Sichuan
)11 R

Huicheng, Huizhou, Guangdong
BEREENTERE

Songshan Lake, Dongguan, Guangdong
BRERZMLLM

Nanhai, Foshan, Guangdong
BEREHLTREEER

Jianye, Nanjing, Jiangsu
LHEERTESE

Yushan, Ma'anshan, Anhui
ZHEERUTRUE

Yushan, Ma'anshan, Anhui
ZHABRLUTRUE

Luohu, Shenzhen, Guangdong

ERERImENE

Luohu, Shenzhen, Guangdong
BEREFITENE

Nansha, Guangzhou, Guangdong

BREENTEDE

Jianye, Nanjing, Jiangsu
IHEERTERE

Use
itk

Com. & Res.
HERET

Residential
e

Residential

TE

Com. & Res.
HERET

Residential

TE

Residential
e

Com. and Off.
HERBAZE

Residential
e

Residential

TE

Residential
e

Residential

TE

Residential
fFE

Residential

e
Industrial
I%

Residential

e

Com. and Off.
HERBAZE
Office

WAE
Commercial/residential

EYAis

Residential
e

Interest to

the Group

TEE

Firfti

50%

99.77%

99.77%

100%

100%

100%

75.05%

75.05%

75.05%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

97.68%

100%

99.77%

TGFA (sg.m.)

RIEAER

@5%)

4,166.52

31,192.84

20,396.82

15,876.22

36,103.95

37,896.3

33,535.28

7,305.96

40,713.39

314,290

169,956

79,407

60,727

52,598

669,964

53,479

64,010

341,140

83,545

Completion
year

BHER
2021

2021

2021

2019

2021

2021

2020

2018

2021

2022

2022

2022

2022

2022

2022

2023

2023

2024

2024



Shenzhen Investment Limited ZEIIZERBEAT | 261
Annual Report &3k 2024

Schedule of Major Properties

FEYER

Interest to Completion

Property Address Use the Group TGFA (sq.m.) year
‘ %0 SUEER
S ik ik Pl s (EA5K) ERER
Qinglong Mansion Jiangning, Nanjing, Jiangsu Residential 99.77% 102,469 2021
BRLR IHERERTIER e
Jiangyin Shum Yip Technology Industrial Park Jiangyin, Jiangsu Industrial 100% 139,507 2024
IERERKESE LEE LR T%
Shum Yip Naturql City Pingshan, Shenzhen, Guangdong Commercial/residential 100% 449,888 2024
REUKERTER BREAITTUE mE/fEE
Moon River Palace Baiyun, Guangzhou, Guangdong Commercial/residential 100% 350,339 2014
L& BEREENTEEER Hx/fE
Longquanyi Shum Yip Taifu Square Longquanyi, Chengdu, Sichuan Commercial/residential/office 97.68% 420,055 2024
ERBEAEREES m) B ms#TRERER BE/ T/ B0
Shum Yip Tairong Mansion Chenghua, Chengdu, Sichuan Commercial/residential 75.05% 224,624 2025
RERERN M) & BT ER Hx/fE
Shum Yip Taiyue Mansion Chenghua, Chengdu, Sichuan Residential 75.05% 105,522 2024
RER W) B TR ER e
Hong Kong Tuen Mun Project Tuen Mun, New Territories, Hong Kong SAR  Residential 53.54% 46,697 2024
BRELMEE BRRHTHE T REM £
Shum Yip Park Mansion Guangming, Shenzhen, Guangdong Residential 100% 88,547 2024
R BREAIWLHE e
Huangbeiling Reconstruction Project Luohu, Shenzhen, Guangdong Commercial 100% 53,479 2023
(land plot 04-01)

HEESEMEER (04-013187) BREMITENE GRS
Terra Chengdu Yihu Rose Garden Phase 4 Qingbaijiang, Chengdu, Sichuan Residential 63.5% 43,938 2024
FAARE R MBUR (1) m)IERBHERLE £
Nar]hu Rose Bay Phase 4 Wuchang, Wuhan, Hubei Residential 75.05% 93,115 2024
FMEIR A HLEHETHER e
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FEYER

Group III — Property interest held by the Group for investment
FEBARERAERE 2 Ve

Property
LIS

Shun Hing Square

b

FEER

ulll

Shum Yip Centre
RERD

Hua Min Building
BN

Hua Min Building
BN
Shum Yip Building
REXE

Noble Times
RHEEL

Che Gong Miao Ind. Zone
EABMTXR

Shenhua Science & Technology Park
FENHE

Tian'an Che Gong Miao Ind. Zone
XZEABTXR

Tian'an Nanhai New Cyber-City Phase 2
K2 S AT 2

Tian'an Panyu New Cyber-City
RZEBYENN

Tian'an Longgang New Cyber-City
RZEBHENN

Tian'an Dongguan New Cyber-City
RZ RSB

Tian'an Jiangyin Cyber-City
KL TREER

Tian'an Fenggang beer-City
EZBEREHES

Shum Yip Taifu Square
FEREES

Address
3k
Junction of Shennan Zhong Road,

Jiefang Road and Baoan Road,
Luohu, Shenzhen, Guangdong

A R 2 A & R PR R B

REZBRR

Shennan Zhong Road, Luohu,
Shenzhen, Guangdong
BREAIDENERETE

Renmin Nan Road, Luohu, Shenzhen,
Guangdong
BERERMENEARER

Renmin Nan Road, Luohu, Shenzhen,
Guangdong
BERERYMENEARER

Wenjin Zhong Road, Luohu, Shenzhen,
Guangdont

g
ERE R HEH SRR

Pingshan, Shenzhen, Guangdong
EREFIHFLE

Futian, Shenzhen, Guangdong
BREFITEEHE

Meilin Road, Futian, Shenzhen, Guangdong
BRE R mRABEME

Futian, Shenzhen, Guangdong
BREFITREHE

Nanhai, Guangdong
EREEE

Panyu, Guangdong
BREER

Shenzhen, Guangdong
BRERT

Dongguan, Guangdong
EREREM
Jiangyin, Jiangsu
LB IRm
Dongguan, Guangdong
ERERED

Luohu, Shenzhen, Guangdong
BREFIHENE

Use

ik

0ff., Apartment. and Carpark

WRE REREESR

Com., Off. and Carpark

BE RAZTREES
Apartment., Com. and Carpark
AB BEREES
Apartment

RE

Office

RAZE

Commercial

GIES

Com., Off., Res. and Carpark
AR MAE AEREESR

Com. and Off.
HERBAZE

0ff., Com., Res. and Carpark
RAT BEEEREER
Com., Off. and Carpark

HE BAEREES

Com., Res. and Carpark

Bx ETREES

Com., Off. and Carpark
HE BAEREES

Com., Off. and Carpark
B MAZREES

Res. and Off.
FERBAZE

Com., Off. and Apartment
BEMAZRAR

Com., Off. and Carpark
HEBRAEREES

Interest to
the Group

TEE
ik g

100%

100%

50%

100%

100%

100%

75.06%

75.06%

37.53%

37.53%

37.53%

37.53%

37.53%

37.53%

37.53%

97.68%

TGFA (sg.m.)
BEEER
(£753K)

17,817.12

10,376.58

6,262.73

947.42

6,482.43

26,966.97

145,779.33

15,341.58

68,321.19

117,317.42

158,706.18

52,806.06

103,562.72

26,084.68

125,069.14

56,402.21

Completion year
ERER
1996

1997

1993

1993

1991

2012

1994-2012

1994

1992-2005

2008-2015

2010

2010-2014

2012-2017

2012-2017

2017-2022

2020



Property
mE

Qingbaijiang Shum Yip Taifu Square
under construction

BERLAAREERIELR

Longquanyi Shum Yip Taifu Square
under construction

ERBRAELERAAELIR

Tian'an Qingdao Sci-tech Innovation Park
BEBREI

Tian'an Changzhou New Cyber-City
=SNG

Tian'an Qingdao New Cyber-City
ZEEHEIH

Tian'an Tianjin New Cyber-City
RZREHEN

Tian'an Chongging New Cyber-City
KZEEHUEI

Tian'an Wuxi Cyber-City
KEEHUER

Tian'an Nantong Cyber-City
RRERHE

Tian'an Nanjing Cyber-City
RLEREGER

Shum Yip Garden
RETEE

Sungang Warehouse Zone
FHEER

Composite Building on Taoyuan Road
R A2

Dormitory Building on Taoyuan Road
HhREESE

Boxing Building
BEAE

Bolong Building
BEXE

Bofeng Building
BEXE

S.Z. Int'l. Trust and Investment Corp. Building

RYEEEFRELATAE

Address
beib3

Chengdu, Sichuan
M)l &
Chengdu, Sichuan
M)l & B
Qingdao, Shandong
=y

Changzhou, Jiangsu
LS EMT

Qingdao, Shandong
LREESD

Xiging, Tianjin
RETAER

Da Du Kou, Chongging
g

=

Wuxi, Jiangsu
IBERAD

Nantong, Jiangsu

IHERED

Nanjing, Jiangsu

IEERRD

Futian, Shenzhen, Guangdong
BREFIHRAR

Baoan Bei Road Luohu, Shenzhen,
Guangd

%é/N$%ME 2R

Baoan Bei Road, Luohu, Shenzhen,
Guangdong
Fﬁéﬁﬂﬁ%&@%ﬁt%

Baoan Bei Road, Luohu, Shenzhen,
Guangdong
F%é/N$%M[ =Rl

Qingshuihe, Luohu, Shenzhen, Guangdong
BREFNTENREKA

Qingshuihe, Luohu, Shenzhen, Guangdong
BREANTENREKA

Qingshuihe, Luohu, Shenzhen, Guangdong
BREFIHENEEAT

Junction of Zhenxing Road
and Shangbu Zhong Road,
Futian, Shenzhen, Guangdong
BREFTRABKRERK
LFRRRA

Use

ikl

Com., Off. and Carpark
BEBAZTREEF
Com. and Carpark
BEREESR

Off and Com.
PRAEREE

Off. and Com.
BRAEREE

Oﬁice
PRE

Office
WAE

Gommercal
EES

Off. and Com.
BRAEREE

Oﬁ. and Com.
PAEREE

Gom., Off. and Carpark
mx MAEREER

Gommercial
EES

Commercial
S

Com. and Off.
BERBAZE
Com./Res.

[}t

Commercial

Commercial
[EES

Commercial

HES

Shenzhen Investment Limited ZEIIZEREBRAT | 263
Annual Report %3k 2024

Schedule of Major Properties

Interest to
the Group

EE
FifbiEs

98.81%

97.68%

37.53%

37.53%

37.53%

37.53%

37.53%

37.53%

37.53%

37.53%

100%

97.68%

97.68%

97.68%

97.68%

97.68%

97.68%

75.05%

TGFA (sq.m.)
BEEER
(£753K)

79,750.63

46,652.00

2,485.16

34,070.85

35,240.98

20,758.33

45,622.18

81,358.95

48,247 47

122,752.22

2,646.43

72,564.21

4,812.73

4,835.28

12,861.05

39,284.24

10,199.34

1,316.54

FEYER

Completion year

BHER
2024

2024

2024
2012
2015-2017
2016
2015
2014
2011
2014-2015
2002

1990-2002

1991

1988

2014

2014

2017

1990
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FEYER

Property

EES

Shenyang Wuai Bus Station

BRAEREL

Shenyang Wuai Shengang Bus Station and
Meibo Trading Centre

BRAEAEREHERERES RN

Coastal International Centre
BRI

UpperHiIIs\
RELE

Pengji Properties
BEME

Xiangli Oasis Club
BN Em

Times Technology Building
BEAREAE

Longxi Garden

LR

Nongke Oasis Office Tower
RGN AR

Nongke Business Office Tower
=REGRAE

Xiangli Garden

BHIEE

Tanglang City

R

Shum Yip Dongling
RERL

Jinzhi Properties
EBNE

Sky Park i
RER,

Shum Yip Luxury Mansion under construction
REEMNERIE

Taiyuntong Talent Mansion under construction
RERRWRAERIRZ

Address

it

Shenyang, Liaoning
REEEGD
Shenyang, Liaoning
REEEEGD

Suzhou, Jiangsu
LB FEMT

Shenzhen, Guangdong

ERE R

Shenzhen, Guangdong and
Nanjing, Jiangsu

EREMITRIFERR

Futian, Shenzhen, Guangdong
BREFIINRAR

Futian, Shenzhen, Guangdong
BREFINEHE

Futian, Shenzhen, Guangdong
BREFINRAR

Futian, Shenzhen, Guangdong
BREFIMEHE

Futian, Shenzhen, Guangdong
BREFIHRAR

Futian, Shenzhen, Guangdong
BREFINEHE

Nanshan, Shenzhen, Guangdong
BREFYMELE

Luohu, Shenzhen, Guangdong

BRERTENE

Luohu, Shenzhen, Guangdong
BREFIMENE

Futian, Shenzhen, Guangdong
BRE AT EEHE

Longhua, Shenzhgn, Guangdong
BREFIMREER

Longgang, Shenzhen, Guangdong
BREFIMREEE

Note to Schedule of Major Properties:

Properties which are insignificant are not included.

Use Interest to
the Group
Bi& KEE
ik g
Commercial 93.04%
(EES
Commercial 93.04%
(EES
Com., Apartment. and Off. 100%
HE AERBAE
Com., Off. and Carpark 100%
HE BAEREER
Com., Res., Off. and Carpark 100%
BE AT BAZRESS
Commercial 100%
HES
Com. and Off. 100%
BERBARE
Residential 100%
FE
Office 100%
WAE
Off. and Com. 100%
PRAEREE
Commercial 100%
(EES
Com., Carpark and Res. 50%
HE FEEREE
Com. and Carpark 95%
HEREES
0ff. and multiple-use 51.62%
PRAERGEIE
Com. and Hotel 100%
EEYHS
Residential 51%
FE
Residential 38.28%
fFE
TEMERME

TGFA (sg.m.)
BEEEE
(£753K)

131,535.08

58,471.73

636,402.65

170,968.70

2,212.09

14,061.02

6,414.47

736.17

2,125.19

3,190.38

65,793.98

39,441.95

5,054.08

29,067.40

12,721.16

40,780.00

EPERTIOELEEMZYE-

Completion year

BHER
1994-1996

201

2009

2017-2019

1983-2005

2003

2009

1984-1996

2012

2012

2003

2015-2018

2018

1988

2020

2025

2026
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